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CORPORATE PROFILE 2 A& T

Guangdong - Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited (formerly
known as Hydoo International Holding Limited before 14 July 2020, the
“Company” or “GHKGBA Holdings”) is listed on the main board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 01396.HK) on 31 October 2013.
The Company’s corporate vision is to “empower the future of cities for
creating a better life”. The Company positions itself as a “new ecological
industrial city service provider”, with the aim of building a harmonious
industrial ecosystem that comprises mutually beneficial related parties,
such as customers, companies, governments, employees and the natural
environment, to deliver services to cities. The Company focuses on the
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area (the “Greater Bay Area”)
and situates its headquarters in the Greater Bay Area, regarding the
Greater Bay Area as a highland with a strategic value to develop residential
and urban renewal projects.

Guided by the development strategies of the Greater Bay Area, the
Company carried out strategic restructuring in 2019 by bringing in
strategic shareholders, coordinating the sharing of the strong financial
resources of these new strategic shareholders, providing a diverse range
of industrial resources as well as for their operating experience to assist
the Company with its innovative development and industrial upgrade.
In 2020, the Company strategically upgraded into a “new ecological
industrial city service provider” based on the corporate gene of “driving
urban prosperity with industrial development”. In order to better serve
the national strategy of the Greater Bay Area, the Company developed the
new “YOUNGO” brand based on the original brand of “HYDOO" for trade
centre business, implemented dual-brand operation and also change
name to “Guangdong - Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited”.

The Company continues to develop the trade centre business under the
brand of “HYDOOQ”, while expanding various business sectors under the
brand of “YOUNGO”, such as high-end housing, urban renewal, etc.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Luo Jieping (Chairman) (appointed on 20 July 2023)

Mr. Wong Choi Hing (Co-Chairman)

Mr. Cai Hongwen (Co-Chairman)

Mr. He Fei (CEO)

Ms. Wei Haiyan

Mr. Zeng Yunshu (former Chairman)
(resigned as executive Director and Chairman and
re-designated as a non-executive director on 20 July 2023)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Zeng Yunshu
(resigned as executive Director and Chairman and
re-designated as a non-executive director on 20 July 2023)
Mr. Feng Ke (appointed on 27 June 2022 and
resigned on 1 March 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Guan Huanfei

Mr. Han Qinchun

Mr. Chen Yangsheng (appointed on 5 July 2023)
Mr. Dai Yiyi (resigned on 7 April 2023)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Han Qinchun (Chairman of the Audit Committee)
Mr. Guan Huanfei

Mr. Chen Yangsheng (appointed on 5 July 2023)
Mr. Dai Yiyi (resigned on 7 April 2023)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chen Yangsheng (Chairman of the Nomination Committee)
(appointed on 5 July 2023)

Mr. Han Qinchun

Mr. Luo Jieping (appointed on 20 July 2023)

Mr. Dai Yiyi
(resigned on 7 April 2023)

Mr. Zeng Yunshu
(resigned on 20 July 2023)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Guan Huanfei (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee)
Ms. Wei Haiyan
Mr. Han Qinchun
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CORPORATE INFORMATION A R & ¥

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Liang Lina

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Luo Jieping
Ms. Liang Lina

REGISTERED OFFICE

PO Box 309

Ugland House

Grand Cayman KY1-1104
Cayman Islands

PRINCIPAL ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT
CENTERS IN THE PRC

Level 32, Block A

Hong Long Century Plaza
Luohu District
Shenzhen, the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit 916, 9/F, China Merchants Tower
Shun Tak Centre

168-200 Connaught Road

Central, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
P.O. Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman, KY1-1102

Cayman Islands
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P.O. Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman, KY1-1102

Cayman Islands
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BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR IN HONG KONG

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai

Hong Kong

AUDITORS

Elite Partners CPA Limited

Public Interest Entity Auditor registered in accordance with
the Financial Reporting Council Ordinance
(Chapter 588 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China
Bank of China
China Merchants Bank

LISTING INFORMATION
Share Listing

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock code: 1396

Senior Notes Listing

The Company’s 4.5% senior notes due 2029
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited

COMPANY'’S WEBSITE

Www.youngogroup.com

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Telephone: (852) 2885 9877
Email: ir@youngogroup.com
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EIEE a2 7

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2023, amid the lingering impact of the prolonged COVID-19 pandemic,
escalating geopolitical conflicts, complex changes in the international
situation, and multiple countries facing high inflation, the global economy
presents a trend of weak recovery. China’s economic operation has
successfully navigated through risks and challenges from abroad, as well
as the downward pressure brought about by a combination of various
domestic factors in this challenging environment. China’s GDP reached
RMB126 trillion in 2023, with a year-on-year increase of 5.2%, with a
growth rate 2.2% faster than in 2022.

Various levels of the Chinese government frequently optimized real estate
policies, striving to ensure the stable operation of the real estate market
in 2023. However, factors such as residents’ insufficient confidence in
future income and persistent expectations of a decline in housing prices
continue to hinder the pace of the real estate market recovery. The
effectiveness of policy adjustments has been limited, and the market has
not shown significant improvement.

In 2023, in the context of the economic environment and industry
development trends, our Group has tried its best to coordinate resources
from all parties, utilize various policies, reduce costs and increase
efficiency, and move forward pragmatically based on our own conditions.
By optimizing the terms of overseas US dollar bonds, extending and
reducing interest rates on loans to domestic financial institutions,
accelerating sales and collection, increasing efforts to recover various
receivables, asset disposal, cost savings, and other means to maintain the
liquidity of the Group, ensuring the normal operation of the Group.

In 2023, regarding the extension and interest rate reduction work of the
Group, (i) the comprehensive interest rate of the Group'’s interest bearing
liabilities decreased from 8.9% in 2022 to 4.9% in 2023, effectively saving
the Group’s interest expenses; (ii) the maturity date of approximately
$439.1 million of the overseas bonds has been extended for 6 years, and
the domestic financial institution loans with a principal of approximately
RMB380 million has been extended for 1 to 3 years, greatly alleviating the
Group's liquidity pressure.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EIEEsim R 247

Although the Group recorded a loss of approximately RMB1,205.6 million
in 2023, the loss has significantly narrowed compared to last year’s loss of
approximately RMB1,729.0 million, and the Group's loss for year 2023 was
mainly due to further provision of asset impairment (including impairment
loss on financial asset of approximately RMB292.4 million, fair value loss
on investment properties of approximately RMB419.2 million, and write-
down inventories of approximately RMB330.8 million). And the Group
achieved a turnaround from gross loss to gross profit in 2023. While taking
multiple measures to accelerate sales of properties, the administrative
and selling expenses of the Group have significantly decreased from
RMB463.5 million in 2022 to RMB277.7 million in 2023, reflecting the
Group's determination and execution to practice thrift, self-rescue and
self-improvement.

The Group recorded contracted sales amount of approximately
RMB?2,143.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 (“FY2023" or the
“Year”), which had decreased by approximately 12.5% as compared to the
year ended 31 December 2022 (“FY2022") (FY2022: RMB2,450.4 million).
As at 31 December 2023, the total land bank of the Group with land use
rights confirmed was approximately 7.3 million sq.m. (31 December 2022:
8.2 million sq.m.).

OUTLOOK FOR 2024

For the world economy in 2024, not only are there persistent issues such as
the Russia-Ukraine conflict, Israel-Palestine conflict, and the reconstruction
of industrial and supply chains, but there are also uncertainties related
to the “super election year.” Internally, China’s economic environment
faces challenges such as insufficient effective demand, overcapacity
in certain industries, weak social expectations, and numerous hidden
risks. The Central Economic Work Conference has proposed policies for
2024, emphasizing a commitment to stability while seeking progress,
promoting stability through progress, adopting a proactive approach
in transformation, structural adjustment, quality enhancement, and
efficiency improvement to consolidate the foundation of stable and
positive economic development.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EIEE a2 7

Looking ahead to 2024, the real estate market may continue to be weak,
with residents still lacking sufficient leverage and willingness to buy
homes under weak expectations. The demand-side situation is expected
to remain challenging. However, a series of real estate financial supply-
side reform measures, such as the “White List” for real estate financing,
are expected to gradually take effect in 2024, easing the financing
pressure on real estate enterprises. The “three major projects” in real
estate (guaranteed housing, urban village transformation, and dual-use
emergency and public infrastructure construction) are expected to open
up new incremental space for the development of the real estate industry.

Facing the new situation in the future development of real estate, the
group will embrace change, embark on a new journey, and seek progress
through transformation. On the sales side, the group will continue to
strengthen sales collections, accelerate inventory turnover through
optimized and innovative sales strategies, and dedicate specialized efforts
to revitalize bulk asset projects to ensure operational cash flow and
return on investment. On the operational side, the company will enhance
the execution of quality improvement strategies, achieve a significant
increase in product and service quality, while rigorously controlling
various costs and expenses to reduce costs and enhance efficiency,
ensuring coordinated development. On the financing side, the Company
will strive to actively expand financing channels, improve maturity profile
and reduce financing cost. The Group will ride the tide of time to keep
on actively exploring investment opportunities in the Greater Bay Area,
grasp the potential of regional economic and industrial development and
population policy, and achieve balance between the development of scale
and profit enhancement in order to steadily forge ahead.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

In FY2023, the Group's revenue was approximately RMB3,530.5 million
(FY2022: approximately RMB3,168.1 million), which mainly generated from
property development and related services and trading business, amongst
which, revenue generated from property development and related
services was approximately RMB1,670.7 million (FY2022: approximately
RMB1,121.5 million), representing an increase of 49.0%, which was mainly
due to the increase in delivered area of properties during the Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EIEEsim R 247

Cost of Sales

In FY2023, the Group'’s cost of sales was approximately RMB3,509.4 million
(FY2022: approximately RMB3,214.1 million), which mainly encompassed
land cost, construction cost, cost generated from trading business,
capitalized interest and government grants credited to cost of sales.
Amongst the total cost of sales of the Group for the Year, the cost of sales
for the property development and related services was approximately
RMB1,653.7 million (FY2022: approximately RMB1,168.0 million),
representing an increase of 41.6%, which was mainly due to the increase
in delivered area of properties during the Year.

Gross Profit

In FY2023, the Group recorded gross profit of approximately RMB21.2
million, while the Group recorded gross loss of approximately RMB46.0
million for FY2022. The recognition of gross profit for FY2023 by the Group
was mainly due to the delivery of properties in the Greater Bay Area which
generated gross profit during FY2023.

Other Net Income

Affected by various unfavorable factors such as macroeconomic
environment, real estate market environment and financial environment,
the Group has experienced enormous operating, financing and cash flow
pressure. Against the backdrop of the adverse market conditions, the
Group actively implemented various measures to improve its liquidity,
including collecting the project income in advance through disposal of
project subsidiaries, which resulted in a net income of approximately
RMB208.9 million during the Period (FY2022: loss of approximately
RMB56.2million).

Cost Control

The total amount of distribution and administration expense were
approximately RMB277.7 million for FY2023, representing a decrease of
40.1% from approximately RMB463.5 million in FY2022. The decrease was
mainly due to that the Group actively implemented various measures
including reducing non-core and unessential operations and expenses
and reducing the remuneration and benefits of the directors, senior
management team and employees, to against the backdrop of the
adverse market conditions.
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Impairment Loss

During 2023, the whole market continued facing severe difficulties and
challenges and the fair value of the financial assets of the Group further
decreased, which resulted in impairment loss of RMB292.4 million (FY2022:
RMB340.0 million) during the Year.

Fair Value Loss on Investment Properties

The Group's investment properties carried at fair value as at 31 December
2023 were valued by Moore Transaction Services Limited, an independent
firm of surveyors.

In FY2023, due to unfavorable effect of the overall slowdown of real
estate market, a fair value loss of RMB419.2 million was recognised for
the existing investment properties by the Group (FY2022: approximately
RMB677.4 million).

Finance Costs

Financial cost mainly included interest expense on bank loans, senior
notes and other borrowings. In FY2023, the finance costs of the Group
were approximately RMB293.2 million, representing a decrease of 26.8%
from approximately RMB400.3 million for the last year. The decrease was
mainly due to that the Group made a consent solicitation in October
2023 to amend the terms of the senior notes which include that the
senior notes bear no interest from (and including) 28 April 2023 to (but
excluding) 28 April 2024.

Taxation

Income tax expenses comprised PRC CIT, PRC LAT and deferred taxation.
The Group recorded a minus tax expense for FY2023, which was mainly
due to that the Group recorded operating loss and fair value loss in
investment properties for the Year.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

In 2023, the Group’s capital resources primarily included cash flow
generated from business operations, cash from bank loans and other
borrowings, and advances from controlling shareholders, which were used
in our business operations and investment in development of projects.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS EIEEsim R 247

The Group expects that cash flow generated from business operations
and borrowings will continue to be the main sources of funds in the
coming year. Therefore, the Group will continue to strengthen cash flow
management, improve the efficiency of capital returns of projects and
stringently control the cost and various expenses. Meanwhile, the Group
will make investment only after conducting stringent scientific assessment
and considering changes in policies and markets. Besides, the Group
will continue to explore the opportunities to cooperate with foreign and
domestic investors, in order to provide other sources of funding for the
business development.

Cash Position

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s total cash balances (including
pledged and restricted cash) amounted to approximately RMB594.4
million (31 December 2022: approximately RMB1,940.4 million). The
pledged and restricted cash mainly includes guarantee deposits for the
properties constructions, cash pledged to banks for certain mortgage
facilities granted to purchasers of the Group’s properties, and cash
pledged for bank loans or bills payables.

Borrowings

The Group adopts a prudent financial policy for proactive conduct of
debt management and optimizing debt structure to ensure balance in
financial risks and cut-down of finance costs. As at 31 December 2023, the
Group had bank loans and other borrowings of approximately RMB2,995.5
million (31 December 2022: approximately RMB4,909.7 million) and
senior notes of approximately RMB3,221.9 million (31 December 2022:
approximately RMB2,609.8 million) and financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost of approximately RMB158.9 million (31 December 2022:
RMB352.6 million) as follows:

AEBEHRK -—FHNEIEESRFEREBLE
ReRkiEEs ARAKEQEENRESRE
2 REHEBESDEME - BARIEHIRARE
HEAMX - A AEENKREEBKRE
MMEFHE - HREZRBREM SRR RRIE
H oo tesh - AEEFHEES REENIMTEE D
BIEHE  REBERREHAEGESNR -

HEMR

72023F12A318  ARENRSHE(BREE
HRZRES) XN AAREES94.45 8 70(2022412
A318 : HARE1,9404FET) - EERBEZ R
EoFEREIREEES BRTAEEYME
BFMETHRERERFTFRITNES  RIEA
BITERREMZENEFNES -

B8

AEERAFENTFEE  BEREEEITER
B BLEBEE  BRORTEHEREKE
BESRKA - H2023F 128318 » AEFHFRTE
RN EMEELSARE299555 & 702022412
A318 : HARK49007EETL) BAZEELE
ARE322198E (20226120318 : HARE
2,609.8E&IL)  MABRKATENESRHEEL
ABAREI1589FEITL(2022F12A31H : HAR
#3526 BE&EIT) o B

As at 31 December

M12A318
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARBT T AREBFIT

Repayment Period BENEH

Repayable on demand and within 1 year RREFEER—FURN 2,030,868 3,202,125
Repayable after 1 year but within 2 years —FRIEMFAEE 337,858 2,211,009
Repayable after 2 years but within 5 years MERERFAEE 791,260 2,310,419
Repayable after 5 years hEFREERE 3,216,304 148,529
Total a&t 6,376,290 7,872,082
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A portion of the bank loans and other borrowings were secured by
a pledge of properties and equipment, land use rights, investment
properties, properties under development, completed properties held for
sale and cash at bank of the Group.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had contingent liabilities relating
to guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities provided by domestic
banks to its customers amounting to approximately RMB2,449.6 million
(31 December 2022: approximately RMB3,255.5 million). Pursuant to
the terms of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage payments by a
purchaser, the Group would be responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage principal together with accrued interest and penalties owed
by the defaulting purchaser to the bank, but the Group would be entitled
to assume legal title to and possession of the related property. These
guarantees will be released upon the earlier of (i) the due registration
of the mortgage interest held by the commercial bank upon the subject
property; or (i) the satisfaction of the mortgage loan by the purchaser of
the property.

Commitments

Capital commitments outstanding as at 31 December 2023 contracted but
not provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

MORITERREMEERALTKREZYEER
B LHERE  REWE  FEPWE  FIE
HERTYERRITRSIEHEMR -

HREE

R2023F12A31H - AEEHRBEARITEHEER
RHRERNE AN ERAEIARBBEHOARE
2,449.6H &70(2022F12 A31H : H) AREE3,2555
BEL) - REZSFERNER - MERAEXILE
HIE - ARBEEBEYNAEERIFRITHR
EREBEACEREFE LRI - MAKEA
ERZEERBYENEEERLEEE - ZTE
REGAA TR EFERERR : ()HERITIE
NELABEEYENIRBERS  JHPWEER
BEZBEN -

IR
72023F12 A31 B ERTAMBER B 7S R N E
BB AEIET ¢

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET ARETT
Construction and development contracts BERERAHN 2,883,733 1,348,488
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Key Financial Ratios

The following table sets out our key financial ratios as of the dates
indicated:

EFEHHLE
TRIIIBFE AR B BB -

As at 31 December

M12A31H

2023 2022
Current ratio™ mEhLEo 1.39 1.40
Gearing ratio? BEBEX® 35.0% 34.7%

Notes:
(1) Current ratio is calculated by dividing current assets by current liabilities.

(2)  Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing bank loans and other borrowings,
senior notes and other financial liabilities measured at amortised cost by total
assets.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

The Group's businesses are principally conducted in Renminbi. Other
than certain overseas bank deposits, interests in joint ventures, the senior
notes and other borrowings denominated in foreign currencies, the Group
does not have any material exposure directly due to foreign exchange
fluctuations. The management will continue to closely monitor foreign
currency exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associated
Companies and Joint Ventures

On 13 June 2023, the Group entered into an agreement to dispose
the entire equity interests in Shenzhen Baichuan Century Investment
Consulting Co., Ltd. to an independent third party at a consideration of
RMB60.0 million. For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 13 June 2023.

On 15 November 2023, the Group entered into an agreement to dispose
the entire equity interests in Shenzhen Jingzhen Industrial Company
Limited to an independent third party at a consideration of RMB52.0
million. For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated
15 November 2023 and the Company’s circular dated 30 November 2023.

Save as disclosed above, the Group had no material acquisition or disposal
of subsidiaries, associated companies or joint ventures during FY2023.

GEE
(1) RBHERERDAER DA EH -

Q BEAGBHERRPITERREAMEES BER
BERAESBRRAGENEMCSRBERNEEE

| s
=TH o
Al

4B R i

REBEBETEAAREET - RIAINEFHED
RITFR - RNAEZLENED  BERBELEM
FEESN  AEEWEERESINERBHEMNE
REKR - B IR B FF 8T 1) B 2 51 G [ b 3 7 20
FERHEZEBEPERINERL

BEANEREEHNBATE - BEQATREE
YN

M2023F6H138 + AEBEEEE = FE] B
HETHRIME)IHLREZADER AR I
- REABARBOOEET - BB 2HAA
AIEHIA2023F6 H13HMIAE ©

|

72023F 11 A158 - AEBEBFE=FFILH
FEETRINTSEEEZEBRATZIMRE - K
BAARES05ET - FEEL2BEAARBH
A2023F11 A15AMASE RAA T B A2023F
11 H30H AYIBEY ©

B ioh - AR E 202381 B R 2 I S A H) UL
BRHEHBAR  BERRRAERF -
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Employment and Remuneration Policy

Human resource has always been the most valuable resource of the Group.
In terms of the remuneration system, the Group built comprehensive value
chains and diversified incentive mechanism, and formed a comprehensive
remuneration system with basic salary, performance based salary, short-
term incentives as well as medium and long term incentives covering
various businesses, which have greatly enhanced the enthusiasm of
operation units and employees. The remuneration committee of the
Company reviews such packages annually, or when occasion requires.
The Company has also adopted a share option scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 241 employees (31 December
2022: 855 employees). For FY2023, total staff costs of the Group were
approximately RMB103.6 million (FY2022: approximately RMB176.2
million).

Capital Structure

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s total number of issued shares
was 453,735,400 at HK$0.1 each (31 December 2022: 453,735,400 at
HK$0.1 each).

Treasury Policies

The Group adopts a prudent financial management strategy. We
actively and regularly review and manage its capital structure and make
adjustments by taking into consideration the changes in economic
conditions, its future capital requirements, prevailing and projected
profitability and operating cash flows, projected capital expenditures and
projected strategic investment opportunities.

In order to control the liquidity risks, the Board would closely monitor
the liquidity position to ensure it would satisfy the funding needs of the
Group.

EEUSET T
AF—ERAKEREENER - FHE RS
M| AEERY T REERE - ZITCEBIKE T
T AERARTE - BWFHE - RSB
HBEREEXBNEETMER - BAMAE
TEREBENNBETHRERE - ARAHHEE
SEFAMVERBNZEFFE - ARATERAE
PRt 8l - B ER/AKERINZLERKERNA
B2 EER LR -

72023F 124318 - NEE/E 8 H241 A (20224F
12A318 : 855A) < 20238 N F/E - £ELET
AP AREE103.6 E BT (2020 HFE « HA
R¥17628ETT) °

BEARZEE

R2023F 12 A31H " A RBIEHITHRMHAES
453,735,400 % & A% E {E0.178 7T 2 I 1D (20224612
F31H : 453,735,400/ FAREE0. 1B T 2% 17) °

MH R

AEBRDGEEMNMBEIERE - ROBEME
HiEESMEREAERE  WBEE BB GME
MBI - RRMEARF R - ERTMER R B F5E
h - BERSRE  AANEARHAKLIED
BRI ERGUENGEETHR -

STEHRBIERRE  EF@REEERBME
M ARERERE MR REMESFR -
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY Bt &1 =

For the financial year ended 31 December

BENRANALMREE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTR
Results E3

Revenue WA 3,530,521 3,168,080  5570,884 3,737,158 1,583,308
Gross profit/(loss) T8,/ (518) 21,156 (45,974) 735254 1,286,733 572,880
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRI (E1B),/ (1,026,708)  (1,916,618) (355,669) 725,883 (144,361)
Income tax FRSH (178,907) 187,591 (89,441) (369,610) (132,924)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EE),/FIHE (1,205,615)  (1,729,027) (445,110) 356,273 (277,285)

Attributable to: AT & B
Equity shareholders of the Company AR AIHEZERLER (1,214747)  (1,571,832) (498,484) 360,696 (271,221)
Non-controlling interests i 9,132 (157,195) 53,374 (4,423) (6,064)
(Loss)/profit for the year FR(EER),/FE (1,205,615)  (1,729,027) (445,110) 356,273 (277,285)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 F %}
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As at 31 December

®12831H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AREBTRT AREBTT ARETT ARETT ARETT
Financial position BT

Non-current assets FERBEE 2,035,073 2,708,667 3,650,383 4252906 3,749,929
Current assets MENEE 16,186,827 19,998,734 20,222,582 14,724,095 11,098,893
Current liabilities AR 11,604,980 14311628 12490269  11,986892 7,619,921
Net current assets MEEEFE 4,581,847 5,687,106 7,732,313 2,737,203 3,478,972
Total assets less current liabilities BEERREAR 6,616,920 8395773 11,382,696 6,990,109 7,228,901
Non-current liabilities FERBEE 4,372,487 4,381,168 5,725,569 1,131,745 2,279,894
Net assets BETME 2244433 3514605  5657,127 5858364 4,949,007
Share capital (RN 36,598 36,598 36,598 36,598 31,825
Reserves & 2,202,057 3,384,945 5,051,474 5555799 4,900,927

Total equity attributable to equity KA B IEL
shareholders of the Company REmiEE 2,238,655 3,421,543 5088072 5592397 4,932,752
Non-controlling interests R 5,778 93,062 569,055 265,967 16,255
Total Equity B 2,244,433 3514605 5657127 5858364 4,949,007

GUANGDONG — HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED E&;& 1R AR A 7



The Board hereby present this annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Group mainly comprise property
development and sale, property management, operation, trading of non-
ferrous metals and chemical products and other business. The Group
focuses on the development of urban renewal projects and high- end
housing projects in the Greater Bay Area. Details of the principal activities
of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note 15 to the
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group is set out on page 6 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

The Group is committed to supporting the environmental sustainability
and complying with PRC environmental protection laws and regulations.
These include regulations on air and noise pollution and discharge of
waste and water. The Group has taken various compliance procedures to
ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules and regulations. In accordance
with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide, as set
out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), details of the
Group’s environmental policies are set out in the Environmental, Social
and Governance Report of this annual report.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

There was no incident of non-compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that had or would have a significant impact on the Company
during FY2023.

RESULTS

The Group's results for FY2023 are set out in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT EE 24
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT HELD AND FUTURE PLANS
FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group did not hold any significant investments (representing any
investment in an investee company with a value of 5% or more of the total
assets of the Company as at 31 December 2023) during the year ended
31 December 2023. The Group from time to time is exploring investment
opportunities that would benefit the shareholders of the Company as
a whole. Except for those disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, the
Group does not have any concrete plans for material investments and
capital assets.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
FY2023 (FY2022: nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
FY2023 are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during FY2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and note 32 to the financial statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, details of the Company’s reserves
available for distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of
Cayman Companies Law are set out in note 32 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during FY2023 are set out in note 10 to the financial statements.

PRINCIPAL PROJECTS

Details of the principal projects held by the Group for investment, sale and
development purposes are shown on pages 283 to 284.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Revenue attributable to the Group’s single largest customer and five
largest customers of the property development and related services
segment accounted for approximately 0.81% and 2.95% of the Group’s
revenue respectively in FY2023.

FSANEXRBEREXRBREFE
ERIR AR EHE

AEBREZ2023F12A318 EFEXEFEE
AEAIEE(FBEH —RWIRERARNEMKRE - &
FESEMAAF2023F12A31BNEERE%
FUA L) c AEBUEERREREAEE ' BA
FREMMFAIEEI - AEBTEFHRERLD
AR REBEZ SR ERSHAEE -

B2
FEETEFEN 20230 BUF E IR AREA S (2022
FHRFEE: Z) o

Bz %

BRAARRAN20230 R FERARAZBFBHN
BB RR M 32 -

fot:
BRAREE RARRR2023 HFEHREEED
FIBDRIEN A GHEREER R RRME32

] 4 93 il {5 0
20232022512 A310 - AR A RIRIERS
HERVAEGTERN D RFEGBF BN
TEmARMITE32 -

W% - BERXMR
ERAREER 20230 BFENYE - BERRE
BHHBEENMBREME0 -

ERRH

AEEZFBEAKRE HERBRERBEZEEY
HEFEH N E2835E284E ©

FEEFRRHER

REAEBEMERELEBREDHE AR
FRAREFPHRAD B AR EB R 20238 BF
JEEIUR A 490.81%522.95% °
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The aggregate purchases from the Group’s single largest supplier and
five largest suppliers of the property development and related services
segment accounted for approximately 15.10% and 22.62% respectively, of
the Group’s total purchases for FY2023.

None of the Directors or any of their associates, or any shareholders who,
to the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital has any interests in the Group'’s five largest suppliers
or customers.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, there was no material and
significant dispute between the Group and its suppliers and/or customers.

DONATIONS

During FY2023, the Company had no charitable contributions or other
donations (FY2022: RMBO0.4 million).

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023
are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company approved and adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 30 May 2019. The purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to recognize the contribution of the employees of the members
of the Group and Directors who have contributed to the Group (the
“Qualified Participants”) by granting share options to them as incentive
and/or reward.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme is 40,148,440 shares, representing approximately
8.85% of the total issued shares of the Company as at the date of this
report, and is subject to the refreshment of the 10% limit by the approval
of the shareholders at general meeting and the limit as set out in Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options granted
under this Share Option Scheme to any Qualified Participant (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding options), in any 12-month period up
to and including the date on which an offer for the grant of an option is
made by the Board (the “Offer Date”), shall not exceed 1% of the number
of shares in issue on the Offer Date. Each grant of options to a Director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company, or any of their
respective associates, under this Share Option Scheme must comply with
the requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT EEE2 %

mAREB Y EFE MRBRE D BE — AR E
N A A e R A 4258 D RIME AN S 742023
B B AF FE B RS 4258 4915.10% 52 22.62% ©
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An option is accepted by the grantee when a signed offer letter together
with a remittance of RMB1.00 by way of consideration for the grant is
received by the Company. The remittance of RMB1.00 shall be received by
the Company no later than 7 days from the Offer Date.

The Share Option Scheme is effective for a period of ten years
commencing from 30 May 2019, after which no further options shall be
offered under this Share Option Scheme but the provisions of the Share
Option Scheme shall in all other respects remain in full force to give effect
to the exercise of any options granted under this Share Option Scheme
prior to 30 May 2029. As at 31 December 2023, the remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme is approximately five years and five months.

On 27 September 2022, the Share Consolidation on the basis that every
ten issued and unissued existing shares of the Company be consolidated
into one consolidated share became effective.

Pursuant to Rule 17.07(3) of the Listing Rules, as at 31 December 2023,
the total number of shares that may be issued in respect of share
options granted under the Share Option Scheme was 2,100,000 shares,
representing approximately 0.46% of the weighted average number of
shares in issue of the Company for FY2023 and the exercise price per share
for the outstanding share options is HKS$5. The exercise price of share
options is determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, and shall be
at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the grant date;
(ii) the average of the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five (5) trading
days immediately preceding the grant date; and (iii) the nominal value
of a share of the Company (that is HK$0.1) (taking into account the Share
Consolidation).

The number of share options available for grant under the Share
Option Scheme were 11,208,440 and 11,208,440 as at 1 January 2023
and 31 December 2023, respectively (taking into account the Share
Consolidation).

With the effectiveness of the new Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules with
effect from 1 January 2023, the Company shall comply with the relevant
rules of the new Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules under the transitional
arrangements before the Share Option Scheme is amended to comply
with the new Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

KATEERENEL M MERARE1.007T
(EAREERENRE) R - BIREEARALE

o AR ME1.007T B IE R T IB
7 RAW AR RIEIE -
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7202387 B FEHARE - AR BT A BE AR A sk 4R D
B o R2023%12831H - BRREEITEE
771 7 B RS 42 352,100,000 % (51 B B0 & 6F
%) AEARRE B BTN £90.46% 1R 5K IE A4
FHEIE BRI RITEBREFBEHYIT

No options or award was granted during FY2023. As of 31 December
2023, the total number of outstanding shares involved in the Share
Option Scheme was 2,100,000 shares (taking into account the Share
Consolidation), representing approximately 0.46% of the shares in issue of
the Company. Particulars of the outstanding share options granted under
the Share Option Scheme are set out below:

Fair value of
share options
(Closing price granted at the
of shares date of grant
immediately before the
At Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled At heforethedate  Exercise price Share
1 January during during during during 31December  Date of grant of ofgrant of share options  Consolidation
Grantees 2023 the year the year the year the year 203 shareoptions (HKS pershare)  (HKS pershare)  (HKS per share)
BRER
RfyafaE
BRRH Bt A
RNBE KER KER AER AER Mg Bl BfAKmE  BRETEE AYEE
HEA 1A1H 5 i b3 pis 128318 BRERH (Bnsk)  (BnsR)  (E78R)
(H3t) (H3t)
Directors
g2
Mr.He Fei 3,000,000 - - 900,000 - 2100000 26June 2022" 25 50 -
i 2025672680
Other Participants
HftSHAR
31 Employees 2,528,000 - - 2,528,000 - - 12June 20207 485 50 -
%R 2020561287
10Employees 724,000 - - 724,000 - - 7December 2020° 410 50 -
104EE 0205125782
Total 6,252,000 - - 4,152,000 - 2,100,000
h
Notes: B s
(1) The outstanding share options granted on 26 June 2022 shall vest and (1) M2022F 626 B X LHBEBIERBIATEBERS

B R ATIE

exercise according to the following schedule:

Percentage of shares under an

Respective Vesting Date

EEEAH

option that shall be vested
ERBEREETHRAB DL

Exercise Period

1T

1 April 2023 30% From 1 April 2023 to 1 July 2023
202354H1H 20234 418 £20235%7H1H
1 April 2024 30% From 1 April 2024 to 1 July 2024
202454710 120244 H1HZE2024F7H1H
1 April 2025 40% From 1 April 2025 to 1 July 2025
202554 H1H 20254 418 £202567H1H
(2)  All share options granted on 20 June 2020 and 7 December 2020 have lapsed. (2) 720206 A20H X112 A7BEREHEREHSE X

o

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note 31 to the
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
The Directors during FY2023 and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Luo Jieping (Chairman)
(appointed on 20 July 2023)

Mr. Wong Choi Hing (Co-Chairman)

Mr. Cai Hongwen (Co-Chairman)

Mr. He Fei (CEO)

Ms. Wei Haiyan

Mr. Zeng Yunshu
(resigned as executive Director and Chairman and re-designated as
a non-executive director on 20 July 2023)

Non-executive Director

Mr. Zeng Yunshu
(resigned as executive Director and Chairman and
re-designated as a non-executive director on 20 July 2023)
Mr. Feng Ke
(appointed on 27 June 2022 and resigned on 1 March 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Guan Huanfei

Mr. Han Qinchun

Mr. Chen Yangsheng (appointed on 5 July 2023)
Mr. Dai Yiyi (resigned on 7 April 2023)

The Board has recommended the re-appointment of the Directors
standing for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company. The Company'’s circular contains detailed information of the
Directors standing for re-election.

The Board has received an annual confirmation of independence from
each of the independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Board considers all independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

Each of the Directors of the Company has entered into a service contract/
appointment letter with the Company for a period of three years. None of
the Directors of the Company proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company or any
of its subsidiaries which is not determinable within one year without
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS,
TRANSACTION OR ARRANGEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

None of the Directors has or had material beneficial interests, whether
directly or indirectly, in any significant contract, transaction or
arrangement in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, its holding companies or a subsidiary of its holding
companies was a party during FY2023.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS, TRANSACTION OR ARRANGEMENT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

None of the controlling Shareholders or its subsidiaries (if applicable)
has or had material interests, either directly or indirectly, in any contract,
transaction or arrangement of significance, whether for the provision of
services or otherwise, to the business of the Group to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party during FY2023.

BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical information of Directors and Senior Management of
the Company are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

ENFORCEMENT OF THE DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

A deed of non-competition (the “Non-Competition Deed”) was entered
into by Mr. Zeng YunShu, Mr. Cai Hongwen, Ruixinhaide Holdings Limited
(“RXHD Holdings”), Hakka Park International Group Co Ltd. (“Hakka
Park”), Guang Yitong Technology Limited (“Guang Yitong"”) and China
Guangdong-Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited (“China
Greater Bay Area Holdings”), (collectively, the “Covenantors”) with the
Company. Each of the Covenantors has unconditionally and irrevocably
undertaken to the Company that he/it would not, and would procure
that his/its associates (other than any members of the Group) would
not, during the restricted period, directly or indirectly, either on his/its
own account or in conjunction with or on behalf of any person, firm or
company, enterprise or organisation, to carry on, develop, be engaged in,
operate, participate in, or interest in or render any services to or otherwise
be involved in (in each case whether as a shareholder, director, agent,
partner, employee or otherwise) any business which is in competition with
the business carried on by the Group (the “Restricted Business”), save
for the existing business which is currently or already owned, operated,
participated, being invested in or carried on by the Covenantors as of the
date of the Deed.
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The Covenantors have further undertaken to procure that, during the
restricted period, any business investment or commercial opportunity
which competes with the Restricted Business (the “New Opportunities”)
identified or offered to him/it or any of his/its associates (other than
through the Group) (the “Offeror”) is first referred to the Company in the
following manner: (a) each of our Covenantors is required to, refer, or to
procure the referral of, the New Opportunities to the Company, and shall
give written notice to the Company of any New Opportunities containing
such information necessary for the Company (the “Offer Notice”); and
(b) the Offeror will be entitled to pursue the New Opportunities only if (i)
the Offeror has received a notice from the Company declining the New
Opportunities and confirming that such New Opportunities would not
constitute competition with core business of the Company, or (ii) the
Offeror has not received such notice from the Company within 60 days
from the Company’s receipt of the Offer Notice. Upon receipt of the Offer
Notice, the Company shall seek opinions from the independent non-
executive Directors who do not have material interests in the matter.

Each of the Covenantors has confirmed to the Company that it had fully
complied with the terms of the Non-Competition Deed during FY2023 for
disclosure in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS
WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Particulars of the Directors’ emoluments and five highest paid individuals
for FY2023 are set out in notes 7 and 8 to the financial statements and the
emolument policy of the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance
Report of this annual report.

No Director has waived or has agreed to waive any emoluments during
FY2023.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Report Period, the following Directors were considered to
have interests in the following businesses, which compete or are likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group as
required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

Mr. Zeng Yunshu is a director of each of Heyuan Guangrun Investment
Co., Ltd., Heyuan Guangrun Industrial Development Co., Ltd. and Xingning
Xihe Real Estate Co., Ltd..

Mr. Cai Hongwen is a director of each of Heyuan Guangrun Investment
Co., Ltd. and Heyuan Guangrun Industrial Development Co., Ltd.. He also
directly holds 50% interests in Guangdong Hongyi Group Limited.

The principal business activities of Guangdong Hongyi Group Limited,
Heyuan Guangrun Investment Co., Ltd., Heyuan Guangrun Industrial
Development Co., Ltd. and Xingning Xihe Real Estate Co., Ltd. are real
estate development. The Board considers that the business of aforesaid
companies may compete with the business of the Group.

Each of the Covenantors, including Mr. Cai Hongwen and Mr. Zeng
Yunshu, has signed the Non-competition Deed which is in favour of the
Company. Each of the Covenantors also procures that his associates
would be subject to the Non-competition Deed. Mr. Zeng Yunshu, being
an associate of Mr. Zeng Sheng by virtue of farther- son relationship, is
therefore subject to the Non-competition Deed. For details of the Non-
competition Deed, please refer to the paragraph headed “Enforcement of
the Deed of Non-competition” of this annual report. Further, when making
decisions on the business of the Group, the abovementioned Directors, in
the performance of his duty as a Director of the Company, shall fulfil his
fiduciary duties and act in the best commercial interest of the Group as a
whole.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"))
as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
he/she is taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or as
recorded in the register maintained by the Company under section 352 of
the SFO, or as notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers
(the “Model Code”) contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows (taking
into account the Share Consolidation):

Long Position in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the
Company

EENEFHER

R2023F12A31H  ARRIEERESITHAES
RAR B S EEA R EE (& R EHFRPEK
B[ H R EERH ) EXVIR) K% - 18REN D
MESPHEAREES R EEDEXVIE7 RS
DEBEIE AR R MR FTE i Mok R (BIER
BEHFRBERINEBEXHEEXRAEES
RS RAR) » SRABERRARA RIRIEES &
BIEMES20GFEELMOEREAR - SR
B LEMABAMEN EMBEITAESETESRS
EIZZESTRI(H22ESF A ) ZBMe AN A7) KRB Fr
g MR BINT (EEEBRDAHE) -

RAEXTARG RABERDHTRE

Approximate
Percentage of
the Company’s
Corporate Personal Share Family Total share total issued
Name of Directors Class of securities interest interest options interest capital share capital”
AR
BRTARAN
BEfR #HER DA AER RRE FhER At BRBIHY
Mr. Zeng Yunshu Ordinary shares 276,443,712 - - - 276,443,711 60.93%
BEEEE LR
Mr. He Fei Ordinary shares and Share 22,686,770 - 2,100,000 - 24,786,770 5.46%
Options
R LR RARE R
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The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 453,735,400 Shares
issued as at 31 December 2023.

These Shares are held by China Guangdong — Hong Kong Greater Bay Area
Holdings Limited (“China Greater Bay Area Holdings”), as at 31 December
2023, China Greater Bay Area Holdings is owned as to 84% by Ruixinhaide
Holdings Limited (“/RXHD Holdings”), RXHD Holdings is owned as to 100% by
Solid Wealth Holdings Limited (“Solid Wealth”), and Solid Wealth is owned as
to 90% by Mr. Zeng Yunshu. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, Mr. Zeng Yunshu
is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by China Greater Bay Area
Holdings. The spouse of Mr. Zeng Yunshu is deemed to be interested in the
Shares which Mr. Zeng Yunshu is interested in under Part XV of the SFO. Mr.
Zeng Yunshu and his spouse are deemed to be interested in 276,443,711
Shares of the Company through China Greater Bay Area Holdings, RXHD
Holdings and Solid Wealth, representing approximately 60.93% of the issued
Shares of the Company.

This represents the share options granted pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme (as defined below). Details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in
the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in this annual report. The spouse
of Mr. He Fei is deemed to be interested in the Shares which Mr. He Fei is
interested in under Part XV of the SFO. By virtue of Part XV of the SFO, as at
31 December 2023, Mr. He Fei and his spouse are deemed to be interested in
25,686,770 Shares of the Company, representing approximately 5.46% of the
issued Shares of the Company.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, to the knowledge

of the Board, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company

had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and

debe

ntures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within

the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be: (i) notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8

of Pa
Direc
provi

rt XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which the
tors and chief executive were taken or deemed to have under such
sions of the SFO); (ii) recorded in the register kept by the Company

pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or (iii) notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2023, according to the register of members kept by
the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO and so far as is known
to, or can be ascertained after reasonable enquiry by the Directors, the
following person/entity (other than the Directors or chief executives of
the Company) had an interest or short position in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or be directly and indirectly interested in 5%
or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying rights to
vote on all circumstances at general meetings of the Company:

Long Position in the Shares and Underlying Shares of the
Company

FERRER

M2023F12H31H - REBEARAIZRESLEE
ﬂ?WIJ%‘3361%%?H@Hﬁ%i‘%ﬂﬂ%&w‘%%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ%
KHEEELEEEAEMERER ﬁ%%%&ﬁ
AIMEBITHRABSI  THAL BERAR
&ﬁ*ﬁ BEB (TR REBEHFRAEKRDZE xvﬁﬁ)%

- BB REHFFEEIRIEES KBS A
%XV*B'E'FT2&3“*BE”J1|7RK/AW$”&7&5“%%?&
BEREmOSOAR - S EESEEEE TAERR
KB E—ER T ERREREASIRZARE
) EES% A iR -

RAEXTRG RAEABRONETR

Approximate
percentage of
Number of Shares the Company’s
RH#A total issued
Name Nature of interest Corporate interest Share option share capital®”
EART
BERTARKH
L EEME NEER R EEER A
China Greater Bay Area Holdings Beneficial owner? 276,443,711 - 60.93%
‘:P. /%/ [T E“%’Eﬁ)\w
Ruixinhaide Holdings Interest in controlled corporation® 276,443,711 - 60.93%
iRk SR EE R
Solid Wealth Holdings Interest in controlled corporation® 276,443,711 - 60.93%
SRR REH AR R
Mr. Zeng Yunshu Interest in controlled corporation® 276,443,711 - 60.93%
ZEREE R AR R
Eminent Ascend Limited Benef|C|aI owner® 33,280,000 - 7.33%
LY YN EnfaAY
SUNET GLOBAL LIMITED Interest in controlled corporation 33,280,000 - 7.33%
SUNET GLOBAL LIMITED Rt EEERY
Mr. Wong Kim Interest in controlled corporation® 33,280,000 - 7.33%
Fal%ksE R AR R
Mr. He Fei BenefICIaI owner 22,686,770 2,100,000 5.46%
fAfREsE EnfAA
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The percentage shareholding is calculated on the basis of 453,735,400 shares
issued as at 31 December 2023.

As at 31 December 2023, China Greater Bay Area Holdings is owned as to
84% by RXHD Holdings, RXHD Holdings is owned as to 100% by Solid Wealth,
and Solid Wealth is owned as to 90% by Mr. Zeng Yunshu. By virtue of Part
XV of the SFO, each of RXHD Holdings, Solid Wealth and Mr. Zeng Yunshu
is deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by China Greater Bay Area
Holdings. As at the date of this annual report, each of China Greater Bay Area
Holdings, RXHD Holdings, Solid Wealth and Mr. Zeng Yunshu is deemed to be
interested in 276,443,711 Shares of the Company, representing approximately
60.93% of the issued Shares of the Company.

As at 31 December 2023, the spouse of Mr. Zeng Yunshu is deemed to be
interested in the Shares which Mr. Zeng Yunshu is interested in under Part XV
of the SFO.

As at 31 December 2023, Eminent Ascend is wholly-owned by SUNET GLOBAL
LIMITED, which in turn wholly-owned by Mr. Wong Kim, hence each of SUNET
GLOBAL LIMITED and Mr. Wong Kim is deemed to be interested in all the
Shares held by Eminent Ascend.

As at 31 December 2023, the spouse of Mr. Wong Kim is deemed to be
interested in the Shares which Mr. Wong Kim is interested in under Part XV of
the SFO.

As at 31 December 2023, the spouse of Mr. He Fei is deemed to be interested
in the Shares which Mr. He Fei is interested in under Part XV of the SFO.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, to the knowledge of the
tors, no other person (other than a Director or chief executive of the

Company) had, or were deemed or taken to have interest or short position
in the shares or underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed to the

Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO,
or which were recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBT
SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ Interests in Securities”,
at no time during the fiscal year under review was the Company or any of
its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief
executives of the Company (including their spouses or children under 18
years of age) to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

The Board confirmed that none of the related party transactions set out
in notes 20, 22 and 37 to these financial statements constituted non-
exempt connected transactions or non- exempt continuing connected
transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

During FY2023, the Group had not entered into any connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions which are required to
be disclosed in this annual report pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Group
has complied with the relevant disclosure requirements under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the Year, the Company and its subsidiaries have not purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s shares listed on the Stock
Exchange.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles, or the
laws of Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated, under which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares
on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

BANKLOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31
December 2023 are set out in note 22 to the financial statements.
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SENIOR NOTES

The Company has launched an exchange offer in relation to the
outstanding senior notes on 17 April 2023 (the “Exchange Offer”),
and completed the Exchange Offer on 28 April 2023. 100% of the total
aggregate principal amount of the outstanding US$75 million senior notes
due in May 2023 (the “May 2023 Senior Notes”), and approximately 94.8%
of the total aggregate principal amount of the outstanding US$303.62
million senior notes due in October 2023 (the “October 2023 Senior
Notes”), have been validly tendered for exchange and accepted pursuant
to the Exchange Offer. In exchange of the validly tendered May 2023
Senior Notes and October 2023 Senior Notes, the Company has issued an
aggregate principal amount of US$413,578,609 of the new notes pursuant
to the Exchange Offer on 28 April 2023 (the “New Notes”). The New Notes
bear interest at 7.0% per annum and will mature on 28 April 2026 pursuant
to the terms and conditions of the relevant indenture. For further details,
please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 17 April 2023, 26
April 2023, 28 April 2023 and 4 May 2023.

On 11 October 2023, the Company had launched a consent solicitation
(“Consent Solicitation”) for the New Notes and completed the Consent
Solicitation on 25 October 2023 and the Company also made an upfront
payment of 0.1% of the outstanding principal of the New Notes. Following
the completion of Consent Solicitation and payment of the upfront
principal payment, (i) the outstanding principal amount of the New Notes
was US$439,097,982; (ii) the interest rate of the New Notes was reduced
from 7.0% per annum to 4.5% per annum; (iii) the interest shall be paid
annually; (iv) the New Notes shall bear no interest from (and including)
28 April 2023 to (but excluding) 28 April 2024; (v) the interest on the New
Notes shall be paid in PIK Interest from and including 28 April 2024 to (but
not including) 28 April 2025; (vi) the interest accrued from (and including)
28 April 2025 to the maturity date shall be paid in cash; and (vii) the
maturity of the New Notes was extended from 28 April 2026 to 28 April
2029. For further details of the Consent Solicitation, please refer to the
Company’s announcements dated 11 October 2023, 23 October 2023 and
25 October 2023.

For the details of senior notes the Company, please refer to note 23 to the
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT EEE &

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Save as disclosed in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual
report, the Board is of the opinion that the Company had complied with
the code provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code") contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules during the Year.
Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set
out in the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the latest practicable date
prior to the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float (i.e. at least 25% of the issued Shares has been held
in public hands) as required under the Listing Rules.

PROFESSIONAL TAX ADVICE RECOMMENDED

If the shareholders of the Company are unsure about the taxation
implications of purchasing, holding, disposing of, dealing in, or the
exercise of any rights in relation to the Shares of the Company, they are
advised to consult an expert.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no subsequent events between the end of the reporting
period and the date of this annual report that would have a material
impact on the Group.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from 21 June
2024 to 26 June 2024 by the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong
Kong, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares
of the Company will be effected. In order to determine the identity of
members who are entitled to attend and vote at the AGM, all share
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on 20 June 2024.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five years is set out on pages 15 to 16 of the annual report.
This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS

The risks and uncertainties of the business of the Group are principally
associated with the property market in Mainland China, and the Group’s
income in the future will be affected by such risks and uncertainties. The
property market in Mainland China is affected by a number of factors
which include, among others, economic environment, property supply
and demand, the PRC government'’s fiscal and monetary policies, taxation
policies and austerity measures on the real estate sector, etc.. The financial
risk management policies of the Group are provided in note 34 to the
financial statements of this annual report.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENT

A discussion of the likely future development of the Company’s business is
set out on page 7 of this annual report.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

During FY2023, no contracts concerning the management and
administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business of
the Company were entered into or existed during the year ended 31
December 2023.

PERMITTED INDEMNITIES

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company, the Directors and
other officers of the Company are entitled to be indemnified out of the
assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained
by him as a director or other officer of the Company in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in his
favour, or in which he is acquitted. Such permitted indemnity provisions
are currently in force and were in force during the year ended 31
December 2023.

REVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2023 have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee, which opines that applicable
accounting standards and requirements have been complied with and
that adequate disclosures have been made.
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AUDITORS

Reanda Lau & Au Yeung (HK) CPA Limited has resigned as the auditor
of the Company with effect from 4 December 2023. The Board has
appointed Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite Partners”) as the new auditor
of the Company with effect from 13 December 2023 to fill the casual
vacancy following the resignation of Elite Partners and to hold office
until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company.
A resolution for the re-appointment of Elite Partners as the auditors of
the Company for FY2024 will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM. The
consolidated financial statements of the Company for FY2023 have been
audited by Elite Partners.

For and on behalf of the Board
Luo Jieping

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT IR1E - 2R ERHRE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

AR EHE

This report is the Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report AIRERAEEEMA2023FERE - HSRE
for the year 2023 issued by the Group. Adhering to the principles of JR(TESG)E - FAEEM « AlE(k - FEER
materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency, the company will focus —HHRRA - AREERBEEEBEERTR
on the disclosure of its ESG philosophy, important progress, achievements R oHegkERrAMNES BEEZER  KEK
and future plans from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023. If there is any RIRETEIE - REEE /202351 418 £20234F
inconsistency with the previous year, it will be explained specifically. 12A318 - MEETET 8 BEAEBANRE

Reporting Principle and Guideline

RE MR IE

Reporting Scope

BEEENRER

Data Source

HEIR
Our Commitments

BEEH

Report Sign-off

mRARAE

Assess and feedback to
the Report

EEEK B AR E

BATH -

This report is prepared mainly under the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide (ESG Guide) set out in Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

RpEFB2RBEBBE R ETHARMEECQICGRE - & REGHmE1E51)(ESGHE
SI)ETTRE o

The Group sets its reporting boundary to cover the environmental and social performance
within the major business segments of the Group in China. Demonstrating the principle of
materiality, the Group identifies property development to be included in this ESG report since
this segment represents the majority part of the Group’s annual operations and revenue.
During the Reporting Year, the business operations of the Group changed a bit and ceased its
property management business. Unless otherwise specified, RMB is the monetary unit in this
report.

REBGEEREHERERBEANEEETHEEXB D IANREREERE - AEBE
BRIMERBEARNARERE - &8 REBWRE - WIIHRZED BERERFE R LK
ABRAES - RIEFERN  AEEXRBALES  AEFEHE TYRERES - BAit
REFENDBYEEIBEBEIR - REFRIFAIN - RREUAARBREBEN -

This report’s data and information are mainly derived from the statistics and related
documents of GHKGBA Holdings.
AREBTOEE - EENRRAEEEZRA S BIBEEEXX M AL -

GHKGBA Holdings commits that there are no misrepresentations, misleading statements
or material omissions in this report, and the Board takes responsibility for the truthfulness,
accuracy and completeness of the report.

BB EERAEARS T REERLCH  REMIRENER  EFSHREATHE
Bt EmMANTEEEE -

This report was confirmed and approved for publication by the Board on 28 March 2024.
RIREN20245F3 A28 A EFE TSR - HUETAEM

You can access to the electronic version of the report from the following websites:
www.hkexnews.hk and www.youngogroup.com. Should you have any opinions or
suggestions regarding the content of this ESG Report, you are welcome to share with the
Group at ir@youngogroup.com.

EABBA TR ER AR REE TR - BB M www.hkexnews.hk 2 2 7B 77 #8114
www.youngogroup.com ° {1 B TEARIRE - 18 REAMENEE MBS NER -
BUDIER B R B R X E © ir@youngogroup.com ©
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT 818 - 2R B8 HE

STATEMENTS OF THE BOARD

To all stakeholders,

The Board of Directors hereby presents the Company’s 2023 ESG report,
which is also the 8th ESG report we have released since the 2016 ESG
report.

We are mainly engaged in the development of residential and urban
renewal projects in Greater Bay Area. The Group always adheres to
the goal of creating values for all stakeholders, building an industrial
ecosystem striving for win-win results for customers, employees,
enterprises, partners, the environment and communities, and achieving
sustainable development.

In 2023, the Board took the responsibility of leading ESG governance.
To fulfill such responsibility, the Board developed and updated the
ESG guidelines and objectives of the Group based on macro social and
economic environment, the Company’s development strategy and
the results of communication with stakeholders. It also strengthened
materiality analysis and reporting processes, identified the risks and
opportunities that the ESG matters bring to the Group’s business model,
and included ESG considerations in the business decision-making process.
An ESG working group was set up, where members consisted of the
leaders in charge and heads of all the functional centers of the Group. As
authorized by the Board, the working group implements ESG guidelines,
formulates action plans, manages ESG affairs, collects ESG related key
indicators, and regularly reports ESG performance and ESG objective
fulfillment to the Board.

The Board will spare no effort to promote the sustainable development
of the Group. We stand together with our stakeholders to create a better
future.

Board of Directors
28 March 2024
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CHAPTER 1 GHKGBA HOLDINGS IN 2023

Corporate Culture

GHKGBA Holdings integrates the concept of sustainable development into

the Group’s corporate culture. We aim to build an industrial ecosystem

and win-win situation for stakeholders including customers, employees,

enterprises, partners, the environment and communities to enhance

business sustainability of the business of the Group and promote business

growth.

Corporate Positioning — New Ecological Industry City Service Provider

Corporate Vision - Empowering the future of cities for creating a better

life

Entrepreneurship - Learning ability is competitiveness

Core value - Integrity, innovation, excellence and win-win results

E—EHKMrY2023

iToE 3¢ 7
BEENRETRERREARMAEBRME
v SEBRES BT 1% B B
HEESFHENELERERY M EmEK
EATISEN BRI R o

EFM - ERREN RS

RS — MM AR R T8

bEFE-BEIURHF

BOBE-BE B 28 KR

Statistics in 2023 52023

Economic Performance AR

Indicators Unit

BE B 2023
Income RMB’million 3,530.5
HEWA AREEET

Net profits RMB’'million (1,205.6)
pETpE AREBEET

Contracted sales RMB'million 2,143.8
BRIHE AREEETT

Total assets RMB'million 18,221.9
HEE AREEET

Net assets RMB'million 2,244.4
FEE AREBBEET

Land bank million m? 7.3
T BETFHK
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Environmental Performance

Indicators Unit

EE By 2023
Total greenhouse gas emission tCO,e 6,463.72
mERBHINEE WE—SUtIRE S

Total energy consumption kWh 9,856,827.85
BEREES TR

Total water consumption Tonnes 194,208.39
BREKE 07

Social Performance HEEN

Indicators Unit

EE By 2023
Total number of employees Person 241
BTHAR A

Male employees Person 151
EMET A

Female employees Person 20
ZHEET A

Percentage of employees receiving training % 100

XiEEEEARIEEBBEDL

%
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CHAPTER Il ESG GOVERNANCE

ESG Strategy

ESG Strategic Policies and Objectives

E_ZESGER
ESGEiBE ERE 12
ESGE{RE T ¢ R B #Z

Based on the sustainable development concept and the corporate culture EEEERETHEEERESMOELESR
framework, GHKGBA Holdings defines the ESG strategic policies and T v BESE T WD TESGEIRE H it R EAZ ¢

objectives as follows:

Policies

J &t

Objectives
B

For customers

For employees

For environment

RIRE

Deliver quality products and services

RS EENEMTRSE

Keep learning, be enterprising, positive
and passionate, work happily and live
healthily

BEER - BYORE - RETIE - 2
BEAE&

Reduce the negative impact on the
environment

WMAOHBRETRNBEZE

«  Make continuous efforts to optimize and upgrade products
and services, including improvements in planning quality,
design, engineering, safe and civilized construction,
marketing, commercial management and brand promotion.

- TEHECRAERMRE RBAFTOBEXRSIESRM -
TEEA  Z2XHAKT - 2EEA  BEEA > aME
B -

- Care for the physical and mental health of employees,
arrange annual health check-ups for employees, and organize
beneficial outdoor activities for employees on an annual
basis.

+ Provide our employees with varied and multi-topic
professional and ethical training.

- BEEISORE SFREITHHREERER SFES
HETHENPINORIEE -

- REIRMZITIL  ZRENERICGEREE -

tm

« Waste: By 2030, the intensity of waste transported to landfill
sites will decrease by 5% (with 2021 as the base year).

- Energy consumption: By 2030, the intensity of energy
consumption will drop by 10% (with 2021 as the base year).

- Greenhouse gas emissions: By 2030, the intensity of
greenhouse gas emissions will fall by 10% (with 2021 as the
base year).

« Water consumption: By 2030, the intensity of water
consumption will decrease by 10% (with 2021 as the base
year).

- REEY) : 3120304  EFMEERAEEYEEE 5% (A
2021 F REAEF) o

- BERUBFE - 120306 - REIRUEFEEE TFE10%(LA20216 5

EAF) o

- ORZERESHEN - 212030 R EREBEEE TFE10% (LA
2021 F REAEF) o

< FEKE ¢ B|2030%F - FEKEE TE10%(LA2021 FF R A%
F) e
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Policies

T &t

g

- HERERERE

Objectives
BE

For partners

R

For communities

ESG Governance

To regulate the implementation and development of ESG governance
and integrate ESG into our daily operation, we established the ESG Policy.
Also, to strengthen engagement of the Board, we set up a top-bottom
ESG governance structure. The Board is responsible for leading and
overseeing the ESG governance of the Group. An ESG working group was
established under the Board to implement ESG related work. In addition, a &) B -
complete ESG policy system was built as the guidelines for ESG decisions
and actions, to communicate the sustainable development strategy of
the Group to the stakeholders of the Group. In 2023, while performing
well in ESG governance, we integrate ESG considerations into the Group’s
daily operation performance assesssment in order to improve employees’
ability to fulfill their duties and to help to achieve our ESG objectives.

GUANGDONG — HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED &

Sunshine purchase, responsible
purchase and green purchase

FBociris - BIERE - EXB

Engage in public welfare, charity and
volunteer services, promote social
harmony

BARGKEEREER - R
A

Continuously efforts to build the supply chain ecosystem,
optimize and upgrade the supply chain ecosystem through
procurement program optimization, training, multi-level
communication and other measures.
FEREMEEERER  BRRBIREL B %
FBRBERE  BRMHEEERNELREM -

Continue efforts in targeted poverty alleviation, community
building, and public benefit and charity, deepen the
connotation of activities, and promote the coordinated
development between community economy and the society.

FERERE  HERR 2ARBESHEFEESN  RMLE

JII:L\_;|:|

BAH - RETREHEL S HFAIEE -

ESGEVR

ﬁT%ﬁ?ESGE/DI{’EE’JT*T’T&%& 1S ESGREA
NEHEEE  HIRBE(ESGEESIE) - # 7
W EMTAESGE AZERE - THINREES LM -
RERCIEENERAEBESGERTIE HEE
gT& iESGIf’EJ\iﬂ BB TTESGIRBA T F -
NEBERT TEMNESGHEER  (EA
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BERAEE A FEERBE - 2023F - BMEF
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ESG Governance Structure

A three-level structure led by the Board is adopted for our ESG

governance.

Executive Body
It consists of the contact persons of various
functional centers. Under the management of
the ESG Working Group, it advances the
implementation of identified material ESG
issues at respective centers and across
functional centers. It keeps close contact with
internal and external stakeholders to ensure
their understanding of and participation in the
Company’s ESG affairs.

B E#iTHE
A B EREE P O M A4E R - EESGT
ENMEMEBEET @ BRI M EEESGEE
EARPLREROEEREEFIT o RS
HEBEFREBREER  BEEELES
BT BASEATESGETE ©

ESGE RZEIE
KMMESGE R BAE TEEgEE TN - ER
& o

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is charged with
leading on ESG, setting ESG governance
policies and objectives, and overseeing
ESG performance.

EEg
EEBYUSCGEAEERE » HIEESGE
AT ETAE R » BSEESGRE ©

ESG

Governance Structure

ESG Working Group
It is composed of the leaders in charge and
heads of all the functional centers of the
Group. Authorized by the Board of Directors, it
implements ESG policies, formulates action
plans, manages ESG affairs, and regularly
reports ESG performance to the

Board of Directors.

ESGI{E/MH
HEEEBEPLPEBERFLEEA
AR FESEHNEET  BEREBITESG

Ft o BIRTTEN TSl 0 BREESGETS -
EHEEEEERESGKRE ©
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The Board'’s Leadership and Oversight over ESG Affairs

The Board is committed to the Group’s sustainable development and leads
the Group's ESG efforts. The Board leads the establishment of the Group's
ESG policies and objectives, strengthens the identification and evaluation
of materality issues, and oversee the Group’s ESG performance to ensure
that the policies are being implemented and enforced in an accurate and
consistent manner. The Group regularly organizes ESG training and shares
ESG related information to raise the Board members’ awareness of ESG.

The Group has adopted a board diversity policy to achieve a diversified
board by considering various factors, including gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnic group, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and industrial experience. Boasting technical competence
and industry experience in different professions including economy,
architecture, management and finance, board members of the Group
enable sound and effective decisions and corporate governance in terms
of sustainable development. Meanwhile, one out of nine board members is
female. The diversification of board members brings a variety of views to
the Group’s decision-making process and helps improve the Group’s ESG
governance.

Stakeholders Communication and Engagement

GHKGA Holdings respects the voices of its stakeholders, opens a
variety of communication channels, and maintains honest and friendly
communication with internal and external stakeholders on an ongoing
basis.

EFEEYHESGERHREHEE
EXeRNESASENARERR  HAKH
ESGT{FAEEERE - EFRERHIEAEEN
ESGT7 M B 12 - M58 ¥ & E 14 5 i 10 3B A A 7T
il - BTE AR BESGRIRIAMELR J7 $THR V) M K548
HWHITME M o 5K B I8 E HAMESGARRE #Y1
Al D ZESGHERE R - RITE RS KB HESGH
TR ©

AEBRMNEZTSZITEHE  REZEIER
Fik  XLEBEER Bk BELR K
BE B TELRSZZERE UEREFS
METLE -  AEHEFERERALE - #2E -
BE - 2RFZEFRFHARMEE N MU EL
B EENTERAREDEEENBAENFE
BHRAEETRE ARAORKRELIE - R
AEBEEGIEHETER 1B LEERT -ESF
EREZTLERAKERERIEFTKEEZHK
M EEE - AANREFAAEENESGES °

Tz 188 5 BB R 2 5
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Stakeholders
MBI B

Stakeholder representatives

HHE LR E

Concerns of stakeholders

HERE T BER

Communication and response

Governments and

competent authorities at

all levels

. The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited

. Securities & Futures

Governments and .
regulators

Commission of Hong Kong
B & B E R . BRBFREEEM
. BABBAERSM
. ARRHFLHEEBER

. Compliance operation

. Protection of the rights and
interests of stakeholders
including customers and
employees

. Products reliability

. Driving economic growth

. SPEARMES

. RERF  BISHEEHE

Ny
AN

I
. EmAlE
. HERERER
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. Continue to strengthen corporate
compliance management

. Participate in relevant
government meetings and
cooperation

. Respond to relevant national
policies

. FEREAESRER

. 2HEPTHESRENEE

. EBEMEBEBERBER
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Stakeholders
BB

Stakeholder representatives

EE AR R

Concerns of stakeholders

AERE T B R

Communication and response

B

Shareholders and
investors

PR BT E A

Customers

Employees

i
H

Equity investors
Bond investors
Other investors

PAEIE AN
BHREA
HAREA

Property owner
Consumers

xx
HEE

All employees

4
i
i
H

. Company business and
fundamentals

. Long-term development plans
and financial performance

. Corporate governance and risk
control

. Investor communication and
interactions

. Strengthening information
disclosure

. REIFEBEEARMR

. RAFERIIENHFRIR

. REDRIRMEE R EE

. RENBRERY

. NBRESEKE

. Product quality and cost
performance

. Information security and
privacy protection

. Quality of customer services

. Protection of customers’ rights
and interests

. EmEERLER

. ERRZERLRE

. BEFR%EE

. BPHERRE

. Protection of customers’ rights
and interests

. Promotion of employees’
development

. Employees’ health and safety

. Participation in company
management

. REEE TR

. REBITER

. BTREZ2

. 2EREER

Continue to improve operating
performance

Enhance corporate governance
and risk management

Disclose information timely and
publish reports regularly
Convene shareholders’ meeting
Hold investor roadshow
Communicate via telephone and
e-mail

FEAIS I
RADAIAE R AR E KT
RS EIRE - EREMRE
&N

REHEKER

RS R EEAE

Conduct pre-sale communication
Make customer satisfaction
surveys

Set up customer service hotline
Communicate through the
Group’s website

BRI
AEEPREESE
FIRGRS
e

=R

%wwaim
m

Organize employee training
Perfect the promotion mechanism
Improve working conditions
Build up online communication
platforms

Establish the trade union

Carry out employee activities
BB T

TE BT

E TR
BREsEaTa

BTTE

FAEEILEH
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Stakeholders
AR BR

Stakeholder representatives

HEE AR R

Concerns of stakeholders

AERE T B R

Communication and response

BREEE

Suppliers and
partners

HEBRAE
B

Communities

a2

Environment

oo

RIE

Suppliers
Partners

The communities in the
cities where the Group and
projects operate

S8 IR B P AL

=]
[=I=}

The environment of the
cities where the Group and
projects operate

B %IE B P TR

%

. Fairand transparent selection
procedure

. Stable financial performance
and payment policy

. Long-term steady partnership

. Equal, fair, open and
transparent procurement
environment

. RTEERANBEERF

. REVBREEMNRBEK

. REBENAERE

. RFRIE - RFC BRE
BV EREBIR R

. Community ecology and
humanity

. Support to public welfare of
communities

. Job opportunities

. MHBRAERBAX
. XBHBRAH
B S

. Protection of natural
environment

. Rational use of resources

. REBARR

. AENAEIR
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Implement sunshine purchase,
and cultivate responsible supply
chain

Conduct on-site review and
communication

BICEREE - ITER B M ERE
RSELHER

Launch rural revitalization and
industrial assistance projects
Carry out community integration
activities

Conduct campus recruitment and
social recruitment

SR R B EE S B ARIR B
HEREIEE
REHEE Bt g 1R

Construct green buildings
Improve energy use efficiency,
save energy and reduce emissions
TERERE

REEREMAME - AIREREHE
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Materiality Analysis

We have established a corresponding procedure for the regular
identification of materiality issues to respond to stakeholders’ concerns in
a timely and effective manner. The Company determines materiality issues
through the following steps:

Identification and Determination of Materiality Issues

EEMEBELBEIEHE

Issue Identification

Ak 3

Develop a list of issues
based on the results of the
engagement by
stakeholders in the past
and present, the Group's
development strategy and

Issue Ranking

R

The Group's internal centers
communicate with
stakeholders and gather
feedback to assess the
importance of each issue to
the company and its

Issue Verification

R R

Invite external experts to
review the materiality issues
and their ranking, and to
propose corresponding
suggestions. Have the
Board of Directors review

Disclosure of materiality
issues in the report on a
weighted basis in
accordance with the results
of the materiality analysis.

the practice of industrial stakeholders, and to rank and approve the material HEEEURBEHELS
peers. the issues in order of issues and their ranking. B EREPETE
importance. SHEMERVIREE ©
RIEBERIREFEER IFERHEEMZER
FSEER  AEERE SEERIPE P OEE R HRETERNER &
B WSERT 0 HE HHEEA R W E R BB EEHBEEMHRERER
HEEE o R AR EREE QA ETERFARE o
RF@EETHEEM -
BSHEENEEMHRF

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 F %}

45



/—\

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT 818 - 2R B8 HE

WAL AR BAGLEBEEREZELRE
Using the above steps, we arrive at a materiality matrix and a list of issues MR RBIRAT
of importance to the Company, as follows:

Materiality Matrix of GHKGBA Holdings
BREEREEMREERE
© B 8°
®© 9 o 5
3 °3
od
o9

Importance to Stakeholders
HASHEEASTHNEE Y

v

Importance to the Company

HOATANEEN
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BB EZ IR E R EET
We ranked the issues in order of importance:
Order Issues Scope Disclosure
BFFS SR B TEEE 2 WEVE
1. Product and service quality Society Chapter lll Upholding Customer Foremost Principle,
Focusing on Quality Products and Services
EmlRBES e —ERFPEL BREEBEMMERS
2. Operating results Governance GHKGBA Holdings in 2023
B ER =P #11892023
3. Risk management, prevention and control ~ Governance Chapter Il ESG Governance
[\ B T 4 EA £ _BESGER
4, Anti-corruption and anti-bribery Governance Chapter Il ESG Governance
R&E)5E R HER ER ZEESGER
5. Employees’ health and safety Society Chapter IV Treasuring Talents, Attending to Employee
Development
BTfREEZS e FNEBERAS BIBETEE
6. Protection of customer privacy and Society Chapter lll Upholding Customer Foremost Principle,
information security Focusing on Quality Products and Services
FRETFBLLERZSR o —EXFEL  BREEEEMERE
7. Talent attraction and retention Society Chapter IV Treasuring Talents, Attending to Employee
Development
AT R AR ER R e FEONEERAT > BIETER
8. Employment compliance Society Chapter IV Treasuring Talents, Attending to Employee
Development
BRIER te FNEERAT > BIEITER
9. Employee salary and welfare Society Chapter IV Treasuring Talents, Attending to Employee
Development
8 T E it o FENEBRAS WIBTHRE
10. Customers’ health and safety Society Chapter Il Upholding Customer Foremost Principle,
Focusing on Quality Products and Services
BPREERLZ S e E=BEFZ L BEELEERERY
11. Employee development and training Society Chapter IV Treasuring Talents, Attending to Employee
Development
8 TR e FEMNEERAT > BTEITER
12. Product innovation Society Chapter lll Upholding Customer Foremost Principle,
Focusing on Quality Products and Services
EE mm BT a4 F=BFFZE L BEELEERERY
13. Responsible supply chain management Society Chapter VI Striving for Win-win Situation, Promoting
Partner Collaboration
BEEHERER - FERELELR - REREHR
14. Employee diversification and equal Society Chapter IV Treasuring Talents, Attending to Employee
opportunity Development
BIZTER TSRS a4 FNEBERAS BIETEE
15. Improvement of customer opinions and Society Chapter lll Upholding Customer Foremost Principle,
satisfaction surveys Focusing on Quality Products and Services
TEEFPERMREERE o FZFEFPZE | BEEEEMERSE
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Order Issues Scope Disclosure
Brrs  EE SEMEHEE REVE
16. Green buildings Environment Chapter V Promoting Green Development, Combating
Climate Change
REEE RIR FREHEER  BHERKEL
17. Climate change and response capability Environment Chapter V Promoting Green Development, Combating
Climate Change
RAREM L K B B R FEREREER  BEREEL
18. Energy efficiency and greenhouse gas Environment Chapter V Promoting Green Development, Combating
emissions Climate Change
BEIR M e MR = SR A HE A BRIR FEREREEE - BHREREL
19. Waste management Environment Chapter V Promoting Green Development, Combating
Climate Change
BEEYEIE R FEREREER - BEREEL
20. Public welfare and charity Society Chapter VIl Giving Back to the Society, Strengthening
the Bond with Communities
NmFEE o FtEmELE  EETRER
21. Water resource utilization Environment Chapter V Promoting Green Development, Combating
Climate Change
IKETRAA R EREXRERE - BHREE
22. Biodiversity Environment Chapter V Promoting Green Development, Combating
Climate Change
EME T R FEREREERE  BEHREE

Corporate Governance
Risk Management

A complete risk management system is of vital importance to the steady
growth and sustainable development of our business. We are committed
to minimizing risks to the Group, and managing and preventing risks
to achieve our business objectives. Our risk management and internal
monitoring system is as follows:

Board: Responsible to the Group’s risk management, internal monitoring
systems and review the results.

Audit Committee: Conduct annual review on the Group’s risk
management, internal monitoring systems, and judge the effectiveness of
relevant systems.

Legal Department: Offer legal opinions for the Group’s business decision-
making, and respond to external risks through legal examination.

Audit and Supervision Center: Review and assess the compliance of the
internal control system, organization structure, rules and regulations, and
internal policies.

EER

mREFE
TEMNRREZERAREMEBEOREERM
ARERREMER  RARXNIREEEMEER
MEREERE  EEAHBRERAEREEH
1% ZAIMEREERAREERFNT -

ESg A5ASENEREERABEZER
RIZEERE S

EREEE HAKERAREERAEZERR
ETFEERZ  LHEHEAREARERERE M -
EREB  ARBERERRTPRLEEER - BB
AEEEREINIRL

FERBO  HARENER  EABERE R
BHIE R AR BER A E TR ET TR IR o
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The Group reduces risks and losses through proactively and systematically
identifies, evaluates and monitors project risks throughout the entire
process. As for financial risks, we take into account of risk and debt
affordability and make scientific decisions on the total amount of financing
to ensure a healthy and safe capital structure. In terms of investment,
we have centralized our investment development business to the Group
headquarters for unified prejudgment and post-investment project
risk control. The Group has established a full set of project investment
risk judgement criteria, which cover the impact of the projects on the
communities and environment where the projects operate. Precise and
effective supervision is exercised based on the identification of project
risks.

In 2023, GHKGBA Holdings carried out comprehensive audit, and urged
the rectification of problems discovered in the audit. A complete closed-
loop management system was established. The annual audit covers 13
items including engineering settlement review, regular audit, special
audit, off-office audit, etc. By optimizing and innovating the audit
mechanism, carrying out pre-audit self-examination, and timely rectifying
the problems discovered in self-examination, we have successfully
improved the efficiency of audit and supervision.

Anti-corruption and Commercial Bribery

GHKGBA Holdings has issued Practical Guidelines for Reporting Misconduct
(CRIEE4LLTT REBMIEFIES])), Practical Guidelines for the Prevention and
Investigation of Misconduct (B[S A& B8 /A B 4017 BIEZEIE31)), Code
of Ethics for Audit and Supervisory Personnel (BB 7T BE5% A B Rt s B4
81]), Code of Integrity for GHKGBA Holdings Employees ({ B /& /E1E g &
8 T 5277 A 81)), etc. The policies explicitly set out the procedures
for the investigation and handling of corruption, the prevention of
commercial bribery, extortion, fraud, money laundering, etc. and clearly
define the roles and responsibilities of employees.

We manage and control risks through three processes: beforehand
education, in-process supervision and control, and subsequent
investigation and punishment. Responding to the strategy of “complete
coverage of audit and supervision”, we extend our anti-corruption work to
the whole process of business to minimize the commercial risks caused by
corruption and bribery.

In order to implement the audit and supervision principles of the Board,
“Complete Coverage with No Exclusion Zone and Zero Tolerance”,
GHKGBA Holdings has launched integrity campaigns in diversified forms,
such as publishing integrity posters, anti-corruption information of the
industry and other internal announcements, providing integrity training,
and releasing special audit announcements.

AEBERBIBM R HIRE RRETEA
TREER - FHERERE - ERIRER R R R
BEARMAN - HEESER  RASRIEEEA
BREBAAENEE  MBHERERE R
BEASBRRLZE - ERESTHE  RAHKRE
TREBEEEEEEE - hEBES— #1718 A
RBRIBHRRE MR IE B RRBREE - XREE
2EBEARERRABSE  REEE WAL
BEIRENFE  EREARRROER DET

BEAREE -

2023F  BEREERHAREEEIERIE B
RENABEERME  FREENAREIES
R - FEBTERIEREIREEESR 54
HiT - BEBABTETESBEETEE #£13
IH o BMEBLAFTEEHS - BEBRIASE - I
HEBERRMERSETENR  BURASEE
TR o

KRB SR E %
BEETEBRRBCERZERTRAEBEMIERES)
(B MERERELITRIEREES) (FFER
ABBERERERN) (BBEEREESTREZ
TREADEFHE - RAERBRBAERERRF - 6
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ERTIERA - SELERNET XS EHRE
HEED - REEMRERREE  TRRBE
BENBAE  AREIRRREEN - BHE
BEHAES -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 F %}

49



50

GHKGBA Holdings conducts several rounds of on-site anti-corruption and
anti-bribery training for the company’s middle and senior management
and employees, and also launches an integrity awareness programme
for all new employees so that they regularly receive the latest news and
understanding on anti-corruption and anti-bribery. The integrity training
focuses on the introduction of anti-corruption measures at home and
abroad, the anti-corruption trend in the industry, the relevant laws and
regulations, the internal anti-corruption management policy, etc. In 2023,
the Company carried out 4 integrity publicity activities, covering 241
employees.

During the Reporting Period, we have complied with relevant laws and
regulations. We are not aware of any breaches of anti-corruption laws and
regulations that would have a material impact on the Group’s operations,
nor are the Group or its employees involved in any completed corruption
litigation.

Reporting and Whistleblower Protection

GHKGBA Holdings has issued Operational Guidelines for Reporting
Misconduct ({2 KB 4017 BE M IEZFE 5| )), and established the case
reporting response mechanism. A complete reported case acceptance
process has been set up, which comprises 5 steps including the
preliminary clue survey, material consulting, investigation, interview
and final report development. We will promptly handle the complaint
and feedback to the whistleblower. We have put in place multiple
whistleblowing channels online and offline, including hotline, email and
WeChat. We also encourage employees and business partners to report
any suspicious or improper behaviors to the Company. In addition, the
whistleblower protection mechanism has been built, based on which the
personal information of whistleblowers will be kept confidential, and any
threat against whistleblowers will be dealt with seriously.

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

GHKGBA Holdings attaches great importance to the protection of
intellectual property rights (“IPRs”). In strict accordance with the laws
and regulations including the Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China
(R AR KB HEFE D), the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic
of China ({ #f ZE A R £ 0 B B 42 % )), the Copyright Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({ & # A & £ F1 B Z {E#& )% )), and the Anti-Unfair
Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China ({ #° £ A R H &
TIEE 3 F & )) we are committed to improving the management of
IPRs like patents, trademarks and copyrights. While protecting our own
legitimate rights and interests according to law, we also fully respect the
IPRs of others, encourage fair competition and oppose unfair competition.
To better promote IPRs protection, the Group has established a number
of policies, such as Trademark Management Policy ({ E1ZE IR HIE)), with
various departments working together.
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CHAPTER IIl UPHOLDING CUSTOMER FOREMOST
PRINCIPLE, FOCUSING ON QUALITY PRODUCTS AND
SERVICES

Create Choice Projects with Elaborate Design

The Group paid close attention to every detail of its choice projects
from conceptual design to final implementation. Aiming to design a
product that brings people’s yearning for a better life into reality, we are
committed to bringing products and functions to life and visualising the
homecoming experience in detail and creating a humanistic residential
community that meets the quality of life requirements of the new
generation.

Delivery of Project

As a representative of the Group’s high-quality delivering projects in 2023,
the Dahu Project is located in Dongguan. North to Tangkeng Reservoir, it
boasts superior landscape resources.

During the planning and design phase, the layout of the building is
optimized to take into account the shape of the plot and the surrounding
environment. The staggered layout of the building is used to improve
the building’s sight distance and create a building that is the center of
attention.

In facade design, we maximize the use of facade windows to create
modern facade decorations, allowing residents to not only enjoy the
comfort of the internal living space but also appreciate the beauty of the
building’s exterior.

In outdoor landscape design, the emphasis is on creating a distinctive
entrance image, bringing life to the outdoor scene, and materializing
everyday life scenarios to make living more warm and welcoming.
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Guarantee Product Quality and Safety
Product Quality Control

To deliver healthy, safe and quality products for our customers, the
Group has established a life-cycle quality control system from design,
construction to use.

The Company designs products in accordance with the Construction
Law of the People’s Republic of China ({ P ZE A R XA B Z 2% ), Unified
standard for design of civil building ({ R FB LR T —1Z2%)) and other
administrative rules and regulations. The Company executes construction
strictly complying with relevant laws and regulations, construction
techniques, technical standards and engineering standards, and promotes
the popularization of new technologies such as aluminum mold climbing
scaffold, high precision blocks and thin plastering in the Group.

The Group has strictly controlled the product safety and quality, building
quality and environmental performance of Huahai Project. Based on the
four exquisite technology systems, namely “aluminum mold climbing
scaffold system + exterior wall made with cast-in-situ concrete +Mingyuan
intelligent management system + BIM information processing”. The Group
has completed this quality project in the Greater Bay Area, and offered the
quality residential community for people in Dongguan.

In the meantime, the Group also provides specific requirements for
common processes to guarantee stable product quality.

We have also established an open and transparent mode of internal
supervision and external appraisal to better control our production
process. Externally, we strictly comply with the requirements of relevant
laws and regulations and local governments and industry regulators
to ensure the acceptance of our projects. Internally, we ensure quality
compliance through project self-inspection, patrol inspection by the
Group, and random inspection in light of construction status by the
Group'’s Audit Department, as well as patrol inspection system and joint
acceptance. At the project level, in addition to comprehensive control
of the construction site hiring a professional supervision company,
management teams of the project also organize weekly and monthly
inspections in accordance with Operating Instructions for Engineering
Inspection ({ L 12 ¥ 4% {E 28 #8 51 )) issued by the Group. At the Group
level, the Engineering Management Department conducts routine on-
site inspections according to Unannounced Inspection System of the Group
(Trial) (=B R HE (F77))), and takes measures such as compulsory
ranking in the Group and online release based on the inspection results,
to help project companies improve the project quality. We also organize
publicity, implementation and training of effective standards, systems and
instructions, and share experience of well-executed projects through on-
site visits and other means to improve overall management of the Group.
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Safe and Civilized Construction

Upholding the standards of “safety first, prevention focus, civilized
construction, comprehensive governance”, GHKGBA Holdings requires
construction units to comply with relevant laws and regulations and safety
management systems, and conducts self-examination and self-correction
in multiple ways, including monthly quantitative inspection, weekly
self-examination on special items and daily patrol inspection, thereby
enhancing employees’ awareness of safe production and ability of risk
prevention.

While guaranteeing safe production, we also emphasis civilized
construction, and strive to create green and environmentally-friendly
projects. We integrate the concept of safe and civilized construction in our
management of the whole project by preparing special programs for safe
and civilized construction, dust control, etc,, and equip sound flushing
equipment.

Our Humen Project and Huahai Project were commended as the
“Demonstration Construction Site for Safe Production and Civilized
Construction in Dongguan”.

Improve Customer Experience and Services

Diversified Channels of Communication and Interaction with
Customers

We attach great importance to the communication with customers,
as we can understand customers’ demands through communication,
and provide them with more considerate services accordingly. Good
communication also conducive to the brand image of GHKGBA Holdings.

We organize camping, picnic, reading, parenting, charity marketing,
concerts, festival activities and other activities irregularly in the
communities where projects operate, with a view to promoting the
green, healthy, environmentally-friendly and low-carbon lifestyle, and
advocating loving reading, yearning for a better life and holding a positive
life attitude. Also, customers can relax and enjoy themselves in these
recreational and entertainment activities.

We will inform property owners of the project progress and construction
results through Construction Site Open Day, electronic brochure, paper
brochure and other means. On major holidays and on customers’
birthdays, we will extend our best regards to customers via electronic
greeting cards, short messages and small gifts. The information on major
activities and matters related to the project will be sent to the property
owners through the public official account of the project.
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Improve Customer Satisfaction, Actively Respond to Customer Appeals

Customer satisfaction is the core driving force of our development. In
2023, we provided the training themed “Putting Customers First, Creating
Brand Recognition of GHKGBA Holdings” for all marketing staff. Covering
the Company'’s history, classical project cases and founders’ charity efforts,
this training aimed to introduce the Company’s history and corporate
culture to all marketing staff, and call on them to respond to the core of
the Company’s corporate culture and practice codes for responsibility,
professionalism and customer orientation. The Group also made
customer satisfaction a performance assessment indicator for marketing
management, in order to educate marketing managers on their awareness
of customer satisfaction based on performance assessment, and cultivate
the customer foremost values in the marketing team.

Our customer satisfaction survey is carried out through multiple channels.
We register the sources of visiting customers during sales in different
projects, and enter relevant information into the online platform
afterwards. The Brand & Customer Department under the Group’s
Marketing Management Center select samples of existing property owners
and would-be buyers and conducts customer satisfaction survey on them
via telephone.

In 2023, we received 152 customer complaints, and solved 96% of them.
According to our customer’s satisfaction survey, we have achieved a
satisfaction of 98% for product provided, and 95% for service provided. We
will live up to customers’ expectations, practice our quality commitments,
and supply customers with high-quality products and services.

Responsible Marketing
Managing the Entire Marketing Process

In order to achieve compliance and standardisation of the Group’s
marketing management, we have formulated relevant professional
standardised processes for different stages including pre-sale, sale,
and after sale activities. It can ensure that all marketing staff are aware
of the group’s regulatory requirements and hence ensure all activities
including marketing, advertising, and sales content follows the strict rules,
standards, and laws.
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Before the sale:

We provide a diversified range of trainings to ensure professional, legal
and satisfactory sales services to customers, which include:

1

Design training: Architects train sales representative on the design
concept, style, product parameters and other information of the
projects to strengthen their understanding of the product.

Legal training: Lawyers provide planners and sales representative
with trainings on the Advertisement Law the People’s Republic of China
(H#E AR HEFMEIEE X)) clauses associated with publicity and
commitments to acquaint them with the definition of false publicity
and dishonest commitments. Advertising materials for newly
released projects shall be approved by the marketing and design
department of the project companies, and then submitted to the
Group's Marketing Management Center and Legal Department for
review so as to guarantee advertising materials in paper and digital
being authentic, objective and compliant with the Advertisement Law
the People’s Republic of China ((FF 2= A R AR E 4 5E)).

Customer relationship management (CRM) training: The CRM
supervisors offer training in terms of the standard procedures for
customer reception and standard scripts for follow-up calls, to raise
the customer reception standards for sales representative.

Engineering training: Project engineers train sales representative on
the construction technology of the project, including the project’s
masonry mode, exterior wall insulation process, basement standards,
basic engineering management, concrete structure construction, fine
decoration, landscaping engineering, curtain construction process,
floor height and floor thickness, elevator size and speed, and other
processes, to help sales personnel know better about technology.

During the sale:

Any question raised by customers about the project that the sales
representative cannot answer is sent to the specialized department
via e-mail by the Marketing Management Center. The reply from the
specialized department, after being confirmed by lawyers of the Group, is
sent back to customers through the sales representative.

FESHEERTER -

BMERASBBINERETERPEX A
A TRERHERY B2

1) REHE  RERETANEHIE B R REHE
2R EmSHEFHEEABRRE
Al INSRIHE A BHIA B EmAOIEAR o

2) EBE c AmEtEKhEARRKMBES
FITEREE - AGENEFREREIAE - i
EABRREE - AR EABHRER
5E  TEAGENRAERBMAA - #EE
ATHEBYHELLIER RREH - %5
Bz RERE-—SRBEREZIHEE
b EBEEZ - RREEHEBE(HELE
FIHEE  FRUNTA(REARKMEE
ER)FHIENR -

3) BPHREEY  REEFPEAATIEHEFPH
K ZEFFERE - EREMEPHRES
AR IR - IR X TH A HE A BOER
ARIFIZAE

4) THEIE HEITREMAEHYEANEL
T# SREENHEER  IMERERE
T2 - I=RE ERIREERE BERL
AEmmL - BERERT - BEMEHET - &
LTS B MEREE  EHORT
TREELHEABRRMIE - MREEA
EHERTIBENTH -

FESHEHH -
FEPHNAERREHMNGER - HEABEZREE
- SHEEEDOSHHEEAE FEHATASR

REEE > AFXMAIMECE - KEERE
R HEABQERF -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 F %}

55



56

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT }Ri% - t @R EBHRE

After the sale:

The Group will conduct three stages of telephone callbacks: post-contract,
pre-occupancy and post-occupancy. The callbacks will be done through
sampling to understand the issues that customers are concerned about
after purchase and the problems that need to be addressed.

Strictly Protect Customer Privacy

The Group requires keeping confidential for all customer information.
Entered via Mingyuan sales system, all information about incoming
calls, visits and customers are prohibited from being disclosed by any
department or individual. Any record of customers’ house purchase,
house viewing and consulting for any project is protected as customers’
privacy according to the express provisions in the Code of Conduct for
Marketing Management Center Services. Employees are required to sign
the confidentiality agreement when joining the Company, which sets
clear employees’ confidentiality obligations for customer information and
network security. Different authorizations are granted to employees at
different levels; and this strict multilevel authorization system guarantees
the confidentiality of the Company’s core materials and customer
information. In addition, specialized IT staff are assigned to maintain the
Company’s network security, protect the network from hacker attack,
and safeguard the security of the intranet and internal system. During the
Reporting Period, we have complied with relevant laws and regulations
on the protection of customer data and privacy.

In 2023, we continued to organize the special training on ‘Customer
Information Management’ that involved all marketing staff. Focusing on
customer information confidentiality and customer material safekeeping,
this course aimed to strengthen marketing managers’ confidentiality
consciousness and cultivate their rigorous and attentive attitude in work.
Paper materials of customers were archived and locked for safekeeping,
while electronic information was encrypted.
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CHAPTER IV TREASURING TALENTS, ATTENDING TO
EMPLOYEE DEVELOPMENT

Protection of Employees’ Rights and Interests
Diversification and Equal Treatment

GHKGBA Holdings strictly complies with the Civil Code of the People’s
Republic of China ({ # 2= A R 2L F1 B R 7% 81 )), the Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({ £ A R HFNE 25 8))% ), the Labour Contract
Law of the People’s Republic of China (2 A R AL FIEI A8 & [)%)), and
other laws and regulations. We are committed to establishing a diverse
and equal employment relationship, and to respecting and embracing the
differences of our employees.

Furthermore, the Company complies with the existing Equal Opportunity
and Diversity Policy ({ ¥ & # & & % JT b BU 5K )) to create an equal,
inclusive and supportive work environment for all employees, and
practically protect employees’ legal rights and interests in employment,
job transfer, cultivation and development, etc.

Talent Acquisition and Assessment

Adhering to the people-oriented principle, GHKGBA Holdings has
made continuous efforts to attract and cultivate excellent talents in the
industry. The Company manages the talent recruitment process strictly
in accordance with Operating Instructions for Annual Human Resources
Planning ({5 [E A 71 &R EI1EZE4EE)) and Operating Instructions for
Recruitment and Admission Management ({ 1BE2 &% 3 & IR VEZ£ F5 5] ). At
least three candidates are nominated for each position, and the selected
candidates undergo qualification and information verification to ensure a
transparent, open, and fair recruitment process.

The Company also strictly observes the existing Child Labor and Forced
Labor Prevention Policy ({7 1E Z& T} 58 ] 85 T 28 )). We prohibit the
employment of illegal and forced labor in any form; in our business
activities, we strictly verify the identity information of candidates as a
preventive measure; if we find any violations, we will deal with them
in strict accordance with the laws and regulations; and we require our
suppliers to comply with relevant the laws and regulations. The Group is
not aware of any incident of non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations related to anti-child and anti-forced labor practices at all
operating regions during the reporting period.

GHKGBA Holdings complies with Performance Appraisal Management
Policy ({ #& %% & % & 12 #| J€ )) and Operating Instructions for Employee
Rewards and Punishment Management ({ 8 T #2#& & 2 EZ 45 5])) and
guarantees open and equal opportunities in employee assessment,
rewards and punishments and promotion.
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To stimulate employees’ passion and initiative and achieve the
co-creation, co-sharing and win-win situation between employees and
the Company, GHKGBA Holdings have established Special Incentive Policy
(EIFHENHIE)). On this basis, a positive incentive mechanism has been
set up to maximize employees’ potential and creativity.

Employee Communication and Complaints

Being deeply aware of the importance of efficient communication to work,
GHKGBA Holdings has developed its own office system, and established
a transparent, open, flexible and convenient platform for internal
communication by means of e-mail, WeChat, etc.

We also maintain the effective operation of the internal complaint
mechanism and channels, by which employees can timely report their
problems. In this way, we can timely respond to their appeals, and protect
their legal rights and interests.

Employee Health and Safety

GHKGBA Holdings has established a comprehensive and systematic safe
production management system strictly according to the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Work Safety (P AR HMBE L & 4 E X))
and other relevant laws and regulations. We are dedicated to creating a
healthy and safe environment for all employees and persons associated
with the Company’s business.

At the construction sites of projects, the project companies ensure the
safe and civilized construction of projects and employee safety from six
dimensions including safety consciousness, fire protection management
and equipment management, pursuant to the management requirements
provided in the GHKGBA Holdings Safety and Civilization Visualization
Management Standards 1.0 (( B /&1 iy &2 2 XA AR (L B IR 2£1.0))
and measures such as project self-inspection, patrol inspection by the
Group, mandatory ranking of the inspection results and internal public
notification. The Group did not have any serious work-related injuries and
lost day due to work injury during the Reporting Period. There was no
record of work-related fatality in the past three reporting years.

Employee Training and Development

Training and Capacity Building

In addition to onboarding training for new employees, GHKGBA Holdings
organized various trainings in 2023, covering business, industry policies
and regulations, project management and marketing strategy. Employees
have improved their professional skills and comprehensive strength, and
achieved personal development through these trainings.
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Moreover, the Company carried out fire drills regularly to provide

NEEHEPERER - M B TIREL2HER

employees with safety protection training, establish an emergency Al - BB R RS - R AR R
response mechanism, and improve its ability to cope with risks. EEWAI

Indicators Unit

bl B 2023
Total number of trained employees Person-time 752
SAIBTa% AR

Total hours of employee training Hour 1,880
PR TXIBRE N

Total hours of training by male employees Hour 1,232
FHETXlERR /N

Total hours of training by female employees Hour 648
MBI XlER& N

Total hours of training by management employees Hour 296
EREABRIBERK /NEF

Total hours of training by execution employees Hour 1,584
HITRABX @R K N

Employee Benefits and Care B TEFEHEEE

Employee Benefits BTEF

Abiding by Operating Instructions for Remuneration Management ({ %r Bl
EIEVEZ4E3!)), Operating Instructions for Employee Benefits Management
(CE T 18 7 & 12 {E 2 #5 5| )) and relevant benefits policies, GHKGBA
Holdings emphasizes on employee benefits, increases investments
in employee resources, and enforces a benefit management system
consisting of both “statutory benefits and supplementary benefits”, so as
to enhances employees’ sense of happiness and belonging.

In 2023, GHKGBA Holdings provided the staff with paid leave (annual
leave, marriage leave, bereavement leave, maternity leave, paternity leave
and family planning leave), communication subsidies, meal allowances or
canteen meals, etc.

Employee Care

GHKGBA Holdings is commited to the concept of “working happily and
living healthy” to create a harmonious and intimate working atmosphere
for employees. In 2023, the Company launched a number of group
activities, such as flower planting, Women'’s Day fashion seminar, staff
birthday party and winter solstice dumpling sharing. By this means, we
enhanced employees’ sense of belonging and happiness, and promoted
employees’ physical and mental health.
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CHAPTER VY PROMOTING GREEN DEVELOPMENT,
COMBATING CLIMATE CHANGE

Green Operations

The Group attaches great importance to its impact on environment and
climate, and practices the concept of “green operations”. Complying
with the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China
(R EAREFMBEIEREREE)) we formulated and implemented
internal standards, measures and process instructions to ensure
continuous improvement in our environmental performance throughout
the life cycle of our operations. Moreover, by developing Environmental
Protection Policy (32 {RIX 3% )), Climate Change Policy ({ RIEE{L B ))
etc., the Company has established its environmental protection policy
system to contribute to the Company’s green development.

In 2023, the Company made following efforts in energy conservation, low-
carbon emission, cost reduction and efficiency improvement:

. For energy utilization, the Company adopted multiple measures to
save energy. We installed heat insulation film on office glass to resist
external heat in summer. Under the appropriate temperature, we
shut down air-conditioners and opened the doors and windows for
ventilation in order to further reduce energy consumption. As to the
publicity, we posted reminders such as “Please turn off the lights
and air-conditioners after work” at conspicuous positions, like near
the switches or doors. Special personnel were assigned to patrol
inspection to ensure the implementation of these measures.

. For water resource utilization, the Group implemented efficient
measures for project water resource management, and improved the
Group’s performance in water resource utilization by upgrading the
efficiency of water resource management system. The equipment,
technology and system were applied and upgraded from time to
time to improve water resource utilization.

. For waste management, the Group improved the waste management
system on projects to ensure effective management of waste
generation, recycling and reuse in the project construction, and
maximize the waste recycling. We took measures such as economical
utilization, unified recovery and recycling to minimize waste
generation in our daily operations. In 2023, the Company offered
canteen services to all employees at the head office. Employees
could enjoy their meals based on their own preferences which not
only enhanced employees’ sense of happiness and belonging, but
also considerably reduced food waste or disposable food containers
use.
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. For natural ecosystem and biodiversity, we performed environmental
assessment before the project commenced to ensure that the
project plan was tailored to local conditions and conformed to the
characteristics of the local ecological environment, thus reducing
the impacts on natural ecosystem and biodiversity. We actively
promoted ecosystem restoration after completion of projects.

In March 2023, we organised a flowers and trees planting activity in the
Sky Garden of our headquarters building to celebrate the 45th Arbor Day.
Through our hands, everyone has beautified our working environment
and improved the local ecology. This not only holds practical significance
in terms of environmental awareness and promoting green, low-carbon
sustainable development but also carries profound implications for
promoting the spiritual and cultural construction of employees and
enhancing team cohesion.

Response to Climate Change

Climate change may lead to potential physical risks and the risks of
transitioning to a low-carbon economy. The Group identifies and
controls the physical and transition risks caused by climate change. We
also incorporate ecological considerations, green practices, and climate
change risk management into our project construction. We implement
green controls throughout the entire process, from project management
and design to development and operation, with the aim of enhancing our
ability to adapt and respond to climate change comprehensively.

Mitigating Climate Change

. We continuously improve our energy conservation measures by
incorporating energy efficiency considerations into the design,
construction, and operation of our properties.

. We take energy efficiency into account during the procurement
process.

. We explore opportunities for utilizing renewable energy in our
properties where economically feasible and desirable.

. We encourage our staff, suppliers, and customers to minimize their
carbon emissions in their daily activities.
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Improving Adaption and Response to Climate Change

. We incorporate climate-related risks into our risk management and
internal control systems.

. We evaluate climate-related physical and transition risks that may
affect our business.

. We perform climate resilience assessments of our properties, review
potential climate-related risks, and identify low-carbon and climate-
resilient building practices where possible.

Green Project Construction
Green Design

During the investment stage of the project, we place great importance
on the sustainability of the project proposal’s design. We have initiated
several rounds of communication with the designers regarding green
building design, environmental compliance, protection of biodiversity,
nature-friendly design, and the environmental impact on the community.
The aim is to ensure that the project proposal will not have any significant
impact on the surrounding ecosystems and the sustainability of the
subsequent investment and development of the project in terms of
greening.

Green Bidding and Procurement

. We work with our partners to improve sustainability of the entire
production and operation process, and continuously optimize waste
management, water resource utilization and energy efficiency.

. We have implemented appropriate supplier management measures
to evaluate the performance of our suppliers in terms of pollutant
control, water use, energy use and waste production.

. We use environmental-friendly materials and “green” products.

The Group has used NEA insulation leveling gel as an environmentally
friendly and energy-efficient building material. This material is highly
effective in insulating and leveling building walls. It has been awarded
the Green Building Materials Logo and Green Building Material 3-Star
Certification for its high efficiency and energy-saving performance.
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Green Construction

During the construction process, GHKGBA Holdings implements measures
to conserve energy, land, water, and materials, as well as protect the
environment, using appropriate technologies, equipment, and scientific
management. It saves resources and minimize negative impacts on the
environment.

Resource conservation:

. Water conservation: We implement measures to efficiently manage
water resources for development projects. We put up water
conservation signs to enhance conservation awareness. During the
Reporting Period, we had no issues sourcing water fit for purpose.

. Energy conservation: We make great efforts to save energy in office
areas and construction sites, and publicize energy conservation
with warm tips. Energy-saving and emission-reducing equipment
and technologies are applied, such as energy-saving LED lights and
electronic ballast for gas discharge lamps. New energy sprinklers
and patrol cars are also introduced to reduce gasoline or diesel
consumption. We also promote paperless office to reduce the use of

paper.

. Material conservation: We use new aluminum formwork, all-steel
climbing scaffolds, and other reusable construction materials.
Additionally, we incorporate energy-saving and environmentally
friendly materials, such as GRC and GLC lightweight partition boards
and high-precision blocks.

Pollutant control:

. Waste disposal: We separate construction waste from domestic,
hazardous, and non-hazardous waste for specialized recycling and
disposal.

. Sewage treatment: We install drainage ditches, catch pits,
sedimentation tanks, grease traps, and septic tanks at the
construction site to treat sewage and ensure it meets relevant
requirements before discharge. The treated effluent will be recycled
for green landscape watering, dust control, flushing facilities, and
equipment.
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. Dust control: We monitor dust levels in real-time using an online
monitoring system and take measures to reduce atmospheric
pollution. Our multi-purpose anti-dust truck, dust settling spraying
equipment, bare soil coverage, and wet operation all contribute
to this effort. We also take care to seal earthwork wastes for
transportation and flush vehicles leaving the site to prevent dirt
pollution. Demolition operations during strong winds are strictly
prohibited.

. Noise management: A noise monitoring system is installed at the
construction site to monitor noise levels in real-time. Noise pollution
sources are strictly controlled, and temporary mobile noise barriers
are used near the construction area during the noisy construction
period. The sounding of horns is prohibited at the construction site,
and construction noise is strictly controlled during the night.

Green Building

With the official implementation of Green Building Evaluation Standard
GB50378-2019 ({ 4% & £ FF (B 12 #GB50378-2019)) by the country and
Guangdong Green Building Design Standards (DBJ/T15-201-2020) { ER &
4F (832 S5 35 51 45 %0 (DBJ/T15-201-2020) )) and Guangdong Public Building
Energy Saving Design Standards (DBJ/T15-51-2020) ({ BB & A HEE &
BE 5% 5T 1Z £ (DBJ/T15-51-2020) )) by the Guangdong Province, the Group
can promptly respond to the requirements of the new green building
standards. We will proactively promote new projects to be designed and
developed in accordance with the new standards to obtain various types
of green building certificates.
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CHAPTER VI STRIVING FOR WIN-WIN SITUATION,
PROMOTING PARTNER COLLABORATION

Improve Supply Chain Management
Management System Construction

GHKGBA Holdings enforces a full life cycle supply chain ecosystem
management from the introduction of suppliers, daily evaluation to exit
of the life cycle. We advance the development of the responsible supply
chain by improving the institutional construction and standardizing
the procurement process. In 2023, in terms of supplier management,
the Group completed the midyear and year-end supplier performance
evaluation, after-sales maintenance evaluation, and the admission of
general contractors and sub-contractors.

With the help of Qigitong supplier management platform, the Group has
been able to shorten the business management cycle time, reduce the
procurement cost, improve procurement quality and cash management,
and built up a green and intelligent supply chain. When introducing
new suppliers, the Company mainly conducts pre-qualification by
checking documents such as “Business License”, “Construction Enterprise
Qualification Certificate”, “Safe Production Permit” and the “ISO
Certification System”, etc., and subsequently commences the inspection
and on-boarding process of suppliers.

The Company carries out tracking management of suppliers’ information,
including supplier qualifications, compliance certification and other
information. If there is any significant change in a supplier’s information,
the bidding and procurement department will re-inspect the supplier,
and only after passing the inspection can the supplier participate in the
bidding as a qualified supplier. Significant changes mentioned here
include the changes in core information such as the change of the legal
representative, adjustment of the business scope, and the change of
qualification grade and bid contact person. For newly registered qualified
suppliers, the Group must conduct qualification evaluation, and relevant
departments will summarize and review the information. The supplier
that maliciously violates the contract and causes heavy losses and grave
consequences will be blacklisted.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has implemented relevant
management measures in engaging all current suppliers.
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Classification and Evaluation of Suppliers and Communication

GHKGBA Holdings practices classified and stratified management over
suppliers that have fulfilled the contract, and also divides newly registered
suppliers into different categories. Suppliers of the same category
that meet the bidding requirements are selected for bidding to assure
impartial bid of reasonable quotation. Quality suppliers can be picked out
in this way.

. Supplier Assessment Grading

Configuration by category, qualification expiry reminder, failure and
businesses ceasing to be effective, which provides clear results and
effectively reduces supplier risks.

. Supplier Elimination and Rectification

The results of supplier events and reviews can be rationally applied
to the rating, rectification and elimination of suppliers.

. Supplier Performance Management

The embedded evaluation model can be defined by category. The
model assesses the process in both quantitative and qualitative
manners, and enables the interaction with suppliers.

In 2023, the Company conducted performance assessment twice — once
in the middle and once at the end of the year. The suppliers were rated “A,
B, C, or Unqualified” based on their environment protection, construction
quality, construction progress, safe and civilized construction,
cooperation, and business management. Rewards or punishments will be
given according to the rating. For Grade A and B suppliers, i.e., excellent
suppliers, we provide cash rewards and other incentives; Unqualified
suppliers and contractors will be blacklisted and would not be cooperated
again.

As for the after-sale maintenance, the bidding and procurement
department of the Company organizes relevant property companies to
rate the suppliers according to their after-sale services and cooperation
with the Group. This evaluation is conducted by at least three people from
two departments. After-sale maintenance payments can only be paid to
suppliers above Grade C (including Grade C). The final evaluation results
are summarized and sent to the bidding and procurement department.
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In addition, the Group actively localizes suppliers to give more
opportunities to small and medium-sized enterprises, with a view to
supporting suppliers and the development of the whole industry.

For the sake of communication with suppliers, the Group has created open
complaint channels for suppliers and strengthened the supervision over
channel construction. In 2023, the Group did not receive any complaint
from suppliers.

Supplier Risk Management

GHKGBA Holdings identifies and controls the potential ESG risks faced by
the current supply chain to reduce the overall operating risk of the supply
chain.

Guarantee Product Supply from Suppliers

We have cultivated and developed multiple supply channels in multiple
regions, and a selection mechanism to follow up on suppliers’ conditions,
conduct evaluation and choose the fittest. Instead of merely depending
on a certain supplier, we have opened several supply channels on the
supply chain to guarantee the stable supply of products and reduce the
potential ESG risks. Otherwise, any problem with the supplier would affect
the operation of the whole supply chain. In the meantime, geographical
risks are taken into consideration for some crucial materials or products,
as we would face a crisis if the raw material supply from a certain region
was disrupted by force majeure factors and we had no supply from other
regions.

Establish Sincere Partnership in the Supply Chain

A sincere partnership can lower the structural cost of the supply chain
and reduce internal transaction cost. We strengthen code establishment
such as contract specifications to motivate partners to cooperate and
coordinate with each other in a sincere and flexible way.

In addition, all bidding documents of the Group are attached with Integrity
Agreement ((B&/Z 1)), which requires all bidders to strictly abide by the
Government Procurement Law of the People’s Republic of China  FE AR

HAMBEBATERES L)), Laws of the People’s Republic of China on Tenders and
Bids ((Fh2E A R AL FNBIHRIZIZIZE)), Contract Law of the People’s Republic
of China ((F#E AR H MBI & F%)) and relevant laws and regulations.
The Group conducts its business legally and honestly, and resolutely resist
any violation against laws or regulations.
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Convey a Sense of Responsibility

The Group actively communicate our philosophy of sustainable
development to our suppliers and expect to uphold high standards of
ethics, integrity and fairness together with our partners. While building a
foundation for mutually beneficial and win-win cooperation, we protect
the interests of our employees, customers and the society, and perform
our corporate social responsibilities and obligations more actively, so as to
promote the development of the local community and achieve common
progress between the enterprise and the society.

Promote Industry Communication

We are committed to growing together with our partners and creating a
healthy and sustainable partnership. We communicate with our partners
in various forms such as sharing meetings, in order to continuously
enhance the added value of our cooperation. Our communication
covers corporate culture, development strategy, customer service
system, supplier management system, employee training system, brand
promotion and environment protection, which enables our partners to
understand our requirements for products and services in more depth,
improves the quality and efficiency of cooperation and promotes common
growth.

CHAPTER VII GIVING BACK TO THE SOCIETY,
STRENGTHENING THE BOND WITH COMMUNITIES

Practice Public Welfare and Charity

We actively fulfill our corporate social responsibilities and obligations
and are continuously committed to public welfare undertakings. In
order to further optimize the management of public welfare and charity,
we have established Charity Policy ({ 2 B3k )). This policy clarifies our
spirit and purpose in promoting public welfare and charity projects, and
standardizes the approval process for charity and public welfare programs.
Moreover, it ensures the strict supervision over relevant plans and
decisions by relevant departments and the management, and matches our
community investment with the needs and interests of the community
to exert positive influence on the society. In 2023, the Company was
awarded the title of “Compassionate Enterprise” by the Shenzhen Hongli
Charity Foundation.

Support the community

We are always concerned about the needs of the community, striving to
understand the needs of community residents through various channels.
As we are committed to the harmony with the community and the
development of the community, we encourage our employees to take
part in diversified volunteer activities and give back to the society. In 2023,
our staff participated in volunteer service activities during weekends.
Throughout the year, they participated more than 20 times and served for
more than 77 hours.
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ESG REPORTING GUIDELINES INDEX OF THE HONG &BBZRESGIESIFESI]
KONG STOCK EXCHANGE

ESG Indicators Description Where to Find
ESGISHE Wt WENE

A. Environmental
ARE

Aspect A1: Emissions

EEA1 : B9

General Disclosure Information on: Chapter V
(@ the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water

and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
Note: Air emissions include NO,, SO,, and other pollutants regulated under
national laws and regulations.
Greenhouse gases include carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide,
hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons and sulphur hexafluoride.
Hazardous wastes are those defined by national regulations.
—MRBEEE FRBERIREREHN - kR TimEEs - BEREEEEY FhE
HIEESH
@ BX: K
(b) ETFHEITABEAZENERBERMAMNEEL -
Mz - BRI ERARY  RAathREMZBEFOEERAIIRED
EESIE
RERBEE_SLIK - Bk SRR SRREEY - 28IE
R NEALRT ©
BEEEMIERATROFMATEE -

KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. KPI Table

RSB HEIRAT HERU e LR S AR R B B R ERIEIR R

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas KPI Table
emissions (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

RS AE R IRA.2 B (BE1) kaplREE (BE2)85 *ﬁ’%ﬂ??fﬂ%( WEETE) R (0 BRERUERR
AEE(WABEEREA - BERMEE

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, KPI Table
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).

B EIEIRAL3 FEXEEREYEE (UEAE) R(NER)BE(WAEBESE BRERUIEIR K
7 - BIARMEAE) ©
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ESG Indicators Description Where to Find
ESGIER it BEVE
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where KPI Table
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
BRERUEIRA14 FEABREREEYEAE (UTE) R(NER)BE(AEBESE R B R IR R
i - BIERMEE)
KPI' A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Chapter V
RASR A RHEIRALS R PR RT SZEREE B AR R AE RIS L B AR PTERR A 28R - ELE
KPIA1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- hazardous wastes are handled, = Chapter V
and a description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve
them.
BB RUIETRALE T MBI ENEEERYNGE - RIEMPAEIZHRERRERA ELE
ERE L B IRATEREN R
Aspect A2: Use of Resources
[BHEA2 : ERER
General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and ChapterV
other raw materials.
Note: Resources may be used in production, in storage, transportation, in
buildings, electronic equipment, etc.
—RRIREE BRERER(BIELIR 7K&E4@J$M¥4)E’JIEAZ% ERE
Wiz BIRAIAREE - &7 &R B8F BETRES-
KPIA2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas KPI Table
or oil) in total (kWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
RS AE RUETRA2.1 RENESNEER AEEER(WE - felon)B@FE(ATET BRESUEER
RSHE) MEE(MAGES B - BRREE)
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production KPI Table

RS ERIEIRA2.2
KPIA2.3

BRERAEAIEIRA23
KPI A2.4

FASAE IR IRA24

KPI'A2.5

RAS A 0I5 1RA2.5

volume per facility).

BRKENRTE (MAGESEM - BERMEE) °
Descrlptlon of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.
R PTATSZ YRR TR(E A s B IR M iE B35 Lk B AR PR ERERA P58, -
Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for
purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HAKEGER R ERI B AR ERE - ARAEI 8RR = B R R
RIET|E L BRI PR -
Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if
applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

SR AR e R e E (AN E) R (ER) BEEELE -
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ESG Indicators Description Where to Find

ESGIER it BEVE

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BHA3 : RERRARER

General Disclosure Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on the Chapter V
environment and natural resources.

—REE WIEETAHRRERAAREREXNERNZENBR - FELE

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment Chapter V
and natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.

RS AR RUETRA3T MM EBEHHRBELARAERNEATERCD KN ERAHEYE F0E
WiTH -

Aspect A4: Climate Change

[EHEA4 - RIREL

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related ChapterV
issues which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

— AR FE BRI AR HEITAEEYENEARKEREED ERE
BUR e

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have Chapter V
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions
taken to manage them.

SR AE BUIETRAAT B R RIS HBTAEETYENEARGEFEEE - EEH  FHE
18 -

Aspect B1: Employment

FEEB : &

General Disclosure Information on: Chapter IV
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
antidiscrimination, and other benefits and welfare.

—RRIREE BRAF I AR E - BB RET - TR - BE - TSHe 2T FHE

b~ RIEBARE B
@ %k
(b) B FEIEET

RgRey -

TABERZENHRBERLRPINER -
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ESG Indicators Description Where to Find
ESGIER it BEVE
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-  KPI Table
time), age group and geographical region.
B4R B TEB1. IR - EERR(NEEEFRE)  FRESMtREIDNESE  BREBEER
e
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region.  KPI Table

FASAE N IR1RB1.2

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EmB2 : REEZE

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI1B2.1

RSB BUEIEBR2.1
KPI B2.2
RASR A NIE1EBR2.2
KPIB2.3

RABEAENIE1EB2.3

BRI - FicR LR B DHEERKRLR o

Information on:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working environment and protecting

employees from occupational hazards.

FRARMZETHEREMREREMEBELEEN

@ BX: &

(b) ETFEHETABEATENEBMERLROINES -

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past

three years including the reporting year.

BE=F(PRERFE)FFRITHOHABMLE -

Lost days due to work injuries.

EITGEAXTIERS -

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, how

they are implemented and monitored.

R PR B R IZ R B 2 2487 - PARABRETT REER I -

Aspect B3: Development and Training

FETEB3 : /R KIE

General Disclosure

—RRIRER

KPI B3.1

AR AE IR 1RB3.T
KPI B3.2

BASEAE AIE1RB3.2

Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills for discharging

duties at work. Description of training activities.

Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and external
courses paid by the employer.

BRARTHEEETT TERE MR M R ER - 3

MiE : IEFEREIEY - T RRbEINERRIMERE -

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee

AIEFEE -

category (e.g. senior management, middle management).
RERREEFI(NSREERE  HREEE ESNZIIEER
e

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and
employee category.

BRI IEBERE D - BREETREIIN TR -
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Chapter IV

FHE

KPI Table
BRERUIEIR K
KPI Table
FBEDIEIRR
Chapter IV

PRSI RIEIR R

Chapter IV

FNE

KPI Table
BB R IR R
KPI Table

RASRAE UEIR R
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ESG Indicators Description Where to Find
ESGIER it BEVE
Aspect B4: Labour Standards
[EMEB4 : T %A
General Disclosure Information on: Chapter IV
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.
—RRIREE B IEE T ssa b5 TH) - FME
@@ BX: K
(b) ETHETAGEATENHRBEERZLRONE -
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child ~ Chapter IV
and forced labour.
BRI B R E1RBA R B OB AR R E T REHIST - FME
KP1B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered.  Chapter IV
RS2 AE WIS TRBA.2 R AR B IR AR IE LS R B BRI LA ERER A P8R, EmE
Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
fEmEBs @ tEREE
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply Chapter VI
chain.
—RRIREE ERHEENIRIR R S RBREE - ERE
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. KPI Table
RASR AR RN E1RB5.1 i@ E D HHEREE - AR AEMUIRIRR
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of Chapter VI
suppliers where the practices are being implemented, and how they
are implemented and monitored.
RASR 48 IR 1EB5.2 G REEENED - MERTABBOINMHEREE - X ERE
NABRAIT MR A »
KPIB5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks Chapter VI
along the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.
BB AE B 1RB5.3 fi B RAES R S ERETAR T Mt B AED] - LA FERE
BT REERTTE -
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable Chapter VI
products and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
RSB IE1EB5.4 L TE BROE B R B R 0 2 A IRIREE mm S AR V1B 101 - LA K ABRAER FERE

TRERTE -
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EREBRRK

I

ESG Indicators Description Where to Find
ESGIER it BEVE
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EmBe : EMEIE
General Disclosure Information on: Chapter Il
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided and methods of redress.
—RRIRER BRAMREHERMRBORESELZS BE  BELKMBEEUAK F=8
ROTER
@ BX: Kk
(b) BETHBETAGEATENRBEERZLANNE -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for KPI Table
safety and health reasons.
RASE 4B L 1RB6.1 EENDEXERAHT AR BERIEHMAQKN B DL R B R IR R
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how Chapter llI
they are dealt with.
RA 4B 513 B6.2 BRI E fn MR HIREF B B AR EE 7% - E==
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting Chapter Il
intellectual property rights.
RS2 4E IETRB6.3 fl it B SRR R ERE B ARV IE D) - F-®
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. Chapter lll
BAS A E1RB6.4 E B E B2 R EmEIWARfF - B=E
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how Chapter Il
they are implemented and monitored.
BB AE MIETRB6.5 R EEERRERALBBOR - AREERTRERTE - F==
Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[BEB7 : RESS
General Disclosure Information on: Chapter I
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer
relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.
— R E BREAM ILERRR - R - MG REN ¢ FE
@) Eﬁ(% 953
(o) EFHETABEAZENEBERLROINER -
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ESG Indicators Description Where to Find
ESGIER b BEVE
KPIB7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought KPI Table

B SRAE AR IE1RB7.1
KPI B7.2

RASR A NIE1ER7.2
KPI B7.3
BSR4 WIE1ZR7.3

against the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.

REEREAE T ASHES RO W D EENBE ) THARMNEAE
&uﬁﬂ\nu °

Description of preventive measures and whistleblowing procedures,
how they are implemented and monitored.

T b AR RAR T - AR RER L -

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff.

fimEER B TRENRESHE -

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[ETEBS : HERE

General Disclosure

—RRRE

KP1B8.1

RRSEAE IR IRBS.1
KPI B8.2
FABRIA W I515B8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the
communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take
into consideration the communities’ interests.

B E2ERTREEMEHERTENBRREAEXBIDHGER
HENREBER -

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns,
labour needs, health, culture, sport).

EIEREE(HE  BIREE  BITHK - @#E - 3Ue - 88) -
Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EEIHEMPBAER(NESELFH)

BRERUEIR K
Chapter Il
Eoi

Chapterll
F-E

Chapter VI

F+E
Chapter VI
FLE

KPI Table
FRBHIA IR IR
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS TABLE RREXERE
ESG Indicators Unit 2023 Data 2022 Data
ESGIE IR B 202315 20228145
A. Environment
ARIR
A1.1  Emission types and relevant emission data
BERU RS S AR B R B
Nitrogen oxides (NO,) Tonnes 0.04 0.03
AE/LPNO,) 7]
Sulfur oxides (SO,) Tonnes 0.001 0.001
mEc(S0,) WA
Particulate matter (PM) Tonnes 0.003 0.002
FERIP(PM) Mg
A1.2  Greenhouse gas emission
mE RN
Scope I: Direct greenhouse gas emission’ Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 1,193.14 1,338.47"
#HE— - EERERBYR WE—bIRE S
Scope lI: Indirect greenhouse gas emission? Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 5,270.57 8,233.93
#HE_  FERERBER WE — SR E 8
Total greenhouse gas emission? Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent 6,463.72 9,572.40"
BERBEIEES W — S LIRE 8
Scope I: Intensity of Direct greenhouse gas Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent/ 0.34 0.42"
emission million revenue in RMB
HE—  BERRERBERETE M-S mREE AREBET
e
Scope lI: Intensity of Indirect greenhouse gas Tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent/ 1.49 2.60
emission million revenue in RMB
HE_ - FARAERBINETE W_ftimEE  AREBET
Was
A1.3 Total hazardous wastes* Tonnes 133 7.02
BEREEY RS Mg
Among them: Dyestuff, paint waste Tonnes 0.96 4.46
Hep 8 BHEEDS A
Other hazardous construction waste Tonnes 0.20 235
Hiv 5 EREEEY A
Waste tubes, bulbs, batteries and other products  Tonnes 0.05 0.06
BEEEE  BA - BHEEM A
Discard toner cartridge, ink cartridge, etc. Tonnes 0.12 0.15
FEEE - BRE A
Intensity of hazardous wastes Tonnes/million revenue in RMB - 0.002
BERENTE mE, AR EE T
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ESG Indicators Unit 2023 Data 2022 Data
ESGIEE B 2023%4E 2022%1&
A1.4 Total non-hazardous wastes Tonnes 1,730.33 20.10
BEERVEE T8
Among them: Earthwork waste (sent to landfills)  Tonnes 1,120.00 0.00
Hep - + 7R GETEER) 7]
Earthwork waste (backfill) Tonnes 600.00 0.00
T RERH(EHR) 7
Kitchen waste Tonnes 5.46 13.09
BI SRS ]
General office waste (recyclable) Tonnes 1.75 2.64
—RRIF A REEY) (AT WA AR ) U7
General office waste (not recyclable) Tonnes 3.12 437
— AR REZE ) (AT W R ) U7
Intensity of non-hazardous wastes Tonnes/million revenue in RMB 0.49 0.01
BEBRRYTE W ARBBEETHR
A2.1  Energy consumption® Kilowatt-hour 9,856,827.85 14,629,741.93
BEIRAEAEES TE B
Among them: Direct energy consumption Kilowatt-hour 615,073.44 1,133,708.65
Heh : gRERERE TR
Indirect energy consumption Kilowatt-hour 9,241,754.41  13,496,033.28
B aLIREREE FEE
Diesel® Liter 0.00 1,660.50
Seihe 7t
Gasoline’ Liter 45,727.90 48,410.24
bai:: 7t
Fuel oil Kilograms 0.00 150.00
BRI T
Liquefied petroleum gas Kilograms 1,467.00 1,261.00
ARBRIER T
Natural gas Cubic meters 1,530.00 2,000.00
RAAR SITK
Purchased electricity Kilowatt-hour 9,241,75441 13,494,482.30
SNEBRAE FE &
Solar power generation Kilowatt-hour 134,500.00 605,160.40
ARG EER TR
Intensity of energy consumption Kilowatt-hour/million revenue in 2,791.91 4,617.88

REREREEE

RMB
TRE/AREBELKES
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ESG Indicators Unit 2023 Data 2022 Data
ESGIEAZ By 20235 20228145
A2.2 Total water consumption Tonnes 194,208.39 213,799.43
BFEKE i
Among them: Production water Tonnes 106,997.00
(for construction site)
Hrp o SEMAK(IHAK) 7]
Office water consumption® Tonnes 106,802.43
EYINES S A
Intensity of water consumption Tonnes/million revenue in RMB 67.49
FKEE WE AR BB THE
B. Society
BALE
Employment
STHR
B1.1  Total workforce by gender, employment type,
age group and geographical region
RIS - EERD - FhAER KRS S
EERAH
Total number of workers® Person 241 855
BITRAAEC A
By gender
g ek oy
Male workers Person 151 518
SMET A
Female workers Person 20 337
ZHET A
By employment type
RERELE D
Full-time Person 241 855
S A
Part-time Person 0 0
Pl A
By age group
RERED
Under 30 years old Person 28 118
<30mET A
30-50 years old Person 192 578
30-505%x 8 T A
Over 50 years old Person 21 159
>50p% 8 L A
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ESG Indicators
ESGIE1E

Unit
B

2023 Data
2023848

2022 Data
202285

B1.2

By educational background
REBEZ S

Master

E+2F

Bachelor

A2

Other educational background
Hfth B2

By position

RIERENE D
Management staff
ERMEET

Execution staff

WITRET

By geographical region

Rt EE 5

Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan
ERE

Chinese mainland

T BIARE

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group,

and geographical region

IR FiAR Rt R B0 BB R X

Total turnover rate of employee™
K L o

By gender
RUBBDHEER KL R
Male workers

SHET

Female workers

ZMET

By age group
RERERNE I NEBSRALLE
Under 30 years old

<30ET

30-50 years old

30-505% 5 T

Over 50 years old

>505% 8 T

Person
Person
Person

A

Person
Person

A

Person

Person

%
%

%
%
%
%

%
%
%
%
%
%

108

123

51

190

238

57

53

64

93

51

71
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ESG Indicators
ESGIE1E

Unit
B

2023 Data
2023848

>
/|

V4N

[mm]

s

HE

2022 Data
202285

By geographical region
BB NESRKLE
Hong Kong, Macao and Taiwan
R
Chinese mainland
EiPN S
Health and Safety
REHEZ2
B2.1  Number of work-related fatalities occurred in
each of the past three years, including the
reporting year
BE=F(BREERFE)AITHHAR
In 2023
20234
In 2022
20224F
In 2021
20214F
Rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of
the past three years, including the reporting
year
BE=F(REERFE)AICHMHLX
In 2023
20234
In 2022
20224
In 2021
20214F
B2.2  Lost days due to work injury
EHITGHEEATIERR
Development and Training
B R R
B3.1  The percentage of employees trained by gender
and employee category
wRUERLEEEFIBSXIIEEB L
Percentage of total employees who took part in
training

XlEBERFRERB DL

%
%
%
%

Person
A
Person
A
Person

A

%
%
%
%
%
%
Day

%

2.0

136

100
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ESG Indicators Unit 2023 Data 2022 Data
ESGIEE B 2023%4E 2022%1&
By gender
BRURIB D Z AR
Male employees Person-time 504 1,844
SHET AR
Female employees Person-time 248 849
ZHEET AR
By position
RIfERUE D ZIAR
Management employees Person-time 113 406
EEEET AR
Execution employees Person-time 639 2,287
HITEET AR
By gender
RupEsZIEERSL
Male workers % 67 68
SHET %
Female employees % 33 32
ZHET %
By position
RIfERuEsZIEERT DL
Management employees % 15 15
BEEET %
Execution employees % 85 85
WITEETL %
B3.2  The average training hours completed per
employee by gender and employee category
RUERLEEERE D - BREETKIIIN
TR
All employees Hour/person 7.80 9.20
FEET NS PPN
By gender
BR85S
Male employees Hour/person 8.20 10.30
SMET ANSYON
Female employees Hour/person 7.20 7.60
LHET NN
By position
BRIfERCE D
Management employees Hour/person 5.80 9.80
EREET AN STPN
Execution employees Hour/person 8.30 9.20
WITEET AN:SYPN
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ESG Indicators Unit 2023 Data 2022 Data
ESGISE By 2023818 2022818

Supply Chain Management

HrEsEEE
B5.1  Total number of suppliers Numbers 356 368
HERRE =

Number of suppliers by geographical region

wiEE DR EmEE

Eastern China Numbers 82 93
FERI R ER
South China Numbers 221 219
R x
Central China Numbers 25 24
@ ER
North China Numbers 4 3
2@ ER
Northwest China Numbers 4 5
Fispls:i) ER
Southwest China Numbers 20 24
iy ER
Northeast China Numbers 0 0
it ER

Product Responsibility

EmEE

B6.1  Percentage of total products sold or shipped % 0 0

subject to recalls for safety and health reasons
EEHCEXERAHTAL 2 EEFIER
ZElEL GO
B6.2  Number of products and service related
complaints received

RERNE R MRG IR EE

X

Domestic users Times 152 555
Bl A AP /N
Anti-corruption

RES
B7.1  Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or
its employees during the reporting period and
the outcomes of the cases
RERPAE BT A HEEREIEEED
BISRARMRBE MEFaAG

The Group Case 0 0
A R
Employees Case 0 0
8T R
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ESG Indicators Unit 2023 Data 2022 Data
ESGIEE By 20235 2022818
Community Investment
B8.2  Resources contributed to the focus area
FETHEMEBHER
Volunteering Hour 77 15
VAT D) aNs

Note(s):

Greenhouse gases in scope 1 are come from stationary combustion sources
(including coal gas, natural gas, liquefied petroleum gas and burning oil),
mobile combustion sources (including gasoline and diesel) and refrigerant
consumption.

Greenhouse gases in scope 2 refer primarily to are carbon dioxide produced
by purchased electricity consumed during operations. The accounting
method is based on the grid emission factor 0.5703 tCO,/MWh recommended
in the “Notice on Carrying out Work in Reporting and Management of
Greenhouse Gas Emissions of Enterprises in the Power Generation Industry
from 2023 to 2025" issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment in
2023.

Greenhouse gas emissions include only carbon dioxide.

Hazardous waste shall refer to the National Hazardous Waste List (2021
Edition).

Total energy consumption comes from diesel, gasoline, liquefied petroleum
gas, natural gas, purchased electricity and solar power. The Energy conversion
coefficient is in accordance with the Energy Statistics Manual (Appendix
3, units and equivalent conversion) issued by the International Energy
Agency. Diesel: 45.66 Gigajoule/ton, gasoline: 47.1 Gigajoule/ton, LPG: 50.08
Gigajoule/ton, Natural gas: 40 Gigajoule/m?, Fuel oil: 44.4 Gigajoule/ton, 1
Gigajoule = 277.778 kWh.

Diesel data is sourced from the diesel consumption of the Group’s owned
vehicles.

Gasoline data is sourced from the gasoline consumption of the Group’s
owned vehicles.

The data of office water consumption come from commercial and office
water, including bottled water purchased by the Group.

Total number of employees refers to the number of employees of the Group as
at 31 December 2023.

Total turnover rate of employee = Total number of employee turnover/Total
number of employees at the end of the reporting year X 100%

The figures are restated for consistent comparison purpose.

it

10.

11.

HEEERBIRREER(BEHER - XA
R ABBRIER - BREERFIRE) BBR(E2
YU~ SR MBLSEDEFEE £ —EULhk

HEREABRRREEZRAFMERENIINES
NFREBEN SR - 2023 FZEFEAKERR
A RBIR 5 #2023 5 T 9 B PR i1 47 2023-2025 5F
BETENCERAEREBHMNREEEFEIIEN
BANF ZFMEABEREA T0.5703 tCO,/MWh ©

REREBHNESE ALk -

BEEEY2R(BEKBREEY & (20214
FROVIRE

RERBREENREH - B - AHERER - XA
BMNEEN - KIFREET - fERE(CEEUKE
PR REJR 2 B HH B B2 R 2% 5 i (Energy Statistics
Manual) (M8 =B Mg £) - HpL4hm -
4566 T IKEE W - T : 471 TIKEE W - &
SHEIER - 50,08 TIKEE,WE - RAAF : 40K
H STk o BREER : 444TIKEE TE - 1Tk
FEH=277778 T LR -

SOMBURIURN AL B BB TE AR HRE -
FURBUR RN A SR B 5 A TR URDERE
FIFNESES 28 PG SETTEE VS NV N
REE R ERFIREK -

ETHAHBARERN2023F12A31HNERE
T8 o

BRRR=ZREFTERRBASYZREFEH
FREYE TAEE < 100%

BREBFHEEFARNRLER
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The Board hereby present this corporate governance report in the annual
report of the Company for FY2023.

The Company recognises the value and importance of achieving high
standard of corporate governance to enhance the corporate performance
accountability and is committed to doing so. The Company has developed
and implemented sound governance policies and measures to preserve
our value and business model over the longer term as described in this
annual report and achieve our objectives. These policies and measures
include but not limited to the applicable principles and code provisions
as set out in the CG Code, and the Board is responsible for performing
such corporate governance duties. The Board is also committed to the
principles and code provisions of the CG Code. Save as disclosed in the
paragraph headed “Corporate Governance” in this annual report, the
Directors are of the opinion that the Company has complied with the
principles and code provisions set out in the CG Code during the Year and
up to the date of this annual report. The Company will continue to review
and enhance its corporate governance practice to ensure compliance with
the CG Code.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises nine Directors,
including five executive Directors, one non-executive Director and three
independent non-executive Directors. Brief details of the Directors are set
out in the sections headed “Directors and Directors’ Service Contracts”
and “Biographical Details of the Directors and Senior Management” of this
annual report. The overall management and supervision of the Company’s
operation, the function of formulating overall business strategies and
aligning the Company’s culture with its purpose, value and strategy are
vested in the Board.

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Corporate Governance” of
the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report, during the Year
and up to the date of this annual report, the Board has complied with
the requirements of Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to
the appointment of at least three independent non-executive Directors
with at least one independent non-executive Director having appropriate
professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise, and the requirement that independent non-executive Directors
represent at least one-third of the Board.

The Company has received annual confirmation from each independent
non-executive Director pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers that each of the independent non-executive
Directors is independent in accordance with the independence guidelines
as set out in the Listing Rules. All the Directors, including the independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board
for its efficient and effective functioning. Independent non-executive
Directors are invited to serve on the audit committee of the Company
(the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee of the Company
(the “Remuneration Committee”), and the nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”).

ERSHEUNARFROBIBRFEFRANZIAK

EEERWMS

ARABHIERSERELARENRSEEE
ERRERINEERERMNE - YEEIEKILE
T - ARAIDHIERETRIFNEARERNE
I - PAMEREANF EHRE AT M B AP EE RS
ERAALERBMANVERT - ELERBRRLER
BREAIRNEFRE AT FERANERA KA
fFX > THEFERENTRFEXREARA -
BERENAKETEEE AT RIZRAI R ST ARG
X o BREAFEREICEELITAEEN &

RRARAANFERBEERNFRTEAHDE
ST ER ST RIFTELA R A K 57 RIMEST - R A]
HREEZ MR ECRERTTRABRETD
EeEasal -

EEE

EEgHE

RARER  EFGHNEBEREAKX  BELA
WITES  —EFENTESN =B IIENTE
= FREFNFBEHNAFRNEEREFR
BERIRIEERERERERE /NG - EFE
BEEREELREBARAINGE  HIEBEX
BREARERARARULEARE - BEBK
HWE—2 o

BT AFHRMEEEAREISEER] —BFH
BN RAFEREEAFTFRAERY £
BT FHARBIE3I0E3I0AGERE LRI =
LB AT ESAEPR S —ZBIIERNITE
A EAEEE RS R S E IR E
NBLETNBIIERTESTRIEESES =S
Z—HIRIE ©

ARBERELETRAUNKE  ZEERE LI
MTEFRLNFERRE - RELTRRME
BIIEES ARBRR/SBEILIIFNTESHE
BY - IAER(BREBIUFNTER)ORES
SERTLEEMEENEBRLR  ARNEER
I REEEE SR NAREE - BIUFRTE
ERBHEARREZZEG([EREEE])
ARRHHEZES((HFMEEE]) RARBIRS
ZEE([RBEBE KB -
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The CG Code requires Directors to disclose to the Company, the number
and nature of offices held in public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments as well as their identity and the time involved.
The Directors have agreed to disclose their commitments to the Company
in a timely manner.

Role and Function and Delegation by the Board

The Board is responsible for and has general powers for the management
and conduct of the business of the Company. It delegates day-to-day
management of the Company to executive Directors and the senior
management of the Company within the control and the authority
framework set by the Board. The delegated functions and responsibilities
are periodically reviewed by the Board.

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company,
including approving and monitoring all policy matters, overall strategies
and budgets, internal control and risk management systems, material
transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of Directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. Directors may seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the Company’s expense
and are encouraged to consult the Company’s senior management
independently.

In addition, the Board has also delegated to the Audit Committee, the
Remuneration Committee, and the Nomination Committee various
responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of reference. Further
details of these committees are set out on pages 91 to 94 of this annual
report.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interest of the
Company and its Shareholders at all times.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify its
Directors in respect of legal actions against them.

Relationship between Directors

There are no financial, business, family or other material relationships
among members of the Board.

Independent Views

The company has established a mechanism to ensure independent
views are available to the Board, including, amongst others, measures
ensuring the independence of the independent non-executive Directors
and adequacy of resources to the Board when needed. The Board has
conducted annual review on the implementation and effectiveness of the
mechanism and is satisfied with the results.
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Changes in Information of Directors and the Chief Executive EERFETHRAEEESE

The changes of the information of the Directors and the chief executive BARERFFRABPEERFRAPNES
since the date of 2022 annual report of the Company and up to the date FEETBRABERZ 8L FmRAI%13.51B(1)
of this annual report are set out below pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the 1&EFN AT -

Listing Rules:

Name of Director/Chief Executive

EE BRTHABHS

Changes
8F

Mr. Luo Jieping

BNFERE

Mr. Zeng Yunshu

2R

Mr. Chen Yangsheng

RS54

Mr. Han Qinchun

BEREFRE

Mr. Luo Jieping has been appointed as an executive Director, the Chairman of the Board,
a member of the Nomination Committee and the Authorised Representative on 20 July
2023. Mr. Luo Jieping is the son-in-law of Mr. Zeng Yunshu. Mr. Luo obtained the legal
advice applicable to him as a director of a listed issuer as referred to in Rule 3.09D of the
Listing Rules and understood the possible consequences of making any false statement
or giving any false information in July 2023, and confirmed he understood his obligations
as a director of a listed issuer.

BN TFRENR2023F7H0EBLZEALRFNTES EFSEF  REEESX
BREEREK - BN T ERERBERAENKIT - B EN2023F7 ARS EHARA
FE3.0DRPMERANEIER FHETABRTNERER - URTE TIEREMER
BRASIRHERE SIS BNERYEAR THEERSLMETAEZNER -

Mr. Zeng Yunshu has been re-designated from an executive Director to a non-executive
Director and resigned as the Chairman of the Board, a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Authorised Representative on 20 July 2023. Mr. Zeng Yunshu is the
father-in-law of Mr. Luo Jieping.

BERREAEN2023F7 A0 AR ARIAITESRERIFMTES » UBHEARRE
FELF REZEGNENEERR - GEREERENTERENEX -

Mr. Chen Yangsheng has been appointed as an independent non-executive Director,
the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of the Audit Committee on
5 July 2023. Mr. Chen resigned as a non-independent director of the Shenzhen Urban
Transport Planning Center Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are listed on the ChiNext of
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 301091.SZ) on 24 July 2023. Mr. Chen obtained
the legal advice applicable to him as a director of a listed issuer as referred to in Rule 3.09D
of the Listing Rules and understood the possible consequences of making any false
statement or giving any false information in July 2023, and confirmed he understood his
obligations as a director of a listed issuer.

BREG T e 2023 F7 ASHEZERBUIFNITES - IRREZEQTRENEREE
SR8 o RIEER2023F7 A 24 BBEHERYITHIN T R MM EIRF AT A OROBR A
AR RRYIEFRZ SPEIZER £ - IROHMRSE : 301091.52) 3B EE - fRE
A P2023F7 ARG AR B 3.09DIRFTE AN EVER EMBITAZEEHNEEE
R AR T8 TR EAE RB A SIRGLUE 15 S AT R B 5| BV 18 RIVFER A T 7
HIER FBITAERNRT -

Mr. Han Qinchun has been appointed as an independent non-executive director of
Sunfonda Group Holdings Limited (whose shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, stock code: 01771.HK) on 18 May 2023. He has also been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Country Garden Holdings Company Limited
(whose shares are listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, stock code: 02007.HK) on 15
March 2024.

BREFREMN2023F5 18R EER RMEREEIZERBER AR (HRHNEBBR
P BT BREASR  01771.HK) 2B FEMITE S M JF02024F3 A 15 B &£ R
EEEERAR AR (RRONEBBM LM - B - 02007.HK) 2 IBZIEH
TEF -

GUANGDONG - HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED 278422 i 5 [R A A



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (¥ B85 &

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Company (Mr. Luo Jieping) and the CEO (Mr. He Fei)
have segregated and clearly defined roles. The Chairman of the Company
provides leadership for the Board. The CEO has responsibility for the
Group's overall business development and daily management generally.

During FY2023, the Chairman of the Board has held a meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other
Directors.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Each appointed Director is provided with necessary induction and
information to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the
Company’s operations and business as well as his responsibilities under
relevant statutes, laws, rules and regulations. The Company also provides
periodic legal updates and developments on the Listing Rules, the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, news updates from the Stock Exchange and
the Securities & Futures Commission of Hong Kong and other relevant
legal and regulatory requirements to all of the Directors, as well as regular
updates on the Company’s performance, position and prospects to enable
the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

Compliance with the Model Code for Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct of
the Company for Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific
enquiry to all Directors, all Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code during
the Year. Employees who are, or likely to be, in possession of unpublished
inside information in relation to the Company or its shares are prohibited
from dealing in the shares of the Company during the black-out period.

B ERTIREEESN - EEMERBRE ETR
BI5E13.51B(1)EHE -
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Save as disclosed below, the Board is of the opinion that the Company
had complied with the code provisions as set out in Part 2 of the CG Code
contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules during the Year. Paragraph
E(d)(i) of the Part 1 of the CG Code under Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules
states that an issuer shall provide details of non-compliance with Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules and an explanation of the remedial steps taken to
address non-compliance with establishment of an audit committee.

Compliance with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A, 3.21 and 3.27A of the
Listing Rules

According to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the Board
must include at least three independent non-executive Directors and
the Company must appoint independent non-executive Directors
representing one-third of the Board, respectively. In addition, Rule 3.21
of the Listing Rules requires, among others, an audit committee to
comprise a minimum of three members and that the committee must
be chaired by an independent non-executive director. Rule 3.27 of the
Listing Rules provides that the nomination committee must be chaired
by an independent non-executive director and comprise a majority of
independent non-executive director.

Following the resignation of Mr. Dai Yiyi (“Mr. Dai") as an independent
non-executive Director with effect from 7 April 2023, the Board included
only two independent non-executive Directors, each of the Audit
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company comprised
only two members. The Nomination Committee did not have a chairman
nor a majority of independent non-executive directors. Following the
appointment of Chen Yangsheng as an independent non-executive
Director, a member of Audit Committee and the chairman of Nomination
Committee of the Company on 5 July 2023, the Company has fully
complied with the requirements under Rules 3.10(1), 3.10A, 3.21 and 3.27A
of the Listing Rules. For details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 6 April 2023 and 5 July 2023.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Directors has entered into service contract or letter
of appointment with the Company, which may be terminated in
accordance with the respective terms of the service contracts or letters
of appointment. For details, please refer to the section headed “Directors
and Directors’ Service Contracts” of this annual report.

None of the Directors has a service contract which is not determinable by
the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

In accordance with Articles 16.2 and 16.3 of the Articles, any Director
appointed by the Board or by an ordinary resolution either to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board, shall hold office only until the
following annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election at that meeting. In accordance with Articles 16.18
of the Articles, at every annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors
for the time being shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director
shall be eligible for re-election at the annual general meeting.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of Directors are set out in the Articles. The Nomination Committee
is responsible for reviewing the Board composition and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of
Directors and succession planning for Directors, in particular the Chairman
and chief executive officer.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Company has adopted the practice of holding Board meetings at
least four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals pursuant to
code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code. Notice of not less than fourteen days
are given for all regular board meetings to provide all Directors with an
opportunity to attend, and include matters in the agenda for a regular
meeting pursuant to code provision C.5.3 of the CG Code.

All Directors are provided with the meeting agenda and relevant
information related to the agenda in advance before the meeting. They
have access to the senior management and the company secretary of the
Company at all time and may, upon reasonable request, seek independent
professional advice at the Company’s expense.
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Minutes of the meetings are kept by the company secretary of the SHOHAANRNBNARWERE 81X EHE
Company with copies circulated to all Directors for information and REEEHN UHSEREH EFEREEE
records. Minutes of the board meetings and committee meetings EENERLHY LB EEEeREEEME
record sufficient details of the matters considered by the Board and the BEEMNFIE RATERBRE - BIEESHEM

committees and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised EE - REFGREEGERNERCHEERN
by the Directors. Draft minutes of each Board meeting and committee =~ REHLBTAHE B AEREANRXEEEE
meeting are sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable time Bl - EFgemngsorIHEEEH -

after the date on which the meeting was held. Minutes of board meetings
are open for inspection for the Directors.

12 Board meetings and one general meetings were held during the Year. RAFER - BITTNRRETEEZR1ARERKR
Individual attendance of the Directors is as follows: g LEZHENESHOT :

No. of meetings attended/
No. of meetings held*

HEEHRAEBHERRE

Board General
meetings meetings
Directors = EESER BERAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Luo Jieping (Chairman) BENTRE(FRE) 4/4 0/0
(appointed on 20 July 2023) (R2023F7 A208 & ET)
Mr. Wong Choi Hing (Co-Chairman) T HES A (EEE) 10/12 11
Mr. Cai Hongwen (Co-Chairman) BB St (R E) 9/12 11
Mr. He Fei (CEO) IR (REEL) 12/12 1/1
Ms. Wei Haiyan b o 12/12 11
Mr. Zeng Yunshu (former Chairman) BERLE(FTEE) 12/12 11
(resigned as executive Director and Chairman (220237 H20 B BTN TEE R TF
and re-designated as a non-executive director W FEAIEHITES)
on 20 July 2023)
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Mr. Zeng Yunshu (former Chairman) SR E(BIFE) 12/12 11
(resigned as executive Director and Chairman (72202347 208 BHEHITE S # /5
and re-designated as a non-executive director WAL AIEHITES)
on 20 July 2023)
Mr. Feng Ke (resigned on 1 March 2023) ISR (18202353 A1 HEHE) 11 0/0
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHITES
Mr. Guan Huanfei BRIk A 12/12 1/
Mr. Han Qinchun BRAELE 12/12 11
Mr. Chen Yangsheng (appointed on 5 July 2023) &[5 756 4 (FA20237 A5 B EZET) 4/4 0/0
Mr. Dai Yiyi (resigned on 7 April 2023) B — (202354 A788HT) 2/2 0/0
*  The number of meetings held were calculated in respect of the specific term *  BREZABAREBESUEFNARTHMSE -

of each Director.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, and the Nomination Committee, to handle
particular responsibilities of the Board and certain affairs of the Company.
All board committees of the Company are established with defined
written terms of reference which have been uploaded to the website
of the Stock Exchange and that of the Company, and are provided with
sufficient resources to discharge their duties.

Audit Committee

The Company established the Audit Committee on 27 September 2013
in compliance with Rule 3.21 and Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules and with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code and Corporate
Governance Report as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules and the
roles and the responsibilities delegated to the Audit Committee by the
Board. The revised terms of reference have been adopted by the Board
on 27 December 2018. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to
review the financial information of the Company, to oversee the financial
reporting process, risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, to oversee the audit process, to make recommendation on the
appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditor and to
perform other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

The Group has an internal audit function and has formulated and adopted
risk management policy in providing direction in identifying, evaluating
and managing significant risks. The management identifies risks that
would adversely affect the achievement of the Group’s objectives, and
assesses and prioritizes the identified risks according to a set of standard
criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then established for
those risks considered to be significant. Risk management report and
internal control report are submitted to the Audit Committee and the
Board of Directors. The Board of Directors is responsible for the risk
management and internal control systems and will perform annual review
on the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control
systems, including but not limited to the Group’s ability to cope with its
business transformation and changing external environment; the scope
and quality of management’s review on risk management and internal
control systems; result of internal audit work; the extent and frequency of
communication with the Board of Directors in relation to result of risk and
internal control review; significant failures or weaknesses identified and
their related implications; and status of compliance with the Listing Rules.

EXZRRE
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As at 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors. The three members are Mr. Han
Qinchun, the chairman of the Audit Committee and an independent non-
executive Director, Mr. Guan Huanfei, an independent non-executive
Director, and Mr. Chen Yangsheng, an independent non-executive
Director. During the Year, three Audit Committee meetings were held
to, among other matters, (1) review and recommend the half-yearly and
annual results to the Board for approval; (2) review the Group’s financial
controls, internal control and risk management systems; (3) review the
Group's financial and accounting policies and practices; (4) review and
consider the whistleblowing policy and system; (5) change of auditor
and review the external auditor’s independence and the objectivity and
effectiveness of the audit process; and (6) review the terms of reference
of the Audit Committee. For the details in respect of compliance with
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, please refer to the paragraph headed
“Corporate Governance” in this Corporate Governance Report.

The attendance of the Directors at the Audit Committee meetings was as

R2023F12A31H - BEREESH BB IIERR
TERHEK - —RKBE A BEEEALE(FEREE
CERERBUFNTES) BRIFEECELIE
MITEE) RREHEECBYIFRNITES) - BA
FERN BITTIRNEZRZESSE  UW(EHPE
FINEZIFERFEEE  VEXEZFoH
M QBRAEENIFELE - RIER R AR
EEGE  QBFERASENMB RS BRERE
% OBZEEEEAREERGE  G)EREEK
M REZINEZYMELB LR EZRERDRE
BAW: ROBHEZZESNRESEE - BN
BB EMREB2ENFE - SL2HANE
ERMENIEERI—F -

EFHFEEGREGEERNBAT

follows:

Number of Attendance
Directors B= HERE
Mr. Han Qinchun (Committee Chairman) BERERE(ZEEFE) 3/3
Mr. Guan Huanfei B RIESE 3/3
Mr. Chen Yangsheng (appointed on 5 July 2023) PRS2 A4 (782023F 7 A5 AEER ) 2/2
Mr. Dai Yiyi (resigned on 7 April 2023) BN — £ (R2023F4 A7HEHT) 0/0

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 27 September
2013 in compliance with Rule 3.25 and Rule 3.26 of the Listing Rules and
with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code and
Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules and the roles and the responsibilities delegated to the Remuneration
Committee by the Board. The primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management remuneration and to
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual Directors and senior management.

FHEER

AN EERR ET R AI3.2516 53,2667 201349 A
EHKYFNEEw  HEERESGEFEG LT
HA SR TECEE R TRIRDEERRER
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As at 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors and one executive Director. The
three members are Mr. Guan Huanfei, the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and an independent non-executive Director, Ms. Wei Haiyan,
an executive Director, and Mr. Han Qinchun, an independent non-
executive Director. During the Year, five Remuneration Committee
meetings were held to, among other matters, (1) make recommendations
to the Board on the policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration; (2) assess the performance of executive
Directors; (3) approve the terms of executive Directors’ service contracts;
and (4) make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors, non-executive Directors,
independent non-executive Directors and members.

The attendance of the Directors at the Remuneration Committee meetings
was as follows:

72023512 A31H  FNEZEESHMBBLIERR
TEER—ZHITESEK - Z2KE A Bix
FEE(FNEESERRBUIENTES) 3t
HRZL(RITES) REFEEE(BUIENTE
H) RARFEERN BITTSRFHEESSH A
(KRB MREseEREERafhEEAS
B2 EEHNBUR M2 QRMERITE SR
CHERTEERBFANNET  RORESE
BEERITES - JEITES - BUIENTE
ENSREEAENEHIES -

ERhEFMHZEeERNBROT -

Number of Attendance

Directors ) HERE
Mr. Guan Huanfei (Committee Chairman) BRIERE(ZEE2EE) 5/5
Ms. Wei Haiyan mEMZ T 5/5
Mr. Han Qinchun BRERE 5/5

The primary goal of the Group’s remuneration policy for executive
Directors is to enable the Company to retain and motivate executive
Directors by linking their compensation with their individual performance.
The remuneration package includes basic salary, performance and/or
discretional bonus, participation in the Share Option Scheme, other share
option scheme (if any) and other benefits. Remuneration of the non-
executive Director includes mainly the Director’s fee, which is a matter for
the Board to decide by reference to the duties and responsibilities of the
non-executive Director. Remuneration of the independent non-executive
Directors includes the Director’s fee which is determined by the Board
based on the duties and responsibilities of independent non-executive
Directors and their participation in the Share Option Scheme or other
share option scheme (if any).
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Nomination Committee

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 27 September
2013 with written terms of reference in compliance with the requirements
of the CG Code and Corporate Governance Report as set out in Appendix
C1 to the Listing Rules and the roles and the responsibilities delegated
to the Nomination Committee by the Board. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and composition
of the Board and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and removal of Directors. In the nomination procedures, the
Nomination Committee makes reference to criteria including candidates’
reputation, integrity, accomplishment, experience and professional and
educational background.

As at 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors and one executive Director. The
three members are Mr. Chen Yangsheng, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and an independent non-executive Director, Mr. Luo Jieping,
an executive Director, and Mr. Han Qinchun, an independent non-
executive Director. During the Year, four Nomination Committee meetings
were held to, among other matters, (1) review the structure, size and
composition of the Board and to review the diversity policy of the Board;
(2) assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
(3) review, consider and approve the nomination policy; and (4) make
recommendations to the Board on the candidates of new Directors and
the re-appointment of Directors. The Nomination Committee has adopted
the nomination criteria and procedures as disclosed in this Corporate
Governance Report when making recommendations on the candidates of
new Directors.

The attendance of the directors at the Nomination Committee meetings
was as follows:

REEE®
AAER2013F9A27HK T IRELZES - HE®
BiEHESS EmRAK ST U ATE b EE AT
AIREEAREREEER TIREZESHE
FHBK - REZEENIERTAERESRS
FZEME - BERER  IREAREREEME
EEEHER - WERBEREY  RELZBEE2E
WIZEBBRFERERANEER  BEE - Kt €8
MEEHEHEES o

2023F12A31H - RREESHEMBBILIER
TEER—EZRTESREANK - ZEKE A KRB
FrE(RBEESEFERBUIENTES) &
NEEEMITESR) RERETEBUIENTE
)  RAFERN  BITT4XREZEZESSH
P(ERBFE)MBEZESFEHERE - ABURMERK
RESGZTIEBE: Q TEBUFNITES
BT - Q)EZ - ERRIVERABEBER k@)
RN EENRARETZEESTRNESSRLE
HoORBTEETENMES NBETHEBR - &
BT AEE ARETATHENRAIZENREF

BEFEHFRAREGEENBRAOT

Number of Attendance
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Mr. Chen Yangsheng (Committee Chairman) BRISF S (ZEEEE) 2/2
(appointed on 5 July 2023) (720237 H5AEEE)

Mr. Luo Jieping (appointed on 20 July 2023) BN oA (72202357 520 HER(T) 11

Mr. Han Qinchun BERE 4/4

Mr. Zeng Yunshu (resigned on 20 July 2023) & 2 S0 A (7202357 A20 A BHT) 3/3

Mr. Dai Yiyi (resigned on 7 April 2023) I — A (R2023F4 A 7B BHTL) 0/0
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CULTURES AND VALUES

A healthy corporate culture across the Group is integral to attain its vision
and strategy. It is the Board's role to foster a corporate culture with the
following core principles and to ensure that the Company’s vision, values
and business strategies are aligned to it.

The Group strives to maintain high standards of business ethics and
corporate governance across all our activities and operations. The
Directors, management and staff are all required to act lawfully, ethically
and responsibly, and the required standards and norms are explicitly set
out in the Group's integrity code of conduct, the anti-corruption policy
and the whistleblowing policy of the Group. Appraisals are conducted
from time to time to reinforce the required standards in respect of ethics
and integrity.

The Group believes that the culture of commitment to workforce
development, workplace safety and health, diversity, and sustainability
is one where people have a feeling of commitment and emotional
engagement with the Group’s mission. This sets the tone for a strong,
productive workforce that attracts, develops, and retains the best talent
and produces the highest quality work. Moreover, the Company’s strategy
in the business development and management are to achieve long-term,
steady and sustainable growth, while having due considerations from
environment, social and governance aspects.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy with effect from 24 March
2014 and discussed all measurable objectives set for implementing the
policy. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board with a view to enhancing its effectiveness and achieving
a high standard of corporate governance. It endeavours to ensure that
the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s business. Selection of
candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
experience (professional or otherwise), talents, skills, knowledge, length
of service and other qualities of Directors. The ultimate decision of all
Board appointments should be based on meritocracy and the likely
contributions that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The
Nomination Committee has reviewed such board diversity policy in the
Year. During the Year, the Company’s existing composition of the Board as
well as its senior management team are highly diverse in age, educational
background and professional experience. Brief biographical details of the
Directors are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of the
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

X{LER{E
BENEEXECHERARENBER LRIEEH
EZ -EEgNREAEEAA MR LRAM
EEX - XEFRARBNES - EEERED
RESRPRERT -

AEBEBRNNERPIMBE LS MEBHRESR
ENBEERIAEXRER -EF EEERET
BANAE HRERKEREENTATE B
BERERRBNAKEE TRRTAER - K
SERESHREBREEK - NRABTRHETE
AF o AR B REEE MAIE T EN L RIRE -

AEERR BORBIHR ITESHR2H
BE  ZHEUENATHEENERUEENRET
HEBRBRELRRMBREE - ER/Wal - 55
BNBERESOAT  URESEENTIE -
BETEEMER o I RENKEERREE
BRESERRMBEMAFHENER - RSRE
RIE - MRS ENEBERE -

PaN
+
=
8

EFEESTILRE

EFEEE4FIAUBEEMNETSZ L
RUAN R ERZERAHECMENEEB
2o ARBRAREEEEEREZ LIRS
EETEWHTERRTEERZTE - ZBEMS
RERERFSHEDT B EZTENEBZ T E
EWMTE QAR RB 2 EBERK - FKEA
BEBERZITCRNEL - BEETERES -
Fik - MERHBEBEES KB (FHERHM) - &
B FREE - A REBREUREMERMEN
BE - EEEEZARMATBIURRFTIRE(RIR
AN REMEAESSHRNER - RRZ
BEERAFERTZEZTSSILIEE - RA
FE ARRBEESTEREULSREREER
BIEFl:  HEESEMIELRITEESEST
It - BEEENBEFBHNATHNEERS
BEBRERBFE] -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 F %}

95



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT ¥ &8 &

Pursuant to the amended Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules (effective from 1
January 2022), the Stock Exchange will not regard a single gender board
of directors as achieving member diversity. As at the date of this report,
the Board consists of one female Director and six male Directors, which is
in compliance with the requirement of appointing at least a director of a
different gender. The Board is of the opinion that Board diversity (including
gender diversity) has been achieved with reference to the current
circumstances of the Company, and the present structure of the Board can
ensure the independence and objectivity of the Board.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board ratified and adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”)
which sets out the principles and guidelines that the Company intends
to apply in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net
profits as dividends to the Shareholders of the Company on 27 December
2018. In accordance with the Articles of the Company and subject to
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, when considering the
declaration and payment of dividends, the Board will take into account,
among other things, the financial results, cash flow situation, business
conditions and strategies, future operations and earnings, capital
requirements and expenditure plans, interests of Shareholders, restrictions
on payment of dividends, and other factors that the Board may consider
relevant. The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash
or scrip or by other means that the Board considers appropriate. Any
unclaimed dividend shall be forfeited and shall revert to the Company in
accordance with the Articles. The Board will review the Dividend Policy as
appropriate from time to time.

CRITERIA FOR NOMINATION AND APPOINTMENT OF
DIRECTORS

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the following
criteria should be considered:

Character and integrity;

Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge
and experience and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity
Policy that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate
strateqgy;

Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the
Board;
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Requirement for the Board in accordance with the Listing Rules
and whether the candidate would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in
terms of qualifications, skills, experience, independence, gender and
cultural diversity;

Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as
a member of the Board and/or Board committee(s) of the Company;

Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and succession plan and where applicable, may be adopted
and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee
from time to time for nomination of directors and succession
planning.

NOMINATION PROCEDURES OF DIRECTORS

Appointment of New Directors

May select candidates for directorship from various channels,
including but not limited to internal promotion, re-designation,
referral by other member of the management and external
recruitment agents;

Upon receipt of the proposal on appointment of new director and
the biographical information (or relevant details) of the candidate,
evaluate such candidate based on the criteria as set out above to
determine whether such candidate is qualified for directorship;

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates, the
Nomination Committee and/or the Board should rank them by order
of preference based on the needs of the Company and reference
check of each candidate (where applicable).

Re-election of Directors

Should review the overall contribution and service to the
Company of the retiring Director and the level of participation and
performance on the Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties
including:

(@) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

(b) to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices in
relation to its compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;

(e) to develop, review and monitor the implementation of the
shareholders’ communication policy to ensure its effectiveness,
and to make recommendation to the Board where appropriate to
enhance shareholders’ relationship with the Company; and

(f)  toreview the Company’s compliance with Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules (the CG Code).

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
FINANCIAL REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group which were prepared
in accordance with statutory requirement and applicable accounting
standards. The Directors also ensure the publication of the financial
statements of the Group is in a timely manner.

The statement by the auditor of the Company regarding its reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is
set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this annual report.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group and for reviewing their effectiveness. The risk
management and internal control systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can
only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss. A defined management structure with specified
limits of authority and responsibilities is developed for safeguarding
assets against unauthorized use or disposition, the maintenance of proper
accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for
internal use or for publications and the compliance of applicable laws,
rules and regulations.

An internal audit department has been established to perform monthly
financial and operational reviews and recommend necessary actions to
the relevant management. The works carried out by the internal audit
department ensure risk management and internal control measures are in
place and function properly as intended.

The results of the internal audit and reviews are reported to the Audit
Committee and the Board at least once a year, who carried out annual
review on the internal control and risk management systems for the Year,
and they were satisfied with the effectiveness and the adequacy of such
systems of the Group during the Year.

The Group is committed to achieving the highest standards of integrity
and ethical behavior in conducting business. The anti-corruption policy
sets out the specific behavioural guidelines that the Group’s personnel
and customers, suppliers and business partners must follow to combat
corruption. It demonstrates the Group’s commitment to the practice of
ethical business conduct and the compliance of the anti-corruption laws
and regulations that apply to its local and foreign operations. In line with
this commitment and to ensure transparency in the Group'’s practices,
the anti-corruption policy has been prepared as a guide to all Group
employees and third parties dealing with the Group. The anti-corruption
policy is reviewed and updated periodically to align with the applicable
laws and regulations as well as the industry best practice.

The Board also adopted a whistleblowing policy to foster a culture of
compliance ethical behavior and good corporate governance across the
Group and promote the importance of ethical behaviour and encourages
the reporting of misconduct, unlawful and unethical behavior. The nature,
status and the results of the complaints received under the whistleblowing
policy are reported to the head of the risk management center of the
Group. No incident of fraud or misconduct that have material effect on the
Group's financial statements or overall operations for the year ended 31
December 2023 has been discovered.
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An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure potential inside
information being captured and confidentiality of such information
being maintained until consistent and timely disclosure is made in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The policy regulates the handling and
dissemination of inside information, which includes:

Designated reporting channels from different operations informing
any potential inside information to designated departments;

Designated persons and departments determining further disclosure
as required; and

Designated persons being authorised to act as spokespersons and
respond to external enquiries.

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management (other than Directors) by bands for
FY2023 is set out below:
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’' REMUNERATION

Reanda Lau & Au Yeung (HK) CPA Limited rendered its resignation as
the auditor of the Company with effect from 4 December 2023 and Elite
Partners has been appointed as the new auditor of the Company with
effect from 13 December 2023. For FY2023, the remuneration paid and
payable by the Group to the independent auditors in respect of audit and
non-audit services provided by them were as follows:
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RMB’000

AREEFIT

Audit services” ERZ ARG 1,800
Review services =R 750

Note:

(1) Including fees for audit of annual financial statements and review of interim
financial report.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Liang Lina is the company secretary of the Company.

Ms. Liang Lina (2 B ), aged 41, has been the Company Secretary and
the secretary of the Board since July 2020, and has been the Co-chief
financial officer of our Group since January 2022. Ms. Liang has extensive
experience in auditing, financial management, offshore financing,
investor relations, and corporate governance. Ms. Liang joined the Group
in November 2011, holding various positions including the deputy
director of financial department, the director of investor relationship
department and the general manager of the office of the Board. Ms.
Liang was deeply involved in many significant capital markets projects
of the Group, including the listing of the Group on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, offshore financing, merger and acquisition, business
cooperation, and was also responsible for corporate governance, investor
relations and company secretarial duties. Prior to joining the Group, Ms.
Liang worked in Ernst & Young and had more than 7 years’ experiences
in auditing. Ms. Liang holds a bachelor degree in Accounting from the
Central University of Finance and Economics, and a master degree in
Finance from Peking University. Ms. Liang is currently a member of each
of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, and the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants.

During the Year, Ms. Liang Lina has undertaken not less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP

The Company believes that effective communication with Shareholders
and other investment community is essential. The Company has developed
a shareholders’ communication policy. The policy aims to promote
effective communication with shareholders and other stakeholders,
encourage shareholders to engage actively with the Company, and enable
shareholders to exercise their rights as shareholders effectively. The Board
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the communication
policy for the Year, and was satisfied with the results. The Company
communicates with the Shareholders and/or potential investors mainly
in the following ways: (i) the holding of Shareholders’ meetings which
provide opportunities for the Shareholders to communicate directly with
the Board. The Directors and the chief financial officer/Company Secretary
of the Group will attend Shareholders’ meetings to answer the questions
raised by Shareholders; (ii) the publication of announcements, annual
reports, interim reports and/or circulars as required under the Listing
Rules and press releases providing updated information of the Group; (iii)
the availability of published documents together with the latest corporate
information and news of the Group on the Company’s website at
http://www.youngogroup.com/; (iv) the holding of briefings from time to
time; and (v) meeting with investors and analysts on a regular basis and
participating in investor road shows and sector conferences.

During the Year, the executive Directors, the chief financial officer and the
head of investor relations of the Group held regular briefings, attended
investor forums and participated in roadshows and conducted meetings
with institutional investors and financial analysts in China, Hong Kong
and overseas countries to keep them abreast of the Group’s business and
development. Investors can also communicate with the Company through
email at ir@youngogroup.com.

WORKFORCE DIVERSITY

The Group has put in place appropriate recruitment and selection
practices to achieve diversity at workforce level, including taking into
considerations a diverse range of candidates and factors such as the
capabilities, qualifications, duties and responsibilities and gender diversity
when recruiting staff members. During FY2023, the Board was not aware
of any constraints or circumstances which make achieving gender diversity
across the workforce (including senior management) more challenging or
less relevant. As at 31 December 2023, the gender ratio in the workforce
(including senior management) is 60.6% (male): 39.4% (female), and the
Group considers that the current circumstances of gender diversity are
satisfactory. For further details of gender ratio together with the relevant
data, please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report of
this Report.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting

Besides the request of the Board, the extraordinary general meeting shall
also be convened through the following measures:

(@) on the written requisition of any two or more Shareholders who hold
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company, on
a one vote per share basis in the share capital of the Company (and
the foregoing Shareholders shall be able to add resolutions to the
meeting agenda), as at the date of deposit of the requisition of the
Company deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such principal
office, the registered office, specifying the objects of the meeting
and signed by such Shareholders; or

(b) on the written requisition of any one Shareholder of the Company
which is a recognized clearing house (or its nominee(s)) who holds
not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which
carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company as at
the date of deposit deposited at the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a
principal office, the registered office, specifying the objects of the
meeting and signed by the Shareholder.

Putting Forward Proposals

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a general
meeting in accordance with the applicable laws and the Articles. If a
Shareholder, who is entitled to attend and vote at the relevant general
meeting, wishes to nominate a person (not being the nominating
shareholder) to stand for election as a Director, he or she should give to
the secretary of the Company notice in writing of the intention to propose
a person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person
stating his or her willingness to be so elected, commencing no earlier than
the day after the dispatch of the notice of the relevant general meeting
and ending no later than seven days prior to the date of such general
meeting.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the procedures
are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders who intend to put forward their enquiries about the
Company to the Board could send their enquiries to the headquarters of
the Company in Shenzhen at Level 32, Block A, Hong Long Century Plaza,
Luohu District, Shenzhen, the PRC (email address: ir@youngogroup.com).
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Luo Jieping (#& 7 ), aged 42, has been appointed as an executive
Director and Chairman of the Company since July 2023. Mr. Luo graduated
from Zhongnan University of Economics and Law with a Bachelor’s degree
in Economics in June 2003, and obtained his Master of Laws degree from
Wuhan University in June 2011. Mr. Luo joined the Communist Party of
China in December 2000. Mr. Luo has been the vice general manager
and the party member of Shenzhen Smart City Technology Development
Group Co., Ltd. (RIINTTE B3k R 2 R & B AR A R) since May 2021.
Mr. Luo served as the director of the Office of Shenzhen Finance Bureau
(Comprehensive Approval Department) from July 2019 to May 2021, and
as the director of Shenzhen Finance Bureau Treasury Payment Center
from November 2018 to July 2019. Mr. Luo had been the director of the
Electronic Tax Management Center of Shenzhen Local Taxation Bureau
from February 2018 to November 2018, and served as the deputy director
of the Electronic Tax Management Center of Shenzhen Local Taxation
Bureau from July 2015 to February 2018. Mr. Luo successively served as a
staff member, deputy chief staff member and chief staff member of the
Office of Shenzhen Local Taxation Bureau from September 2005 to July
2015, and served as a staff member of the Comprehensive Department of
Shenzhen Finance Bureau and a staff member of the Office of Shenzhen
Finance Bureau from July 2003 to September 2005.

Mr. Luo is the son-in-law of Mr. Zeng Yunshu. Mr. Zeng Yunshu is a non-
executive Director and the controlling shareholder of the Company. For
Mr. Zeng's biographical details, please refer to “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management - Non-executive Directors” in this
annual report.
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Mr. Wong Choi Hing ( £ B H# ), aged 71, had been appointed as our
Chairman and executive Director since October 2019 of the Company.
Since January 2022, Mr. Wong Choi Hing had been re-designated as non-
executive Director. Since 27 June 2022, Mr. Wang has been re-designated
as an executive Director and a Co-Chairman of the Board. He is the founder
of our Group. He has over 20 years’ experience in the development and
operation of large-scale trade and logistics centres and is one of the
core leader of the industry, participating in the formulation of industry
standards and industry self-regulations. From October 2010 to August
2014, Mr. Wong was Chairman of the Board, executive director and CEO
of the Group, chaired and witnessed the important stage of the Group’s
listing in Hong Kong. Mr. Wong has received a number of social honours,
including being member of the 11th and 12th Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (“CPPCC”) National Committee, vice-president
of the 3rd and 4th China Society for Promotion of the Guangcai Program,
Standing Member of the 10th and 11th executive committee of All-China
Federation of Industry and Commerce, founding president of Hong Kong
China Chamber of Commerce, Chairman of Friendship Federation of Hong
Kong Jiangxi Community Organisations, permanent honorary president
of Federation of Hong Kong Shenzhen Association, honorary president
of Federation of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Community Organizations,
honorary president of Federation of Hong Kong Guangdong Community
Organisations, honorary president of Chaozhou and Shantou Chamber
of Commerce in Shenzhen, vice-chairman of Shenzhen Harmony Club,
executive president of the General Association of Jiangxi Entrepreneurs,
among others.

Mr. Wong Choi Hing is the father of Mr. Wong Kim, the beneficial owner
of Eminent Ascend, which owns 7.33% of issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 December 2023.
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Mr. Cai Hongwen ( #8 8 X ), aged 60, had been appointed as our
Co-Chairman, executive Director and CEO since October 2019. He resigned
as CEO of the Group in June 2020 and resigned as Co-Chairman of the
Board in January 2022. He was appointed as the Co-Chairman of the Board
on 27 June 2022. He is a construction engineer and an architect. Mr. Cai
has been engaged in business operations for more than 20 years, during
which he has successfully established Guangdong Hongyi Group and
China Hakka Park which is the first cultural tourism industry park project
in China and which the project was selected as the "Guangdong Province
New Urbanization 2511 Beautiful Town Pilot Project”, and won the "2017
Third China Outstanding Contribution Award in the Tourism Industry”,
that is, the "Pegasus Award”, and he has also engaged in many tourism
real estate projects across the country. Mr. Cai was a member of the 11th
and 12th Guangdong Provincial People’s Congress, member of the 4th,
5th and 6th Meizhou Municipal People’s Congress, Standing Committee
Member of the 5th, 6th and 7th Meizhou Municipal People’s Congress,
vice-chairman of Meizhou Federation of Industry and Commerce, and
chairman of Meijing District Federation of Industry and Commerce. He
currently holds positions at a number of organisations and associations,
including executive vice-president of Guangdong Hakka Chamber of
Commerce, mentor of the Top 10,000 National Outstanding Mentors
for Innovative Entrepreneurship, visiting professor and member of
the governing board of Jiaying Academy in Meizhou of Guangdong
Province, and vice president of the Quanjinglian and director of Feature
Towns Committee, honorary president of Guangdong Province Wuhua
Chamber of Commerce, Vice President of Guangdong Real Estate
Industry Association, honorary president of Meizhou Real Estate Industry
Association, president of Meizhou Wuhua Chamber of Commerce. Mr.
Cai has received numerous honours, such as the “Guangdong May 1st
Labour Certificate Award”, “Meizhou Outstanding Private Entrepreneur”,
Meizhou’s Third “Ten Outstanding Youth”, “Meizhou Entrepreneurship
Star” and “Glorious Career Medal”. Mr. Cai is enthusiastic about social
welfare, education, medical care and rural revitalization. He has made
donations amounted to more than RMB500 million.
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Mr. He Fei (i1 7’ ), aged 52. Mr. He has been appointed as an executive
Director and CEO of the Company since June 2022. During the period
from May 2020 to April 2021, Mr. He served as a director and the chief
executive officer of Myhome Real Estate Development Group Co., Ltd.
(a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (the “SZSE"), stock
code: 000667. SZ) (the “Myhome Real Estate”). He had been the co-chief
executive officer of the Myhome Real Estate from November 2019 to May
2020. During the period from January 2018 to November 2019, Mr. He
served as a vice-president and regional general manager of Shenzhen
in CIFl Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd. (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 0884.HK). During the period from April
2004 to December 2017, Mr. He had worked at China Merchants Shekou
Industrial Zone Holdings Co., Ltd. (a company listed on the SZSE, stock
code: 001979.5Z) (the “Merchants Shekou”), and had successively served
as the general manager of Foshan Merchants Real Estate Co., Ltd. and
Guangzhou Merchants Real Estate Co., Ltd., a deputy general manager of
Guangzhou management headquarter of Merchants Shekou, assistant to
the general manager, the general manager of the operation management
centre and a deputy general manager of the Merchants Shekou. Mr.
He had served as a deputy director and project manager of Shenzhen
No. 1 Construction Engineering Company from July 1993 to April 2004.
Mr. He obtained a Master degree of Engineering Management from the
Southeast University in 2004.

Ms. Wei Haiyan ( B8 /& #& ), aged 48. Ms. Wei has been appointed as an
executive Director of the Company since June 2022. Ms. Wei has been
the chairman of the board of the Ruixin Haide Group Co,. Ltd. from
December 2010 to June 2022. She is involved in the overall planning and
development strategy decisions and is responsible for the management
of investment, administration and human resources. Ms. Wei has been
the vice president of Suncity Group Holdings Limited (previously known
as Hong Long Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1383.HK) from September 2000 to
February 2011, and has extensive experience in internal management of
corporations. Ms. Wei graduated from the Graduate School of Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences in 1998. She completed the advanced seminar
on information management at Tsinghua University in 2006 and was
awarded as an information analyst. Ms. Wei was appointed as a member
of the fifth and sixth Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference,
Meizhou, Guangdong Province.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zeng Yunshu ( % 2 #4& ), aged 71, had been appointed as our
Co-Chairman and executive Director of the Company since October
2019 and resigned as Co-Chairman of the Board in January 2022. Since
27 June 2022, Mr. Zeng has been appointed as the Chairman, and
resigned as executive Director and Chairman and re-designated as a non-
executive director on 20 July 2023. He has been engaged in business
operations for over 20 years and is a senior economist. He has successfully
established a number of enterprises with proven experience in property
development and management. Mr. Zeng was the chairman of the
board of directors from January 2007 to November 2011 and executive
director from January 2007 to June 2012 of Hong Long Holdings Limited
(now known as Suncity Group Holdings Limited) (stock code: 1383.HK).
Mr. Zeng worked at Shenzhen Petrochemical Industry (Group) Co. Ltd.
and domestically associated enterprise in Shenzhen in 1991. From 1981
to 1990, Mr. Zeng served at various departments of the Xingning and
Meizhou municipal governments. Mr. Zeng was the Standing Committee
Member of the Meizhou CPPCC, and currently holds positions at a number
of organisations and associations, including vice president of Shenzhen
Charity Federation, honorary president of Guangdong Hakka Chamber
of Commerce, permanent honorary president of Shenzhen Ningjiang
Cultural Promotion Association and permanent honorary president of
Shenzhen Hongli Charitable Foundation. Mr. Zeng has received numerous
honors, such as “Yiju Top 30 Real Estate Pioneers of Shenzhen” and “Gold
Award for Personal Charitable Donations in Pengcheng”.

Mr. Zeng is a director of each of RXHD Holdings and China Greater Bay
Area Holdings. Mr. Zeng is also the father-in-law of Mr. Luo Jieping, who
is an executive Director and Chairman of the Company. For Mr. Luo’s
biographical details, please refer to “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management — Executive Directors” in this annual report.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Guan Huanfei (B8’ JE), aged 66. Mr. Guan has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company since June 2022.
Mr. Guan obtained a Doctor degree in Economics in 2000 from Wuhan
University and was a postdoctoral researcher in Theoretical Economics
with Fudan University from 2000 to 2002. Mr. Guan has been a part-time
researcher of the Insurance Research Centre of Fudan University since
2004. He has been appointed as a part-time lecturer of professional degree
of Fudan University since 2013. Mr. Guan has been appointed as a visiting
professor of Jilin University of Finance and Economics since August 2019.
He has been appointed as the off-campus tutor for master students of the
University of International Business and Economics since September 2022.
Mr. Guan has been an economic and technical consultant of People’s
Government of Jilin Province for years. Mr. Guan has extensive experience
in finance and insurance industry in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic
of China. He held various senior managerial positions in the People’s
Insurance Company of China (Jilin Branch), the business department of
Hong Kong and Macao Regional Office of China Insurance Group, China
Taiping Insurance (HK) Company Limited and China Pacific Insurance
Co., (H.K.)) Limited. He also held offices at the Bank of Communications,
including the deputy chairman of the risk asset management committee,
the deputy chairman of credit asset management committee, the
chairman of loan verification committee, the deputy general manager
of the Bank of Communications Hong Kong Branch, a director of Bank of
Communications Trustee Limited, the chairman and chief executive of
China BOCOM Insurance Company Limited and an executive director and
general manager of BoCommlLife Insurance Company Limited.

Mr. Guan is currently an independent non-executive director of each of
China Nonferrous Mining Corporation Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1258.HK), Shandong Hi-
Speed Holdings Group Limited (previously known as China Shandong
Hi-Speed Financial Group Limited, a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 412.HK), Huarong International
Financial Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 993.HK), Sunwah Kingsway Capital Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 188.HK), and Shanghai Zendai Property Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 755.HK).
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During the period from December 2017 to June 2018, Mr. Guan served as
a non-executive director of Ping An Securities Group (Holdings) Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
231.HK). Mr. Guan had been the chairman emeritus of Culturecom
Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 343.HK) and the chairman of the board of directors
of UCAN.COM Group Limited, a subsidiary of Culturecom Holdings
Limited from July 2013 to March 2016. Mr. Guan was an independent non-
executive director of Solis Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2227.HK) from August 2019
to September 2020. Mr. Guan was also an independent non-executive
director of China Wood International Holding Co., Limited (formerly
known as HongDa Financial Holding Limited) (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1822.HK) during the period
from June 2018 to May 2020. Mr. Guan was an executive director and
chairman of the board of directors of Enterprise Development Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 1808.HK) from June 2020 to May 2021.
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Mr. Han Qinchun (¥ & &), aged 66. Mr. Han has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director of the Company since June 2022.
Mr. Han has extensive experience in investment, financial management
and management of listed companies. Mr. Han has been appointed as
an independent non-executive director of Country Garden Holdings
Company Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 2007.HK) since March 2024. He has been an
independent non-executive director of Sunfonda Group Holdings Limited
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code:
01771.HK) since 18 May 2023. He has been an independent non-executive
director of Xinda Investment Holdings Limited (previously known as
LongiTech Smart Energy Holding Limited, a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1281.HK) since April 2015. Mr.
Han has been appointed as the founder and chairman of a Hong Kong
fintech company - Hong Kong Private Markets Limited since November
2014. Mr Han was an independent non- executive director of Lingbao
Gold Group Company Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange, stock code: 3330.HK) from March 2012 to July 2021.
In addition to the performance of his supervisory responsibilities as an
independent non-executive director, Mr. Han uses his own experience,
knowledge and resources to provide financial management related advice
and support to the listed companies’ development strategy, particularly in
the area of capital market operation. Mr. Han was appointed as a director
and distinguished professor of the Real Estate Centre at Peking University
HSBC Business School from 2011 to 2015. He was a chief executive
director of Straits Development Holding Company Limited since August
2012 to November 2014, where he was responsible for the company’s
development strategy, capital market operation, financial management
and investment and financing management. He was appointed as vice-
chairman and co-chief executive director of Suncity Group Holdings
Limited (previously known as Hong Long Holdings Limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1383.HK) since
March 2006 to February 2010. From 2000 to 2006, Mr. Han served as a
supervisor at a number of leading Hong Kong investment banks, including
Shun Hing China Investment Limited (Hong Kong), BOCI Securities Limited
(Hong Kong), China Everbright Securities International (HK) Limited and
ABC International Holdings Limited (Hong Kong) before moving on to real
estate company to take on leadership position, where he has accumulated
extensive cross-border experience, resources and perspectives. Mr. Han
worked as a planner for the government agencies of the Ministry of
Chemical Industry and the Ministry of Forestry of the People’s Republic of
China in Beijing from 1982 to 1993.

Mr. Han obtained a Bachelor degree in Planning in 1982 from Xi'an
University of Architecture and Technology and a Master of Science in
Real Estate in 1995 from The University of Hong Kong, and then obtained
a doctor degree in Real Estate Economics and Management from The
University of Hong Kong in 1998.
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Mr. Chen Yangsheng (BR5 7t), aged 60. Mr. Chen has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director of the Company since July 2023.
He has more than 40 years of experience in financial management and
extensive experience in business management and real estate market in
China. Mr. Chen has been a non-independent director of the Shenzhen
Urban Transport Planning Center Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are listed
on the ChiNext of Shenzhen Stock Exchange (the “SZSE"), stock code:
301091.SZ) from December 2022 to July 2023. He was a director, the
chief financial officer and a member of the Committee of the Communist
Party of China of Shenzhen Smart City Technology Development Group
Co., Ltd. from June 2021 to May 2023. From January 2017 to June 2021,
Mr. Chen had held positions as a director, chief financial officer and a
member of the Committee of the Communist Party of China of Shenzhen
Tefa Group Co., Ltd.. He was a supervisor of Shenzhen Tefa Land Property
Co., Ltd. from March 2018 to March 2022 and Shenzhen Tellus Holding
Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of SZSE, stock
code: 000025.5Z) from May 2017 to September 2021. Mr. Chen was a
supervisor of Shenzhen Tagen Group Co., Ltd. (the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of SZSE, stock code: 000090.SZ) from May 2006
to November 2017. From April 2011 to April 2017, he was a director and
the chief financial officer of Shenzhen Agricultural Power Group Co., Ltd.
(formerly known as Shenzhen Agricultural Power Co., Ltd., the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of SZSE, stock code: 000061.5Z). From
March 2005 to January 2011, he was a director and chief financial officer
of Shenzhen State-owned Duty Free Commodity (Group) Co., Ltd.. From
March 2008 to March 2009, he was the chief financial officer of Shenzhen
Nongke Group Co. Ltd (formerly known as Shenzhen Nongke Group
Company). From July 2000 to March 2005, he was the chief financial
officer of the Shenzhen Aokangde Group Co., Ltd. (formerly known as
Shenzhen Aokangde Group Ltd. and Shenzhen Aokangde Petroleum
Trading Group Company). From February 1988 to July 2000, Mr. Chen
worked in the Finance Department of the Shenzhen Industrial Products
Group Company, with his last position being the head of the department.
He worked as an accounting clerk in the Finance and Accounting Office of
Shenzhen Commercial General Company from August 1982 to February
1988. Mr. Chen obtained a master degree in Economics from Party School
of the Guangdong Provincial Committee of the Communist Party of China
in September 2001 and a college degree in Economic Management from
Guangdong Radio and TV University (now known as Guangdong Open
University) in July 1987. Mr. Chen obtained the qualification of Senior
Accountant from the Department of Personnel of Guangdong Province
(now known as Human Resources and Social Security Department of
Guangdong Province) in December 2002.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. He Fei (fi1 ), aged 52, has been appointed as an executive Director
and CEO of the Company since June 2022. For Mr. He Fei’s biographical
details, please refer to “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management — Executive Directors” in this annual report.

Mr. Mao Jun (E #), aged 51, has been appointed as a vice president of
the Group since March 2020, and is primarily responsible for the Group’s
investment development, and city and industry integration business.
Mr. Mao is an industrial and civil construction engineer, a real estate
intermediate economist, and has a qualification of a registered first grade
architect. Mr. Mao received an Executive MBA degree from Cheung Kong
Graduate School of Business, a bachelor’s degree in industrial and civil
construction from Wuhan Industrial University (now Wuhan University of
Technology). Mr. Mao has over 20 years of working experience in real estate
companies. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Mao was the managing director
in Shenzhen Shenghui United Development Management Co., Ltd. from
August 2016 to March 2020, fully responsible for the company’s operations
and management. Mr. Mao was also the chief engineer and vice president,
as well as the general manager in a regional company of Guangdong
Hongyi Group Limited from August 2010 to August 2016, responsible for
overall development and management of the projects of the regional
company. From August 2009 to May 2010, Mr. Mao served as the deputy
general manager of Shenzhen Minghao Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.
and the general manager of its Hunan company, fully responsible for the
expansion and the development of Hunan company. From August 2005
to July 2009, Mr. Mao served as the deputy general manager of Huasheng
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd of Shenzhen Huasheng Holding Co.,
Ltd, responsible for the management of the business segments of design,
engineering, cost, tendering and procurement. Prior to that, Mr. Mao had
worked for China CITIC Group (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd., Shenzhen Baohua
Investment Co., Ltd., Shenzhen Xingtong Real Estate Development Co.,
Ltd. and Wuhan Steel Design & Research Institute Shenzhen Yard.
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Mr. Chen Liangman ( PR R & ), aged 56, has been appointed as a Vice
President of the Group since September 2023, and is primarily responsible
for the marketing management of the Group. Mr. Chen is a chemical
engineer and a real estate intermediate economist. Mr. Chen graduated
from Jiangsu School of Chemical Engineering (known as Changzhou
University at present) with a bachelor’s degree in Polymer Materials. Mr.
Chen has over 20 years of working experience in real estate companies.
Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen was the Vice President in Junsheng
Holding Group Co., Limited from January 2016 to August 2023, fully
responsible for the company’s marketing, cost and procurement, asset
operation and commercial management. Mr. Chen was also the Regional
General Manager and Vice President of Ruixinhaide Holdings Limited
from January 2012 to December 2015, responsible for the overall design,
construction management, cost and procurement, marketing, and
property management of the projects in Shenzhen. While Mr. Chen was
working in Ruixinhaide Holdings Limited, he also received the award
“Influential Person of Shenzhen Real Estate Industry 2014”. Mr. Chen has
extensive operation experience in real estate development, and he is
extremely familiar with the process of application, planning and design,
construction management, marketing, and commercial and property
management of a real estate project. From March 2002 to December 2011,
Mr. Chen served as Marketing Director of Hong Long Property Group
Company Limited, responsible marketing planning and commercial
operation. Prior to that, Mr. Chen had worked for Zhonglian Real Estate
and the petrochemical of China Petrochemical Corporation (SINOPEC) in
Anqing.

Mr. Wu Bo (2 J% ), aged 43, has been appointed as the vice president of
the Group since February 2024, and is fully responsible for the human
resources and legal management of the Group. Mr. Wu has extensive
experience in mergers and acquisitions in the real estate industry and
legal practice. Mr. Wu joined the Group in September 2019 and prior to
joining the Group, for the period from November 2003 to September 2019,
Mr. Wu successively worked for several real estate companies including
Shenzhen Nanhai Yitian Property Co., Ltd., Honglong Holdings Limited
(1383.HK) and Ruixinhaide Group Co., Ltd., where he was responsible for
legal affairs, human resources and administration. From November 2003
to July 2007, Mr. Wu also worked as a judge’s assistant in the People’s
Court of Nanshan District, Shenzhen, where he accumulated extensive
experience in legal practice. Mr. Wu graduated from Huazhong University
of Science and Technology with a bachelor’s degree in law in July 2003.
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Mr. Huang Zhichen (B4 EE), aged 35, has been appointed as the CFO of
the Group since February 2024, and is responsible for the overall financial
management and financing matters of the Group. Mr. Huang has over
13 years of working experiences in real estate industry and has extensive
experiences in financial management, financing and investment. Mr.
Huang joined the Group in May 2020, and served as the general manager
of the financial management center of the Group, mainly responsible for
the financial management of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, for the
period from September 2010 to March 2020, Mr. Huang worked at Pearl
River Investment Co., Ltd. and successively served as the assistant general
manager, the executive deputy general manager of Dongguan Urban
District, the general manager of the investment and development center
and the general manager of the financial management center. Mr. Huang
graduated from Tsinghua University in July 2010 with a bachelor’s degree
in accounting from the School of Economics and Management.
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elite
=~ partners

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Guangdong -
Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Guangdong -
Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 126 to 278, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023,
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement
for the year then ended and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December
2023 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"). Our responsibilities under those standards
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 1(b)(i) to the consolidated financial statements
which states that, the Group incurred a loss of RMB1,205,615,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2023 and, as of that date, the Group had net
current assets of RMB4,581,847,000, and the Group's current portion of
bank loans and other borrowings amounted to RMB1,760,095,000 and
senior notes due in 2023 (“October 2023 Senior Notes”) amounted to
RMB111,914,000 while its cash and cash equivalents and bank balance
of advanced proceed received from property purchasers amounted to
RMB25,956,000 and RMB314,547,000, respectively. Moreover, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, certain holders of October
2023 Senior Notes were, for their own reason, not practical to tender for
exchange and accept the exchange offer launched by the Company on 17
April 2023 (the “Exchange Offer”) and the Group was not practical to repay
the principal and interest on October 2023 Senior Notes of approximately
US$15,801,000 and US$3,283,000 (equivalent to RMB111,914,000 and
RMB23,253,000), respectively, as such holders of October 2023 Senior
Notes cannot be effectively communicated. As at 31 December 2023
and up to the date of this report, the Group is not practical to effectively
communicate with such holders of October 2023 Senior Notes to
negotiate for settlement or repayment, and no redemption notice
received in respect of the October 2023 Senior Notes. Such non-payment
of the principal and interest on October 2023 Senior Notes may cause
an event of default, and may lead to demand for immediate repayment.
In addition, as at 31 December 2023, two loan payables to third party
of an aggregated amount of RMB63,000,000 were overdue (“Overdue
Payables”), and the overdue of these loan payables entitled the lenders
a right to demand immediate repayment. Besides, subsequent to the
end of the reporting period, the Group has applied or started substantial
negotiation with banks on extension or renewal of the remaining bank
borrowings of approximately RMB1,647.5 million, which originally due
within 12 months from end of the reporting period. Further, in view of the
current condition of the property market, coupled with the limited source
of financing from the capital market, the Group may take longer time than
expected to realise cash from the sale of its inventories and/or have the
cash from external financing to meet its loan repayment obligations. These
conditions indicate the existence of a material uncertainty which may cast
significant doubt about the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
Therefore, the Group may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its
liabilities in the normal course of business. Notwithstanding the aforesaid
conditions, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a going concern basis on the assumption that the Group is able to
operate as a going concern for the foreseeable future. The directors of the
Company have been undertaking various measures and arrangements to
improve the Group'’s liquidity and financial position as set out in note 1(b)
(i) to the consolidated financial statements. Our opinion is not modified in
respect of this matter.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in
the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described
in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have
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determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be

communicated in our report.

Assessing the net realisable value of inventories

AHMEEEN TR FE

BRHE RIS IRAN 16 R 1(n)B) 25T E °

Refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on note 1(n).

The key audit matter
HRBEEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN ELRIOAEERRETEE

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate carrying value of the
Group’s leasehold land held for future development, properties
under development and completed properties held for sale
(together “inventories”) totalled RMB11,694,419,000. These
principally comprise wholesale trading market units and other
commercial and residential units in Dongguan, Mianyang,
Xingning, Ganzhou, Lanzhou, Jining and Yantai.
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Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. The calculation of the net realisable value for each
property development project at the financial reporting date is
performed by the management.
FEAKAREAI SR FENRIEESIE - ZEMEFREERE
REBRERE B R FEHREERETE -

Our audit procedures to assess the net realisable value of
inventories included the following:

BAFHEF R A 2R FERRABZIEF 21

. assessing the design, implementation and operating
effectiveness of key internal controls over the preparation
and monitoring of management budgets and forecasts
of construction and other costs for each property
development project;
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. conducting site visits to property development sites, on
a sample basis, and discussing with management the
progress of each property development project and the
development budgets reflected in the latest forecasts for
each property development project;
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. evaluating the valuation methodologies and challenging
the key estimates and assumptions adopted in the
valuations, including expected future selling prices,
by comparing expected future selling prices to, where
available, recently transacted prices for similar properties
and the prices of comparable properties located in the
nearby vicinity of each development;
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Assessing the net realisable value of inventories

AHEEEN TR FE

Refer to note 16 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on note 1(n).

BRRE AT IRA MG 16 RITET 1(n)BIE 5T

The key audit matter
HRBENEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RARBERE N EEFERETSH

The calculation of the net realisable value of inventories
involves significant management judgement and estimation
in preparing the updated estimations of the costs to complete
each property development project for leasehold land held
for future development and properties under development as
well as in assessing the expected future selling prices for each
property development project (with reference to recent sales
transactions in nearby locations and the rates of new property
sales) and the estimated future selling costs (including price
discounts which may be required to stimulate sales).
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We identified assessing the net realisable value of inventories
of the Group as a key audit matter because of the inherent
significant judgements and estimations made by the
management involved in estimating net realisable values,
particularly in light of the current economic circumstances
and various property market measures implemented by local
governments in various cities across Mainland China.
HAEE AT RFES RBEANEIREHE R - FRIRER
By P (B Pt 35 1B 8K T AR AAO B B  BURTHEF T O B TR AE T
Hit - MBMIEETE EXEEFENAERFEBEMARESE
ZEIR o

. for properties under development, discussing with
management, on a sample basis, the development
progress and challenging management’s development
budgets with reference to signed construction contracts
and/or unit construction costs of recently completed
projects developed by the Group;

- HRERYE HEERENWSMNEREER UK

EHEMERE - 2EAKERIOTHKIAR R E
LENR/FEMBERES  BERENERAENR
F#

. assessing the sensitivity analyses prepared by
management to determine the extent of changes in key
estimates and assumptions that, either individually or
collectively, adopted in assessing net realisable value,
may result in material misstatements in inventories and
considering the likelihood of such a movement in those
key estimates and assumptions arising and the potential
for management bias in their selection.

- AMEEEEETHRESNT - UHEE X ZEFEEH

FERLEBAEBNESREE YEEXFEZ MG
REHRLREBOREEMEE FHRERRBERNE
o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT & M & H BTk &

Valuation of investment properties

BREWMENGE

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on note 1(i).

BRHE GBS IRZI 11 R 10)89 271 B °

The key audit matter
HRBENEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RARBERE N EEFERETSH

As at 31 December 2023, the Group held a portfolio of
investment properties located in Jiangxi, Guangxi, Shandong
and Guangdong provinces in Mainland China with an
aggregate fair value of RMB1,660,100,000 which accounted
for 9% of the Group's total assets at that date. The investment
properties principally comprise commercial trade logistics
centers.

202351284310 © EXEEFHALNFTEAMIAE -

B LRMERNREMELASG  BERARE
1,660,100,0007C * 1 EEEEEAENI% - REMETE
BEBEYRD L

The net fair value loss of investment properties recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss represented 35% of the
Group's loss before taxation for the year ended 31 December
2023.
REMERRTASESHRENEAABEREER
& =2023F12 431 B IEFE 2 RTATEE 2 35% °

%

Our audit procedures to assess the valuation of investment
properties included the following:

B FHEREMENEERROBZEF 21

. obtaining and inspecting the valuation reports
prepared by the external property valuers engaged by
management and on which the directors’ assessment of
the fair values of investment properties was based;

- DSTkEhERBZREMISMEGEMAREE
EREFHREMEN R EELFTHHEENGE

WE

. assessing the external property valuers’ qualifications,
experience and expertise in the properties being valued
and considering their objectivity and independence;

. AHMEINEEMEMGEMEAGEDENERE  KRUE
FME - WEREFHMENE I
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT & M ¥ BlET iR &

Valuation of investment properties

BREWMENGE

Refer to note 11 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies on note 1(i).

BRHE GBS IRZI 11 R 10)89 271 B °

The key audit matter
HRBENEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

RARBERE N EEFERETSH

The fair values of the investment properties as at 31 December
2023 were assessed by the directors based on independent
valuations prepared by a firm of qualified external property
valuers. The determination of these fair values involves
significant judgement and estimation, particularly in relation
to selecting the appropriate valuation methodology,
capitalisation rates, market rents and average market price of
the comparable properties.
BREMEN202BF12ANBNRABERESFER —HEE
TRONER Y AL E R AR BB A E ML - BZEAAER
HEE P R ERHE R - FRIEEREENMERE &
et - AR BMENTSES R FETERR

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a
key audit matter because of the valuations of investment
properties, involved significant judgements and estimations
made by the management.

BB L REMENEEERBREZEE - AARMFR
BYENMES RERNEERE B -

discussing with the external property valuers their
valuation methodology and the key estimates and
assumptions adopted in their valuations;

BRHNER ) 3 ik B BT & SR A P B0 (i (B 75 VR A R il (B 5%
ME B ARE

challenging the key estimates and assumptions (including
yield rates, prevailing market rents and comparable
market transactions) adopted in the valuations, on a
sample basis, by comparison with available market data;
and

WBEBEMSHBEETLE  ERAETRANE
ZfFTMEBRR(BEERMMELLE - RITTIHHES AL
BRHi5RS) &

comparing tenancy information, including committed
rents and occupancy rates, provided by the Group to the
external property valuers with underlying contracts and
related documentation, on a sample basis.
BRMEOTN  SEEER  EEAROHESMA
TR0 SREREGINIMEGERMOELRSR
ANAERE ST ETTHILL, -
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statement of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 were audited by another auditor who express an
unqualified opinion on those statements on 28 April 2023.

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S REPORT
THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report,
other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Htt =15

AREBHZE2022F12 A3 BHNAHTESREXES
—(IAZERENERET - ZAZ BEN 202304 A28 B ¥ 3%
SUBHEBRTEREER -

SHBERRREXBEMRELINE
l%

EEFHEMESRE - HEEERBETEHRNE
BANZEES - ETEREE HUBHRER LERM
M2 AR o

BREAHMBERENERL NRERMES
BT T HZFEMESRRERATANERS

A
liii e

BABRMEAHBBHRENEZ  LPWEEIRE
FIEEMES  HlL@iREd  ZEEMEERE
HA MM MR IR M EFZBIET AT RS
MEHEERABREUT FEERERBAAE
Mo

ERBRMERTHIIE  REMRBREMBER
FEERFERRL  BMAFTEREXEFE - £&
S BVRE EARE -

EENaHMBERRARIBHRE
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

BB S M R RRENRE

ZAWBEER  RYAHMBRREBES N FE
EEﬁé,ﬁké‘ﬁﬁﬁaE%ﬁﬁ%éﬁﬁ@éﬁﬁa%ﬂ%ﬂﬁ%%é}ﬁ
RE - WHABREMEROZBENRS - M
ERBEERRBE o BULASN  BARHRE A
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IMREEEHEMEFRELLERATERZER G
B 7% R 3% {2 R 2 IR AR B TS 3R AR P AE VAR EDOR
E o BIBRRERBR ARG EE K -
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. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

- HEERABELLSTEMNREEEL
W o RIBPIERMELERE  BEIEEHF
EREZENBEREEOENNEEN - #M
ATREEHY BEEEMBELERNELE
REEE - MRERAIR/TFEEANEEME -
AEBEERBMREPRECAE LIRS
a%&&%@mm@&% REBBHEKE
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

Elite Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

MAK, Kin Wang

Practising Certificate Number: P08114

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT ORLOSS & ffiE# &

for the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBHITR)

2023 2022
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000
BfaE ARET ARETTT
Revenue A 3 3,530,521 3,168,080
Cost of sales BHER A (3,509,365) (3,214,054)
Gross profit/(loss) ER(18) 21,156 (45,974)
Other net gain/(loss) HitH s,/ (385%) 4 208,923 (56,202)
Selling and distribution costs SHE M5 SHA A (115,769) (180,597)
Administrative expenses THAX (161,935) (282,901)
Impairment loss on financial assets measured at RHERAGTENEREE
amortised cost FBEEE 5(c) (292,436) (138,804)
Impairment loss on assets of disposal group HERFSHREERBERE
classified as held for sale 5(c) - (112,478)
Impairment loss on interests in joint ventures RE &b FE R EEE 5(c) = (88,759)
Loss from operations before fair value loss on BEWMEDNAEEER
investment properties BEER (340,061) (905,715)
Fair value loss on investment properties WEMEIEEE 11 (419,200) (677,364)
Loss from operation after fair value loss on BREYENREFER
investment properties REEIR (759,261) (1,583,079)
Share of losses of joint ventures MEEEDEBE 13(a) 8,247 (273)
Share of losses of an associate DB E D EBE 13(b) (1,832) (525)
Finance income BITEURA 5(a) 19,328 67,511
Finance costs BB AR 5(a) (293,190) (400,252)
Loss before taxation BREiATEE 5 (1,026,708) (1,916,618)
Income tax (expense)/credit Frig®t 6(a) (178,907) 187,591
Loss for the year FREE (1,205,615) (1,729,027)
Attributable to: LT &AL :
Equity shareholders of the Company RAREEHR (1,214,747) (1,571,832)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR R AR 9,132 (157,195)
Loss for the year FREE (1,205,615) (1,729,027)
Loss per share BREE
Basic and diluted (RMB cents) EARFEE(ARED) 9 (267.7) (346.4)

The notes on pages 134 to 278 form part of these financial statements.

N

4 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME St ERE R Ett 2 HIMA K

for the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBHR)

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETTT

Loss for the year FRER (1,205,615) (1,729,027)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year FRAEMZEBA(RREREHN

(after tax and reclassification adjustments) DEAEE)
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to HigrgeEoEEBnmIER ¢
profit or loss:
- Exchange differences on translation of financial —BEPEIRINF AR R
statements of subsidiaries outside the mainland HOHE 5 2R
China 23,425 (140,548)

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to HiEteEfoEEBRMIER !
profit or loss:

— Gain on revaluation of property, plant and —ME - BEAEEERIEEME
equipment upon transfer to investment iSO Rle
property 17,639 21,941
- Deferred tax liabilities on recognition of —WE - BERREEAREYE
revaluation of property, plant and equipment FATEARELERIBARG
upon transfer to investment properties (4,410) (5,485)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for theyear ~ FREMZEB A, (EE) 36,654 (124,092)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRAZHEGEARH (1,168,961) (1,853,119)
Attributable to: T &L :
Equity shareholders of the Company RA TR (1,175,998) (1,691,305)
Non-controlling interests IR 7,037 (161,814)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FRE2EEBREHE (1,168,961) (1,853,119)
The notes on pages 134 to 278 form part of these financial statements. 1342278 B FTH BN Z S B Mk /) — 2B
o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION & B ¥ AR R =

at 31 December 2023
M2023F 128318
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBHITR)

2023 2022
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000
BfaE AR¥ET T AREFIT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - WE R 10 5,927 189,203
Investment properties WEWZE 11 1,660,100 1,901,500
Intangible assets B EE 12 9,697 12,581
Goodwill Bk - 2,252
Interests in joint ventures RE B ERR 13(a) - 136,897
Interests in an associate REs & ERE RS 13(b) 4,682 6,041
Deferred tax assets EEIRE = 14(b) 354,667 460,193
2,035,073 2,708,667
Current assets REBEE
Inventories and other contract costs FEREMELIRKA 16 11,694,419 14,445,046
Other investment HEmig & 13(a) 150,888 -
Other financial assets Hih o Rh&E = 2,009
Trade and other receivables B 5 M E A EUGRIA 17 3,468,927 3,006,108
Prepaid tax SEENERE] 14(a) 278,237 322,752
Pledged and restricted cash EEARERIES 18 568,400 1,864,240
Cash and cash equivalents R kReFEY 19 25,956 76,113
16,186,827 19,716,268
Assets of disposal group classified as held for sale HEFSHREE 33 - 282,466
Total current assets MENVBEMRTE 16,186,827 19,998,734
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAMERRIE 20 3,894,300 4,437,238
Contract liabilities aHaE 21 4,360,714 4,684,621
Bank loans and other borrowings RITERREMER 22 1,760,095 592,345
Senior notes BERRE 23 111,914 2,609,780
Lease liabilities HEBaE 25 529 3,736
Current tax liabilities BIEARIE B & 14(a) 799,562 691,910
Deferred income BEIEYA 26 182,135 201,918
Financial guarantee contract BRIEREL 27 7,833 =
Other current liabilities HEMnsasE 28 329,039 1,022,614
Other financial liabilities Hih e rtBE& 29 158,859 =
11,604,980 14,244,162
Liabilities directly associated with disposal group HEFESHNBE
classified as held for sale 33 - 67,466
Total current liabilities mEN BB 11,604,980 14,311,628
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION & B #& AR R 3=

at 31 December 2023
20235128318
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBHR)

2023 2022
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B R AR®T T ARETIT

Net current assets REEEFE 4,581,847 5,687,106
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBHERE 6,616,920 8,395,773
Non-current liabilities ERBARE
Bank loans and other borrowings RITERREMEE 22 1,235,423 4,317,352
Senior notes BEEE 23 3,109,999 -
Lease liabilities HEAE 25 204 626
Deferred tax liabilities EEHIBEE 14(b) 26,861 123,070
Other financial liabilities EemaE 29 - 440,120
4,372,487 4,881,168
NET ASSETS EEFE 2,244,433 3,514,605
Capital and reserves BAREHE 32
Share capital f& 7R 36,598 36,598
Reserves #1E 2,202,057 3,384,945

Total equity attributable to equity shareholders AT ERRREGERALE

of the Company 2,238,655 3,421,543
Non-controlling interests SRR A 5,778 93,062
TOTAL EQUITY RERARE 2,244,433 3,514,605

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March R2024F3 A28 EEE o & L ISHETEE o
2024,

Luo Jieping He Fei
ENF AR
Executive Director Executive Director
HITEE HITEE
The notes on pages 134 to 278 form part of these financial statements. 1342278 B FTH BN 2 S Bk Ay — =B
2o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY & iR & 8%

for the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBHITR)

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

AREERRRER
Reserve - Equity
transaction ~ settled
PRC withnon- share-based  Capital Property Non-
Share Share  statutory  Capital controling  payment redemption  Exchange revaluation  Retained controlling Total
capital ~ premium reserve reserve  interests reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total  interests equity
EREE
RE-E RORA
hE FER RERH g% ES FER
kA RIVEE iERE  ERER BRHRS HE EOER EREE EGNEER REAE @t B EOR
Bl B 3B 3B 3B 33(d)v) 33(c)ii

Note  RMBOOO  RMBOOO ~ AMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBOD  RMBOOD  RVBOOO  RMBOO)  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOWD
Wi ARETR ARETT ARBTR ARETR ARETT ARBTR ARETL ARETT ARBTR ARETL ARETT ARETR ARETR

Balanceat 1January2022 20218188
e 36598 1188276 633611 1435617 (110428) 20285 120 51,774 - 1826219 5088072 569,055 5,657,127

Changesinequityfor2022 2005 BHEEH
Loss for the year EREX - - - - - - - -
Other comprehensive income Ef82EMA
Exchangedifferenceon ~ EESENEHE %

translation of financial Br/EREE

statements of foreign

operations statements - - - - - - - (135929 - - (135929 (4619 (140548)
Adjustment upontransfer R HEEE

of previously self-occupied ~ BRENEZ

property toinvestment {4 %

property, net of tax effect - - - - - - - - 164% - 16456 - 1645

(1571832) (1571832 (157,195) (1,729027)

Total comprehensiveincome 2 AU A - - - - - - - (135929 16456 (1571830 (1691305  (161814) (1,853,119

Equity settled share-based  JVEREEMIR(

transactions 5 k) - - - - - 5434 - - - - 5434 - 5434
Lapsed of share options i iRERRE k) - - - - - (067 - - - e - - -
Disposal of subsidiaries ~ HE A () - - - - - - - 19391 - - 19391 (314179)  (294788)
De-registration of a subsidiary 3% T2 - - (49) - - e e - - - (49 S (49
Appropriation to PRC EREMELE

statutory reserve ff 33(a)(ii) - - 2875 - - - - - - (2875) - - -

Balanceat31 December 12022512
2022 31BMER 36598 1188276 636437 1435617  (110428) 5552 120 (58,764) 1645 271679 3421543 93,062 3,514,605
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY & f e B R

for the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F12A31AILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AARETIR)
Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
ALARERFEL
Reserve - Equity
transaction  settled
PRC withnon- share-based ~ Capital Property Non-
Share Share  statutory  Capital controlling  payment redemption Exchange revaluation  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium  reserve  reserve interests  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits Total interests equity
NEREE
fE-8 LRGTR
HE R REBK -0 HIES FER
ke ROEE iERE  EREE BENRS i RORE EXRE EHERRE REXR Eh B BEAE
3200 32 32Ad)  32dv)  32d)vi)  32(d)iv) 32(a)ii)

Note ~ RMBOOO  RMBOOO RMB000 RMBOOO  RMBOOD  RMBOOO  RMBOOO  RMBO00  RMB000  RMB000  RMB00O  RMBI0OO  RMB'000
Wi ARBTR ARRTR ARETR ARETR ARRTRL ARNTR ARRTR ARETL ARETI ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETR

Balanceat 1 January 203 20231 R 104
SRR 36598 1,188276 636437 1435617  (110,428) 5552 120 (58,764) 1645 271,679 3421543 93,062 3,514,605

Changes in equity for NBEREET

2023
Loss for the year ERigk - - - - - - - - - (1.214747) (1L214747) 9132 (1,205,615)
Other comprehensive income E-f82EMA - - - - - - - 550 - - 550 (209) 23425

Adjustment upon transfer of  EEEIHEENF
previouslyselfoccupied  BRANEZ
propertytoinvestment  F&EE
property, net of tax effect - - - - - - - - 13,229 - 13,229 - 13,229

Total comprehensive income  2EMA 25 - - - - - - - 2550 13229 (1214747) (1,175998) 7,037 (1,168,961)

Equity settled share-based ~ DIEREEHRN

transactions X5 3 - - - - - 848 - - - - 848 = 848
Lapsed share options iR - - - - - (68m) - - - 58 - - -

Acquisition of partialinterests £ 3FIZRERE
of subsiciaries fromnon- ~ HEHEBLFR

controlling interests BIMER - - - - 13 - - - - - 03 @4 (1479)
Disposal of subsidlaries ~ HE A7 = - (401) - - = = = - - (401)  (90,179)  (90,580)
Appropriation to PRC BEEREET

statutory reserve [ 32(d)ii - - 19787 - - - - - - (19787) - - =

Balanceat 31 December 12023128

2023 3IANER 36598 1,188276 655823 1435617 (117,765 523 120 (33,244) 29685  (956,978) 2,238,655 5778 2,44433
The notes on pages 134 to 278 form part of these financial statements. 1342278 B FTH M FE BN 2 S S 3k a9 — 2B
yaN
=

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3 131



CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 83t & R E %K

for the year ended 31 December 2023

HE2023F12A31BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)
(AARKETIR)
2023 2022
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000
BisE AR¥ETR ARBTT
Operating activities RETER
Cash from/(used in) operating activities REEBME/ (FTR)E: 19(b) 1,433,837 (699,365)
PRC tax refunded paid ERPEFERE 16,718 (191,204)
Net cash general from/(used in) operating activities RETHFE/ (TR RLFE 1,450,555 (890,569)
Investing activities REEH
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from disposal of subsidiaries HEMBRARKNFERS
A/ (1) 19(e) 8,520 (6,976)
Payment for loans to third parties SRE=AER (26,071) (32,538)
Proceeds from repayment of loans to third parties WEIE=FERER - 40,038
Proceeds from disposal of other financial assets HEREMSREEMEHE 2,009 -
Payment for purchase of other financial assets EEEMERMEEMNK = (2,000)
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties HEREMEMSHIEA - 15,886
Interest received BUFE 12,144 49,359
Payment for purchase of property, plant and equipment ~ BEEW% - BiE MR EM R (23) (973)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  EWE - BE KR EFTEZE 1,728 113,986
Acquisition of interests of subsidiaries without loss ~ UXBE I 5k Ll HEE) T2 F)
of control s (5,605) -
Payment for purchase of intangible assets BERVEENK = (203)
Net cash generated (used in)/from investing activities ~ R&EEE(FTA) FISREFE (7,298) 176,579
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 8§l &R E R

for the year ended 31 December 2023
HE2023F12A31BIEFE
(Expressed in Renminbi)

(AARBHR)

2023 2022
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
BisE AR¥ETR ARBTT
Financing activities mEEE
Proceeds from new bank loans and other borrowings MERTERREMES
S TIE 367,065 2,220,149
Repayment of bank loans and other borrowings BERRTEFREMEE (582,445) (568,608)
Advances from controlling shareholders 1R R IR 3R 2 29,703 125,180
Repayment of advances from controlling shareholders BRI B REERE = (810,148)
Proceeds from discounted bills BRIREEAE 359,039 940,914
Repayment of discounted bills BECHREE (1,022,614) (494,858)
Advances from non-controlling interests FEE AR AR SR AR = 7,730
Repayment of advances from non-controlling interests BRI AR R 2K (105,532) (947,093)
Advances from third parties E=HER 18,719 240,845
Repayment of advances from third parties BEE=ZFBX (122,764) (137,250)
Proceeds from parking lots financing arrangements B RMERHEME - 3,802
Repayment of parking lots financing arrangements BEBAURERHMG (1,881) -
Repayment of other financial liabilities and interest EEEMERAERFIE (210,164) (689,553)
Net proceeds from disposal of debt securities HEBBHEFME - 24,844
Payment for purchase of debt securities BEEBES = (65,420)
Interest and other borrowing costs paid BRFE REMEERAR (235,244) (439,172)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHERSHNELRL D (3,629) (1,399)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHEERSHFESHD (46) (119)
Net cash used in financing activities METBARSFE (1,509,793) (590,156)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReRBSESENHDFE (66,536) (1,304,146)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January MATBNEERESEEY 19 76,113 1,373,314
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HEEESEBNTE 16,379 6,945
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December RNRANENEERELEEY 19 25,956 76,113
The notes on pages 134 to 278 form part of these financial statements. F134F 278 B FAH M BRI T ) — 2

LN\ o

N
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

1

BUAREFIR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with all applicable International Financial Reporting Standards
(“IFRSs"), which collective term includes all applicable individual
International Financial Reporting Standards, International
Accounting Standards (“IASs”) and Interpretations issued by
the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The IASB has issued certain new and revised IFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 1(c) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these developments to the extent that they
are relevant to the Group for the current accounting period
reflected in these financial statements.

1

EESBR

(a)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
Going concern consideration

The Group incurred a loss of RMB1,205,615,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and, as of that date, the Group had
net current assets of RMB4,581,847,000, and the Group's current
portion of bank loans and other borrowings amounted to
RMB1,760,095,000 and senior notes due in 2023 (“October 2023
Senior Notes”) amounted to RMB111,914,000 while its cash
and cash equivalents and bank balance of advanced proceed
received from property purchasers amounted to RMB25,956,000
and RMB314,547,000, respectively. Moreover, in the opinion
of the directors of the Company, certain holders of October
2023 Senior Notes were, for their own reason, not practical to
tender for exchange and accept the exchange offer launched
by the Company on 17 April 2023 (the “Exchange Offer”) and
the Group was not practical to repay the principal and interest
on October 2023 Senior Notes of approximately US$15,801,000
and US$3,283,000 (equivalent to RMB111,914,000 and
RMB23,253,000), respectively, as such holders of October 2023
Senior Notes cannot be effectively communicated. As at 31
December 2023 and up to the date of this report, the Group
is not practical to effectively communicate with such holders
of October 2023 Senior Notes to negotiate for settlement or
repayment, and no redemption notice received in respect of the
October 2023 Senior Notes. Such nonpayment of the principal
and interest on October 2023 Senior Notes may cause an event
of default, and may lead to demand for immediate repayment.
In addition, as at 31 December 2023, two loan payables to third
party of an aggregated amount of RMB63,000,000 were overdue
(“Overdue Payables”), and the overdue of these loan payables
entitled the lenders a right to demand immediate repayment.
Besides, subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
Group has applied or started substantial negotiation with banks
on extension or renewal of the remaining bank borrowings of
approximately RMB1,647.5 million, which originally due within
12 months from end of the reporting period. Further, in view
of the current condition of the property market, coupled with
the limited source of financing from the capital market, the
Group may take longer time than expected to realise cash from
the sale of its inventories and/or have the cash from external
financing to meet its loan repayment obligations.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

1 EEREHHEGHE)

(b)

M MR RREE
REEEHEE

REBREE2023F 128318 IHFE
EEEE AR #1,205615000 7T © M
REBZEZH  AEERBHEEFES
A ¥ 4581,847,000 7T - AN &= B B A
HoMRTERREMERBARE
1,760,095,000 7© %2 2023 4F Fl| Hi &9 18 %%
ZEE(2023F 108 EE ) BARE
111,914,0007T * MBE & MESEEY R
REEERESNENERD I AARE
25,956,0007C &2 A R #314,547,0007T © It
Gh o RRBIEERAE  2023F10AE %
EENEEREABRRE FREEES
HLR N B 720234 A17 B Bk
ZA(RBREN]) - MEBERREEE2023
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4K (8 12 #915,801,0003E 7T F13,283,0003
TT(HEE R ARE111,9140007T A BRI
23,253,5007T ) FV20235F 10 BB EH A S
A E 722023512 431 8 REERR
H2 B RNEE(DEEE023F10AE
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HEEIER - AR B 2023F10H
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 1 EESFBRE(R)
(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Cont’d) (b) MBEHRNFEREE(E)

Going concern consideration (Cont’d)

These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Group
may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in
the normal course of business. Notwithstanding the aforesaid
conditions, the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis on the assumption that the
Group is able to operate as a going concern for the foreseeable
future. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
Group can meet its financial obligations as and when they
fall due within the next twelve months, after taking into
consideration of the measures and arrangements made by the
Group as detailed below:

i.  The Group has been successfully obtained support from
most of the senior note holders in restructuring during the
year.

The Company has launched an Exchange Offer on 17 April
2023, and pursuant to the Company’s announcement
dated 26 April 2023, US$75,000,000, representing 100.0%
of the total aggregate principal amount of the outstanding
senior notes due in May 2023, and US$287,819,000,
representing approximately 94.8% of the total aggregate
principal amount of the outstanding senior notes due in
October 2023, have been validly tendered for exchange
and accepted pursuant to the Exchange Offer. The
Company also launched a consent solicitation (“Consent
Solicitation”) for the new senior note due in 2029 (“New
Notes”) on 11 October 2023, and successfully completed
the Consent Solicitation on 25 October 2023. Please refer
details to announcements of the Company dated 17 April
2023, 26 April 2023, 28 April 2023, 4 May 2023, 11 October
2023, 23 October 2023, and 25 October 2023.

The success of the Exchange Offer and Consent Solicitation
result and enable the Company to effectively extend the
maturity profile of most of its offshore indebtedness due
from April 2023 to April 2029 with lower interest, and
significantly ease the pressure on cash flow. The Company
will continue to actively communicate with the remaining
holders of October 2023 Senior Notes, and urges such
holders of October 2023 Senior Notes to exchange the
remaining October 2023 Senior Notes for the New Notes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Cont’d)

Going concern consideration (Cont’d)

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group
has successfully been granted further extension or renewal
of certain existing bank borrowings, which originally due
within 12 months from end of the reporting period, of an
aggregated amount of approximately RMB129.1 million.

Besides, subsequent to the end of the reporting period,
the Group has applied or started substantial negotiation
with banks on extension or renewal of the remaining bank
borrowings of approximately RMB1,647.5 million, which
originally due within 12 months from end of the reporting
period. In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the
Group has good track records and relationship with banks
which would enhance the Group’s ability on extension
and renewal of its bank borrowing or facilities. Besides,
the Group will continue to monitor its compliance of
financial covenants of the Group’s bank borrowings and
with the support of recent national and local government
policies in PRC, it is confident that sufficient financing
can be arranged from the refinancing or renewal of bank
borrowings upon or before the maturity date.

During the Year and subsequent to the reporting period,
the Group has obtained continuous financial support from
the controlling shareholder. The controlling shareholder
has confirmed that it will not demand the Group for
repayment of the shareholder loan within the next twelve
months from the end of the reporting period should
the Group not be in the financial position to make such
repayment.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
Group have further received deposits or advanced sales
proceed from property purchasers of approximately
RMB380,000,000 from sales of properties in the normal
course of business.

Regarding the existing Overdue Payables, the Group is
actively negotiating with third parties for new financing or
refinancing and aims to settle the Overdue Payables in the
first half year of 2024.

1 EEg

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Cont’d)

Going concern consideration (Cont’d)

vi.

Vii.

viii.

In September 2023, the executive meeting of the State
Council of the PRC deliberated and approved the
“Special Action Plan for Clearing Accounts in Arrears
of Enterprises”, aiming to solve the problem of arrears
owed by the local government. With the support of this
government policy and action plan, the Group has actively
communicated and negotiated with local governments to
settle the receivables.

The Group will continue to take measures to accelerate
the sales of its completed properties held for sale and to
speed up the collection of sales proceeds.

The directors of the Company are considering various
proposals, including but not limited to pledges of the
Group's properties for sales (included in inventory) and
investment properties, in order to raising new borrowing
facilities or seeking for sales in the market to improve
liquidity and to obtain additional funds to support the
Group’s working capital needs. As of 31 December
2023, the net realizable value of properties for sale
(included in inventory) expected to be sold and the fair
value of investment properties of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB1.5 billion and RMB1.7 billion,
respectively.

1

EESBRGE)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Cont’d)
Going concern consideration (Cont’d)

ix. The Group will continue to take proactive measures
to control selling and distribution expenses and
administrative expenses.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking
into account the above-mentioned plans and measures,
the Group will have sufficient working capital to finance its
operations and to meet its financial obligations as and when
they fall due within the next 12 months from 31 December
2023. Accordingly, the directors of the Company consider that it
is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 on a going
concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainty exists as
to whether sufficient financing can be arranged from the
refinancing or renewal of bank borrowings and operating
cash flows generated from the sales of properties depending
on the market condition. Should the Group be unable to
operate as a going concern, adjustments might have to be
made to write down the carrying values of the Group’s assets
to their recoverable amounts, to reclassify its non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current
liabilities respectively, or to make provision for any contractual
commitments that have become onerous, where appropriate.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

1 EEREHHEGHE)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 1 EERHBR(E)
(b) Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Cont’d) (b) MEHMRMEREAE(E)
Basis of consolidation BHERE

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries
(together referred to as the “Group”) and the Group’s interest in
an associate and joint ventures.

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”)
rounded to the nearest thousand. The measurement basis used
in the preparation of the financial statements is the historical
cost basis except that the following assets and liabilities are
stated at their fair value as explained in the accounting policies
set out below:

- equity investments other than investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures (see note 1(g));

- other investments in debt and equity securities (see note
1(9));

- derivative financial instruments (see note 1(h));

- investment properties, including interests in leasehold
land and buildings held as investment property where the
Group is the registered owner of the property interest (see
note 1(i)); and

- other financial liabilities (see note 1(v)(ii)).

Non-current assets held for sale are stated at the lower of
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
IFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which
form the basis of making the judgements about carrying values
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements (Cont’d)
Basis of consolidation (Cont’d)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of IFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and
major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 2.

Changes in accounting policies

The IASB has issued the following amendments to IFRSs that are
first effective for the current accounting period of the Group:

. IFRS 17 (including the October 2020 and February 2022
Amendments), Insurance contracts

. Amendments to IAS 8, Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors: Definition of accounting
estimates

. Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2,
Disclosure of accounting policies

. Amendments to IAS 12, Income taxes: Deferred tax related
to assets and liabilities arising from a single transaction

. Amendments to IAS 12, Income taxes: International tax
reform - Pillar two model rules

In accordance with the guidance set out in the amendments,
accounting policy information that is standardised information,
or information that only duplicates or summarises the
requirements of the IFRSs, is considered immaterial accounting
policy information and is no longer disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements so as not to obscure the
material accounting policy information disclosed in the notes
to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

1

BUAREFIR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(d)
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Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

None of these developments have had a material effect on
how the Group’s results and financial position for the current or
prior periods have been prepared or presented in this financial
report.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Intra-group
balances, transactions and cash flows and any unrealised profits
arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in full in
preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the extent that
there is no evidence of impairment.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary
not attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in
respect of which the Group has not agreed any additional terms
with the holders of those interests which would result in the
Group as a whole having a contractual obligation in respect of
those interests that meets the definition of a financial liability.
For each business combination, the Group can elect to measure
any non-controlling interests either at fair value or at the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the subsidiary’s net
identifiable assets.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(d)

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Cont’d)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the results of the Group are
presented on the face of the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit
or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between
non-controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the
Company. Loans from holders of non-controlling interests
and other contractual obligations towards these holders are
presented as financial liabilities in the consolidated statement
of financial position in accordance with notes 1(q) or (r)
depending on the nature of the liability.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions, whereby adjustments are made to the amounts of
controlling and non-controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is
recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with
a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any
interest retained in that former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is recognised at fair value and this amount is
regarded as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset (see note 1(g)) or, when appropriate, the cost on initial
recognition of an investment in an associate and joint venture
(see note 1(e)).

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investment
in a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note
1(m)), unless the investment is classified as held for sale (see
note 1(z)).

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBEEBAEIN - IAARETIR)
1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 1 EESFBRE(R)
(e) Associates and joint ventures (e) BAENERSELE
An associate is an entity in which the Group or Company has BErERESRENRAIYHETIERE
significant influence, but not control or joint control, over (BE2EMBNEEREAR)EEXR
its management, including participation in the financial and FET BT BIEE SIS LR f
operating policy decisions. HERE o
A joint venture is an arrangement whereby the Group or AEPER-IELTH - Bt - KEBEK
Company and other parties contractually agree to share control RARIEEMFES L FWHE D ZF IR
of the arrangement, and have rights to the net assets of the LHERIESIE - WERBEHFEE -
arrangement.
An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted REt bR 2 b ERNIRE AERE
for in the consolidated financial statements under the equity REHTBFREAR  RIEBHKE
method, unless it is classified as held for sale (see note 1(2)). EEARELEERAER R (R WE
Under the equity method, the investment is initially recorded 1)) ° BIBERE - IREVPIRKAS
at cost, adjusted for any excess of the Group's share of the I AR A SEEAZEREARN
acquisition-date fair values of the investee’s identifiable net AR EEFEMNUIERBAAERBRL
assets over the cost of the investment (if any). The cost of BB AN ER D (A ) VEH FAEE ©
the investment includes purchase price, other costs directly REKABIERER  WEREEERE
attributable to the acquisition of the investment, and any direct IEREADR AR RAER AN R B AR IR & —
investment into the associate or joint venture that forms part e tEReErENTANE
of the Group’s equity investment. Thereafter, the investment is %ﬁxé Hig - piAREKEEAZERE
adjusted for the post acquisition change in the Group’s share NEIMEEFENNEEEE REIRE
of the investee’s net assets and any impairment loss relating BT AR EEE (R 10 m)
to the investment (see notes 1(f) and (m)(iii)). Any acquisition- (iii) ) fE A - UKEE B HRRE B A AR A (E
date excess over cost, the Group's share of the post-acquisition, AEn - NREBFARERZEQARN
post-tax results of the investees and any impairment losses for I BB 1 Bl 18 48 AT DR EE B A G B
the year are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit BRRANER  MASEELERER
or loss, whereas the Group's share of the post-acquisition post- AMEMEEBANLKIERTZIER A
tax items of the investees’ other comprehensive income is REMHEZEEMEERARAER -
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(e)

Associates and joint ventures (Cont’d)

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate or the joint venture, the Group's interest is reduced
to nil and recognition of further losses is discontinued except
to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the investee. For
this purpose, the Group’s interest is the carrying amount of
the investment under the equity method together with the
Group'’s long-term interests that in substance form part of the
Group's net investment in the associate or the joint venture
(after applying the ECL model to such other long-term interests
where applicable (see note 1(m)(i)).

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates and joint venture
are eliminated to the extent of the Group'’s interest in the
investee, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted
for under the equity method.

In all other cases, when the Group ceases to have significant
influence over an associate or joint control over a joint venture,
it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in that
investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit
or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at the date
when significant influence or joint control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on
initial recognition of a financial asset (see note 1(g)).

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(f)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of:

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the fair value of the Group'’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(ii)  the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and
liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill arising on a business combination is allocated to each
cash-generating unit, or groups of cash generating units, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and
is tested annually for impairment (see note 1(m)(iii)).

On disposal of a cash generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

Other investments in debt and equity securities

The Group's policies for investments in debt and equity
securities, other than investments in subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures, are set out below.

Investments in debt and equity securities are recognised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell
the investment. The investments are initially stated at fair value,
plus directly attributable transaction costs, except for those
investments measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
for which transaction costs are recognised directly in profit or
loss. For an explanation of how the Group determines fair value
of financial instruments, see note 34(f). These investments are
subsequently accounted for as follows, depending on their
classification.

1

EESBRGE)

(f)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(g) Other investments in debt and equity securities

(Cont’'d)

(i)

Investments other than equity investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group are classified

into one of the following measurement categories:

amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method (see note 1(w)(vii)).

fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI) - recycling, if the contractual cash flows
of the investment comprise solely payments of
principal and interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose objective is achieved
by both the collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the recognition
in profit or loss of expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains and losses.
When the investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income is
recycled from equity to profit or loss.

fair value at profit or loss (FVTPL) if the investment
does not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI (recycling). Changes in the
fair value of the investment (including interest) are
recognised in profit or loss.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 1 BEEEHBERGE)
(g) Otherinvestments in debt and equity securities (g) HEEXEMNEZZHREGE)

(Cont’'d)
(ii)  Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment
the Group makes an irrevocable election to designate
the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income. Such elections are made on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, but may only be made
if the investment meets the definition of equity from the
issuer’s perspective. Where such an election is made, the
amount accumulated in other comprehensive income
remains in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) until
the investment is disposed of. At the time of disposal,
the amount accumulated in the fair value reserve (non-
recycling) is transferred to retained earnings. It is not
recycled through profit or loss. Dividends from an
investment in equity securities, irrespective of whether
classified as at FVTPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit or
loss as other income in accordance with the policy set out
in note 1(w)(vi).

(h) Derivative financial instruments (h)

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at fair value. At
the end of each reporting period the fair value is remeasured.
The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

(i) Investment property (i)

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which are
owned or held under a leasehold interest (see note 1(l)) to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation. These include
land held for a currently undetermined future use and property
that is being constructed or developed for future use as
investment property.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(i)

Investment property (Cont’d)

Investment properties are stated at fair value, unless they are
still in the course of construction or development at the end
of the reporting period and their fair value cannot be reliably
measured at that time. Any gain or loss arising from a change
in fair value or from the retirement or disposal of an investment
property is recognised in profit or loss. Rental income from
investment properties is accounted for as described in note

T(w)(ii).

In the comparative period, when the Group held a property
interest under an operating lease and used the property to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation, the Group could
elect on a property-by-property basis to classify and account
for such interest as an investment property. Any such property
interest which had been classified as an investment property
was accounted for as if it were held under a finance lease (see
note 1(1)), and the same accounting policies were applied to
that interest as were applied to other investment properties
leased under finance leases. Lease payments were accounted
for as described in note 1(l).

Property, plant and equipment

The following items of property, plant and equipment are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses (see note 1(m)(iii)).

- interest in leasehold land and buildings where the Group
is the registered owner of the property interest (see note
1(1)); and

- right-of-use assets arising from leases over leasehold
properties where the Group is not the registered owner of
the property interest.

The cost of self-constructed items of property, plant and
equipment includes the cost materials, direct labour, the
initial estimate, where relevant, of the costs of dismantling
and removing the items and restoring the site on which they
are located, and an appropriate proportion of production
overheads and borrowing costs (see note 1(y)).

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

1

BUAREFIR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

()

Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

Construction in progress is transferred to property, plant
and equipment when it is ready for its intended use. No
depreciation is provided against construction in progress.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an
item of property, plant and equipment are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item and are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss on the date of retirement or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight line method over their estimated
useful lives as follows:

1

EESBRGE)

1)

M - BER&RE(E)
EERIRAUFERTAEE  BRY
X BELERE - TERITREAES
o

WEILEME - BEMRIBEE AE
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T

Estimated
residual value
as a percentage

Years of costs
fhETRIBAMEE
FH EEEBESH

Ownership interests in land and buildings held for T FEEY K FTE R
own use carried at cost 20-40 0%
Motor vehicles and other fixed assets HE 4 5%
Office equipment NG 3-5 5%
Other properties leased for own use carried at cost EfthFE W% 2-8 0%

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated
on a reasonable basis between the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(k)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at
cost less accumulated amortisation (where the estimated useful
life is finite) and impairment losses (see note 1(m)(iii)).

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the assets’
estimated useful lives. The following intangible assets with
finite useful lives are amortised from the date they are available
for use and their estimated/contracted useful lives are as
follows:
Software 5-10 years
Franchises granted 15 years
Both the period and method of amortisation are reviewed
annually.

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration. Control is conveyed where the customer has
both the right to direct the use of the identified asset and to
obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from that use.

(i) Asalessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-
lease component(s), the Group has elected not to separate
non-lease components and accounts for each lease
component and any associated non-lease components as
a single lease component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-
term leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less
and leases of low-value assets which, for the Group are
primarily laptops and office furniture. When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a lease-
by-lease basis. The lease payments associated with those
leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

BUAREFIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
() Leased assets (Cont’d)

(i)

As a lessee (Cont’d)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, using a relevant incremental borrowing rate.
After initial recognition, the lease liability is measured at
amortised cost and interest expense is calculated using
the effective interest method. Variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in which
they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which comprises
the initial amount of the lease liability plus any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date,
and any initial direct costs incurred. Where applicable, the
cost of the right-of-use assets also includes an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or
to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any lease
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses (see Notes 1(j) and 1(m)(iii)), except for
the following types of right-of-use asset:

- right-of-use assets that meet the definition of
investment property are carried at fair value in
accordance with note 1(i); and

- right-of-use assets related to interests in leasehold
land where the interest in the land is held as
inventory are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value in accordance with note 1(n).

1 EEREHHEGE)
(I HEEEWE)

(i)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
() Leased assets (Cont’d)

(i)

As a lessee (Cont’d)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change
in future lease payments arising from a change in an
index or rate, or there is a change in the Group’s estimate
of the amount expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee, or there is a change arising from the
reassessment of whether the Group will be reasonably
certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has
been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification. The only exceptions are rent
concessions that occurred as a direct consequence of the
COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the conditions
set out in paragraph 46B of IFRS 16 Leases. In such cases,
the group has taken advantage of the practical expedient
not to assess whether the rent concessions are lease
modifications, and recognised the change in consideration
as negative variable lease payments in profit or loss in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the
rent concessions occurred.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is determined
as the present value of contractual payments that are due
to be settled within twelve months after the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEAN  GAAREIIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 1 BEEEHBERGE)
() Leased assets (Cont'd) (ny HEEEGE)
(ii) As alessor (i) 1EBHHEAN

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease
inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance lease if it
transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental
to the ownership of an underlying assets to the lessee. If
this is not the case, the lease is classified as an operating
lease.

When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. The rental income from operating
leases is recognised in accordance with note 1(w)(ii).

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, the sub-leases
are classified as a finance lease or as an operating lease
with reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the
head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the exemption described in note 1(l)
(i), then the Group classifies the sub-lease as an operating
lease.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit
losses (ECLs) on the following items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost
(including restricted and pledged cash, cash and
cash equivalents, trade and other receivables,
including loans to the third parties, which are held
for the collection of contractual cash flows which
represent solely payments of principal and interest);
and

- lease receivables.

Other financial assets measured at fair value, including
equity investments measured at FVTPL, amounts due from
an associate, wealth management products and derivative
financial assets, are not subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the present value of all
expected cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between
the cash flows due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the
following discount rates where the effect of discounting is
material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other
receivables: effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof;

- variable-rate financial assets: current effective
interest rate; and

- lease receivables: discount rate used in the
measurement of the lease receivable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 1 EEEHBER)
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d) (m) EREEREEREE)
(i)  Creditlosses from financial instruments and lease () EHBTARHEEENNENERA
receivables (Cont’d) EE ()
Measurement of ECLs (Cont’d) RS HER 2 (E)

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is
the maximum contractual period over which the Group is
exposed to credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. This includes information
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from possible default events within the 12
months after the reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected
to result from all possible default events over the
expected lives of the items to which the ECL model
applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and
an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises a
loss allowance equal to lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Cont’d)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument (including a loan commitment) has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that assessed at the
date of initial recognition. In making this reassessment,
the Group considers that a default event occurs when (i)
the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the
Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions
such as realising security (if any is held); or (i) the financial
asset is 90 days past due. The Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest on
their contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in
a financial instrument’s external or internal credit
rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment that have a
significant adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 1 EESFBRE(R)
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d) (m) EREEREERE(E)
(i)  Creditlosses from financial instruments and lease () EHBTARHEEENNENERA

receivables (Cont’d) EE ()
Significant increases in credit risk (Cont'd) =/ EfE XI5 EFH (&)
Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, BrRem TAMNEE - EARR
the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is KR EFABTE TR E R E %y 2
performed on either an individual basis or a collective RIEAEETT o el RIRHERIERE
basis. When the assessment is performed on a collective T SRMIEAZERMERR
basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on B AR (ansE BRI = R R B2 5T
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status WEITHHE -

and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect TEEEREENSmE A RETSE
changes in the financial instrument’s credit risk since Mt RMem T ARV E
initial recognition. Any change in the ECL amount is RLARB(E AR ZE) - TEHEA
recognised as an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. BRI NERER AR
The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss for all B EREE - NEERFE 2R
financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment TARRBERGERE - Wik
to their carrying amount through a loss allowance EREEBHRE RS 2 REAEEDE
account, except for investments in debt investments JEFAE  ERATFEEFAELME
that are measured at FVOCI (recycling), for which the loss HWAFTENEBRE (7] 5188 ) B
allowance is recognised in other comprehensive income O - ZERENERBE IR EAM
and accumulated in the fair value reserve (recycling). FHEBAERIL R A FEEREE
(FI&%8) P REt o

Basis of calculation of interest income FIE ARG ERE

Interest income recognised in accordance with AR 45 B 5 1 (w) (vil) B B A 3R 4 Bl
note 1(w)(vii) is calculated based on the gross carrying BEMBIRMERE @ BRIEZoR
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset BELBEEERE  TEREBERAT -
is credit- impaired, in which case interest income is FEW AL @& ZE /R
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross (BMARBREERSERE)FTE -

carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether REREBH - AEBEFHepE
a financial asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is EARTEREERE 284 —A
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a HEIBLHERMEEMFTARRIR SR
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of EETHEENEMNE  eREE
the financial asset have occurred. HBIREERIE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)

(i)

Credit losses from financial instruments and lease
receivables (Cont’d)

Basis of calculation of interest income (Cont’d)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
the following observable events:

- significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset and lease
receivable is written off (either partially or in full) to the
extent that there is no realistic prospect of recovery. This
is generally the case when the Group determines that the
debtor does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts
subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously
written off are recognised as a reversal of impairment in
profit or loss in the period in which the recovery occurs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 1 EERHBR(E)
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d) (m) EREEREEREE)
(ii)  Credit losses from financial guarantees contracts (i) BIBIERE AN /HES

(iii)

Financial guarantee liabilities are recognised in respect
of the financial guarantee provided by the Group to
the banks for property purchasers. Financial guarantee
liabilities are recognised initially at fair value plus
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issue of the financial guarantee liabilities. After initial
recognition, such liabilities are measured at the higher of
the present value of the best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation and the amount
initially recognised less cumulative amortisation of
fees recognised. Financial guarantee liabilities are
derecognised from the consolidated statement of financial
position when, and only when, the obligation specified in
the contract is discharged or cancelled or expired.

Impairment of other non-current assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period to identify indications
that the following assets may be impaired or, except
in the case of goodwill, an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including right-of-
use assets (other than property carried at revalued
amounts);

- intangible assets;

- interests in joint ventures and associates;

- goodwill; and

- investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s
statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d)
(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets (Cont’d)

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, the
recoverable amount is estimated annually whether or not
there is any indication of impairment.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater
of its fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and
the risks specific to the asset. Where an asset does
not generate cash inflows largely independent of
those from other assets, the recoverable amount
is determined for the smallest group of assets that
generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit). A portion of the carrying amount of
a corporate asset (for example, head office building)
is allocated to an individual cash-generating unit
if the allocation can be done on a reasonable and
consistent basis, or to the smallest group of cash-
generating units if otherwise.

- Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss
if the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-
generating unit to which it belongs, exceeds its
recoverable amount. Impairment losses recognised
in respect of cash-generating units are allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of
units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount of the
other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset
will not be reduced below its individual fair value
less costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEAN  GAAREIIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 1 EEREHHEGE)
(m) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Cont’d) (m) EREEREEREE)
(iii) Impairment of other non-current assets (Cont’d) (iii) BIEZEEERE (&)
- Reversals ofimpairment losses —  BEREERE
In respect of assets other than goodwill, an BHFEPEEE  WAEE
impairment loss is reversed if there has been FA e BENEETHIER

a favourable change in the estimates used to
determine the recoverable amount. An impairment
loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the
asset’s carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised

A EAf - A& B DR ES
B -AENREBETSE
[B] o

MEBENEEERNBE
F JZ I K HE SRR 1B &S 1B T e
BEMEEREE - AL

in prior years. Reversals of impairment losses are BEBETERBELNFE
credited to profit or loss in the year in which the T AEE -
reversals are recognised.
(n) Inventories and other contract costs (n) BEREMELHRAE
(i) Inventories (i) #&

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the
ordinary course of business, in the process of production
for such sale or in the form of materials or supplies to be
consumed in the production process or in the rendering
of services.

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value as follows:

- Property development

Cost and net realisable values and determined as
follows:

- Leasehold land held for future development

The cost of leasehold land, which is held
for development, represents the cost of
acquisition and the premium, if any, payable
to the relevant government authorities. Net
realisable value is determined by reference to
management estimates based on prevailing
market conditions.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(n) Inventories and other contract costs (Cont’d)

(i) Inventories (Cont’d)

- Property development (Cont’d)

Properties under development

The cost of properties under development
comprises specifically identified cost, including
the acquisition cost of interests in freehold and
leasehold land, aggregate cost of development,
materials and supplies, wages and other
direct expenses, an appropriate proportion of
overheads and borrowing costs capitalised (see
note 1(y)). Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price less estimated costs of
completion and costs to be incurred in selling
the property.

Completed properties held for sale

The cost of completed properties held for
sale comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing
the inventories to their present location and
condition.

In the case of completed properties developed
by the Group which comprise of multiple units
which are sold individually, the cost of each
unit is determined by apportionment of the
total development costs for that development
project to each unit on a per square metre basis,
unless another basis is more representative of
the cost of the specific unit. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price less costs
to be incurred in selling the property.

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

1 EEREHHEGHE)
(n) FEREMSHKE(E)
(i) FE (&)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

BUAREFIR)

(BR=HEAN

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(n)

Inventories and other contract costs (Cont’d)

(i)

Inventories (Cont’d)

Other inventories

Other inventories include low-value consumption
goods and goods for sale. They are carried at the
lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of
any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised
as an expense in the period in which the reversal
occurs.

1

EESHBR(E)
(n) FEREMESHRZA(HE)

i) 7&
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 1 EERHBR(E)
(n) Inventories and other contract costs (Cont’d) (n) FEREMENRA(E)
(i) Other contract costs (i) BMEAEX

Other contract costs are either the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract with a customer or the costs to fulfil
a contract with a customer which are not capitalised as
inventory (see note 1(n)(i)).

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are those costs
that the Group incurs to obtain a contract with a customer
that it would not have incurred if the contract had not
been obtained (e.g. an incremental sales commission).
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract are capitalised
when incurred if the costs relate to revenue which will
be recognised in a future reporting period and the costs
are expected to be recovered. Other costs of obtaining a
contract are expensed when incurred.

Costs to fulfil a contract are capitalised if the costs
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract; generate or enhance
resources that will be used to provide goods or services in
the future; and are expected to be recovered. Costs that
relate directly to an existing contract or to a specifically
identifiable anticipated contract may include direct
labour, direct materials, allocations of costs, costs that
are explicitly chargeable to the customer and other costs
that are incurred only because the Group entered into
the contract (for example, payments to sub-contractors).
Other costs of fulfilling a contract, which are not
capitalised as inventory, property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets, are expensed as incurred.

Capitalised contract costs are stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Impairment losses are recognised to the extent that the
carrying amount of the contract cost asset exceeds the net
of (i) remaining amount of consideration that the Group
expects to receive in exchange for the goods or services
to which the asset relates, less (ii) any costs that relate
directly to providing those goods or services that have not
yet been recognised as expenses.

Amortisation of capitalised contract costs is charged to
profit or loss when the revenue to which the asset relates is
recognised. The accounting policy for revenue recognition
is set out in note 1(w).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

BUAREFIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(o)

166 GUANGDONG - HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 & &

Contracts liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related revenue
(see note 1(w)). A contract liability would also be recognised if
the Group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases,
a corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see note

1(p)).

When the contract includes a significant financing component,
the contract balance includes interest accrued under the
effective interest method (see note 1(w)).

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component are initially measured at their transaction
price. Trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and other receivables are initially measured at fair
value plus transaction costs. All Receivables are subsequently
stated at amortised cost using the effective interest method
less allowance for credit losses (see note 1(m)(i)).

Insurance reimbursement is recognised and measured in
accordance with note 1(v)(i).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair
value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with the Group'’s accounting policy for borrowing
costs (see note 1(y)).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(r)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Subsequent to initial recognition, trade and other payables
are subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at invoice amounts.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions,
and short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash
equivalents are assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy
set out in note 1(m)(i).

Employee benefits

(i)  Short term employee benefits and contributions to
defined contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which
the associated services are rendered by employees. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would be
material, these amounts are stated at their present values.

Obligation for contributions to defined contribution
retirement plans pursuant to the relevant labour rules and
regulations in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”)
are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as incurred,
except to the extent that they are included in properties
for sale not yet recognised as an expense.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd) 1 EESHHE(E)
(t) Employee benefits (Cont’d) t) EERHGE)

(ii) ~ Equity settled share-based payment (i) URBZRBELRGBEBEHT

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in the equity settled share-based payment
reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at grant
date using the binomial option pricing model, taking into
account the terms and conditions upon which the options
were granted. Where the employees have to meet vesting
conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled to
the options, the total estimated fair value of the options
is spread over the vesting period, taking into account the
probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
that is expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting
adjustment to the cumulative fair value recognised in
prior years is charged/credited to the profit or loss for the
year of the review, unless the original employee expenses
qualify for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding
adjustment to the equity settled share-based payment
reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as
an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of
options that vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the
equity settled share-based payment reserve) except where
forfeiture is only due to not achieving vesting conditions
that relate to the market price of the Company’s shares.
The equity amount is recognised in the equity settled
share-based payment reserve until either the option is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium
account) or the option expires (when it is released directly
to retained profits).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(u)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements
in deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or
loss except to the extent that they relate to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income
for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted
at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax
payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being the
differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases.
Deferred tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and
unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise
from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences,
provided those differences relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either
in the same period as the expected reversal of the deductible
temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The
same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits,
that is, those differences are taken into account if they relate to
the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and
are expected to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax
loss or credit can be utilised.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

1

BUAREFIR)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(u)

Income tax (Cont’d)

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets
or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
(provided they are not part of a business combination), and
temporary differences relating to investments in subsidiaries
to the extent that, in the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the timing of the reversal and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the
case of deductible differences, unless it is probable that they
will reverse in the future.

Where investment properties are carried at their fair value in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(i), the
amount of deferred tax recognised is measured using the tax
rates that would apply on sale of those assets at their carrying
value at the reporting date unless the property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied
in the property over time, rather than through sale. In all other
cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of
the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such
reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

1

EESBRGE)

(u)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(u)

Income tax (Cont’d)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
company or the Group has the legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the
following additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Group
intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(v)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

(i)

(ii)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised when the Group or the
Company has a legal or constructive obligation arising as
a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle
a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another
party, a separate asset is recognised for any expected
reimbursement that would be virtually certain. The
amount recognised for the reimbursement is limited to
the carrying amount of the provision.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Contingent liabilities assumed in business combination

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
which are present obligations at the date of acquisition
are initially recognised at fair value, provided the fair value
can be reliably measured. After their initial recognition at
fair value, such contingent liabilities are recognised at the
higher of the amount initially recognised and the amount
that would be determined in accordance with note 1(v)(i).

1

EESBRGE)

(v)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(w) Revenue and other income

Income is classified by the Group as revenue when it arises from
the sale of goods, the provision of services or the use by others
of the Group's assets under leases in the ordinary course of the
Group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use
the asset, at the amount of promised consideration to which
the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value
added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any
trade discounts.

Where the contract contains a financing component which
provides a significant financing benefit to the customer for
more than 12 months, revenue is measured at the present
value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount
rate that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
with the customer, and interest income is accrued separately
under the effective interest method. Where the contract
contains a financing component which provides a significant
financing benefit to the Group, revenue recognised under that
contract includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. The Group takes
advantage of the practical expedient in paragraph 63 of IFRS
15 and does not adjust the consideration for any effects of a
significant financing component if the period of financing is 12
months or less.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income
recognition policies are as follows:

(i)  Sales of properties

Revenue arising from the sale of properties developed
for sale in the ordinary course of business is recognised
when the property is delivered to customers, which is
the point in time when the customer has the ability to
direct the use of the property and obtain substantially all
of the remaining benefits of the property. Deposits and
instalments received on properties sold prior to the date
of revenue recognition are included in the statement of
financial position under contract liabilities (see note 1(0)).

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(w) Revenue and other income (Cont’d)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Sales of properties (Cont’d)

For contracts where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised property
exceeds one year, the transaction price and the amount
of revenue from the sales of completed properties is
adjusted for the effects of a financing component. If the
advance payments by the customer are regarded as
providing a significant financing benefit to the Group,
interest expense arising from the adjustment of time value
of money will be accrued by the Group during the period
between the payment date and the date of delivery
of property. This accrual increases the balance of the
contract liability during the period of construction, and
therefore increases the amount of revenue recognised
when control of the completed property is transferred to
the customer. The interest is expensed as accrued unless it
is eligible to be capitalised under IAS 23, Borrowing costs,
in accordance with the policies set out in note 1(y).

Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over
the periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as income in the
accounting period in which they are earned.

Service fee income

Service fee income in relation to property management
service, advertising service and other ancillary services are
recognised when such services are provided to customers.

1

EESBRGE)
(w) WztEs? (&)

(i)

(ii)

HEYHE (&)
RPN M 8 A B E 2 ]
MERBE—FNER - XHER
ME T THMENHERASERE
BMEMONFELETRHE - IRF
PHTFAMNFIRR AR AR EE R M
TEAREMED @ AARKESEN
RAEMERN B 2 EHEBERNG
REREEEREBEMEENT
BB - ZEFTHRBRNT iETH
FERBENREE - FIEnT <
THEEHRBERIGTPREERN
WATER ° BRIFIRBM 1) PR
EHERER - AERREBEEEFEE
RSB 235% [ B RARA HETTE AL
BRI RETER °

BEHEEHHEEUA

8 A TH B ) e WA £ U A FEAE BR PR
BMERHIREA - ILFE D AR
BafER - BB EBEETERE
R BREREE B ERTEL 2 Wat
BRARSN - BEHHEBRENE
=R AR B F N AR AR
FER D o AHURN R8skt R Ey ]
SHENFBEEEEN S HRE®
BISHINA

(i) REENLA

174 GUANGDONG — HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 & &322 i AR A 7

BRMEEERY - BERSRE
R ERGHREBRARRE P

RHZERGR R -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(w) Revenue and other income (Cont’d)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Income from trading business

Revenue is recognised when the customer takes
possession of and accepts the products.

Dividends

Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised
when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is
established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credit-impaired, the effective
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying amount of
the asset. For credit impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross
carrying amount net of loss allowance) of the asset (see
note 1(m)(i)).

Government grants

Government grants are recognised in the statement
of financial position initially when there is reasonable
assurance that they will be received and that the Group
will comply with the conditions attaching to them. Grants
that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a systematic
basis in the same periods in which the expenses are
incurred. Grants that compensate the Group for the cost
of assets are initially recognised as deferred income and
subsequently deducted from the carrying amount of
assets and consequently are effectively recognised in
profit or loss when the inventories are sold or transferred
to investment properties upon meeting the relevant
conditions, if any, attaching to them.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

1

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(x)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at
the end of the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction
dates. The transaction date is the date on which the company
initially recognises such non-monetary assets or liabilities.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are translated using the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair value was
measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into RMB at
the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into RMB at the closing foreign
exchange rates at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange
reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss
on disposal is recognised.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use
or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred.

1

EESBRGE)

(x)

176 GUANGDONG — HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 & &322 i AR A 7

SN E

FRINERZ HIEZ 5 B HRITHE R &
B o UHMNEFHEMEB EE R AELRER
EMRRITHERBE - (5 U M
BB R

AN EHEIL L E L AT E R FEEH
BEMBERR S AMRITHESR
8 XRHBEMBRRVREREHEIE
KEEXRBZA - LHMNEFHELIRAR
REFENFEREENABRIER
AEERRITHEXRE -

BSMEE R E RS 5 A BRATIE Reni
LUES R AARY - BHEHRRIAR
o R BRI B R B AR
f o BB I R A A 2 ER
W LR BRI ERBAEER
it -

HERINETES - BRIRINEBEL =
BH R BENER L RSN 5 #s
BHOBEEER -

BERA

BE R tERERSHSEAME
RERGAHENEEERERNEES
RABARC BZ BEMB DA  HAtb
EERAREEMESH -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)

(y)

(2)

Borrowing costs (Cont’d)

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset
is being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and
activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended
use or sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the activities
necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for its intended use or
sale are interrupted or complete.

Non-current assets held for sale

A non-current asset (or disposal group) is classified as held
for sale if it is highly probable that its carrying amount will
be recovered through a sale transaction rather than through
continuing use and the asset (or disposal group) is available for
sale in its present condition. A disposal group is a group of assets
to be disposed of together as a group in a single transaction,
and liabilities directly associated with those assets that will be
transferred in the transaction.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss
of control of a subsidiary, all the assets and liabilities of that
subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the above criteria
for classification as held for sale are met, regardless of whether
the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in the subsidiary
after the sale.

Immediately before classification as held for sale, the
measurement of the non-current assets (and all individual
assets and liabilities in a disposal group) is brought up-to-
date in accordance with the accounting policies before the
classification. Then, on initial classification as held for sale and
until disposal, the non-current assets or disposal groups, are
recognised at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value
less costs to sell.

Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale,
and on subsequent remeasurement while held for sale, are
recognised in profit or loss. As long as a non-current asset is
classified as held for sale, or is included in a disposal group
that is classified as held for sale, the non-current asset is not
depreciated or amortised.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

1 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
(aa) Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group'’s most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group's various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used to
distribute the products or provide the services, and the nature
of the regulatory environment. Operating segments which are
not individually material may be aggregated if they share a
majority of these criteria.

2 ACCOUNTINGJUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
Sources of estimation uncertainty

Notes 1(b), 11, 13 and 34 contain information about the assumptions
and their risk factors relating to assessing whether the Group will
have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern,
valuation of investment property, impairment of interests in joint
ventures and an associate and fair value of financial instruments.
Other key sources of estimation uncertainty are as follows:

(i)  Valuation of investment properties

As described in Note 11, investment properties are stated at
fair value based on the valuation performed by an independent
firm of professional valuers.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

2 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(Cont'd)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(i)

(ii)

Valuation of investment properties (Cont’d)

In determining the fair value of investment properties, the
valuers have based on a method of valuation which involves,
inter alia, certain estimates including current market rents and
market price for similar properties in the same location, and
condition, appropriate discount rates and expected future
market rents.

In relying on the valuation report, management has exercised
their judgement and is satisfied that the method of valuation is
reflective of the current market conditions.

Impairment for interests in joint ventures and an associate

As explained in note 1(m)(iii), the Group determines that
investment in joint ventures and an associate is impaired
when there has been a significant or prolonged decline
in the recoverable amount below its cost. Management
assesses the differences between the carrying amount and
recoverable amount and makes provision for impairment loss.
Any change in the assumptions adopted in calculating the
recoverable amount would increase or decrease the provision
for impairment loss and affect the Group’s financial position. In
determining the value in use, expected cash flows generated by
the assets are discounted to their present value, which requires
significant judgement relating to items such as level of discount
rates and the expected long-term growth rate. The Group uses
all readily available information in determining an amount that
is a reasonable approximation of recoverable amount, including
estimates based on reasonable and supportable assumptions
and projections of items such as revenue, amount of operating
costs.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

2 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(Cont'd)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(iii)

(iv)

Recognition of government grants

Government grants are initially recognised by the Group as
a deferred income in the consolidated statement of financial
position when an amount is received and are subsequently
recognised or amortised in profit or loss on a systematic basis
when there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the specific conditions attached to the government
grants. The Group is required to fulfil the requirements agreed
with the local governments when conducting the related
infrastructure construction and the Group assesses whether the
conditions attached to the government grants are met based
on management’s best estimates, particularly in interpreting
the fulfilment of conditions which are not clearly stated in the
respective agreements.

Provision for PRC LAT

As explained in note 6(a), the Group has estimated, made
and included in tax provision for PRC LAT according to the
requirements set forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations. The actual PRC LAT liabilities are subject to the
determination by the tax authorities upon completion of the
property development projects and the tax authorities might
disagree with the basis on which the provision for PRC LAT is
calculated. Significant judgment is required in determining
the level of provision, as the calculation of which depends on
the ultimate tax determination. Given the uncertainties of the
calculation basis of PRC LAT as interpreted by the local tax
bureau, the actual outcomes may be higher or lower than those
estimated at the end of the reporting period. Any increase or
decrease in the actual outcomes/estimates will impact the
income tax provision in the period in which such determination
is made.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

2 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(Cont'd)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(v)

(vi)

Determining the write-down for inventories

As explained in note 1(n), the Group’s leasehold land held
for future development, properties under development and
completed properties held for sale are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Based on the Group's recent
experience and the nature of the subject property, the Group
makes estimates of the selling price, the costs of completion
in case for properties under development, and the costs to be
incurred in selling the properties.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, write-down for completed properties held
for sale, properties held for future development and under
development may be resulted. Such provision requires the use
of judgment and estimates. Where the expectation is different
from the original estimate, the carrying value and write-down
for properties in the periods in which such estimate is changed
will be adjusted accordingly.

Given the volatility of the PRC property market and the
distinctive nature of individual properties, the actual outcomes
in terms of costs and revenue may be higher or lower than
estimated at the end of the reporting period. Any increase or
decrease in the write-down would affect profit or loss in future
years.

Impairment for trade and other receivables

The Group expected credit losses (ECL) for trade and other
receivables resulting from the inability of the customers to
make the required payments. The Group bases the estimates on
the aging of the trade and other receivable balance, customer
creditworthiness, and historical write-off experience. If the
financial condition of the customers were to deteriorate, actual
provisions would be higher than estimated.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

2 ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES 2 BEHIERR AR ()
(Cont'd)

Sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

et A HEE B 3= A9 3R (48)
(vii) EALHHE EER

(vii) Recognition of deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised and measured based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. In determining
the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets, expected taxable
profits are estimated which involves a number of assumptions
relating to the operating environment of the Group and require
a significant level of judgment exercised by the directors. Any
change in such assumptions and judgment would affect the
carrying amounts of deferred tax assets to be recognised and
hence the net profit in future years.

(viii) Determining the deferred taxation on investment properties

The Group has leased out certain of the completed properties
to third parties whereby the directors consider that such
arrangement is not temporary. In the circumstance, the Group
has decided to treat those properties as investment properties
(and reclassifying them from completed properties held for sale
to investment properties) because it is the Group’s intention
to hold these properties in long-term for rental income and/or
capital appreciation.

Under IAS 12, deferred tax is required to be measured with
reference to the tax consequences that would follow the
manner in which the entity expects to recover the carrying
amount of the assets in question. In this regard, IAS 12 has a
rebuttable presumption that the carrying amount of investment
property carried at fair value under IAS 40, Investment property,
will be recovered through sale. This presumption is rebutted
on a property-by-property basis if the investment property in
question is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale.

In this connection, the Group has reviewed its investment
property portfolio on a regular basis and has concluded that
as at 31 December 2023, the Group has determined that each
of these properties are held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time and
consequently the presumption in IAS 12 is rebutted for these
properties. As a result, the Group has continued to measure the
deferred tax relating to these other properties using the tax rate
that would apply as a result of recovering their value through
use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING

The principal activities of the Group are development, sales and
operation of residential properties, commercial trade and logistics
centers, and trading business in the Mainland China.

Revenue represents income from sales of properties, property
management services income, rental income and invoiced value of
goods sold, net of sales related taxes and is after deduction of any
trade discounts.

(a) Disaggregation of revenue

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

3 BARSEREE
AEENEEXHRETREAMETEED
X BHEDRTLERESZEHNFE - HE

s
N & i o

WASENERAERIE S 340 R 3H EHAM AR
MEEYE  MEEERBKA - H2UWA
KA mHEERTFE o

(@) WADfE
BEA WG IRE EE M REER o

major products or service lines is as follows: RGN
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ANEREBFT
Revenue from contracts with customers within BEEANEFSHWA
the scope of IFRS 15 B PR B A 3R 5 2E B S8 1558
- Sales of properties —YIEIEE 1,562,939 1,003,043
- Property management services — VB ERT 82,476 81,874
- Trading business —B5FE% 1,859,852 2,046,588
- Others — EHAh, 4,620 12,205
3,509,887 3,143,710
Revenue from other sources H RO BA
Rental income Ha A 20,634 24,370
3,530,521 3,168,080
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET AREBFT
Sale of properties by type of properties BRYESENYENEE
- Residential units —FEBN 1,168,234 740,817
— Commercial units — BN 394,705 262,226
1,562,939 1,003,043
Included in the sale of properties, approximately A E WM ER AR

RMB1,427,289,000 (2022: RMB934,068,000) was recognised
from completion of pre-sale units.

1,427,289,000 jT ( 2022 F : A R &
934,68,0007T ) 2K B SERK TE S A EE T ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEAN  GAAREIIR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd) 3 KARDEPHE (&)

(a) Disaggregation of revenue (Cont’d) (a)
Information about major customers

Revenue from customers contributing 10% or more of the total
revenue of the Group is as follows:

U A5 % ()

EEEFZEN

B B AR B B 10050 R B AR
T :

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBTTT

Customer A' EEA 1,019,422 892,352
Customer B’ =B 387,201 586,829
Customer C' EySle - 372,489
Note: MEE -
1. Revenue from trading business 1. REBHEBHUA

(b) Segment reporting (b) D EPIRE

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by a mixture of business lines (products and
services). In a manner consistent with the way in which
information is reported internally to the Group’s most senior
executive management for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment, the Group has identified two
reportable segments.

- Property development and related services: this segment
mainly provides revenue arising from the sale of
properties developed for sale in the ordinary course of
business. It also provides value-added business such as
property management services and rental services.

- Trading business: this segment mainly operates trading of
non-ferrous metals and chemical products.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd)

(b)

Segment reporting (Cont’d)

No operating segment have been aggregated in arriving at
the reporting segments of the Group as identified by the chief
operating decision makers. For the purposes of assessing
segment performance and allocating resources between
segments, the Group’s senior executive management monitors
the results, assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable
segment on the following bases:

Segment assets include all tangible, intangible assets and
current assets, and interests in joint ventures and an associate
directly managed by the segment, with the exception of
deferred tax assets, other non-current assets, other financial
assets and prepaid tax. Segment liabilities include trade and
other payables, amounts due to controlling shareholders,
other financial liabilities, deferred income, contract liabilities
and lease liabilities attributable to the sales activities of the
individual segments and senior notes and bank loans, other
financial liabilities and other borrowings managed directly
by the segments. Revenue and expenses are allocated to the
reportable segments with reference to sales generated by
those segments and the expenses incurred by those segments
or which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments.

The measure used for reporting segment profit is “adjusted
EBITDA” i.e. “adjusted earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortisation”, where “depreciation and
amortisation” is regarded as including impairment losses on
non-current assets. To arrive at adjusted EBITDA, the Group’s
earnings are further adjusted for items which are non-recurring
or not specifically attributed to individual segments, such as
other income, impairment loss on financial assets measured at
amortised cost, fair value gain on investment properties and
share of profits less losses of joint ventures.

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers,
revenue from other sources as well as information regarding
the Group's reportable segments as provided to the Group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
for the period is set out below.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

3 WARSEERE(HE)

(b)

2 ER R ()

REZRERREMR - EEEAKE
DERER - REHRENHIEL A
Bf o RFHED BRI R DB #B 2 BHY
BR - AEESEITHREEABTIRIA
TEEERZAZHRNBEGRE &
EREE:

DHEEREMBEL - BREERR
PEE  AEENHEEEFINESZ
EERBECEER  BEERAEE
HiIFRBEE - Ao EEMEN
HIARRSN o 7 BB B BB IE{ER 2 #f 2 35
ERPEEZE S REMENTIR - &
NIERBRFE - Rftemad  RmT
WA - &HaENHEHERE  BERE
MIRTTIEE A R At 2 R B E M EME
E B0 MERERE - WAKRFAXTS
RSEZFENMEEZHEREZEFD
MEENSH(ZENBEEEE T
ESEHEMELERIN DR T A28

DEB

ARRESBRENAERAER
EBITDA] ' BN AREMFIE - FIE - I
ERBERTRIE ] AP ITEME]
WRABEIIERDEERNRERK - 5
BHARES  AEENEFSE—F
FARELEEHSIEETRBNER DS
MIEE - PIEMUA ~ LABESEAK AR
ENEMEERBERIE  REWELK
DERAEEKRZESEDENFIERE
JE518 -

RO BEERMF LIRS #EEE M R
SESERITRERBRHNKEEFSG
FIEYA ~ SREH AR WAL RE
RSB RS DR HEE DB
o

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 & %k

185



/ e

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd) 3 KARDEPHE (&)
(b) Segment reporting (Cont'd) (b) HEHE (&)

Property development and

related services Trading business Total
NERBREBRY HmES st
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RVMB'000  RMB000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT ARBTR ARBTT ARBTR ARETR

Reportable segment revenue $R& 2 EIKA 1,670,669 1,121,492 1,859,852 2,046,588 3,530,521 3,168,080
g

Reportable segment (loss)/ &AM EX),/
profit (adjusted (LBITDA)/  BFI(EHZEH

EBITDA) Eﬁ(%}ﬁ)/ﬂ;&i) (250,458) (489,383) 9,577 (3,165) (240,881) (492,548)
Finance income B 9,027 42,749 10,301 24,762 19,328 67,511
Finance costs AR AN (276,841) (372,846) (16,349) (27,406) (293,190) (400,252)
Depreciation and amortisation E3PUHTE K 34

for the year (15,402) (16,/473) (265) (451) (15,667) (16,924)
Impairment loss on financial X SRR T E )

assets measured at SREERE

amortisation costs g (274,674) (138,804) (17,762) - (292,436) (138,804)

Impairment loss on assetsof (&R FEERIEE
disposal group classifiedas  JH{EEE

held for sale - (112,478) - - - (112,478)
Impairment loss on interests in A 20 E R

joint ventures REER - (88,759) - - - (88,759)
Fair value loss on investment R EWZERN N AEE

properties &8 (419,200) (677,364) - = (419,200) (677,364)
As at 31 December M12A31H
Reportable segmentassets T 2HHPEE 15,031,007 18962271 2,530,165 2,962,129 17,561,172 21,924,400
Reportable segment liabilities 7 235 3& & 13146361 15998281 2,132,429 2523049 15278790 18,521,330
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd)

(c) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, (loss)/ (c)

3 WARSEERE(HE)

A2|A YA - (E8),/FE -

profit, assets and liabilities

BEERABERAGX

2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARET R ARETIT
Revenue KA
Reportable segment revenue and consolidated A 23D FBATE HHIA
revenue 3,530,521 3,168,080
(Loss)/Profit (B518) /RE
Reportable segment (loss)/profit derived from IR Q Z—"E EINBER 2
Group's external customers WoEAEE EEIN
g}f' E’J—I#&“*B(Eféﬁ?@)/
A (240,881) (492,548)
Other net gain/(loss) HAbiFuas,(18K) 208,923 (56,202)
Impairment loss on financial assets measured at SRR ENSREE
amortisation costs PEREREES (292,436) (138,804)
Impairment loss on assets of disposal group HEFEHENEERERSE
classified as held for sale - (112,478)
Impairment loss on interests in joint ventures REECEEDREEER - (88,759)
Depreciation and amortisation Tﬁ & e iy (15,667) (16,924)
Fair value loss on investment properties WEYELAAERE (419,200) (677,364)
Unallocated share of losses of joint ventures RAORDIEEEDEEER 8,247 (273)
Unallocated share of losses of an associate RoBLoEHE & X EE (1,832) (525)
Unallocated finance costs RO BLRLE R AR (293,190) (400,252)
Finance income BATEUA 19,328 67,511
Consolidated loss before taxation BRELATS 1R (1,026,708) (1,916,618)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEAN  GAAREIIR)

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd) 3 KARDEPHE (&)

()

Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, (loss)/ (c)

profit, assets and liabilities (Cont’d)

A2 WKA - (BR), FE -
BEEREERGR(E)

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ET T AREFIT

Assets BE

Reportable segment assets A2WEDHEE 17,561,172 21,924,400
Elimination of inter-segment receivables I § 0 B A P U R IR (127,746) (143,514)
17,433,426 21,780,886

Interests in joint ventures HEPERER - 135,520

Interests in an associate B E DR 4,682 6,041
Deferred tax assets EEFTSRIABE 354,667 460,193
Other investments HEiRE 150,888 -
Other financial assets HEfhemEE - 2,009
Prepaid tax TR BEFRIA 278,237 322,752
Consolidated total assets BptHBEE 18,221,900 22,707,401
2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥ET T AREEF T

Liabilities =Rt

Reportable segment liabilities AE2RENHAamsE 15,278,790 18,521,330
Elimination of inter-segment payable HIH D B A 3R (127,746) (143,514)
15,151,044 18,377,816

Current tax liabilities BIHATRIE B & 799,562 691,910
Deferred tax liabilities EEFSRIARE 26,861 123,070
Consolidated total liabilities AHREE 15,977,467 19,192,796
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

3 REVENUE AND SEGMENT REPORTING (Cont'd)

(d)

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future
arising from contracts with customers in existence at
the reporting date

The following table includes revenue expected to be
recognised in the future related to performance obligations
that are unsatisfied at 31 December:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

3 WARSEERE(HE)

d RHEEMEFENTFENMER
TR B R YA

TREINEBR12AMEHRARBEITHE
HETTERR BRI -

2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET AREBTFT

Remaining performance obligations expected MBRTEAEEETRAUAT

to be satisfied: HAPRFEAT -

Within 1 year 16K 3,425,734 3,620,342
1 year to 2 years 1226 1,385,452 1,163,654
4,811,186 4,783,996

These amounts represent revenue expected to be recognised
in the future from pre-completion sales contracts for properties
under development entered into by the customers with
the Group. These amounts include the significant financing
components of the pre-completion properties sales contracts
under which the Group obtains significant financing benefits
from the customers (see note 1(w)(i)).

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of IFRS 15 to its property management service contracts
such that the above information does not include information
about revenue that the Group will be entitled to when it has a
right to invoice, which corresponds directly to the value to the
customer of the Group’s performance completed to date.

ZETRIEXRETFPERNKERERY
KRBT IHE A QTR A RE
REOWA - ZFLRBEATKYEE
EAMMEARERD  ARERELKE
EFREEABMENz= (LHEE1W) °

AEBEHEMESEREE OERAR
BREA TSRS RIS E 121 RN ER
EEAE B b ERTREARER
ERAEEREENENR=EEE
# - mAE RN EEAERZS TN E
HEEFPREBEREAR -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEAN  GAAREIIR)

4 OTHER NET INCOME/(LOSS) 4 HMBRIKA (HE%X)
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Net realised and unrealised fair value loss from BARBEREAEEETA
financial assets and liabilities measured at FVTPL EHBERNEREER
TRBENESERR
RERQAMEEK - (3,331)
Net loss on disposal of investment properties HEREMERFEIE = (18,874)
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEFARBFWRA Y 183,959 31,089
Gain/(loss) on written off of other non-current assets ~ E b 3ER B E E AR 3,818 (4171)
Net loss on disposal of debt securities HEEBES R FEE = (85,775)
Net (loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE - BEREBER
equipment W F(B1R), e (8,937) 30,606
Government grants BT 8 BN 23,236 1,266
Others EAh, 6,847 (7,012)

208,923 (56,202)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

5 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION 5 BRMRAEBIR
Loss before taxation is arrived at after (crediting)/charging: RAFIEBEGIA) /R T SBERED
(@) Finance income and finance costs (a) MIEWARBE KA
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBTT

Finance income E PN
Bank interest income RITFEUWA (11,756) (37,530)
Other interest income HiF B U A (7,572) (24,367)
(19,328) (61,897)
Foreign exchange gain Rl - (5,614)
(19,328) (67,511)
Finance costs BB A \
Interest on bank loans and other borrowings RITERREAMEETE 194,965 273,051
Interest on amounts due to a non-controlling JEA FEIE P i 2 BRIB FI B
interest 47,895 97,747
Interest on senior notes BRERF B 180,982 354,766
Interest on lease liabilities HEAERNE 46 1,683
Accrued interest on significant financing BHBENENRE SN
component of contract liabilities AT AE 6,528 15,210
Other borrowing costs EEEKA 35,771 64,039
466,187 806,496
Less: interest expense capitalised into properties & : AL BEATE R EHR
under development* MBI 244,991 406,244
add: foreign exchange loss e ERIEL 71,994 -
293,190 400,252
* The borrowing costs have been capitalised at a weighted average e BE KA B I 15 F F E427%-
rate of 4.27%-14.00% per annum (2022: 4.3%-14.00%). 14.00%(2022F : 4.3%-14.00%) AN ©
(b) Staff costs (b)y BIRA
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Salaries, wages and other benefits e TEREMBET 93,798 151,787
Equity settled share-based payment expenses AR A E DA D R ERE R
RS RAX 848 5,434
Contributions to defined contribution retirement  FRBHEFUEARETE]
plans 8,937 18,982
103,583 176,203
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

5 LOSS BEFORE TAXATION (Cont'd) 5 BRAGIRGE)

income in respect of government grants of RMB23,051,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB80,790,000) (note

26).
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EBEZRARLDF

(c) Otheritems (¢ EHfbEHE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET ARETFT
Depreciation and amortisation TE R
- plant and equipment (note 10) — B MR (BIRE10) 3,006 3,439
- right-of-use assets (note 10) —EREEEME0) 9,994 10,756
- intangible assets (note 12) —EREE (MEE12) 2,667 2,729
15,667 16,924
Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) EEE,(8E)
—trade and other receivables — 85 kA MEYIE 276,151 112,499
- financial guarantee contracts —2RERED 7,833 -
- finance lease receivables —BEHEE JEHSZ/TA - (2,315)
- amounts due from joint ventures —JEU A &R RIFUE 8,452 28,620
292,436 138,804
Impairment losses recognised WIEEE
- assets of disposal group classified as held for sale — HEFEMETFIEE - 112,478
- interests in joint ventures —REEDERER - 88,759
Auditor’s remuneration ZE AN &
- audit service —FEH AR 1,800 1,800
- other services — H b AR 750 750
2,550 2,550
Rental income from investment properties WEYFEHSRERERY
less direct outgoings (10,370) (12,876)
Cost of inventories sold BEEFERA
— properties (note (i) — MR (MREG)) 1,260,987 851,741
- commodities — AR 1,855,652 2,046,054
- Write-down of inventories —FEREEE 330,803 245,373
3,447,442 3,143,168
Note: Fi3E
(i)  Cost of properties sold is after netting off of utilisation of deferred (i) EHZE2023F12A831BIEFE &Y

¥R AN B HBR 5 A BT B A B RiE
FEUT A A R # 23,051,000 7T (2022 4F -
AER#80,790,0007T ) (Ff{3126) ©



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 6 ABHIREFEAMMER
OF PROFIT OR LOSS
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (a) EBHtEZERANTIERE
represents
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR®T T ARETTT

Current tax BRERBETE
PRC Corporate Income Tax (“PRC CIT”) (note (iii)) ~ FPEIDZEFERH ([ HEME
FRi8% 1) (5L (i) 66,160 31,530
PRC LAT (note (iv)) rh B+ AL (E T (B 3T Giv)) 108,282 89,249
174,442 120,779
Deferred tax ERERE
Origination/(reversal) of temporary differences TR E TR E S KB D
(note 14(b)) (MF=E14(b)) 4,465 (308,370)
178,907 (187,591)
Notes: BaE

(i) Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands, the
Group is not subject to any income tax in this jurisdiction.

(i) No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax was made as the Group
did not earn any income subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax for the
year (2022: Nil).

(i) PRCCIT

The Group's PRC subsidiaries are subject to statutory tax rate of
25% on their assessable profits.

(i)

(iii)

REREHSHRANER - REERZ
AR BRBMNERPTSH

ERIEHRUA - I EREBFIER
SHEBHE (20226 1 =) o
PR EMEH

REENTEFAREREERTAE
1225% ) EE R R -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 & %k

193



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB EEBEI - HUAREIIR)

6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 6 ASHRSFANMEBRGE)
OF PROFIT ORLOSS (Cont'd)
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (a) EOFHEZERAMNEIIEE(E)

represents (Cont’d)

Notes: (Cont'd) MIEE : (48)
(iv) PRCLAT (iv) PPt IB(ETR

PRC LAT which is levied on properties developed for sale by
the Group in the Mainland China, at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation value, which under the
applicable regulations is calculated based on the proceeds of
sales of properties less deductible expenditures including lease
charges of land use rights, borrowing costs and all qualified
property development expenditures. Deferred tax assets arising
from PRC LAT accrued are calculated based on the applicable
income tax rates when they are expected to be cleared.

In addition, certain subsidiaries of the Group were subject to PRC
LAT which were calculated based on 6% to 8% of their revenue in
accordance with the authorised tax valuation method approved
by respective local tax bureau.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that the
authorised tax valuation method is one of the allowable taxation
methods in the Mainland China and the respective local tax
bureaus are the competent tax authorities to approve the
authorised tax valuation method in charging PRC LAT to the
respective PRC subsidiaries of the Group, and the risk of being
challenged by the State Administration of Taxation or any tax
bureau of higher authority is remote.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

6 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 6 AHHRSIFRAMFAFER(E)
OF PROFIT OR LOSS (Cont'd)
(b) Reconciliation between income tax and accounting (b) FrETHEEiRE AR ENZETE
loss at applicable tax rates BEHNHER
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARET R ARETTT
Loss before taxation BRAATEE (1,026,708) (1,916,618)
Notional tax on loss before taxation, calculated at 28 BB @ AR FE
the rates applicable to profits in the countries MEFTERBRTATEER
concerned ZEHIA (256,738) (408,634)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR AT RIS E 1,522 149,958
Tax effect of non-taxable income BRI AT 55 2 = (50,763)
Tax effect of unused losses not recognised RIERREABRUIE LR
G2 82,322 71,358
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised AR IERE 514 = 2R TS
2 (25,111) (14,767)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses  f# F 5C Bl AR £ HERR OB 1B
B8 (12,784) (1,680)
Reversal of deferred tax assets recognised in prior ~ SART4F [E MER VIR FT 551
periods EEHE[D 308,484
PRC LAT (note 6(a)(iv)) B L R (E A (P E6(a)(iv)) 108,282 89,249
Tax effect on PRC LAT PR IR ET BT E (27,070) (22,312)
Total income tax FriSiiiEasa 178,907 (187,591)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

7 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 7 EFHM
Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the EZHMNRIBEEERREOIEIBMELEA
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the companies RI(BBEEEN R ER)ROIE 250 RN T ¢
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are
as follows:
2023 20235
Salaries
allowances  Retirement Share-based
and benefits scheme payments
Directors' fee inkind  contributions Sub-total (Note (i)) Total
NEREE
Ei DRAA
RUR B ERNAE
Ezne BNER HE L2 Nt (GED) @t

RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000
ARBTR  ARBTR ARRTR AR®TR AR®TR ARRTR

Executive directors: yrEs:
Luo Jieping (appointed on 20 July 2023) BN F (2023575 20E%(T) 45 800 15 860 = 860
Wong Choi Hing THA 100 600 - 700 - 700
Cai Hongwen =93¢ 100 600 - 700 - 700
He Fei feI 300 1520 4 1,864 848 2712
Wei Haiyan ek 100 700 44 844 - 844
Non-executive directors: FHTEE:
Zeng Yunshu (resigned as executive Director & 218 (142023%7 720

and Chairman and re-designated as a BERTESRIREL

non-executive directoron 20 July 2023)  FEAERTEES) 100 600 - 700 - 700
Feng Ke (resigned on 1 March 2023) BER(203F3A1RET) 44 - - 44 - 44

Independent non-executive directors:  BYFHTES :

Dai Yiyi (resigned on 7 April 2023) 87— (2035478 ED) 57 - - 57 - 57
Guan Huanfei B 158 - - 158 - 158
Han Qinchun 275 158 - - 158 - 158
Chen Yangsheng (appointed on 5 July 2023) FRI5 (202357 ASB& () 67 - - 67 - 67

1229 4820 103 6,152 848 7,000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

7 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Cont'd) 7 EFEHM(GE)
2022 20224F
Salaries
allowances Retirement Share-based
and benefits scheme payments
Directors' fee inkind  contributions Sub-total (note (i) Total
INEREE
- AR B
EHR BIR ERET
EE2ik ENET HElle Nt (Ftsta) @t

RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBTT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETT ARETR

Executive directors: HITES:
Wong Choi Hing (note (i) THE(HFG) 100 1625 - 1725 - 1725
Zeng Yunshu 2ER 100 875 - 975 - 975
Cai Hongwen BB 100 875 - 975 - 975
Yang Sanming (resigned on 27 June 2022)  #=B3(2022F6 A27 A EHE) 50 1,200 17 1267 595 1862
Wang Dewen (resigned on 27 June 2022) ~ T/&30(2022%6 A278E4T) 50 450 32 532 338 870
He Fei (appointed on 27 June 2022) AR (202F6A 278 ) 150 1,085 35 1270 215 1,485
Wei Haiyen (appointed on 27 June 2022) 38783 (20226 A27H Z1T) 50 433 34 517 - 517
Chen Junyu REAR

(appointed on 20 January 2022, (2022F1F208Z 1T

resigned on 6 May 2022) 202656 FH) 29 788 3 840 471 131
Non-executive director: FHTEE.
Feng Ke (appointed on 27 June 2022, HR(2002E6 A7 %

resigned on 1 March 2023) 2023F3/185H) 138 - - 138 - 138

Independent non-executive directors:  BY FHTEE

Lam Chi Yuen Nelson (resigned on WEE (202256 A20HEHT)

20 June 2022) 126 = = 126 17 143
Dai Yiyi (resigned on 7 April 2023) —(2023F4R7B5HT) 268 = = 268 = 268
Yue Zheng (resigned on 27 June 2022) 5 (2022%6 527 BFHT) 131 = = 131 18 149
Guan Huanfei (appointed on 27 June 2022) R 3E(2022F6 F27B Z1T) 138 = = 138 = 138
Han Qinchun (appointed on 27 June 2022)  BZ&(202256727E%(T) 138 = = 138 = 138

1,568 7331 141 9,040 1,654 10,694
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

7 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Cont'd)

Notes:

(i)  These represent the estimated value of share options granted to the
directors under the Company’s share option scheme. The value of these
share options is measured according to the Group'’s accounting policies
for share-based payment transactions as set out in note 1(t)(ii) and, in
accordance with that policy, includes adjustments to reverse amounts
accrued in previous years where grants of equity instruments are
forfeited prior to vesting.

The details of these benéefits in kind, including the principal terms and
number of options granted, are disclosed under the paragraph “Share
option scheme” in the directors’ report and note 31.

(i) On 20 January 2022, Mr. Wong Choi Hing has been re-designated from
an executive director to a non-executive director. On 27 June 2022,
Mr. Wong Choi Hing has been re-designated from a non-executive
Director and the chairman of the Board to an executive Director and
a co-chairman of the Board.

8 INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS 8

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, three of them
(2022: three) are directors. The emoluments of these directors are
disclosed in note 7. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of
other two (2022: two) individuals are as follows:

7 ESHH(E)

GEX

() REHEESEILRBARTDBREASET
EEMBRENAERE - BRENEER
PEPHFE () () P 2N Sk B DA RR 17 AR L 9 ST A%
RSB BRAE - REZBE - 21EF
BT etEm T REETREN RS TR
RIS RERFAE -

YRR R L B R I M 0 R AR AR
SRS ST GENEOE T
BB -

(i) 2022918208 THERNHTESATAS
JEHITES - WHN20229F6 827 B IEENTT
EERERC T EATANTESHRESTS
HIEERT ©

mEmmAL
RAEZEHFALT=ZEQ2002F  =Z%)A=E
F o ZEEENHINEENHIE7 - HibWA
(2022%F : MB ) &xEE ATHE MR I
T

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFT
Retirement scheme contributions RORGTEIME R 53 72
Equity settled share-based payment expenses VARE 25 45 & ARR {7 3 EERE Y
FZ - 475
Salaries, allowances and other benefits in kind e EZRREM 1,757 2,689
1,810 3,236
The emoluments with the highest emoluments are within the BEERHFATHEFMNTUATEHE :
following bands:
2023 2022
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE AE
Nil-HK$1,000,000 Z£%1,000,00075 7T 2 =
HK$1,500,001-HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7T % 2,000,000/ 70 - 2
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(Br=HEHI

BUANRETIR)

LOSS PER SHARE 9 BwBEBR
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET R AREFT
Loss attributable to shareholders of the Company PiN/NCT Y Y g =] 1,214,747 (1,571,832)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares, for FTEEREAREE 2 LB
the purposes of calculating basic loss per share s (i)
(shares in thousands) 453,735 453,735
Basic loss per share (RMB cents) FIREREB(ARED) (267.7) (346.4)

Diluted loss per share is the same as basic loss per share for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, as the share options had anti-
dilutive effect on ordinary shares for the year because the exercise
price of the Company’s share options was higher than the average
market price of the Company’s shares in the year, and the effect of
deemed issue of shares under the Company’s employee share option

scheme for nil consideration was anti-dilutive.

BRIERITRND

HE2023F M2022F 128318 IEFE - 5%
BB REgRENBERR - RRAAA
AN FAREERETEESR AR TR, F
BHHE WERBEYFTFALBERAEGREE
ERRIBEARANE THREAZINTY
IR E D WREE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 10 Y% BERE
Ownership Other
interests in properties
land and leased Motor

buildings held for own vehicles

for own use use carried and other Office
carried at cost atcost fixed assets equipment Total
FEEALH

MEENEN  HMURE Z5H- =§
FrefEs  SHELEN  REMEE
BAATE ERERES aE WK st
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Mz ARETT  ARBTR  ARETT  ARETRT  ARETR

Cost: B

At 1 January 2022 #2021 818 444,226 10,674 126,154 52,859 633,913
Additions NE 123 2413 230 620 3,386
Transfer to investment properties AR A ¥ 11() (94,898) - - - (94,898)
Disposals HE (94,898) (5,916) (42,752) (8,627) (152,193)
Disposal of subsidiaries PEFAH 19() (32,383) (551) (5103) (2,351) (40,388)
Transfer to assets of disposal group £ 9 AHE A F SR

classified as held for sale BE 33 - (774) (883) (578) (2,235)
At 31 December 2022 and R20225 124318 &

1 January 2023 202351918 222,170 5,846 77,646 41,923 347,585
Additions R - 785 10 93 888
Transfer to investment properties & A1R A% 11(a) (189,796) - - - (189,796)
Disposals & (31,834) (4,663) (4,155) (412) (41,064)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFRT 19(e) - (598) (1,113) (1,640) (3,351)
Transfer from assets of disposal REFEREEREE

group classified held for sale EEp) - 774 883 578 2,235
Exchange realignment P& 3 % - - 35 1 36
At 31 December 2023 120235124317 540 2,144 73,306 40,543 116,533
Accumulated depreciation: ZEHE
At 1 January 2022 #2021 818 63,053 8,082 111,147 48,897 231,179
Charge for the year AEFE 7,914 2,842 1,193 2,246 14,195
Transfer to investment properties &A1 &Y% (13,140) - - - (13,140)
Written back on disposals B RE (14,183) (5911) (38,740) (8,148) (66,982)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFRT 19(f) (1,023) (275) (3,305) (1,717) (6,320)
Transfer to assets of disposal group £ 9 A# A F SR

classified as held for sale BE 33 - (408) (23) (119 (550)
At 31 December 2022 and R20225F12A310 K

1 January 2023 2023F1A1H 42,621 4,330 70,272 41,159 158,382
Charge for the year KEWE 9,089 905 2,767 239 13,000
Transfer to investment properties &A1 &Y% (29,634) = = = (29,634)
Written back on disposals REHRE (21,914) (3,740) (3,107) (228) (28,989)
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFRAH 19(e) = (457) (1,012) (1,269) (2,738)
Transfer from assets of disposal B AREMEREE

group classified held for sale EE{pa) = 408 23 119 550
Exchange realignment B A - - 34 1 35
At 31 December 2023 20235124311 162 1,446 68,977 40,021 110,606
Net book value: A
At 31 December 2023 #2023E12831H 378 698 4,329 522 5927
At 31 December 2022 #2022%12A31H 179,549 1,516 7,374 764 189,203
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont'd)

The leasehold buildings are all situated on land in the Mainland
China.

Certain bank loans granted to the Group were jointly secured by
property, plant and equipment with a book value of RMBNil (2022:
RMB158,508,000) (note 22), and certain properties which were
disposed to certain third parties during the year. The aggregate
carrying value of that properties prior to the disposal was
RMB160,162,000 (2022: RMB80,715,000). As at 31 December 2023,
the property ownership certificates have not yet been transferred to
the vendees as the Group is still in negotiation with the bank for the
release of the pledge.

Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of
underlying asset is as follows:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

10 M3 - WHE R (&)

ZEHERT 2N TEAM -

AEBERMNETRTERARMEARE
T (202245 © AR ¥ 158,508,000 7T ) H ¥
¥ BB MERBLREER(ME22) - Uk
FRRERETE=ZANETYE - ZZW
XEHEFMEEEAS AR 160,162,000 T
(2022 : AR #80,715,0007T) ° & & 20234
12A31H » BRAEB (AR T R
L RREERNARBEHRET -

EHEEE
WAAEERRS D NERREERTFE
DT

2023 2022
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000
BfaE AR¥T T ARETTT
Included in “Property, plant and equipment”: EPNE/ERN: GG
Ownership interests in leasehold land and RATER AT IR R B A
buildings held for own use, carried at ME T REFHHE#E
depreciated cost W i)
- 50 years or more —ATEFEHMNE - 21,380
- between 10 and 50 years —TFERT+F 378 158,169
378 179,549
Other properties leased for own use, carried at RITER ARSI RFER A
depreciated cost HEREMYE (ii) 698 1,516
1,076 181,065
Included in “Investment properties”: A E ] -
Ownership interests in leasehold investment BRAREHNERNEERE
property, carried at fair value, with remaining MERHEE R
lease term of:
- less than 10 years —DRTE = =
- between 10 and 50 years —TFEER+F 1,660,100 1,901,500
1,660,100 1,901,500
Included in “Inventories and other contract AAITFEREMEH
costs”: BXAR ]
Leasehold land held for future development RRFGFHBEHET MR
and properties under development M 3,243,277 4,287,428
Completed properties for sale BIEFEE T IME 1,598,977 589,692
4,842,254 4,877,120
6,503,430 6,959,685
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

10 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont'd)
Right-of-use assets (Cont’d)

The analysis of expense items in relation to leases recognised in
profit or loss is as follows:

10 M3 - WHE R (&)

EREEE ()
KRB IB RN EEE A OB AER HH
T -

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets by class of  ¥ZIZ )& E 48 RIE D &5 FA%E

underlying asset: BERESR
Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings ~ #FHEE AWM E Liv RIEFH
BEERERS 9,089 7914
Other properties leased for own use BIEEREENEMmYE 905 2,842
9,994 10,756
Interest on lease liabilities (note 5(a)) HEBEN S (HFE50) 46 1,683
Expense relating to short-term leases REHEREER 2,549 2,838

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets classified as property,
plant and equipment were RMB785,000 (2022: RMB2,413,000). This
amount primarily related to the capitalised lease payments payable
under new tenancy agreements.

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the maturity analysis of
lease liabilities are set out in notes 19(d) and 25, respectively.

(i)  Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings held for
own use

The Group holds several buildings as its office. The Group is
the registered owner of these property interests, including the
whole or part of undivided share in the underlying land.

Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire these
property interests from their previous registered owners, and
there are no ongoing payments to be made under the terms of
the land lease.

(ii) Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other properties as its
office and dormitory through tenancy agreements. The leases
typically run for average period of 2 to 3 years (2022: 2 to 5
years). Lease payments are usually increased by each year to
reflect market rentals.

B FE G A EEE AR7850007T (2022
F: AR#2,413,0000) O BEME - BB
K& - EEREFZERFAHTRMNNE
NEBEAER -

HEmReRtRERHEEaENEIE T
5D RIS FHIFE19(d) K 25 °

() HEERANBEEL M REFHHEEE
v, 4
AEBEREEREBFERERAE - K
SEETELEMERENEMEBA - B
EEELIHNEE XA RDEDE -

—IRMENRRA T {ELARTHY TER 2 3B
ERGELYERS  MRELHWEE
G PHRBETNR

(i) FHIEERAHEENEMYE
SERBHERS  ESTEREMY
EEAPAEMESHER - HE—HK
A2E35(20224F : 2854F) - HEBEE
FEHSE - URETISHES -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 11 {EME
(@) Reconciliation of carrying amount of investment (a) BEYXEREHEYHER
properties
Other
properties
leased for own
Completed use carried
properties at fair value Total
RAREBE
Sl BRIS1E
BAEERN
ExIYE Hihz et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT

At 1 January 2022 202241 A18 2,733,000 17,900 2,750,900
Transfer from property, plantand {t¥12% - FE K&

equipment 103,700 - 103,700
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFRAF(FE19(0)*

(Note 19(f))* (229,836) (13,600) (243,436)
Fair value adjustments NAEFE (674,364) (3,000) (677,364)
Disposals k= (31,000) (1,300) (32,300)
At 31 December 2022 and 72022612 4318 &

1 January 2023 202341818 1,901,500 - 1,901,500
Transfer from property, plantand  #4¥71% - BiE & 4E

equipment 177,800 - 177,800
Fair value adjustments NAERE (419,200) - (419,200)
At 31 December 2023 72023F12H31H 1,660,100 - 1,660,100
Representing i
Valuation - 2023 {8 —2023F 1,660,100 - 1,660,100
Valuation - 2022 1B —20224F 1,901,500 - 1,901,500
Book value SREE
At 31 December 2023 72023F12A31H 1,660,100 = 1,660,100
At 31 December 2022 1202212 H431H 1,901,500 - 1,901,500
*  During the year 2022, the Group disposed certain investment *  AEER0R2FABALEFAGH

properties and other properties leased for own use through the EREMENFEEABEENH MY
disposal of subsidiaries. As at 31 December 2022, the Group is ¥ o B ZE2022F12A31H - A&EE
still in progress for the amendment of the property ownership EHHEAERAFEER - ¥ LilmENEE
certificates to transfer the legal title of these properties to the FIEREEREHEFARAT < %
disposed subsidiaries. This transfer was completed during the ER2023FNE FERK ©

year ended 2023.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEAN  GAAREIIR)

11 BREME(E)
(b) REWMENRAAEBEFE

11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'd)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties

(i)  Fair value hierarchy (i) RREER
Fair value
measurement
Fair value as at
as at 31 December
31 December 2023
2023 categorised
(Level 3) into level 3
12023F
2023F 1283188
1283188 DEDH
DRE E=HH
(=) AREFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AR¥T T
Recurring fair value measurement BEMQAABRE
Investment properties - /ES 1,660,100 1,660,100
Fair value
measurement
Fair value as at
as at 31 December
31 December 2022
2022 categorised
(Level 3) into level 3
20229F
20224 12A318H
12A31HM® DD
NAE BEZHEW
(B=4) AREFE
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T AREEFTT
Recurring fair value measurement BEMAABRE
Investment properties &Y 1,901,500 1,901,500
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'd)

(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties
(Cont’'d)

(i)

(ii)

Fair value hierarchy (Cont’d)

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers
into or out of Level 3 (2022: Nil). The Group’s policy is to
recognise transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy as
at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

All of the Group's investment properties carried at fair
value were revalued at the end of each year ended date.
The valuations as at 31 December 2023 were carried out
by an independent firm of surveyors, Moore Transaction
Service Limited (“Moore”), who have among their staff
hold recognised professional qualification with recent
experience in the location and category of property being
valued. The Group's property manager and the senior
management have discussion with the surveyors on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuation is performed at the reporting date.

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

Valuation techniques

&E %

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

11 _EME(E)
BREYENDIRETEE)

(i) AAEERE)

BH 220227202312 8318 1t
FE - F-AREF_HKERE
R RJEE A E =R
(2022%F : &) - AEBEMBERER
ERHENRERARERRIAES
8 2 Rz -

REFEZ&KB - NEBFE MU
PABEIRZREYESHETE
i » 7A2023F 12 A31 HWHERE
ORISR AT KRERRE R SR
BAEBRAR([KREZH)(EET
BHERNBEEEER - BY
it EMEEME RFTBENE
MEAAERE A5 ) ETTE L - A%
EVECENSAEEEDRRE
BT EREE SR wma B
BERERGELER -

(i) BEE=RAALESBZEH

Unobservable input

TAUBEENHARE

Range
gE

Investment properties Market comparison method

e=ES SLER

Investment properties Income capitalisation method

REME W BAOR

Market value (RMB/sq.m.)

MiHEE
(ARE/FT5K)

Yield

Wegs

Market monthly rental rate
(RMB/sg.m.)

mHEAME
(AR¥TT/FTK)

42,400-55,000
(2022: 53,000-58,000)

3.5%to 5.5%
(2022:3.5% to 6.5%)

11.7-125
(2022: 22.4-90)
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

11 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont'd) 11 BEME(E)
(b) Fair value measurement of investment properties (b) REWMENAAREFTE(E)
(Cont'd)
(i) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (i) BEE=RAIAETEZEHR
(Cont’d) (#&)

The fair value of investment properties is generally
derived using the income capitalisation method or market
comparison method. This income capitalisation method is
based on the capitalisation of the income and reversionary
potential income by adopting appropriate capitalisation
rates, which are derived from analysis of sale transactions
and valuers’ interpretation of prevailing investor
requirements or expectations. The prevailing market rents
adopted in the valuation have reference to recent lettings
within the subject properties and the estimated rental
incremental observed in other comparable properties. The
market comparison method is determined by reference to
recent sales price of comparable properties on a price per
square metre basis, adjusted for a premium or a discount
specific to the quality of the Group's properties compared
to the recent sales.

Certain bank loans granted to the Group were jointly
secured by investment properties with a book value of
RMB724,000,000 (2022: RMB648,900,000) (note 22).

(c) Leases of investment properties (c)

The Group leases out investment properties under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of 1 to 7 years
(2022: 1 to 4 years), with an option to renew the lease after that
date at which time all terms are renegotiated. Lease payments
are usually increased each year to reflect market rentals. None
of the leases includes variable lease payments.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable operating
leases in place at the reporting date will be receivable by the
Group in future periods as follows:

BREMEN R E-RFARRE
RERTIZLLELETE - WEER
ADNENBBRAEE 2 BN
o BRA N BEERRABTE
o MERMELLRTYBBHHER
ZRGEMDTERREE 2 ER
FHLMSH o HERARANT
BERESREZMENIHERIS
AREAM AT LY X BB RN
HEIZIMEE - TIHLESETIE
BSEHMA L BMERIIHIHE
BEEASFIANERRER) -
REAEBREYENE SR
HEERBRETEE RN

%Eko

AEEERNE TRTEFTUAER
B8 A R #724,000,0007T (2022512
A318 : AR¥648,900,0007T ) #Y
B MEVEEIR(H5E22) ©

BREYHEREE
AREBUKEHEFALAREY
¥ - HAONRVBAR —REB1E27F
(2022F : 1244 ) - WAEREAMAIK
HEFHENASZBESRHEY - e
BEESEHSEN  URMTHEES -
FEUHETEETENAENR -

EREAHEERN T BUBLEHE
ETHARBRRES - NEBBE TR
B BRI IR

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARBTT

Within 1 year —FR 13,389 5,220
After 1 year but within 2 years —FRIEMFA 12,475 3,903
After 2 years but within 3 years MERE=FA 12,934 4,600
After 3 years but within 4 years =HFIREMFER 12,716 4,926
After 4 years but within 5 years UFREBERFNA 13,000 5277
After 5 years hFE 39,158 37,115

103,672 61,041

206 GUANGDONG - HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED 2278 3% iz 5 PR /A 7]



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

12 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

12 |LEE

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

Software and
franchises

granted

BERET

Note RMB’000
B E ARETTT

Cost: A

At 1 January 2022 2022561 H1H 25,136
Additions NE 203
Disposal of subsidiaries HETAA 19(f) (1,263)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 72022612 4318 K&2023F1 518 24,076
Disposal of subsidiaries HETRAA 19(e) (254)
At 31 December 2023 72023F 12 A31H 23,822
Accumulated amortisation: Z5HRE -

At 1 January 2022 7202241818 9,254
Charge for the year FAZH 2,729
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFAF 19(f) (488)
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 7202212 A31H K2023F1H1H 11,495

Charge for the year FRZH 2,667

Disposal of subsidiaries HEFAT 19(e) (37)
At 31 December 2023 72023512 A31H 14,125

Net book value: BREFE -

At 31 December 2023 72023512 H31H 9,697

At 31 December 2022 7202212 H31H 12,581
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

13 INTERESTS INJOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES 13 »
(@) Interestsin joint ventures/other investment (a)

Details of the Group's interests in the joint ventures, which is
accounted for using the equity method in the consolidated
financial statements, is as follows:

SELRRBELENER
ReghXmEs HitRE
AEEREEEENES (RERER
BHMEIRRIIBR)FHIFIT

Proportion of ownership interest
gt il
Place of Particulars of Group's
incorporation and issued and effective  Held by the Held by
Name business paid-up capital interest Company  subsidiaries Principal activities
EMEIR BEAR rEE KA F4F
£ EXud BARRAHE  BRER ks fis TEEH
Hydoo Best Group Co,, Ltd. Thailand Baht2,196,003,600/ - - 3643% Property development
("Hydoo Best") (note (i)) Baht2,196,003,600  (2022: 36.43%)
FH %2,196,003,600, FHERE
7#%2,196,003,600
Huizhou Dayawan Hydoo Yingtai PRC RMB10,000,000/ 67.00% - 67.00% Consulting Service
Investment Co,, Ltd RMB10,000,000 (2022: 67%) (2022: 67%)
ENATRRRERREABRAT e AR 10,000,000/ BARE
AE10,000000
Beijing Sunac Hydoo Corporate PRC RMB3,000,000/ - - - Property development
Management Company Limited RMB3,000,000  (2022:67.00%) (2022:67.00%)
("Beijing Sunac”) (note (ii))
ERRERAICKERERAR G AF#3,000000/ FlERE
AE3,000,000

The Group and the other shareholders of the above joint
venture agree to share control of the arrangement and have
rights to the net assets of the arrangement based on the
composition of governing bodies.

Aggregate information of joint venture that is not individually

AREBRALEEERNEMBERES
M EWED ZUIRLHEIEHIE - XA
BENTERPINERER Ll ZHEH
FEE °

ERPEEBRAERRMBEER

material:
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBT T ARBFT
Aggregate carrying amount of individually ERIFEEFZEEEREREO

immaterial joint ventures in the consolidated MR MREAE

financial statements = 136,897
Aggregate amounts of the Group's share of those AEEEHZESEREFE

joint ventures’ gain/(loss) for the year Wz, (E518) # % 8,247 (273)
Total comprehensive gain/(loss) 2mEdkss (518 ) a5 8,247 (273)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

13 INTERESTS INJOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES
(Cont'd)

(@) Interests in joint ventures/other investment (Cont’d)

(i)

Hydoo Best

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s interests in Hydoo
Best amounted to Nil (2022: RMB135,443,000).

In 2018, Hydoo Best was unable to get reimbursement
of the cost of certain pieces of land which have to be
returned to the original vendor by the order of the court.
In addition, the joint venture partner of Hydoo Best was
obligated to repurchase certain shares in Hydoo Best held
by the Group but failed to do so within the specified time
frame. This resulted in a loss on the interest in Hydoo Best
held by the Group. In 2019, the Group brought a lawsuit
against the joint venture partner in the regard.

In December 2023, the Supreme Court of Thailand
rendered the final judgement that the joint venture
partner of Hydoo Best should buy back certain shares
held by the Group in Hydoo Best at the amount of
THB450,000,000 plus the interest at 15% per annum
from 15 November 2015 till the settlement, and the joint
venture partner should also compensate the Group for
penalties and other expenses. As at 31 December 2023,
the total repurchase amount calculated together with
the penalties and other expenses was THB1,070,882,000
(approximately RMB222,060,000). The Group is expected
to be remedied from the auction proceeds of the assets of
the joint venture partner seized by the court.

The directors expect that the Group will be able to
recover part of its interest in Hydoo Best by applying
public auction of the land pieces still held by Hydoo Best
based on the legal opinion obtained from an external
legal counsel. With reference to the fair value of these
land pieces which were assessed by the Group’s directors
based on a valuation report prepared by external valuers,
the Group has made a provision for impairment loss
of RMB19,752,000 on the interest in Hydoo Best and a
specific loss allowance of RMB19,613,000 on the amount
due from Thailand joint ventures in 2018. Based on the
fair value of the land pieces assessed as at 31 December
2023, the directors considered that no further provision
for impairment loss was necessary during the year.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

13 REELERBELENED(HE)

(a) REELENERS HiRE(E)

(i)

Hydoo Best

B2023F 12 8318 A& E
% Hydoo Best #) I 5 # 5 & &
(R2022F 128318+ AR
135,443,0007T) °

fE20184F + Hydoo BestfE /AIE1S A
Eitn e MARERREAN T
B AR R AR EE (& o L4+ Hydoo
Bestt & &2 B H ABRBU AN EEE
[B13% 4 HyHydoo BestHy & T 1D -
BRERFETELEST &
3B N 5 B ¥ Hydoo Bestf) % & 18
K o R2019%F - AEERE &R
BULEIRE TR -

R2023F 128 TEESERH
BT #RZE AR - #<Hydoo BestH)
AREBHEEEDAERFAN
Hydoo Best#)%& T () - EEE S FE
/450,000,000 Z= &k 30 AN T 1% F b
15%:t EHE2015F11 B15B 24
HHAEONFE - SINETEER
SEENSREMER - H=2023
F12A318 - FIEMNBELSER
AERENENS REMBRAAE
%9 52 $£1,070,882,000 (3T & 4 A
R #222,060,0007T) ° ANEEFEET
AILAEEFREN S ERHEEER
IAEFTSHEEHEE -

BT - ERNTEUSAIIND AR
ERAEEER  BHAEET
LA 3B B 7€ 15 Hydoo Best{J#F B H) £
3 LA U [8] E 7E Hydoo Best#) 2890 #%
B o B EREEESHAINS
BERMARE A ERS EH T E %
EIHMMAAEE - NEER2018
F HiHydoo Best¥ Mg & (E L R (E
BB A R #19,752,0007T & 5t
FENZ A E A RNFIEERETEE
BB AR %19,613,0007T ° ER
ZETHFR2023F 12 A31BM AR
BE ZEFRALNFETE—TH
BB E R -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

13 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES 13 REELEXRBELEDER(HE)
(Cont'd)
(@) Interests in joint ventures/other investment (Cont’d) (a) RNEELENER HMaRE(ER)
(i)  Hydoo Best (Cont'd) (i) Hydoo Best(#&)
The fair value of the land pieces still held by Hydoo Best HZE2023F 128318 - TREEDR
was revalued as at 31 December 2023. The valuations ENFEHN LI AR EBEREL
were carried out by an independent firm of surveyors, REMITREFZRMHEETAEBEE
Moore, who have among their staff hold recognised RAURBEEEER - BEYMEE
professional qualification with recent experience in the MM B RFTE R R A EIAE
location and category of property being valued. The B2 B ETTERN - AEBEYE
Group’s management have discussion with the surveyors KIERERERED RIS BETT
on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when HERER 2R R A B ERR
the valuation is performed at the reporting date. DEEER -
Valuation techniques Unobservable input Range
HEGE RPN ¢ &iE
Land Direct market comparison approach  Average market price RMB646/sq.m. to
(RMB/sq.m.) RMB721/sq.m.

(2022: RMB624/sg.m. to
RMB887/sq.m.)

HHAOLH EETMSLEE FHTSE AE#E646F 7K E
(AR¥E/FFHK) ARB7I21F K
(2022 : AR¥624F 75 K%
AE#887F 77 K)
The fair value of properties located in Thailand is R REFEHERN A DEBERA
determined using market comparison approach by MHLEE - 2RI EERD
reference to recent sales price of comparable properties HISHEEIE - UMEFEHRNERK B
on a price per square metre basis, adjusted for a premium AR REBEAELETHHESNE
or a discount specific to the quality of Hydoo Best's land MRS E AR R (B ST HETH
pieces compared to the recent sales. Higher premium for B gt R=aE RSN
higher quality land pieces will result in a higher fair value R AAEESE -
measurement.
During the year ended 31 December 2023, in the opinion HZE2023F12A31BLEEFE - &K
of the management of the Group has lost the common SEEEERE  AKEDEKY
control in the Hydoo Best, and after the Hydoo Best Hydoo Best#) £ [E1ZHI# - B [E
Repurchase, the Group should have lost the common #Hydoo Bestf% + ANEBE TR AE
control in Hydoo Best, the interest in joint venture with Hydoo Best# K R G  iZ2&
its carrying amount approximately to its fair value was ERENESNEREENAAAE
reclassified to “other Investment”. B ENHEEIHMIRE] -
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13 INTERESTS INJOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Cont'd)

(a)

(b)

Interests in joint ventures/other investment (Cont’d)
(ii)  Beijing Sunac

During the first half of 2023, the Group disposed its entire
interest in a wholly-owned subsidiary Ganzhou Hydoo
Investment Management Limited (“Ganzhou Hydoo
Investment”) (note 19(e)), which held 67% interest in
Beijing Sunac Hydoo Corporate Management Company
Limited (“Beijing Sunac”, which was previously a joint
venture of the Group). Subsequent to the disposal, Beijing

Sunac is no longer a joint venture of the Group.

Interest in an associate

The following list contains the particulars of an associate, which
is unlisted corporate entity whose quoted market price is not

available:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

13 REELERBELENED(HE)

(a) REEDLENER HtwE (|
(i) EREA

R2023F FHF  AEBBRE TH
2EMBARBMNREREEER
RAF([EMBRERE N Z I
#E(KIEE19e)) » MBINBEERE
BEILRBARECEEEARA
RI(THtREA ] FAKRER /K
BENR))67T%HIIRIE - HETTK
% b RRAITBEAERNAE
AR

(b) MEFEEMNER

TREY| AL D ERARFFE - LB
ERER/IELTAR - ERRETISR
B

Proportion of ownership interest

FrE LA
Place of Particulars of Group's
incorporation issued and effective  Held by the Held by
Name of associate and business paid up capital interest ~ Company subsidiaries Principal activities
MR BRTR S 3 YN FRF
i B BRRAFE ERER Pt s TEER
Revere Effort Limited British Virgin US$10/US$10 30% 30% - Investment holding
Islands (2022:30%) (2022:30%)
HEBRAF HBEARES 10ET/10ET REER
ZEE P ENGE M B RERANCAER
The associate is accounted for using the equity method in the HEAER o

consolidated financial statements.

Information of the associate that is not individually material:

ERIFEERBERBNER -

2023 2022
RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARET T AREEFTT
Carrying amount of the associate in the BERIFFEZHE A TNE G
consolidated financial statements B mEMERARE 4,682 6,041
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share of an REBEGZHERREE
associate’s loss for the year R4 EE (1,832) (525)
Total comprehensive loss T EEERE (1,832) (525)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS B1 7% #R 3R By &%

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAIN - IAARKTIR)

14 SHMBIKARABFRER

14 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(@) Currenttaxation in the consolidated statement of

financial position represents

(a) EOFMBMRIRRAKENEABIERE

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®F T AREFIT
Prepaid tax: FEIBIE -

PRC CIT RS FTIS 108,724 57,146
PRC LAT AR b (E R 169,513 265,606
278,237 322,752

Current tax liabilities: ENEAREEE -
PRC CIT R EE TSR 158,186 251,523
PRC dividend withholding tax AR AR BTENFL 27,438 27,438
PRC LAT AR B i (E R 613,938 412,949
799,562 691,910
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

14 SHMBIKARAEBFRER(E)

14 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Cont'd)

(b)

CRZELEHEEERAE

(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised () ETHELSERSESHLDS
(i)  Movement of each component of deferred tax assets L-J )
and liabilities R BT R R RIE B
The components of deferred tax (liabilities)/assets (BE) /BEOHEKIT S RERS
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial SENT
position and the movements during the year are as
follows:
BIEFIIERA T SIEEA ¢
Deferred tax arising from:
Fair value Fair value Fair value
adjustment  adjustments adjustment
for  arising from forother  Amortisation Provision for Other
investment  acquisition of  Provision for financial ~ of capitalised ~ Credit loss Deferred ~ Provisionfor  construction  temporary
properties  subsidiaries  inventories Tax losses assets contractcosts  allowance income PRCLAT cost expenses Total
WEFAT EfeR
RENEN  EENOR BEN  EALED R FELH BRALK At
MERE  EEER FEBE  REFE  OAESE AAEE BERE  BEGA RERRE B ERER Eh
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETn  ARETn  ARETn  ARETn  ARETR ARETR ARETR  ARETR  ARETR
1 January 2022 W2E1R18 (276,052) (13.263) 25359 181,863 (1,856) (9466) 16,988 54890 75180 4,186 2,19 60628
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFAA(HER90)
(note 19(f) (27,774) - - - - 385 - - (13,981) 5451 (1456) (37,375)
Defered taxliablitis arsen 0% BERREEA
from transfer of property, REMEELNET
plantand equipmentto REEE
investment properties (5485) - - - - - - - - - - (5485)
Transfer to disposal group PR EREER
classified as held for sale BfE(M)
(note 33) - 24 - (1,524) - - - - - 12,285 - 10985
Credited/(charged)to the RAHERR(R)/
consolidated statement of sAU ()
profit or loss (note 6(a)) 169341 9477 60328 79674 833 (7363) 11,182 (14338) 18313 (17,736) (1341) 308370
At31 December 2022 and R2ENANAR
1 January 2023 0BE1A1R (139,970) (3,562) 85,687 260,013 (1,023) (16,444) 28170 40,552 79512 4186 2 33713
Disposal of subsidiaries HEFAF (HE19e)
(note 19(e)) = (44,878) = 38,686 1,023 3,643 (216) - - 12,285 - 10,543
Defered tax lablities arsen 0% BERREES
from transfer of property, REMEELNET
plantand equipmentto RERE
investment properties (4410 - - - - - - - - = = (4410
Transfer from disposal group Bt EFEER
classified as held for sale BEEA = (224) = 1524 = = = = = (12:285) = (10,985)
Credited/(charged) to the REfHERE (R
consolidated statement of A E6()
profit orloss (note 6(a)) 136,456 48,664 674 (155,789) - 7012 57,618 (620) (98,488) 1 7 (4,465)
Asat 31 December 2023 2035128317 (7,924) - 86,361 144434 - (5,789) 85,572 39932 (18,976) 4181 9 327,806

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 & %k

213



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

14 SHBEKARAHMERR)
14 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Cont'd) (b) BRDECHEEERSEH)
(b) Deferred tax assets and liabilities recognised (Cont’d) (i) BAALEEI B £
(ii)  Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of
financial position
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RE H AR & MR
consolidated statement of financial position  ¥EEFHTEE &R E 354,667 460,193
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised inthe A& GBI SRR R HER K
consolidated statement of financial position ~ JEIEFRIE & (H/F 58 (26,861) (123,070)
327,806 337,123
() RERELEHEEE
(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised BB &S « 702023
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 1(u), F128318  AEBWEABEETFA
the Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of AR 25T IEE B A K #312,928,0007T
cumulative tax losses of certain subsidiaries of RMB312,928,000 (20224 : AR#519,097,0007T ) HERHE
as at 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB519,097,000). The directors ERIBEE - EFRAETAOEEER
consider it is not probable that future taxable profits against MG aDERE R L B EEn AR E
which the losses can be utilised will be available in the relevant EBH R R FERRIF)E o

tax jurisdiction and entities.

RARAEE R - RIERRBIREB BN A
The unrecognised tax losses will expire by the end of the TEMEREEm -
following years, if unused:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT

2023 2023 - 71,509
2024 2024 32,250 80,918
2025 2025 26,957 77,965
2026 2026 26,950 58,620
2027 2027 92,391 230,085
2028 2028 134,380 -
Total B5T 312,928 519,097
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

14 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Cont'd)

(d)

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

As set out in note 6(a), withholding tax is levied on Hong Kong
companies in respect of dividend distributions arising from
profit of PRC subsidiaries. Since the Group could control the
quantum and timing of distribution of profits of the Group’s
subsidiaries in the Mainland China, deferred tax liabilities are
only provided to the extent that such profits are expected to be
distributed in the foreseeable future.

At 31 December 2023, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounted to
RMB3,094,315,000 (2022: RMB3,319,932,000). Deferred tax
liabilities of RMB154,716,000 (2022: RMB165,997,000) have not
been recognised in respect of the tax that would be payable on
the distribution of these retained profits as the Group controls
the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it has been
determined that it is probable that these profits will not be
distributed in the foreseeable future.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

14 SHMBIKARAEBFRER(E)

RERDELEBIEEE

AP EE6(a) FTEL - [A1E B R BKAS
B 7R Rl M E LIRS g W IEINH -
AR AEEEENASETEAL TR
AREN BN BRELRR - MAEEE
EZENBERBN AR R ARAKEH
BRTBEERIARE -

M2023F 12 A31H » FRAIFRDIKF
E R E R E R A A K #3,094,315,000T
(20224 : AFR#3,319,932,0007T) ° A&
EERRRDRZERBFEEMSHR
TERERIEIETTE & & A R 154,716,000
70 (20224 © A R #165,997,0007C) °
EARNEBZEHZET AR EBEK
BEEETEETERAERREDIRF
i e
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEAN  GAAREIIR)

15 RFAFRHRE

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES TREETH2023F12A31H 20225124

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries as at NNEUAREEES  BELAEEEALE
31 December 2023 and 2022 which principally affected the results, HEBF QRIS - BIEREE5E - T8
assets or liabilities of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary B B () B SE R B AR -

unless otherwise stated.

Asat 31 December 203 Asat 31 December 2022
H03E128318 RnEnA3e
Proportion of ownership interest Proportion of ownership interest
FERIA A

Place of Group's Group's

incorporation Particulars of effective  Heldbythe Held by Particulars of effective  Heldbythe Held by
Name of company and business issued capital interest Company ~ subsidiaries issued capital interest Company ~ subsidiaries Principal activities

ERALR
LAAR EX4% BRARAHE AREEREER  ADEFE  7OAFE ERGRAEE ASEERMEE  ANRAR PORNFE 1EER
Hong Kong Hydoo Holding Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 100% 100% - HK$100,000 100% 100% - Investment management
FEREARRRAR 3 100000787C 100000570 faER
Hong Kong Hydoo Group Investment Company Hong Kong HK9200,100000 100% 100% - HKS200,100,000 100% 100% - Investment management
Limited
ERREEERARRAA (i 2010000057 010000057 faeE
Hydoo Estate (Ganzhou) Company Limited (Hydoo  The PRC 5$32,050,000 100% - 100% J5632,050,000 100% - 100%  Property development and
Estate (Ganzhou)') investment holding
pEEz @ RRAT(REER(EN) 08 00005 00000ET FAEERRRELR
Jining Hydoo Logistics Center Development Company  The PRC RNB200,000,000 100% - 100%  RMB200000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Limited (*Jining Logistics Center’)
FERENRAREARATNENRE)  PE ARE 10000000 AR 20000000 FHERE
Mianyang West Modern Trade Center Development  The PRC RMB29,000,000 100% - 100%  AMB29.000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Company Limited (‘Mianyang Trade Center'
REPRRITIREERL T SBYRS]) 28 ARED000000 NEEB0000 BiER
Guangyi Yulin Modem Trade Center Development ~ The PRC RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Company Limited ("Yulin Trade Center')
EETHBRORIELERLA(EMRG)) +E ARE300000000 ARE300000000 BHERE
Shenzhen Hydoo Investment Management Company  The PRC RAB30,000,000 100% - 100%  RMB30000,000 100% - 100%  Investment management
Limited (‘Shenzhen Hydoo')
MITRERAERERATHRYIRE) HE ARE30000000 ARHE30000000 REER

216 GUANGDONG - HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED 22832 i 5 PR /A 7]



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

15 RFLFRRE ()

Asat 31 December 2023 Asat 31 December 2022
H03E128318 VYRR
Proportion of ownership interest Proportion of ownership interest
Bt bt ittt
Place of Group's Group's
incorporation Particulars of effective  Heldbythe Held by Particulars of effective ~ Heldbythe Held by
Name of company and business issued capital interest Company ~ subsidiaries issued capital interest Company ~ subsidiaries Principal activties
ARAIR
LHER EX4% BRARARE ARERREE  AOERE  PONRE  DEORARE AEERMEE  A0NFE $0EMR IERR
Ganzhou Hydoo Commercial and Trade LogisticsPark ~ The PRC RNB800,000,000 100% - 100%  RMB800,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Development Co, Ltd.
("Ganzhou Trade Center')
BIFEEENRERERRAT G AR 800000000 ARE800000000 FHERE
(GABENRE]
Wuzhou Hydoo Commercial and Trade Center The PRC RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Development Co, Ltd. (Wuzhou Trade Center')
BFEEENIREAR 1 ARH300000000 ARE300000000 FHERE
LEP(ENEEAR)
Heze Hydoo Commercial and Trade Center Company ~ The PRC RVB300,000,000 100% - 100%  RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Limited ('Heze Trade Center')
HEREEEMERLT i ARE300000000 ARE300000000 FUERY
(Emgnmal)
Yantai Hydoo International Commercialand Trade ~ The PRC RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Center Company Limited (*Yantai Trade Center')
ERREEREEIRRAT(EnERE)  °E ARH300000000 ARE300000000 FHERE
Lanzhou Hydoo Commercial and Trade Center The PRC RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Company Limited (‘Lanzhou Trade Center'
RIREEEARRAT (HAEES) i AZH300000000 AFE300000000 RiERE
(Ganzhou Jiuzh Property Management Services The PRC RNB5,200,000 - - - RABS,200,000 100% - 100%  Property management
Company Limited (‘Ganzhou Jiuzhi) Services
BTN NZERERLT([EAAR) i MRS 20000 AREs 200000 B
Heze Hydoo Industrial Company Limited The PRC U5945,000,000 100% - 100% 15545,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
('Heze Industrial’)
AERENERARL T (HERR) L1E ET45000000 ZT45000000 FHERE
Shenzhen Qianhai Hydoo Financial The PRC RMB320,000,000 - - - RMB320,000,000 100% - 100%  Finance lease
Leasing Company Limited
RIFTERERREEARARN L ARE30000000 AREI10000000 BELL
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEAN  GAAREIIR)

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)

15 RFLFRRE ()

Asat 31 December 2023 Asat 31 December 2022
HusFnR3A RunFnf3ig
Proportion of ownership interest Proportion of ownership interest
FrERLH FrERtf
Place of Group's Group's
incorporation Particulars of effective  Heldbythe Held by Particulars of effective ~ Heldbythe Held by
Name of company and business issued capital interest Company ~ subsidiaries issued capital interest Company ~ subsidiaries Principal activties
AMATR
LHER EX4% BRARARE ARERREE  AOERE  PONRE  DEORARE AEERMEE  A0NFE $0EMR IERR
Liuzhou Hydoo Commercial and Trade Center The PRC RMB300,000,000 100% 100%  RMB300,000,000 100% - 100%  Property development
Company Limited (‘Liuzhou Trade Center)
INFERSIRHERDT (ARG 2 NEE300000000 ARE300000000 FHERE
Xingning Honglong Logistics Center Company The PRC RNBS7,000,000 95% 95%  RMBS7,000000 95% - 95%  Property development
Limited*
REERIRARRAT L AEE57000000 NRHS7000000 FHERE
Dongguan Dajiang RealEstate Development Company  The PRC RNB100,000,000 559% 559%  RMBY0,000,000 4% - 459%  Property development
Limite* (‘Dongguan Dajiang)
RETNIBHERREROT(RERL) 48 ARE100000000 ARE%000000 BHERE
Dongguan Huahai Industry Company Limited* The PRC RNB6 960,000 51% 51% RAB6,960,000 51% - 51%  Property development
(‘Dongguan Huaha')
FETERERRAARLT(RRER) Ll NE#6960000 AFH6960000 B
Dongguan Dahu Real Estate Development Company  The PRC RNB29,000,000 51% 51%  RMB29,000000 51% - 51%  Property development
Limited* (‘Dongguan Dahu')
FEOAIEHERSEROT(RERN ) oE AFE2000000 AZEB0000 BHERE
Shenzhen Zhongbao Harbour Industry Company ~ The PRC RAB300,000,000 51% 51%  RMB300,000000 5% - 51%  Industryand Commerce
Limite® (‘Zhongbao Harbour') ()
RMIrEREESERAT(PRER ) L NRHE300000000 ARE300000000 ]
Shenzhen Xiangsheng Union Industial Development  The PRC RMB200,000,000 - RMB200,000,000 51% - 51%  Property development
Company Limited (‘Shenzhen Xiangsheng')*
MITERBATEUREROTRIRE)) 18 NRE20000000 ARE200000000 FHERE
Jining Hydoo Beichuang Real Estate Development ~ ThePRC RNB10,000000 - - RWB10000000 30% - 30%  Property development
Company Limited (Jining Beichuang)*
BERELERERAT(HELH)) G ARE10000000 AR 10000000 FHERE
*  These entities are all PRC limited liability companies. The English *  ZEEBHAR Iﬁﬁﬁé ° ZERAIMHE
translation of the company names is for reference only. The official XEIELEHRSE uZ% RIRVAR XA
names of these companies are in Chinese. BB e

218 GUANGDONG - HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED 2 /& & #2225 R A &)



15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont'd)

(i)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

Non-controlling interest

The following table lists out the information relating to
Zhongbao Harbour and Dongguan Dahu, in which the Group
has a material non-controlling interest (NCl). The summarised
financial information presented below represents the amounts

before any inter-company eliminations.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

15 RFLTFRRE ()

(i)

FiZRER
TRIETEPEEXENRENNER
MER  ANTEEBEXARRAAE
AEEFEBERFERERNTRA
TEROFBELSINTHEEREARNEHE
SHATR SRR ©

Zhongbao Harbour HEE¥
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET R ARETFT
NCI percentage Eealivg Fatadt]l 49% 49%
Non-current assets BN E E 1,554 11,585
Current assets MENVE 2,403,318 2,798,605
Current liabilities mEAE (2,131,619) (2,325,765)
Non-current liabilities EMBNEME = (196,000)
Net assets BETH 273,253 288,425
Carrying amount of NCI RS IR T PATE 134,097 140,518
Revenue ON 1,635,524 1,858,916
Loss for the year FAEBE (15,173) (6,674)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FAZHEERE (15,173) (6,674)

Loss allocated to NCl for the year FADBZE BT REERE

FHEE (7,435) (3,270)
Net cash used in operating activities KRBT AR S F 5 (627,917) (1,396)
Net cash generated from investing activities KEZBFR®FHE = -
Net cash used in financing activities BVEEENFTR IR & F 5 (12,739) (1,073)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEAN  GAAREIIR)

15 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (Cont’d) 15 RFAFNKRE(E)
(i) Non-controlling interest (Cont’d) (i) FEIERERS(E)
Dongguan Dahu REXM
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

NCI percentage IR RE RS L I 49% 49%
Non-current assets BN E E 47 73
Current assets MBNEE 1,983,848 2,148,867
Current liabilities mEAE (1,776,341) (1,741,471)
Non-current liabilities EMBNEME (14,068) (410,336)
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(afk)F8 193,486 (2,867)
Carrying amount of NCI IR R IR E P E 94,808 (1,405)
Revenue WA 959,700 -
Profit/(loss) for the year FRFE,(E8) 196,354 (22,606)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year ~ FRZEW A (EIE) 196,354 (22,606)
Profit/(loss) allocated to NCl for the year FANHEEIFERERNDE
WA (E518) 96,213 (11,077)

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating e EE (A FEEE

activities HER (113,501) 5,060
Net cash generated from investing activities WEEEFSRESFE 238,599 150,433
Net cash used in from financing activities BVEEEN TR IR & FER (258,317) (18,235)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

16 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS 16 GFEREMSHEE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETTT

Inventories e

Property development ek

- Leasehold land held for future development and — ARRFFHBEAE it

properties under development TR 9,352,918 11,684,311

— Completed properties held for sale —FEETIYE 2,283,734 2,693,188
11,636,652 14,377,499

Others Hity 3,135 995
11,639,787 14,378,494

Other contract costs HAtb& LA 54,632 66,552
11,694,419 14,445,046

As at 31 December 2023, certain properties under development, M2023F12A31H - ETHEEWE - F6

completed properties held for sale and leasehold land held for future ERIMERRRGRBEE LB IERSE

development were pledged for certain bank loans granted to the BERE TRITERER (5E22) k==

Group (note 22) and parking lots financing arrangement (note 20) of G E L HENER (M) c R AR

which RMB182,972,000 are pledged to Overdue Payables. 182,972,0007T 2 R T 180 B E T 3K o

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3 221



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

16 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS 16 FRREMEVIRE(HE)
(Cont'd)
(a) The analysis of carrying amount of leasehold land included in (a) ETAYEREMHEELWNEREES T
properties development is as follows: wm
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥T T ARETTT

In the Mainland China, with remaining lease APERt > FRESEEHR

term of
50 years or more 5053 A 1,397,577 1,205,849
between 10 and 50 years 105 2504 3,444,677 3,671,271
4,842,254 4,877,120
(b) Leasehold land held for future development and properties (b) BHEBRARABMRRGHERE LS
under development in the consolidated statement of financial o M IEEYERIE
position comprise:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBTT

Expected to be recovered within one year TEEIR — e 1,891,365 1,581,645
Expected to be recovered after more than one year FEEFR —F B Uk D] 7,461,553 10,102,666
9,352,918 11,684,311
(c) Completed properties held for sale in the consolidated (o) EHFBRARAFEDETINYESR
statement of financial position comprise: &
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR®T T ARETIT

Expected to be recovered within one year TEEIR —F Rk E 1,430,382 848,003
Expected to be recovered after more than one year TEHAR —4F L& UK ] 853,352 1,845,185
2,283,734 2,693,188
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

16 INVENTORIES AND OTHER CONTRACT COSTS 16 FERHEMSHIBE(IE)

(Cont'd)
(d) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an (d) FFAZEBEENTFERKANREES T
expense and included in profit or loss is as follows: wm
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T AREEFTT
Carrying amount of inventories sold EETFERAR
- properties — KA 1,260,987 851,741
~ commodities — B AR 1,855,652 2,046,054
Write-down of inventories GFEBREEE 330,803 245,373
3,447,442 3,143,168
(e) Other contract costs (e) HMELHMA

Contract costs capitalised as at 31 December 2023 relate to the
incremental sales commissions paid to property agents whose
selling activities resulted in customers entering into sale and
purchase agreements for the Group'’s properties which are
still under construction at the reporting date. Contract costs
are recognised as part of “selling and distribution costs” in
the statement of profit or loss in the period in which revenue
from the related property sales is recognised. The amount of
capitalised costs recognised in profit or loss during the year
was RMB27,551,000 (2022: RMB29,644,000). There was no
impairment in relation to the opening balance of capitalised
costs or the costs capitalised during the year.

The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 94
of IFRS 15 and recognises the incremental costs of obtaining
contracts relating to the sale of completed properties and
services as an expense when incurred if the amortisation period
of the assets that the Group otherwise would have recognised
is within the same reporting period as the date of entering into
the contract.

2023F 12 A31HE AL B A LR AN £
SR THERBAGEHEHLSEH
ZEMERENHESTHEREFHA
EERNHERRNERNMEILES
e - AKX AREREBYENEE
WniiMEBaRERAHEMDH
A B — B o ANF AR ERA
BRI ©EE A AR 27,551,00070
(20225 : AR#29,644,0007T) ° B
LR AR F SRR F NE AR AR
B RE -

AEE N BRI REERF155%RF
MENERER L WARAEEE
FEEHEPREERESRFEEEZTY
KRR HEBNE R EKRAIES
—IAxt - B AREBERFTAR
Z BEE— S PR o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEAN  GAAREIIR)

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 17 BESRHEMEKRIE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETT

Trade receivables (a) =) e 265,215 241,457
Less: loss allowance A Eﬁ?ﬁ%ﬁ (43,310) (31,937)
221,905 209,520
Finance lease receivables REHERKFE - 11,314
Less: loss allowance B EiE R - (9,767)
- 1,547
Amounts due from joint ventures (c) JEY & & R EIFRIA(C) 78,746 78,888
Less: loss allowance (note 13) B EiE R (MEE13) (56,343) (48,233)
22,403 30,655
Other debtors, net of loss allowance (b) E b R R ia R A 1g
... FEbe) ] 1106438 1,115,023
Financial assets measured at amortised cost AR AT EN S MEE 1,350,746 1,356,745
Prepaid sales related tax and other taxes TErTHE AT & REMT S 345,698 388,349
Deposits and prepayments (d) TE & RIBFUE) 1,772,483 1,261,014
3,468,927 3,006,108
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17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont'd)

(a)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

17 BHRAMBURIEA ()

Ageing analysis (@) BRERDHT
As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of RIREER - RIERE 5 WG IETER
trade receivables (net of loss allowance) based on the date the Hﬂéﬂ 7 HE 5 e R IE (FFR BT R 1
relevant trade receivables recognised, is as follows: HIWBRERSITAT
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
ARET T ARETTT
Within 1 month HEA A 1,191 2,202
1to 3 months 1Z3EAR 3,706 464
3 to 6 months Z6EARA 2,928 3,793
6 to 12 months Z128 AR 14,970 5,057
Over 12 months (Note) 1218 A LA L (Bt 3E) 199,110 198,004
221,905 209,520
Note: As at 31 December 2023, the above trade receivables aged over BoaE :  BZ2023F12A318 ¢ LiliBiB12

12 months were mainly due from an entity controlled by a local
government authority.

The details on the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 34(a).

Trade receivables are primarily related to proceeds from the
sale of properties and property management services provided.

The details on the other debtors, net of loss allowance are set
out in below:

A &'& 2 e 4k
TR HAE

HEXERe—E

AEBEEEBRROFBHNHIE34() °

E S RMGRIAE B R X HESR
KRt EERRGHRE -

H B
i

KIR (FNRR B IR ) FH 15 ED)

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T R AREFIT

Financial assets measured at amortised cost (i) RS AT 2 RE ) - 32,539
Loans to the third parties (ii) M55 = F R E ) 84,494 64,945
Amounts due from non-controlling interests (jii) P Uiz S 42 S AR 2 BRI (i) 92,807 290,516
Amounts due from former subsidiaries (iv) FEULBTF A B ZXIA(iv) 244,452 272,544
Others (v) EAMi(v) 684,685 454,479
1,106,438 1,115,023
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont'd)

17 BHRAMBURIEA ()

(b) (Cont'd) (b) (&)

(i) As at 31 December 2022, financial assets measured at (i)  72023F12H31H K&2022F12 8
amortised cost are interest-bearing at 14% per annum, 318 - BEBRKATENESREE
unsecured and to be recovered within one year. During WER 1% 8 - BIEIRERIL
the year ended 31 December 2023 full amount have been R—FRWE o
provided for credit loss allowance after the assessment
made by of the Company.

(i) As at 31 December 2023, loans to the third parties are (i) F2023F12H318 ' mMFE=FRHE
interest- bearing at weighted average rate of 15.85% per BB FOR INAE 15 6 1) %21 5.85%5 T
annum (2022: 15.95% per annum), unsecured and to be B.(2022 : FF|E1595%) + EIKHF
recovered within one year. BRI AR —FAYE o

(iii) As at 31 December 2023, amounts due from non- (i) 72023128318 @ [BIRADERK
controlling interests represents advances to non- REBRASBERIENHBEARRN
controlling interests recorded by the subsidiaries acquired WRER B ARV IR R R e 2
by the Group upon the respective acquisitions. Ko

(iv) The amount is interest-free, unsecured and is expected (iv) ZFEARE - EIRHRIEER—
to be recovered within one year. Approximately FRIE o H AR #51,567,0007C
RMBS51,567,000 was new to the Group during the year 2023 F AFTIG=AREH o
ended 31 December 2023.

(v) This amount included the consideration receivables in (v) ZeHEeEHEEFAREENE
respect of disposals of subsidiaries of RMB25,357,000 I (B A R % 25,357,000 7T (2022
(2022: RMB28,000,000). F : AK#28,000,0007T) °

(c) The amounts due from joint ventures are unsecured, interest- (o) BURAEEDEFIENGEHRAERR - 2
free and have no fixed repayment terms. The Group has fully BERERTENY  KNEBEHEREE
provided loss allowance on the amount due from Thailand Joint BEPENRECEN2018F 2R

Venture amounted to RMB19,613,000 in 2018 (see note 13(a)). BB E B A K%19,613,0007T (P52

13@a)) °
(d) The details on the deposits and prepayments are set out in (d) #He&RBAFIEFBEHIIET :

below:

2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T AR¥ETTT

Deposits and prepayments for purchase of land BELHERERS R
use right (i) FERFFRG) 405,315 406,484

Deposits and prepayments for acquisition of WiEFZIER RE &

development projects (ii) TR (i) 382,552 427,915
Others (iii) o Ath(iii) 984,616 426,615
1,772,483 1,261,014
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont'd) 17 BHRHEMBEURIE(E)
(d) (Contd) (d) (&)

(i) Deposits and prepayments for purchase of land use right () BEIMERERSLIENRAZNSG
represented deposit amount paid to the Chinese local PR TIRAT - AR E L E AR -
government for land acquisition. The Group did not complete any NEBE 1E2023F 12 A31 H R T
purchase during the year ended 31 December 2023. B F{a] i o

(i) Deposits and prepayments for acquisition of development (i) WEEFEIEE e RFENFKARFEH
projects represented the cooperation deposits paid to the FEFME =B EEE & 1Ef
Chinese local government and third parties for potential projects & o

cooperation.

(i) Others mainly represented prepayments for construction in (i) EferBEEERIERT MR ERAHE
relation to the projects under development to ensure timely IETERA B A EYIE B AR AV TE N T2 -

completion and delivery.

18 PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED CASH 18 BEHRZRFIR&
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBTT

Pledged to banks for certain mortgage facilities A TR RE MR T iR1T 101,294 121,824
Pledged for bills payables and discounted bills LI SRR MALIR R RER 130,002 940,177
Deposits for advanced proceeds received from TREYH B EEEBKFIAN
property purchasers (note) &o (FisE) 314,547 756,659
Others Hth 22,557 45,580
568,400 1,864,240
Note: The balance can be utilised by the Group in the normal course of Byt : sk IH A R BTE B U EE (E E I F 3 BiR
construction of properties under development for sale. B -
19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 19 RERR&FEY
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) e kReEEYBIE
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Cash at bank and on hand RITERERE 25,956 76,113
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd)

19 ReRBRSFEME)

(b) Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash used in operations: (b) BRELAIESIEELEEBITANRES Y
BR -
2023 2022
Note RMB’'000 RMB’000
(i3 ARETR ARETFT
Loss before taxation BrELAIESIE (1,026,708) (1,916,618)
Adjustments for: FTIIEE A
Finance income BB 5(a) (19,328) (61,897)
Finance costs BENA 5(a) 293,190 400,252
Fair value loss on investment properties REWMEANBEBE 11 419,200 677,364
Write-down of inventories TEUREER 5(c) 330,803 245373
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables 25 M E b EWFIERERIE  5(0) 284,603 138,804
Impairment loss on financial guarantee SRERANRERSE
contracts 5(c) 7,833 -
Government grants related to investment RE IR ATERIR B Y S 1808
properties recognised in other income BB # B 28 - (1,060)
Depreciation and amortisation FEREH 5(0) 15,667 16,924
Net realised and unrealised fair value loss from ?Tz@fﬁ SFEBEEZEIA
financial assets and liabilities measured at EHERCREERSR
FVTPL BENEERIARERAL
BEERX 4 - 3,331
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEFRAEFUA 4 (183,959) (31,089)
Net loss on disposal of debt securities HEGKESNIBLF 4 - 85,775
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of other ﬁf@iﬁﬁbéﬁ?‘m;ﬁﬁ
non-current assets FA), 1Bk 4 (3,818) 4171
Equity settled share-based payment expenses JiMEﬁn%%ZE’]HX@S‘ZH 4 848 5434
Share of (profit)/losses of joint ventures PMEEETEEE 13(a) (8,247) 273
Share of losses of an associate DMEME D EEE 13(b) 1,832 525
Net loss on disposal of investment properties ~ HEREEMERFIEL 4 - 18,874
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant HEWE - BE R ERE
and equipment FER 4 8,937 (30,606)
Written off of property, plant and equipment ~ #7% - lﬂ%& S s = 1214
Impairment loss on assets of disposal group HEFEMEREERERBE
classified as held for sale 5(c) - 112,478
Impairment loss on interests in joint ventures & &> ERELSFEEE 5(c) - 88,759
Changes in working capital: BELSE
Decrease/(increase) in inventories and T?Eb&,ﬁﬁﬁ & HIpK ARG N
other contract costs 317,077 (1,489,591)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other B 5 REAM W EIE (),
receivables A (478,593) 75975
Decrease/(increase) in pledged and BEHREZBRES M), B
restricted cash 892,468 (1,100,723)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 REMEM AL,
CRA) 293,271 869,969
Increase in contract liabilities AHB BN 308,544 1,243,014
Decrease in deferred income EIEU AR (19,783) (56,290)
Cash generated from/(used in) operating a rEZBME/ (FRA)NHRE
ctivities 1,433,837 (699,365)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

19 BE&RR&EFEM(IR)
MEEDEENEBENHIR

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (c)
activities

TRFMAEERERETHNEEY

g RIERCNRIFRSEE - BEEY

EEMNaBERBEERENRKBERE

FIEEMEaE  EAEEEHESRE

RPFEARMETDELENRERE -

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified
in the Group’s consolidated cash flow statement as cash flows
from financing activities.

Bank loans Amounts due Other
and other Senior Lease  to controlling current Other
borrowings notes liabilities  shareholders liabilities payables Total
RITER AR Ef A
REMEE BrEE BEEE RRZE ikt EftsuE i
(note 22) (note 23) (note 25) (note 24) (note 28) (note 20)
(Hf3t22) (Hf3E23) (HfsEas) (Hf3t24) (Hfztos) (Hf3t20)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR  AR%Tn  ARETn  ARETn  ARETn  ARETn
At 1 January 2023 R0B3F1A18 4,909,697 2,609,780 4,362 342,500 1,022,614 1,628,508 10,517,461
Total changes from financing cash flows REELTERYES (444,583) (3,101) (3,675) 29,703 (666,515) (421,622) (1,509,793)
Other changes: g
Non-cash transaction in Exchange Offer FBERHNEY - 387,842 - - = (387,842) =
Disposal of subsidiaries RETAT (1,682,800) - (756) (117,140) (30,000) (87,351) (1,918,047
Transfer from liabilities classified as held for ~ {7 EARIELENEE
sales 2] - - 756 - - - 756
Interest expense (note 5(a)) HEEFGESE) 213,204 180,982 46 - 2,940 62,487 459,659
Exchange adjustments ERRE - 46,410 - - - = 46,410
Total other changes EhE8EE (1,469,596) 615,234 46 (117,140) (27,060) (412,700 (1,411,222)
At 31 December 2023 2023%12A318 2,995,518 3,221,913 733 255,063 329,039 794,180 7,596,446
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEAN  GAAREIIR)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd) 19 Re&RBR&EEM(E)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (0 METHELENEBENHEE(E)
activities (Cont’d)

Bank loans Amounts due Other
and other Senior Lease  tocontrolling current Other
borrowings notes liabilities  shareholders liabilities payables Total
RAER JEfE Eft Eft
REfEE Brze HERE e ToRE FERHE @t

(note 22) (note 23) (note 25) (note 24) (note 28) (note 20)

(fir22) (PF23) (fir2s) (Bit24) (Pi3t28) (FitzF20)

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTT  ARETT  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR  ARBTx

At1 January 2022 HnE1 18 327133 2,346,462 35,795 1,027,468 576,558 2444877 9,702,483
Total changes from financing cash flows BERETERDED 1,382,036 (191,574) (1518) (684,968) 431,759 (836,338) 99,397
Other changes: EhEE:
New leases contracts HHEAR - - 2353 - - - 2353
Early termination/written off of lease liabilities  [2A141E /M #HEE(E - - (408) - - - (408)
Disposal of subsidiaries REFAT (13,167) - (32,787) - - (69,400) (115,354)
Transfer to liabilities classified as held for sales  EEZAEAFEHENEE - - (756) - - - (756)
Net loss on disposal of debt securities LEBREFIER - 85,775 - - - - 85,775
Interest expense (note 5(a)) RS RR) 273,051 354766 1,683 - 14297 102,119 745916
Interest payable IS (3,546) (203,768) - - - (12750) (220,064)
Exchange adjustments Exg - 218,119 - - - - 218119
Total other changes Epgees 256,338 457,89 (29915) - 14297 19,969 715,581
At 31 December 2022 R0%128318 4909697 2,609,780 4362 342,500 1,022,614 1628508 10517461
(d) Total cash outflow for leases (d) HEREARLEEE
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for leases RensrtmiHEeEeswT

comprise the following:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARETT

Within operating cash flows KEEBIREN 2,055 2,838
Within financing cash flows BEEBIR &N 3,673 1,518
5,728 4,356

230 GUANGDONG - HONG KONG GREATER BAY AREA HOLDINGS LIMITED 22832 i 5 PR /A 7]



19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd)
(d)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

19 ReRBRSFEME)

Total cash outflow for leases (Cont’d) (d) HERESRHEEE)
These amounts relate to the following: B ARREE N FIAARE
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T AREFIT
Lease rentals paid THAMEERS 5,728 4,356
Disposal of subsidiaries (e) HEFRQT
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has REE2023F12A31BIEFER - K&

disposed certain subsidiaries. Subsequent to the disposals,

BHETETHBELRR - HER - %%

these entities are no longer subsidiaries of the Group. BEERETEATSENWBERR -

Disposal date

Consideration

BEEH HE
RMB’000
ARBT T
Shenzhen Baichuan Century Investment Consulting Co., Ltd. June 2023 60,000
AT ENELRELAERAR 202356 A
Shenzhen Jingzhen Industrial Company Limited November 2023 52,000
A REEEBRAF] 2023111
Ganzhou Hydoo Investment Management Limited June 2023 —*
BENBREREEERRAT 202356 A
Hangzhou Xinan Yuerong Enterprise Limited September 2023 30,000
MNO LR BEXER AR 202399 A
Guangxi Zhongbao Greater Bay New Material Technology July 2023 -
Company Limited
EARERENM AR ARAT 2023574
Shenzhen Gangwan Zhongli Industrial Development Co., Ltd January 2023 —*
AT EERNEXERBRAF] 202341 A
* The amount less than RMB1,000. 3 SF LN ARE,0007T ©
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEAN  GAAREIIR)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd)

(e) Disposal of subsidiaries (Cont’d)

The combined effects of such disposals on the Group’s assets

19 BE&RR&EFEM(IR)
(e) HEFAT(HE)

ZEREHAKRBEENARBNERAT

and liabilities are set out below: 2,
2023
Note RMB’'000
B s ARBT T
Property, plant and equipment W - R MEE 10 671
Intangible assets B EE 12 217
Goodwill [EES 2,252
Deferred tax assets RIS EE 14(b) 53,236
Inventories and other contract costs GFEREMAE RKA 2,376,218
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H b UK 1,108,614
Amounts due from the Group EU AR & B R IE 1,371,343
Cash and cash equivalents ReRREEEY 43,480
Pledged and restricted cash BHEARFZRSIE S 403,478
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMERF (1,520,981)
Other financial liabilities Ememas (87,515)
Amounts due to the Group FER RSB FRIE (1,277,486)
Lease liabilities HEBE (756)
Contract liabilities ARAME 21 (638,979)
Borrowings & (1,682,800)
Current tax liabilities & HAE RN (38,993)
Deferred tax liabilities EEAMSTHAE 14(b) (63,779)
Net assets disposed of RERBNASENFEE 48,220
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19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd)

(e)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

19 ReRBRSFEME)

Disposal of subsidiaries (Cont'd) (e) HEFAT(E)
2023
RMB’000
ARET T
Net gain on disposal subsidiaries HEFARMKE
Consideration received and receivable 2 4E K fE Y A (B 142,000
Net assets disposed of BEREFEE (48,220)
Non-controlling interests FEFEAR I AR 90,179
183,959
2023
RMB’000
AR¥T T
Consideration HE
Received [RALE 141,000
Consideration receivable FEME(E 1,000
142,000
2023
RMB’000
ARET T
Consideration received, satisfied in cash (note (i) VAIR £ Us 0] /9 53 (B L)) 81,000
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BERIHRSRIACEEYD (43,480)
Net cash inflow FIREMA 37,520

Note:

(i) Included in the consideration received, satisfied in cash
RMB29,000,000 was received during the year ended 31 December

2022.

(i)  NON-CASH TRANSACTION

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group has
disposed Shenzhen Baichuan Century Investment Consulting Co.,
Ltd.at a consideration of RMB60,000,000. Upon completion of the
disposal, the consideration receivables from the independent
third party buyer was set off by the Group’s debts due to the

disposed subsidiary.

fia -

0]

(i)

FADBHESREMEE AR
29,000,0007T 2 7£20224F Uz 6] ©

FRERXH

HZE2023F 120318 ILEE  A%H
2 LA A R #60,000,0007T KK (B H &5
B ML RELERERAA - HE
TRk BB E = ERNRER
REEREMNEE TR BHEEEHE o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEAN  GAAREIIR)

19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd)
(f) Disposal of subsidiaries (f)

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has
disposed certain subsidiaries which held property development
projects and investment properties. Subsequent to the
disposals, these entities are no longer subsidiaries of the Group,

19 ReRBRSFEME)

HEFATH

REZE2022F 124318 IEFERN - K&
ELETHTHEMEREEENNE
NRARHEBREME - HER  ZEE
BIAHAREEMNMEAR - WEHK

and certain of these subsidiaries became associate of the

Group.

RAREKE

Disposal date

Consideration

BEH (B

RMB’000

ARBTT

Revere Effort Limited 31 January 2022 26,842
WMEFRAR 2022F1A31H

Well Harmony Enterprises Limited 28 February 2022 121,872
JEFBRBRAT] 202242 H28H

Yantai Yaze Property Development Co. Ltd. 28 February 2022 19,400
EemERMEREFR AR 202242 A28H

Jiangxi Hydoo Property Limited (note (i) 30 June 2022 9,000
TARENEEAR QR (M) 202246 430H

Dongguan Shanghua Property Limited 31 July 2022 -
REMEEEXARAR 202247 A31H

Dongguan Jingkun Trading Co. Ltd. 31 August 2022 -
RemsHmESHERAF 202248 A31H

Shenzhen Yinghua Industry Development Co. Ltd. 31 October 2022 28,000

RITREBEXHRBRAF

2022410H31H

Note:

(i)  This entity was disposed by the Group to a subsidiary of Revere
Effort Limited.
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19 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (Cont'd)

(f)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

Disposal of subsidiaries (Cont’d)

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

19 RERREFHEM(R)
( HEFAR(HE)

The combined effects of such disposals on the Group’s assets ZERBEHAEEEENBRBNGE R
and liabilities are set out below: 20T
2022

Note RMB’000

By e AREBTFT
Property, plant and equipment YE - BB KRB 10 34,068
Investment properties B 11 243,436
Intangible assets mEEE 12 775
Deferred tax assets EEMSHEE 14(b) 42,826
Inventories and other contract costs GFEREME RKA 1,006,939
Trade and other receivables B 5 R E ALK 187,969
Amounts due from the Group RIS BIFRIA 511,924
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEEY 184,090
Trade and other payables B 5 REAM K (345,288)
Amounts due to the Group R ASBFIA (817,378)
Lease liabilities HEBRE (32,787)
Contract liabilities aRARE 21 (460,750)
Borrowings Eh (13,167)
Current tax liabilities & HAE TR (61,827)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFSHAE 14(b) (5,451)
Exchange reserve b R 19,391
Net assets disposed of RERBNASENFEE 494,770
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEFRRNFHNE
Considerations received WEIHEHE 205,114
Non-controlling interests FEPEAR AR 314,179

Remaining interests after disposal as interests in

fE BRIV R R AR gRiE s

associate 6,566
Less: net assets disposed of W ERBEFEE (494,770)
Net gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 4) HEFARRF S (H5E4) 31,089

RMB’000

AREFIT

Total considerations {AREYHE 205,114
Consideration receivable FEUEE 28,000
Consideration received, satisfied in cash VAR £ U O] Ay B 177,114
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of BEERIHRSRIREEEY (184,090)
Net cash outflow FEE R (6,976)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 £ 3 235



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

20 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 20 BH R HEMEMRIE
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®TT ARETT

Trade and bills payables (a) B S RNFIERENERQ) 2,081,759 2,652,998
Other payables and accruals (b) H A FOB R ERTE A (b) 1,475,115 1,200,257
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost SR AGTENEmEE 3,556,874 3,853,255
Deposits () E®() 181,212 312,079
Receipts in advance TEU R IE 117,885 55,746
Interest payable of senior notes FERHBEEEF L 38,329 216,158
3,894,300 4,437,238
(@) As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of @@ MIMEER - EBRNEFRENEE(Z
trade creditors and bills payables (which are included in trade ZEFAE S REAMFERNFIE) R 2 H
and other payables), based on due date, is as follows: AHARAREC AT LA S -
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARETTT

Due within 1 month or on demand SN ERIREE ERER 6,293 300,102
Due after 1 month but within 3 months FAE R ZER3ME A WEIH 29,106 107,815
Due after 3 months but within 6 months R3E Az ER6(E H N2 9,048 317,548
Due after 6 months 6fE A & 2 HA 2,037,312 1,927,533

2,081,759 2,652,998
Trade payables mainly represent amounts due to contractors. B I REMNFIBEEREMN AR
Payment to contractors is in installments according to progress ERFERBERBREERBTERERS
and agreed milestones. BRI ER o
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20 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont'd)
(b)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

20 BHRAEMBEFRIF(E)

The details of other payables and accruals are set out below: (b) EfhENRIERIEFTEAFEETI W
™
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T R ARETTT
Amounts due to controlling shareholders FERHRAZ AR SR SRTE

(note 24) (Pff7E24) 255,063 342,500
Amounts due to non-controlling interests (note (1)  FEf 3F#5 A% A 25 20E (i aEG)) 85,499 191,031
Amounts due to third parties (note (ii)) JE A 28 = 75 R E (I (i) 149,738 341,134
Other tax payables EfER R E 446,734 236,593
Others (note (iii)) Ho Aty (PREE (i) 538,081 88,999
1,475,115 1,200,257

Notes:

i

U]

(ii)

(iii)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the amounts due to non-
controlling interests are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.

As at 31 December 2023, apart from the amount due to a third
party of RMB115,400,000 which are interest-bearing at a weighted
average rate of 14.75% per annum (2022: RMB207,814,000
was interest-bearing at a weighted average rate of 11%), the
remaining amounts due to third parties are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable within one year.

As at 31 December 2023, the balance included earnest payments
of RMB3,509,000 (2022: RMB3,041,000) from potential clients
and advances from parking lots financing arrangement of
RMB43,745,000 (2022: RMB45,626,000) which are pledged by
parking lots held by subsidiaries of the Group.

The details of deposits are set out below:

(i) EZ=E2023F12A31HM20229 12831
B - BRSO AERR - &

SREREREER

(i) EZ=2023F12A31H BRENE=FH
FRIE A R ¥ 115,400,000 7T 3% H14E F 15
FFE1475%5 B (2022F : AR
207,814,000 CIZ HHE T F FIF11%5T
BN HEMEZAEERT 28
BET—FREE -

(i) #ZE2023F12A31H © BELERE
ERPEIrHE S ARE3,509,0007T
(20224 : AR ¥3,041,0007T) A K2 LA
AEBENBERARFENEEISZERNE
BIZRE T HE R R A R #43,745,0007T
(2022%F :+ AR#45,626,0007T) °

(© MHEFFBHIWT

2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREETTT

Deposits for cooperative development of HEBERAERES
properties 181,212 252,259
Others Ht - 59,820
181,212 312,079

All of the other payables and accrued expenses and deposits
are expected to be settled within one year.

PrEEMENRBREFRAXREEE
IR —FNEE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

21 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 21 AR
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
ARET AREBTFT
Advances received for sales of properties SHE W FUE A B R 4,359,858 4,671,522
Property management fees received in advance TEWEEIRE 856 12,431
Others Hith - 668
4,360,714 4,684,621

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract
liabilities recognised are as follows:

Property development

Depending on market conditions, the Group requires the customers
to pay off the full consideration within an agreed time frame while
developments are still ongoing, rather than on the completion of
the relevant properties. Such advance payment schemes result
in contract liabilities being recognised throughout the remaining
property development period for the full amount of the contract
price. In addition, the contract liabilities will be increased by the
amount of interest expense being accrued by the Group to reflect
the effect of any significant financing benefit obtained from the
customers during the period between the payment date and
the date of delivery of property to customers. As this accrual
increases the amount of the contract liabilities during the period
of development, it therefore increases the amount of revenue
recognised when control of the completed property is transferred to
the customer.

HEERANAESERNEEN RN
R

ek

BFMR - AEBEREPERBNEETT
HiR) - M SRR BYEERR - EiHER
[RAMBZHEE - ZFRNABEHAL
BENEES T YEFAZEARNS OETHR
FERR © WEAN - BHREKEAREE O
BFRXEEMEN - ARBRAKAERZNY
ETEFPHBEREEPESNTAERRE
MmO & o R ILERTIR B 15006 3 2]
MEHNBESH ExIVRNEHIESER
ERPRERNKRGESRISIEM -

Movements in contract liabilities EHaEES
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T AER¥ETTT
Balance at 1 January 1AV 4,684,621 3,902,358
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of FRERBERETETA
recognising revenue during the year that was GHBEEHENEBE
included in the contract liabilities at the B
beginning of the year (2,075,214) (1,152,938)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of receiving F 7B BE ML R Y
advanced payments of sales of properties in SHE Y TAYGRIE R TA
respect of properties still under constructionand ~ #EEERBEEH AL
advanced service fee of properties management & &1
during the year 2,352,860 2,380,741
Disposal of subsidiaries HETFAH (638,979) (460,750)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of BARETAERZTERE L
accruing interest expense on advances AEEmM 37,426 15,210
Balance at 31 December 12 A31 B 845 ER 4,360,714 4,684,621
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21

22

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Cont'd)

Movements in contract liabilities (Cont’d)

The amounts of billings received advance payment of sales of

properties expected to be recognised as income after more than one

year is RMB1,385,452,000 (2022: RMB436,750,000).

21

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

eHAaR(E)

EHaEEH (&)

TEFT—F U LR BRARTER D HE R
18 5 A R #1,385,452,0007T (20226 : AREE
436,750,0007T) °

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS 22 RITERRAMER
At 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank loans and other borrowings M2023F12A31H - REEMRITERRE
are repayable as follows: HEENERBERNAT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥T T ARET T
Bank loans RITER
Current TED
- bank loans and other borrowings —IRITERREMER 37,000 245,004
- current portion of non-current bank loans and —ERBBTERREMEED
other borrowings BN 1,723,095 347,341
1,760,095 592,345
Non-current ERE
- repayable after 1 year but within 2 years ——FREMFRER 337,858 1,858,404
- repayable after 2 years but within 5 years —MEFRERFNER 791,260 2,310,419
- repayable after 5 years —hFIRER 106,305 148,529
1,235,423 4,317,352
2,995,518 4,909,697
At 31 December 2023, the loans and borrowings were secured as R2023F12A318 » RITEEERBRD
follows: ™

2023 2022

RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARET T AREETTT

Secured R 474,870 535,017
Secured and guaranteed HEIRFR T 2,520,648 4,374,680
2,995,518 4,909,697
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

22 BANKLOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Cont'd)

(a)

Certain banking facilities and borrowings of the Group are
subject to the fulfilment of covenants relating to: (1) certain
of the Group’s operating subsidiaries’ statement of financial
position ratios; (2) restriction of profit distribution by certain of
its operating subsidiaries; or (3) early repayment of principal
to be triggered when 50% to 70% of the gross sellable area for
the underlying property project are sold. These requirements
are commonly found in lending arrangements with financial
institutions. If the Group was to breach such covenants, the
drawn down facilities would become repayable on demand.
The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these
covenants and communicates with its lenders as and when the
directors foresee any non-compliance due to business needs.

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, there is no advanced
redemption requested by certain banks due to not applying
with the imposed covenants as set out in the above.

Bank loans guaranteed by related parties
As at 31 December 2023, bank loans of RMB1,712,870,000 (2022:

RMB1,696,600,000) were jointly guaranteed by Cai Hongwen
and Zeng Yunshu.

As at 31 December 2023, bank loans of RMBNil (2022:
RMB685,400,000) were jointly guaranteed by Zengsheng, Zeng
Yunshu and Junsheng Holdings.

As at 31 December 2023, bank loans of RMBNil (2022:
920,000,000) were jointly guaranteed by Zengsheng, Zeng
Yunshu and Zeng Ruisen and Junsheng Holdings.

As at 31 December 2023, bank loans of RMB21,462,280.77 (2022:
RMB39,862,281) were jointly guaranteed by Wong Choi Hing
and Wang Xianyu.

As at 31 December 2023, bank loans of RMB79,980,000 (2022:
88,000,000) were jointly guaranteed by Zengsheng, Zeng
Yunshu, Zhong Weizhen and RXHD Holdings.

(a)
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22 RITERRHAMMER ()

AEENETRITHREMEEAGTEN
THISTEREHEERKE - FEEE (1)
REBETLENBARNMBAR L
IR QEBEEATEEWB AR
BRFIBR S : Sk3)EHEYWEBEMA
EEETER50% 2 70% 1% H & B A E 5
EEEFITENR ZERTFRNRES
MBI M ERLHE - WAEBEER
BB - HIE BB EBERER
BEE - AEBTHETHETZER
FlIEER  BESEEHARNERERK
BREKETR  AEBGHRERAE
j@ °

A\

722023912 A31 820224128318 -
BEAREENIRITERARRESTATIHE
DOEIPR 1y T LLER1T ESRERATE N -

BB FIERAVERITIB R
HZE2023F12A318 » BRITEFAR
#1,712,870,000 7t (2022 F : A R ¥&
1,696,600,0007T ) FA )78 3 N & SE4E 2L [A)
iR o

#HZE2023F 128318  RITERARE
Z70(2022%F + AR #685,400,0007T) °
RS BERELEBIERERER -

HZE2023F12A318 © RITERARE
Z57.(20224F : 920,000,000) H1 & 5 -
EIE - BIRHR LB BIERERER o

HZE2023F12A318 » RITEZTAR
#21,462,280.77 7t (2022 F : AR ¥&
39,862,28170) B T HE - FEAEHFAE
R

#HZE20235F128318  RITERARE
79,980,0007T (20224 : 88,000,000) 1
B TR EEPRRESEEER
EIHER -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

22 BANKLOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Cont'd) 22 MITHRREH MR (E)

(c) Bank loans and other borrowings bear interest at a weighted () #H=Z=2023F12A31HIEFEMRTE
average rate of 5.89% per annum for the year ended 31 TR B M A R A% N S 15 S 1 2 5.89%
December 2023 (2022: 5.80% per annum), and are secured by (2022%F © FFE580%)5T 8 * WLAT
the following assets: HIBEVEEA -

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®T T ARETT

Completed properties held for sale FEETIME 1,606,656 738,810
Properties held for and under development RRFFREYZE 2,303,096 3,841,210
Investment properties EWZE 724,000 648,900
Property, plant and equipment e - 158,508
4,633,752 5,387,428

23 SENIOR NOTES 23 BEREE
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB’'000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Current B
US$75 million senior notes due in 2023 (note (i) 2023F R ER75 B BT
BAREE(MFEG) - 511,898
US$303.62 million senior notes due in 2023 2023FF|HAKI303.62F BB TT
(notes (i), (ii)) B (BIREG) ~ (i) 111,914 2,097,882
111,914 2,609,780
Non-current FERE
US$439.1 million New Notes due in 2029 (noteiii) 20294 | Hif)439. 10 B =TT
=4 (B RE(Gii)) 3,109,999 -
3,221,913 2,609,780

ANNUAL REPORT 2023 3 241



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

23 SENIOR NOTES (Cont'd)

Notes:

(0]

(i)

(iii)

The Company has launched an exchange offer in relation to the
outstanding senior notes on 17 April 2023 (the “Exchange Offer”),
and completed the Exchange Offer on 28 April 2023. 100% of the
total aggregate principal amount of the outstanding US$75 million
senior notes due in May 2023 (the “May 2023 Senior Notes”), and
approximately 94.8% of the total aggregate principal amount of the
outstanding US$303.62 million senior notes due in October 2023
(the “October 2023 Senior Notes”), have been validly tendered for
exchange and accepted pursuant to the Exchange Offer. In exchange of
the validly tendered May 2023 Senior Notes and October 2023 Senior
Notes, the Company has issued an aggregate principal amount of
US$413,578,609 of the new notes pursuant to the Exchange Offer on
28 April 2023 (the “New Notes”). The New Notes bear interest at 7.0%
per annum and will mature on 28 April 2026 pursuant to the terms and
conditions of the relevant indenture. For further details, please refer to
the Company’s announcements dated 17 April 2023, 26 April 2023, 28
April 2023 and 4 May 2023.

The holders of the remaining October 2023 Senior Notes of
US$15,801,000, for their own reason, not practical to tender for
exchange for the New Notes which was due on 12 October 2023, and
as at 31 December 2023, the Group was not practical to repay the
principal and interest on October 2023 Senior Notes of approximately
US$15,801,000 and US$3,283,000 (equivalent to RMB111,914,000 and
RMB23,252,500), respectively, as such holders of October 2023 Senior
Notes cannot be effectively communicated. Such non-payment of the
interest and principal of October 2023 Senior Notes may caused an
event of default pursuant to the terms and conditions of the relevant
indenture, and may lead to demand for immediate repayment.
However, up to the date of this report, there is no redemption notice
received in respect of the October 2023 Senior Notes.

On 11 October 2023, the Company had launched a consent solicitation
(“Consent Solicitation”) for the New Notes and completed the Consent
Solicitation on 25 October 2023 and the Company also made an
upfront payment of 0.1% of the outstanding principal of the New Notes.
Following the completion of Consent Solicitation and payment of the
upfront principal payment, (i) the outstanding principal amount of the
New Notes was US$439,097,982 ; (ii) the interest rate of the New Notes
was reduced from 7.0% per annum to 4.5% per annum; (i) the interest
shall be paid annually; (iv) the New Notes shall bear no interest from (and
including) 28 April 2023 to (but excluding) 28 April 2024; (v) the interest
on the New Notes shall be paid in PIK Interest from and including 28
April 2024 to (but not including) 28 April 2025; and (vi) the interest
accrued from (and including) 28 April 2025 to the maturity date shall
be paid in cash and (vii) the maturity of the New Notes was extended
from 28 April 2026 to 28 April 2029. For further details of the Consent
Solicitation, please refer to the Company’s announcements dated 11
October 2023, 23 October 2023 and 25 October 2023.

24 AMOUNTS DUE TO CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Amounts due to controlling shareholders are unsecured, interest-
free and have no fixed repayment terms.

23 BERE(HE)
fisE -

(i)

(i)

(iii)

NRIN2023F4B17HETH R EZELEZE
BR-EIBREBLH(TRBELN]) - Wi2023
F4A28H TR IEL o N5 100%H72023
FEHR7sBEETELEEE([2023F58
BREE ) RAKS 4994.8%1H2023F 2 Hi &)
303.62E EELELEEE([2023F10AE L
EZE DEREBEIIBENFBUIRRER BT E
B o SRR IR M2023F5 ABEE
BER2023F10 AEB AR - AARER2023
FA4R28HIRIE2023 XM B BEITAC BT
£413,578,609F LT 2R ([ FEE ) - 51
ERIRENETO0% B - Wi 72202654 A
28 EIEY - FHIERLHEARA R AEA2023F
48178 ~ 202394268 - 202344 281
F2023E5 B4R AE -

HZ=2023F12A318 - B7R2023F107128
B HRZK 4 42 %8 /515,801,000 3< 7T 19 T ££ 2023
FIORABEEZBRBA  AEESFRASR
REEITRIR AR - T B AR RAEA
ZEZEREBEANBEDR EEEAEENA
15,801,000 7T #13,283,000 % 7T (HHE R AR
#111,914,0007C#0123,252,5007T ) #2023 4E 10
REAZENASMFE - RIEHEBEER
REVMER A - RZF20235F10 A B AR
BRI SMASAIREEREAENEH - I
AJEEE BRI ANVER o R BEARE
HHY - AU SIRI 2023510 A B EZE
FEEBA

NEIR2023F 10811 HEFHZIEEHE TR
BECK(TRIE#®R]) - WK 20235F10725
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TeITRTHE  VFTRBENEREHKRES
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ZPEM2024F4 A28 (B)FHHBETE - MR
E£2023F 4 A28 AFIAET B ¢ (V120245
4A28B(5)E2025F4A288 (1 8) Z MK
FERT R BB AEYFIS AT ¢ (vi)#2025
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

25 LEASE LIABILITIES 25 HRARK
The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of TREER T AFE MR F RS BREIR
the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the current and previous EEAEAaENTIBAREIER -

reporting periods:

2023 2022
Present Present
value of the Total value of the Total
minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments

BRIEHE BRI HEHE BRI
NRERE HEMRE [(FERE  HEMEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETR AR®TT  AREBTE

Within 1 year —FR 529 550 3,736 3,810
After 1 year but within 2 years —FREMFLAAN 204 207 626 644
N = 222 TR 4l
733 757 4,362 4,454
Less: total future interest expenses &, : 425t R F| 8.E (23) (92)
Present value of lease liabilities ~ fAE&EHE 734 4,362
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEAN  GAAREIIR)

26 DEFERRED INCOME 26 SBIEEWA
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR%F T ARETTT
At 1 January MA1TH 201,918 259,268
Movement during the year FNEE)
- Government grants received (note (i) — B IR AT B (B 3EG)) 23,226 24,500
- Utilisation —B2&HA (43,009) (80,790)
- Recognised in other income related to — B EYENRBEE S ERE
investment properties HABA - (1,060)
At 31 December 124318 182,135 201,918
Note: Bi3E -
(i)  Pursuant to the respective agreements between the Group and () BEAEEESHMBFRIINEGBRE  Z

local governments, such grants are for subsidising the infrastructure
construction of certain projects undertaken by certain subsidiaries of
the Group, including Yantai Trade Center, Jining Logistics Center, Heze
Industrial, Mianyang Trade Center, Wuzhou Trade Center, Lanzhou
Trade Center, Ganzhou Trade Center, Heze Trade Center and Yulin
Trade Center.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

27 FINANCIAL GUARANTEE CONTRACTS

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

27 &RMiEFEEN

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBFTT
Guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities for
certain purchasers of the Group's property units 7,833 -

The Group has arranged bank financing for certain purchasers of
the Group's property units and provided guarantees to secure
obligations of such purchasers for repayments. Such guarantees
terminate upon the earlier of (i) issuance of the real estate ownership
certificate which will generally be available within an average period
of 1 to 2 years upon the completion of guarantee registration; or (ii)
the satisfaction of mortgaged loan by the purchasers of properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default in mortgage
payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay
the outstanding mortgage principals together with accrued interest
and penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks and the
Group is entitled to take over the legal title and possession of the
related properties. The Group’s guarantee period starts from the
dates of grant of the mortgages.

As at 31 December 2022, the directors consider that the likelihood
of default in payments by purchasers is minimal and the financial
guarantees measured at fair value is immaterial. As at 31 December
2023, the directors consider that the likelihood of default in
payments by purchasers has significantly increased and initially
recognised the financial guarantee contracts as liabilities at its fair
value adjusted for the transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the issue of the financial guarantee liabilities.

AEBEDRAREMEEMNRLEERER
BERTTRLE - WIRMERNERELBES
HERETS - %Erﬁmiﬂ TEF%%
REENHRE  ZRERREERETTK
BEFINE2FARR  k(NFEREE Y
HAEREE -

@f?%ﬁﬁ EEEEERRERE
$EIﬁAE% XE@WE#E&

$iL/U32L WBEE RIRITHRERT LS

Fo LAARKEEEREERBUENS &%

BREMEARE - ARENERBBEFER

FIPR A LA o

HE2022F128318 EE2eRABEEEE
M ATEEMEIR /N - WA BET S EE
RERIEE - HF2023F12A310 ' EF €
REBEEEONAEME KB - WA
FTRERERENERBIZAALEBERAEDN
A ZAnBECREEEFENSRIE
REBBEBHITHORGAEIT T FHEE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

28 OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 28 HfuiEA R
Other current liabilities represent discounted bills which are pledged ErnsaEEUAEEE TR (R
by cash deposit of the Group (see note 19) and expired within one 19)ERWE—FAEEELIR T -
year.
29 OTHER FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 29 HittE&RAR
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TT ARBTT

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost SRR AT ENEREE

(note (i) (B &EG))

- amount due to a non-controlling interest — e IEIE R R ) R B 158,859 352,605
Financial liabilities measured at FVTPL (note (ii)) NARERE BE T ABERN

& BB E (MR Gi)
- Estimated compensation payable —hEH RS E = 87,515
158,859 440,120

Notes: BaE -
(i)  Asat 31 December 2023, the amount due to a non-controlling interest (i) #EE202F12A8318 A& B5EA

with an aggregate principal amount of SGD29,543,000, equivalent to
RMB158,859,000 (2022: SGD67,586,000, equivalent to RMB352,605,000)
is jointly guaranteed by the Company and two subsidiaries of the
Group, interest-bearing from 12% to 15% and is repayable after one
year.

(i)  As at 31 December 2022, the balance represented estimated the (ii)
compensation payable for additional land costs and relevant future
tax expenses to be incurred to Beijing Sunac (a former joint venture of
the Group). During the first half of 2023, the Group disposed its entire
interest in a subsidiary Ganzhou Hydoo Investment, which held 67%
interest in Beijing Sunac (note 13(a)(ii)). Subsequent to the disposal, the
estimated compensation payable was transferred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

30 EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution retirement plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the "MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined
contribution retirement plan administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of
HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest immediately.

As stipulated by the regulations of the PRC, the Group participates
in various defined contribution retirement plans organised by
municipal and provincial governments for its employees. The Group is
required to make contributions to the retirement plans ranging from
10% to 20% of the salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of the
employees. A member of the plan is entitled to a pension equal to a
fixed proportion of the salary prevailing at the member’s retirement
date. The Group has no other material obligation for the payment
of pension benefits associated with these plans beyond the annual
contributions described above.

For the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, there is no forfeited
contribution which may be used by the Group to reduce the existing
level of contribution.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

30 {EBRHFIEF

ERRHFCRIRETE
REEZBEBRHIEAESFTENRGIAR
EABEESEEEKNEEGEZEMNE
By —THAHMEAEeE([REST
Bl  RESHEIRABLETAEENTE
BHFCRIRGTE - BRIERESFE - EXR
1B B9 7AIZ R E B MBI A R 5% ET 54
B T AR A LR A30,0008 7T o it
HEIR RN SRS -

TEDERBRE  AREASERE2EEN
BT PB4 0 5 TR TE R SR REH B - ANER
BAMEETE - EALNE T REEM10%E
20% ARG BIHR - 20T EIMB T H#
ESHRENZERKRE TENETLXRAE
FRRE - R B FEHFRIN - NEEBA
LB FEH SRR SR AEEME
REREE °

HZE2023F K2022F 12 A3 B ILFE -\
YR UK Y (L 2R AT 4 A S [ AR A IR A IR B FE A Y

R -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

31 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 31 LIESRRLRNESEERMMAR

On 12 June 2020, the Group offered to grant share options to
subscribe for a total of 175,400,000 shares of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company to 5 directors and certain eligible employees.
Based on the acceptance confirmation signed by grantees,
164,200,000 share options were accepted for nil consideration. Each
option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share
of the Company and is settled gross in shares. The exercise price is
HKS$0.5 per share.

On 7 December 2020, the Group offered to grant share options to
subscribe for a total of 54,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company to 43 certain eligible employees. Based on
the acceptance confirmation signed by grantees, 54,000,000 share
options were accepted for nil consideration. Each option gives the
holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of the Company
and is settled gross in shares. The exercise price is HK$0.5 per share.

On 19 January 2022, the Group offered to grant share options to
subscribe for a total of 30,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company to an executive directors. Based on the
acceptance confirmation signed by grantees, 30,000,000 share
options were accepted for nil consideration. Each option gives the
holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of the Company
and is settled gross in shares. The exercise price is HK$0.5 per share.

720206 5128 + ANEBIRIEHERE S
MERESERETHAGERNBEIENR
LR E BREVRERAARRAFE
$£ 175,400,000 % & % [ 18 /4 0.01 78 7T A9 f%
0o RBHEETHREZBNEMNERE
164,200,00017 fE £ E R I IEIER 40 - BB
PR AT T35 8 ARE — IR AR T imAR A&
F - WAREBRTHLEE - 1TREABRBE
0.57C °

R2020F 12878 - AEERIKEREST
EmME+=2FEaEBMETZNEDR
BAE  BRETRBAQREPEH
54,000,000 & IR E{E £0.01/ 8 TTHIAR D © 1R
B THREZENEMNERE © 54,000,000
DEYEEREREER - SHBRESE T
FEARE—RRREEARMER - WA
FRELEE - (TREAEIREKIST -

7202261198 - AEBEREERER
M —2FEESNRTESTELORD
BEARHE - BRI RBARRBRAS S K
30,000,000A% &A% H1E £0.01 & TTHIAR () © 1R
BWETEHREZNEMER L 30,000,000
DL ERIEEEN - B EIRESE T
BEARE—RAR L ABAOER - AR
LY - TIREAERBKISTT -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

31 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
(Cont'd)

On 26 June 2022, the Group offered to grant share options to
subscribe for a total of 30,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each in the
capital of the Company to an executive directors. Based on the
acceptance confirmation signed by grantees, 30,000,000 share
options were accepted for nil consideration. Each option gives the
holder the right to subscribe for one ordinary share of the Company
and is settled gross in shares. The exercise price is HK$0.5 per share.

(i) The terms and conditions of the options granted, have been
adjusted to reflect the effect of the share consideration
completed in September 2022, are as follows:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

31 LIEREELRMBERNMR

(#8)

R2022F 6 A26H & A% BB E BT
Bm—2FEEBNRATEZTZLOR T
e BRETRBAARRARAG K
30,000,000% &A% H (B £0.01 B TTHIAR () © 1R
BRRTHRESHOEMNMERE + 30,000,000
S EEREEER - BHERESE T
B ARE—RAR L BEAAEF - WA
TRELE o (TREABIREST °

(i) BFIE T BB A (AR el B RS
DR 8 20226 9 A S22 1A &0 2
pEmT

Number of
instruments
TAEHE

Options granted on 12 June 2020 #2020F6 5128 R FEERES S
— directors —B=F 4,270,000
- employees —8T 13,270,000

Exercise  Percentage of

period  vested shares

BER 5

Vesting date HEA 1TEH Aot
1 April 2021 2021F4 H1H From 1 April 2021
to 1 July 2021
202154 H1R°

202157718 30%
1 April 2022 2022F4 A1 H From 1 April 2022
to 1 July 2022
FH20225F4 18

ZE20229F7H1R 30%
1 April 2023 2023F4H1H From 1 April 2023
to 1 July 2023
202354 H1R

%2023F7H1H 40%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEAN  GAAREIIR)

31 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 31 LiEREELERGSERMMRK

(Cont'd) (¥&)

(i)  The terms and conditions of the options granted, have been (i) P TEERR OV IR AR EAE TR -
adjusted to reflect the effect of the share consideration LA B 72 20225F9 A ek 2 Ik & fF 2
completed in September 2022, are as follows: (Cont'd) FEET : (8)

Number of
instruments
TEgE
Options granted on 7 December 2020 R2020F 12 A7 E FRERESE
- employees —8T 5,400,000

Exercise  Percentage of

period  vested shares

BLE R A7

Vesting date BEH 1T AL

1 April 2021 2021F4 A1 H From 1 April 2021
to 1 July 2021
202154 H1R°

£2021%7H18 30%
1 April 2022 2022F4 A1 H From 1 April 2022
to 1 July 2022
F2022F4 1R

£2022F7H1H 30%
1 April 2023 20234 A1H From 1 April 2023
to 1 July 2023
202354 H1H

F2023F7H1H 40%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

31 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 31 DESBELURHSERBMAR

(Cont'd) (#8)

(i)  The terms and conditions of the options granted, have been (i)  FTRTEERBERNERIGRGE/ERAZEE -
adjusted to reflect the effect of the share consideration AR BR 7202259 A S22 I & Bf 2
completed in September 2022, are as follows: (Cont'd) FEMT : (&)

Number of
instruments
TAYE
Options granted on 19 January 2022 R2022F1 A19R R FIERESS
— director —&E% 3,000,000

Exercise  Percentage of

period  vested shares

BEE B 47

Vesting date BEH 1TEH AL

1 April 2022 2022F4 A1 H From 1 April 2022
to 1 July 2022
202294 A1H

F2022967H1H 30%
1 April 2023 2023FF4 H1H From 1 April 2023
to 1 July 2023
F2023F4H1H

£2023F7A1H 30%
1 April 2024 202454 A1 H From 1 April 2024
to 1 July 2024
F2024F471H

E2024F7H1H 40%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEAN  GAAREIIR)

31 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 31 LiEREELERGSERMMRK

(Cont'd) (#%)

(i)  The terms and conditions of the options granted, have been (i) P TEERR OV IR AR EAE TR -
adjusted to reflect the effect of the share consideration LA B 72 20225F9 A ek 2 Ik & fF 2
completed in September 2022, are as follows: (Cont'd) FEET : (8)

Number of
instruments
TEgE
Options granted on 26 June 2022 2022F6 26 B X T ESS
— director —&EF 3,000,000

Exercise  Percentage of

period  vested shares

BLE R A7

Vesting date BEH 1T AL

1 April 2023 2023F4H1H From 1 April 2023
to 1 July 2023
F12023F4H1R°

£2023F7A1R 30%
1 April 2024 2024F4H1H From 1 April 2024
to 1 July 2024
FH2024F4H1H

F2024F7H1H 30%
1 April 2025 2025F4 A1 H From 1 April 2025
to 1 July 2025
F2025F431H

F2025F7H1H 40%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

31 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
(Cont'd)

(ii)

(iii)

The number and the average exercise price of share option are
as follows:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

31 LIEREELRMBERNMR
(#%)

(ii)

BRGNS E MnEFETEENT

2023 2022
Average Number of Average Number of
exercise price share options exercise price  share options
15 piliL: RS
THEE BREZE 118  BRERA
Outstanding at 1 January M A1ERITE HK$5.00 6,252,000 HK$5.00 123,200,000
5.00/ 7T 5.00/87T
Granted w1 HK$5.00 - HK$5.00 60,000,000
5.007& 7T 5.00/87C
Lapsed HA 3 HK$5.00 (4,152,000) HK$5.00  (120,680,000)
5.007 7T 5.00/87T
Outstanding at 31 December 12831 H K{1T1E HK$5.00 2,100,000 HK$5.00 6,252,000
5.007 7T 5.00/8 7T
Exercisable at 31 December 7128318 AJ17{# HK$5.00 - HK$5.00 -
5.00/8 7T 5.00/8 7T
Note: The number and average exercise price of the share options have MEE . ZEBRENEAE RTHETERED

been adjusted to reflect the effect of the share consolidation
completed in September 2022.

No options were exercised during the year ended 31 December
2023 and 2022.

Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of services received in return for share options
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share
options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share
options granted is measured based on a binomial lattice model.
The contractual life of the share option is used as an input into
this model. Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into
the binomial lattice model.

(iii)

BEFAE - R 20229F9 A5
ZRIDAHZEE -

RE E2023%2022F12 A31HIEFE -

BB R TIE ©

BRENAABERRES

AR T o B R B RISV A AL BE
2EETHOBRENAABERE - &
THOBERNRIABEGBIEENR =R
AWBELETHEN - BERENER
HIREBIEZ R B A - FHTTHED
HAE M AN A\ —TH A AR AL -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

31 EQUITY SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
(Cont'd)

31 LIRSS LRABERNMR

(iii) Fair value of share options and assumptions (Cont’d)

The following table lists the inputs to the model used:

(#%)

(i) BRENIABERRR(E)
TR T FRRARAEEA

Share options granted on

BFHBRER
26/6/2022 19/1/2022 7/12/2020 12/6/2020

Fair value per share option at SRR EEIER A7 HK$0.031 HK$0.069 HK$0.091 HK$0.179
measurement date BE 0.03178 7T 0.06978 7T 0.091787T 0.179%8 7T

Share price (note) eSS HK$2.50 HK$4.10 HK$4.10 HK$4.95

2.50/87T 41087 410787 4.9587T

Exercise price (note) TEER (M) HK$5.00 HK$5.00 HK$5.00 HK$5.00

5.00/87C 5.00/87T 5.00/87C 5.00/87C

Expected volatility (expressed FBERENR (KRR E 50.99%- 46.55%- 50.41%- 65.5%-—
as weighted average IR RA 56.59% 54.89% 64.61% 67.24%
volatility used in the R A It
modelling under binomial HREE)
lattice model)

Option life (expressed as AT (R~ A 1- 0.4- 0.6- 1.05-
weighted average lifeused ~ —IEVFHRIERT 3 years 2.4 years 2.6 years 3.05 years
in the modelling under IR A e pntE 1-34F 0.4-2.44F 0.6-2.6%  1.05-3.05%F
binomial lattice model) B RER)

Expected dividends TEHAAR B 0% 0% 0% 0%

Risk-free interest rate fE [ g M) 2K 2.33%- 0.2%- 0.1%- 0.22%-

2.73% 0.88% 0.18% 0.34%

Note: The share price and exercise price has been adjusted to reflect the 5T - ZEREERMITHEERCIEAR

effect of the share consolidation completed in September 2022.

The fair value of the share options granted in year 2022 was
RMB2,677,000. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Group recognised total expenses of RMB848,000 (2022:
RMB5,434,000), in relation to share options granted by the

Group.

AR BR 722022479 A R RI IR 15 & BF

S/ 480
A7 X

R202FAER THERENAAEBESR
AR #2,677,0007C ° FAE 22023 F 12
ANBILFE  AEBERAEERE 2

BT

R S B R A R ¥ 848,000 7T

(20224 : AR¥£5,434,0007T) °
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS

(@) Movements in components of equity (a)

32 Bx%F - EWKEE
RHAMRI D NEE
REBAFHERSHEKEYWFEIRF
RGHRNERIFN A R EEHR - K
AEREm AR EE D R E VI ZF R

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances
of each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set
out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details

of the changes in the Company’s individual components of DEFFEEINAT
equity between the beginning and the end of the year are set
out below:
Equity settled
Capital share-based
Share Share  redemption Capital payment Exchange  Accumulated Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses equity
NREEEN
BX OB
The Company A7 Rk RAEE  EERE  EARE  ARERE  ENXRE 0 ZHEFR ERAE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AEBTL  ARETR  AREFR  ARETR  ARETR  AREFR  ARETR  ARETR
() 33(d)(i) 33(d)v) 33(d)(iv) 33(cl)(ii)
Balance at 1 January 2022 R202#1818 36,598 1,188,276 120 1,386,109 20,285 156,928 (1,566,303) 1222013
Changesinequity for2022:  02EBHEE .
Lossand total comprehensive  FAEERZEHA
income for the year a5 - - - - - 94,856 (604679) (509823)
Equity settled share-based ARG BRI
transactions 25 - - - - 5434 - - 5434
Lapsed of scheme options ~ FH§RIRFRE - - - - (20,167) - 2,167 -
At31December2022and 120225128318 R
1 January 2023 2031718 36,598 1,188,276 120 1,386,109 5552 251,784 (2,150,815) 717,624
Changesinequityfor2023: 203 EHEE |
Loss and total comprehensive  ERBERZEHRA
income for the year &% - - - - - 11,414 (254585 (43171)
Equity settled share-based ~ MATREE BRI
transactions % - - - - 848 - - 848
Lapsed of scheme options = $RERFRE - - - - (5877) = 5871 =
Balance at 31 December 2023 142023125318 36,598 1,188,276 120 1,386,109 523 263,198 (2,399,523) 475,301
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEAN  GAAREIIR)

32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Cont’d) 32 BF - AR ()
(b) Dividends (b) BE
For the year ended 31 December 2023, no final dividend in HE2023F12A3BIEFE - BIEH
respect of the previous financial year was approved and paid RO ) BB B E R R ERAR B
(2022: Nil). (2022%F : &) o
The directors did not propose the payment of any final dividend RREBRER TR AREARE ©

subsequent to year end.

(c) Share capital (¢ B
Authorised capital: EERRA
Number of Nominal
shares value
BHEE HE
‘000 HK$'000
T FET
As at 1 January 2022, ordinary shares of HK$0.01 74202241 H18 + BREE0.017E T
each ZERR 8,000,000 80,000
Share consolidation (note (i) R&1DE BF (BT EG)) (7,200,000) -
As at 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and 720229124318 ~ 202351 H1H
31 December 2023, ordinary shares of HK$0.1 20235128310 » BREE
each 0.187T 2 ik 800,000 80,000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Cont'd) 32 B& - GEfm R B2 ()
(c) Share capital (Cont’d) (¢ BA(#7)
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: EETRER 2 LB
Number of Nominal Nominal
shares value value
BB EE HE HE
‘000 HK$’000 RMB’000
Tz THT ARBETTT

As at 1January 2022, ordinary 720221518 - BREE
shares of HK$0.01 each 0.0 T2 LiEA% 4,537,354 45,373 36,598
Share consolidation (note (i) RS & HF (B EEG)) (4,083,619) - -

As at 31 December 2022, 1 January722022 12 4318 -« 2023
2023 and 31 December 2023, 1A1H &%2023%F12A318 -

ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each ~ &AREE0.1/8 7L 2 LB 453,735 45,373 36,598

Note: st -

(i)  Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders (i) IREARQDFMER2022F9 8238 E1T
of the Company at a extraordinary general meeting on 23 ZREEFRIAEBB 2 TBARER -
September 2022, every ten share of the Company of HK$0.01 each 10 BREE0OB T2 ARRRGE
were consolidated into one consolidated share of HK$0.1 each. HRERSREELIEIT A MDY -
All the shares issued during the year rank pari passu with the FIERERNEITZRONE T EEAR
existing shares of the Company in all aspects. AIRA RN ZHAERMAL
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

BUAREFIR)

32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Cont'd)

(d)

Reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium account of the Company may be applied
for payment of distributions or dividends to shareholders
provided that immediately following the date on which
the distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the
ordinary course of business.

PRC statutory reserve

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Group’s
PRC subsidiaries and relevant statutory regulations,
appropriations to the statutory reserve fund were made
at 10% of profit after tax determined in accordance with
accounting rules and regulations of the PRC until the
reserve balance reaches 50% of the registered capital. This
reserve fund can be utilised in setting off accumulated
losses or increasing capital of the PRC subsidiaries
provided that the balance after such conversion is not
less than 25% of their registered capital, and is non-
distributable other than in liquidation.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all relevant exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of operations with functional currency other
than Renminbi. The reserve is dealt with in accordance
with the accounting policy set out in note 1(x).

Equity settled share-based payment reserve

Equity settled share-based payment reserve represents
the fair value of the actual or estimated number of
unexercised share options granted to employees of the
Group in accordance with the accounting policy adopted
for share-based payments in note 1(t)(ii).

32 IRE  EiERERE ()
B

(d)
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(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

R17EE
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B WBRREERE MR
RB AR - ARBIRRESNAE
FBEBBIET OB HETS -

B EE R E
REAEEFEFARNARERR
AR BRLEEER - BAETE
SEHRAI SO AR EE E BRI AE
M10%FEAE BT ER - BERM
AR ERER M E ANEI50% © %1
e A AR EHETET AR R
EBERSIEE - EERREESER
NOREMEARE25% - BFRRE
BEF - NATARDIK ©

EL#E

[E S iR EEEREIFARBEND
REEBRLYBRRMELNME
TERAME R o BRI 1
PREVE SRt IR BRI
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Cont'd)

(d)

Reserves (Cont’'d)
(v) Capital reserve

Capital reserve is resulted from transactions with owners
in their capacity as the equity owners. The balance
comprises capital reserve surplus/deficit arising from the
difference between the disposal/acquisition consideration
and its net assets value at the respective date of disposal/
acquisition, and the capital reserve transferring from the
equity settled share-based payment reserve.

(vi) Reserve - transaction with non-controlling interests

The balance represents difference between the net
identifiable assets and the consideration paid for
acquisition of non-controlling interests.

Distributability of reserves

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands, amounted to approximately
RMB438,703,000 (2022: RMB681,026,000), which may be
distributed provided that immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company
will be in a position to pay off its debts as and when they fall
due in the ordinary course of business.

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to fund its property development projects, provide
returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders, by
pricing properties commensurately with the level of risk and by
securing access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its
capital structure to maintain a balance between the higher
shareholder returns that might be possible with higher levels
of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a
sound capital position, and makes adjustments to the capital
structure in light of changes in economic conditions.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

32 B&F - GEfRR B R ()

(d)

i (&)

v) BFEE
BEARHERE BHEA AN D
BASMETHRS - BHEeEd
&/ WEHEREBRLE KEA
HEEFENZEMELEAHE
Efh AL AR B AR A
BARAD AT AR R B B AN
e

(i) 1R —BEHZEREZHIXES
AERRTE T BB B A R N U
TR s 2 BB ERR ©

A ok

MR2023F12A31H © IREFAESEER
BERTEMNARRIHEYIRFEHN B
AR #438,703,0007T (2022F : AR
681,026,0007T) * ZEREAEDIR -
EEEERZREREBHE  AQFH
BENEEATEBBERMNEIERER -

BEXER

AEEEREANTIZARRRERSE
ERHEL LS - AREYEFEIER
BREES - ARFEZERRKF KA
BEKNARGHERANT A RYEE
(B RBER R H b FIz5 18R & B2 4 0 3R
ReFak o

ARERETDERRE R AR
B S REE KT T ARNR
AR IR I SRR AR K 0B S
RERZBOHTE - LRBOERRL
BB A -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEAN  GAAREIIR)

32 CAPITAL, RESERVES AND DIVIDENDS (Cont'd) 32 BE - ERERE (1)

(f) Capital management (Cont’d) (f)

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of gearing
ratio. The Group defines this ratio as interest-bearing liabilities
(including bank loans and other borrowings, senior notes and
other financial liabilities) divided by total assets of the Group.
At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the gearing ratio of the Group
was calculated as follows:

BEREE(H)

AEERBEEBB REREERLE
B AEEATHLEEABTEAE
(BRESREMEMN  ROTERK
HifgE  BErEEREMSmEE)
BAKREEEELLE - 20235 %2022
F1ANAE AKBECEESELEN
T

2023 2022
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARETT

Bank loans and other borrowings IRITERNMEMEE 2,995,518 4,909,697
Senior notes BEEE 3,221,913 2,609,780
Other financial liabilities HEmemas 158,859 352,605
Total interest-bearing liabilities sHEMER 6,376,290 7,872,082
Total assets BEE 18,221,900 22,707,401
Gearing ratio BEAGHEE 35.0% 34.7%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

33 DISPOSAL GROUP CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

In September 2022, the Group entered into an equity transfer
agreement with an independent third party whereby the Group
agreed to dispose of its 60% equity interest in Hangzhou Xinan
Yuerong Enterprise Limited (“Xinan Yuerong”), together with its
subsidiary. Xinan Yuerong is principally engaged in the property
development in the PRC. The transfer of the equity interest is
expected to be completed before the end of 2023. Accordingly, the
assets and liabilities of Xinan Yuerong as at 31 December 2022 were
classified as a disposal group held for sale.

An impairment loss of RMB112,478,000 is recognised as other losses
in the consolidated income statement, being the difference of Xinan
Yuerong's fair value less costs to sell and its carrying amount as at 31
December 2022.

The major classes of assets and liabilities of Xinan Yuerong classified
as held for sale as at 31 December 2022 were as follows:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

33 HEFSHR

R2022F9H  AEEBE—FBIE =7
VREEERGS  BUEAERREHEER
MMOEZRAEEZERAB([LRER])
HEREHEBRFI60%HIIE - DEHWAETE
R RN EFHERM o ZRESRTBHN
2023F FRATFTEA © Bt - DL AR 2022
FNRANEHNEERBER D BEARBERE
#7 -

AR #112,478,000 7T B9 5 B BT B ELR & I
DRPIEAEMEBERR  HWALZHER
2022F 12 A31 B A FEERE TSR A E
HERAEHNEE -

DEIEER2022F12 A31BHMEERAER
DIEAFBEFENEZERINT ¢

2022

RMB’000

AREEFIT

Property, plant and equipment Y% - BEMEE 1,685
Deferred tax assets FEFTSREE 1,300
Inventories and other contract costs GFERHEAA RKA 173,963
Trade and other receivables H 5 K H b FEGR 217,960
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEFEY 36
Impairment of assets classified as held for sale D RFAEREEERE (112,478)
Total assets classified as held of sale SHEALEGEARNNEERE 282,466
Trade and other payables B 5 M E A RERK 54,425
Lease liabilities HEREMN® 756
Deferred tax liabilities FEFTSR AR 12,285
Total liabilities classified as held of sale SEALEGEARNNEERE 67,466

During the second half of 2023, the Group completed the disposal of
its subsidiary, Hangzhou Xinan Yuerong Enterprise Limited (“Xinan
Yuerong”), its assets and liabilities were previously classified as
disposal group held for sale as at 31 December 2022. However, the
Group did not complete the disposal of the subsidiary held by Xinan
Yuerong, the subsidiary that not disposed become a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group, it resulted an increase of non-controlling
interests by approximately RMB1,462,000 during the year ended 31
December.

R22BFTHF AEETRTEENB
NAMMLEZRABERARAG([LEH
B MOZHAER2022F12A31HNEE
REBEWSEAIBERESER - A £F
WAREKREELZIEBRHNEB AR - ARE
ENMBARKAREREZENBAR 3
IbE FEFE B e 2 7 2023 FF 12 10 A R 51,462,000
=
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 SMEBRERRLRE

VALUES

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate, currency risks and equity REBR—MEKBREFEHEE  RKH
price risk arises in the normal course of the Group’s business. The MRE . BEERRERREEERRE
Group is also exposed to equity price risk arising from its equity REENMHEHFEEMEEHREREEES
investments in other entities. MR E R

The Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk AEBRS AR RAEEREEZFRAR
management policies and practices used by the Group to manage kA 2 TR e B IR B R HISER AT

these risks are described below:

(a) Creditrisk (a)

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on
its contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash
and cash equivalents and pledged and restricted cash, trade
and other receivables and other financial assets. The Group
maintains a defined credit policy and the exposures to these
credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group’s
cash and cash equivalents and pledged and restricted cash are
mainly deposited in financial institutions such as commercial
banks which maintain sound reputation and financial situation.
The credit risk is considered low.

Except for the financial guarantees given by the Group as
set out in note 36, the Group does not provide any other
guarantees which would expose the group to credit risk. The
maximum exposure to credit risk in respect of these financial
guarantees at the end of the reporting period is disclosed in
note 36.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (Cont'd)

(a)

Credit risk (Cont’d)

Trade receivables and other receivables and other financial
assets

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by
the individual characteristics of each customer rather than
the industry or country in which the customers operate and
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily
arise when the Group has significant exposure to individual
customers. At the end of the reporting period, 77% (2022: 85%)
of the total trade receivables was due from a customer which
is a government authority with good credibility. Although
the aging of that related trade receivable is past due over one
year, the Group considers that the credit risk is low. Normally,
the Group does not obtain collateral from customers but the
Group only assists the buyer to obtain the individual property
ownership certificate upon the full settlement of receivables
from the buyer.

In respect of loans to third parties and other debtors, regular
review and follow-up actions are carried out on long-aged
other receivables and any default incurred, which enable
management to assess their recoverability and to minimise
exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk is
represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade and other
receivables and loans to the third parties included in other non-
current assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is
calculated using a provision matrix.

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

34 EREEREERAAMEGE)

(a)

EHRRE(E)
EBSERNERAMERERIM
THEE
FrEEERZEARRMNEETESEY
PR & EMETHEIERAER
FHEPE  REARRSESEPEIER
AEESXEANERNEFRBREFEA o
REBEEIR - B S RBGIBRENT7%
(20224F : 85%) BIEM —HEF KR
H - ZBPE—EBRIEENBTH
T o BERBERKGENRRECHBIB
—F ZEERBZERARRE - —#&
M5 ARETEREFHEETFD -
BR REEEFZEMNEREREARSE
ESHHETESEASEEEME

EA3
ag °

FRAE =T EREEMRYGRIEMS -
B HREB R A M B R FIEETT
TE AR B M RERBRAE 1R 1 (e 3 A T
BRAR  ElEEEB RSN
U 1m0 14 37 28 8 515 A8 LB D F8 2 Ak
1K - sRAE AR O R ERE P EIRR
KRPNERLHEENREERT

AEEREEREHRBERBENS
B(ARFEREAE)KGEE S MEM
ERUFARBEEHMIERBEET &
WHE=TTERERERE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BR=HEAN

BUAREFIR)

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (Cont'd)

(a)

Credit risk (Cont’d)

Trade receivables and other receivables and other financial
assets (Cont’d)

The following table provides information about the Group’s
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade and other receivables

34 SRRMRERRARME(E)

(a) f=ARERE)

ESEUFEAREMERSBERAM
EHEEE)

SR EF AL B FrEER(E R RER

O A

KBS NEMEWKRARERE =TT

and loans to the third parties: RIBEMERBENER
2023 2023%F
Expected Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FEHEER REAE EiERE
% RMB’000 RMB’000
% AR®T T AR%ET
Current (not past due) or BIEA (k381 87 ) st 80 BF
past due within 90 days for T iEiE90H
— trade receivables — B WA 10.16% 2,057 (209)
— other receivables — ﬁf’@f E WA 2.90% 180,233 (5,223)
— amounts due from joint — B A EER
ventures 62.33% 59,475 (37,072)
Financial assets measured at LA SER ANET 2R SR
amortised cost EiE 100% 51,575 (51,575)
More than 90 days past due 1 HAR A 90 H
— trade receivables — B WA 16.38% 263,158 (43,101)
— other receivables — H b fE R IE 29.50% 1,255,875 (370,466)
— amount due from Thailand — YR G & IR
Joint Ventures (note 13(a)) (M47E13()) 100.00% 19,271 (19,271)
Financial assets measured at LA SEAANET 2R SR
amortised cost BE 100.00% 14,441 (14,441)
1,846,085 (541,358)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 SMEREERNAREHE)
VALUES (Cont'd)
(a) Credit risk (Cont'd) (@) EREEGE)
Trade receivables and other receivables and other financial ESEKSERBEMENFZERAM
assets (Cont’d) THEEE)
2022 20224
Expected  Gross carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEEAE R X REBE SRR
% RMB’000 RMB’'000

% ARETT ARETTT

Current (not past due) or BNER (SR HA) ok s HA
past due within 90 days for T EiE90H
- trade receivables — 8 S REWFA - 2,666 -
- other receivables — H U RIE - 521,974 (43)
- finance lease receivables — R A E RN GIE - 1,547 -
— amounts due from joint — B A E B EFIR
ventures 48.28% 59,274 (28,620)
Financial assets measured at DABESERARETEM S/t
amortised cost BE 40.19% 54,399 (21,860)
More than 90 days past due AR E90 H
— trade receivables — B SR 13.37% 238,791 (31,937)
— other receivables — H b R GRIA 18.98% 691,845 (131,291)
- finance lease receivables —REHE R RIE 100.00% 9,767 (9,767)
— amount due from Thailand —RERRBEEEDERIE
Joint Ventures (note 13(a)) (MI5E13@)) 100.00% 19,613 (19,613)
Financial assets measured at DA SEA ANETER 2R
amortised cost BE 100.00% 3,559 (3,559)

1,603,435 (246,690)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (Cont'd)

(a)

Credit risk (Cont’d)

Trade receivables and other receivables and other financial
assets (Cont’d)

Except for the specified expected loss, other expected loss
rates are based on historical experience and adjusted to
reflect differences between economic conditions during the
period over which the historic data has been collected, current
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over
the expected lives of the receivables.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of trade and
other receivables and finance lease receivables during the year
is as follows:

34 EREREERAAMEGE)

(a)

= AmkE (&)
ESEUFEAREMERSBERAM
EHEEE)

R ERHERIN - AtEREIRRE
BEFEL&RTEY B BRREIA(E
REEBECESRRE) RERRER
B TR R AN B 4 e W FOR TR H TR 4R
HIMEEIRR 2 B R - MANAGER -

FNE FREIFRIE R H A R IR R &l
EHEREFENBIEEERZES N
T

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR¥T T ARET T

Balance at 1 January 1A 1H B 246,690 107,001
Reversal during the year F e[ (43,979) (33,674)
Impairment losses recognised during the year FAERRBEBE 328,582 172,618
Decrease on disposal of a subsidiary HEFARRED (864) (141)
Exchange difference R ER 10,929 886
Balance at 31 December 12 431 BE#E & 541,358 246,690

Liquidity risk

The Group management reviews the liquidity position of the
Group on an ongoing basis, including review of the expected
cash inflows and outflows, sale/pre-sale results of respective
property projects, maturity of loans and borrowings and the
progress of the planned property development projects in
order to monitor the Group’s liquidity requirements in the short
and longer terms. The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor
its liquidity requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash
and adequate committed lines of funding from major financial
institutions to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term. The directors have taken into account the forecasts
of operating performance, as well as the ability of the Group
to obtain and renew bank loans and the financial support
from shareholders in assessing the sufficiency of liquidity
requirements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 SHEBEERAREE)

VALUES (Cont'd)

(b) Liquidity risk (Cont'd) (b) FRENERBE ()
The following tables show the remaining contractual maturities THREIAEEeRAR(CIEELRSE
at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s financial BEHAXINEE IMELENTBRRK
liabilities excluding receipts in advance, which the Group BH)RNEMERRNR TSR - &
expects to provide rental services in the future. The contractual AEREREBESARMEReRE (R
maturities are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows B AR Rk (W)FE)) S MEAARIE
(including interest payments computed using contractual rates TOFMEHENFENFT) ARKEER
or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the reporting FEEFNEFAHE

period) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay:

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

ANARRRSRL

More than More than

Within 1year but 2years but
1yearor less than less than More than Carrying
on demand 2years 5years 5years Total amount

—FRg BE-F BEmE
BREX BARME BHREE BRLE st KaE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARRTR ARBTT ARBTR ARBTT ARRTR ARRTR

31 December 2023 2023F12A31H
Bank loans and other RN RAMEE

borrowings 1,894,845 348,833 843,216 141,549 3208443 2,995,518
Lease liabiliies HERRE 550 207 - - 757 733
Tradeand otherpayables 25 R EAERZUE 3,643,273 - - - 3,643,273 3,639,237
Amounts dueto controlling BRI RUA

shareholders 255,063 - - - 255,063 255,063
Senior notes EXEE 111914 - 419,850 3,110,139 3,641,903 3221913
Other current liabilities ARBAR 340,673 - - - 340,673 329,039
Other financial liabilities EteRAk 166,801 - - - 166,801 158,859

6,413,119 349,040 1,263,066 3,251,688 11,276,913 10,600,362
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEAN  GAAREIIR)

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 SRABEERAAREE)
VALUES (Cont'd)
(b) Liquidity risk (Cont'd) (b) RENE R (4)

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

BNRERRSRA

More than More than

Within 1year but 2yearsbut
1year or less than less than More than Carrying
on demand 2years 5 years 5years Total amount

e Bh—F BAmE
BEX ENTES BAREF BRALE @t e
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

AEBTTL ARBTTL AEBTTL AEBTTL NEBTT AEBTTL

31 December 2022 2025124318
Bankloans and other FOERREMEE
borrowings 876,927 2,099,295 2,439,887 158,501 5,574,610 4,909,697
Lease liabilities HERE 3810 644 - - 4,454 4362
Tradeand otherpayables 25 R EAEMFUE 4,351,643 109477 - - 4461,120 4437,238
Amounts duetocontrolling ~ EEIRIRER B
shareholders 342,500 - - - 342,500 342,500
Senior notes ErZE 2933992 - - - 2933992 2,609,780
Other current labilities EbRgak 1,052,883 - - - 1,052,883 1,022,614
Other financial liabilities oAk 52,890 369,557 87515 - 509,962 440,120
9,614,645 2,578,973 2527402 158,501 14,879,521 13,766,311
(c) Interest rate risk (c) FIEE
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash MERBEESHITANALBEIREK
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of ReREeETIHFEEEHMBEBHRE
changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk %o AEBEMEXEBREERERE KRR
arises primarily from cash and cash equivalents, pledged and SEEY EEBERFRERES RZE
restricted cash and borrowings issued at variable rates. FIEEFK ©
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34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

VALUES (Cont'd)

(c)

Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

The Group does not anticipate significant impact on cash and
cash equivalents and the pledged deposits because the interest
rates of bank deposits are not expected to change significantly.
The Group does not carry out any hedging activities to manage
its interest rate exposure.

(i) Interest rate profile

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

34 EREEREERAAMEGE)

() FI=mEb(E)
AEEESES RASZEYEDER
BRI SXEATE  AABHRITHE
HFETEHEALE -

(i) FIEELR

2023 2022
Effective Effective
Interest rate Interest rate
BrEAI= BERRA =
% RMB’'000 % RMB’'000
% AR%®TRn % AREBTT
Fixed rate liabilities: BEERREE :
Lease liabilities HEBE 5% 733 6.18% 4,362
Bank loans and RITER R EA
other borrowings EPET 9.11% 1,373,933 10.41% 1,367,135
Senior notes BEERE 15.01% 111,914 13.2%-15.15% 2,609,780
4.5% 3,109,999
Other payables HAbFERFIE 12.85% 115,400 12.85% 207,814
Other current liabilities ~ EAbRBIB & 3.54% 329,039 2.96% 1,022,614
Other financial liabilities E &R E & 15% 158,859 15% 352,605
5,199,877 5,564,310
Variable rate liabilities:  EEIFIREH :
Bank loans and IRITER R EAM
other borrowings gy 5.09% 1,621,585 5.63% 3,542,562
6,821,462 9,106,872
Net fixed rate borrowings &€ F| & & E F58
as a percentage of HHREEEEN
total interest-bearing Bot
liabilities 76% 61%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R M5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (Cont'd)

(c)

Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

(ii)  Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2023, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points (2022: 50 basis points)
in interest rates, with all other variables held constant,
would have increased/decreased the Group’s loss after
tax and decreased/increased total equity attributable to
equity shareholders of the Company by approximately
RMB8,108,000 (2022: increased/decreased the Group’s loss
after tax and decreased/increased total equity attributable
to equity shareholders of the Company by approximately
RMB17,713,000), which has not taken into account of
effect of interest capitalisation.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s loss after tax (and retained profits)
and other components of consolidated equity that would
arise assuming that the change in interest rates had
occurred at the end of the reporting period and had been
applied to re-measure those financial instruments held by
the Group which expose the Group to fair value interest
rate risk at the end of the reporting period. In respect of
the exposure to cash flow interest rate risk arising from
floating rate non-derivative instruments held by the
Group at the end of the reporting period, the impact on
the Group’s loss after tax (and retained profits) and other
components of consolidated equity is estimated as an
annualised impact on interest expense or income of such
a change in interest rates. The analysis is performed on the
same basis as 2022.

34 RREREERERAREGE)

(c)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUES (Cont'd)

(d) Currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily on bank
deposits and senior notes to which the transactions relate.
The currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily US dollars
and Hong Kong dollars. In this respect, it is assumed that the
pegged rate between the Hong Kong dollar and the United
States dollar would be materially unaffected by any changes
in movement in value of the United States dollar against other
currencies. It will affect the exchange reserve of the Company’s
financial statements resulted from the translation of the
financial statements of foreign operations into the Group’s
presentation currency.

Equity price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price changes arising from

equity investments held for non-trading purposes classified as
financial assets measured at FVTPL.

The Group’s unquoted investments are held for long term
strategic purposes. Their performance is assessed at least bi-
annually against performance of similar listed entities, based
on the limited information available to the Group, together
with an assessment of their relevance to the Group's long-term
strategic plan.

Fair value measurement
(i)  Financial instruments measured at fair value

The following table presents the fair value of financial
instruments measured at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-
level fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13, Fair
value measurement. The level into which a fair value
measurement is classified is determined with reference to
the observability and significance of the inputs used in the
valuation technique as follows:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

34 EREEREERAAMEGE)

(d)

E¥Ek

AEEEmEINERR  TRRAERS
BRMBRTERMELRRER - 5IHEAH
R EEEE/ETIET ° IR
T BERTHEMEEMERZEH N
SHAETEI T RNBRERELS
AP E  BRTERRMBHRERNINE
- ANREINEBTNP B RERGRE
REEBEE2FNEEMELNER -

BEREERRR
AEBHRHRIEZHELAENER
HEBTAEPRSNEMEENES
BREEENERZBRER -

AEBE R RRERE ZFHER AR A
o AREERBEFB LT EERR
AFNBEREMMEZFRERRED
BMFEFE—R - ERFEREFEAE
B R AR BRI o

AREIE
() RAREHBHEHMIA

TREJRBERRAL B IEER
AENERMIARARE - WIRER
I mEERFE 135 - RAAEFE
AEDBR=ERERR -
REFAERSEBUTHETEME
RHEABRRIBREREEEM
DBREEERR

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active

markets for identical assets or liabilities at the measurement date
EFERAF—RBETENAAE  RFTER A ERMSHEREEXEER
R RE

E—RhE -

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet
Level 1, and not using significant unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs are
inputs for which market data are not available

ERAE —RBBENAAE  ITHEE - RN BRBE MARERATEH
ENEREE - TAIERBIEDEEERETISEMNEUE

£ _AfhE -

Level 3 valuations:

FE=AfHE -

Fair value measured using significant unobservable inputs

ERNBENERSEAENAE
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 EREABRERRARMEE)

VALUES (Cont'd)
(f) Fair value measurement (Cont’d) H DAREFTE(E)
(i)  Financial instruments measured at fair value (Cont’d) (i) BRAAEFEHLHTAE)
Fair value measurements Fair value measurements
Fair value at asat 31 December 2023 Fair value at asat 31 December 2022
31 December categorised into 31 December categorised into
223 2035128318 2022 10025121318
R0nE  AERUTRANAAERE RngE  AEENTRRINAAEE
128318 Level 2 Level3 128318 Level2 Level3
WARE E =8 MAR 3 =5
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
[iE AR®Tn  ARETR  ARETR  ARETR ARETT  ARETR
Recurring fair value EDAEE
measurements
Financial assets: PBEE:
- Wealth management -HEEEER
products - - 2,009 2,009 -
Finandial liabiliy: HAR:
- Other financial liabilities ~fTEERIE 30 - - (87515) - (87515)
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, B E2023F 202212 A31H 1
there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or FE - FHEF_HETET
transfers into or out of Level 3. The Group's policy is to A8t - NEEANERE =R -
recognise transfers between levels and fair value hierarchy REENBEANBERADEFR
as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur. ERH RS RARAERE - R TR
BRIz PR o
The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments AR EIR KA SHE SE AR F AR &
carried at cost or amortised cost were not materially B T B BRmE{E B E 7820234 122022
different from their fair values as at 31 December 2023 FNRAJNEHNAABTEEKRE
and 2022. Ho
(ii)  Valuation techniques and inputs used in Level 2 fair (i) E=RAABTTEHHIEET

value measurements

The fair value of derivative financial instruments in Level
2 is the estimated amount that the Group would receive
or pay to terminate the option at the end of the reporting
period, taking into account current interest rates and the
current creditworthiness of the option counterparties.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 34 ERMEARERRARMEE)

VALUES (Cont'd)
(f) Fair value measurement (Cont’d) (f)

D REE(E)
(iii) BEE=RAA(ETSEHEH

(iii) Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

The fair value of unlisted equity instruments is determined
using the price/earning ratios of comparable listed
companies adjusted for lack of marketability discount.
The fair value measurement is negatively correlated to the
discount for lack of marketability.

The fair value of amount due from joint ventures measured
at FVTPL and other financial liability are determined

FLEMRETANARENRALL £
MR AIRER,HE L EHE - A
KRS R MEEL OITEm A
o DAERFE BB RBRTISR
AMEROITEKRE

FEW A & RRIFIAR AR EER
EHEARBEEDHTAZH

using future estimated cash flow to be recovered/paid, Ba - HhEmatnanEER
future profit forecast of the disposal entity, development ABBEFIE, SRR R
progress and applicable discount rate. 2 BEFEORRAEEAE
AR R = (AEE®TE -

HANE —REE=RAEFTERS

The movement during the period in the balance of Level 2

and Level 3 fair value measurements is as follows: HREFERBERNT -
2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB’000
ARET ARETT
Financial assets measured at Level 2 BE_ERFTENEHE
Fair value: BE:
At 1 January M1A1R 2,009 4,180
Additions nNE = 2,000
Disposal BEE (2,009) (4171)
At 31 December MK12A31H - 2,009
Financial liabilities measured at Level 3 BREZZHTENSH
Fair value: =0
At 1 January M1A1H 87,515 84,184
Disposal of subsidiaries BE TR (87,515) =
Net unrealised losses recognised in profit or loss N B S FER A A B IR
during the year B85 e - 3,331
At 31 December 124318 - 87,515
Net losses for the period included in MR ERARFENEE
profit or loss for assets and liabilities held MEET ABRAER
at the end of the reporting period s 358 = (3,331)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bf & 3R R Mf&F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEAN  GAAREIIR)

34 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 3 £MEAREERAAREGE)
VALUES (Cont'd)
(f) Fair value measurement (Cont’d) f DREFTE(E)
(iv) Fair value of financial assets and liabilities carried at (iv) UHFRAREEGTELLHEEF
other than fair value THEENASEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’ s financial REB ARSI EAK A EN S
instruments which are carried at cost or amortised cost Bt T EAIREEESEEE F20234F
are not materially different from their fair values as at 31 12 A31BM2022F12A31HHA
December 2023 and 2022. AEBEETESAER -
35 COMMITMENTS 35 #iE
Capital commitments outstanding at 31 December contracted but P12 A31BEETAMER B R N EEER
not provided for in the financial statements were as follows: BARFSEWNT -
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARETTT

Construction and development contracts BRRERAY 2,883,733 1,348,488
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Bt &3k R KI5

36 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Guarantees

The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities
granted by certain banks in connection with the mortgage loans
entered into by purchasers of the Group’s properties. Pursuant
to the terms of the guarantees, if there is default of the mortgage
payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay
the outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest
and penalty owned by the defaulted purchasers to the banks. The
Group’s guarantee period commences from the dates of grant of
the relevant mortgage loans and ends upon the earlier of the buyer
obtained the individual property ownership certificate and the full
settlement of mortgage loans by the buyer.

The maximum amounts of guarantees given to banks for mortgage
facilities granted to the purchasers of the Group’s properties at the
end of each reporting period is as follows:

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

36 HARAR

ER
REBEAETHRITHASEMES FEIL
B ERME H LB E R ER - 1B
BIERG - WZEESTHERIZBMNR - 8
AEBEEEEERBNILZBEFEREY
BH RN TIRITHERER A EREIFK o &
SEMERAAEBZRBETE T BHRE
BEZERNBMANEESREHEBTIZBE
KUARRE BRI -

REBREPRRIAEEMEE L BRNIZE
BAEMRARITELNSEABERESBNT

2023 2022
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥T AREFTT
Guarantees given to banks for mortgage facilities ~ FLANEEYEE HIERNIZBRIE
granted to purchasers of the Group's properties i MR TYEH AR R 2,449,577 3,255,518

The directors consider that it is not probable that the Group will
sustain a loss under these guarantees as the Group can take over
the ownerships of the related properties and sell the properties to
recover any amounts paid by the Group to the banks. The directors
of the Company also consider that the fair market value of the
underlying properties is able to cover the outstanding mortgage
loans guaranteed by the Group in the event the purchasers default
payments to the banks.

The Group has not recognised any deferred income in respect of
these guarantees as its fair value is considered to be minimal by the
directors of the Company.

EERR ARAKERREREYENHR
BRYHERMYE - AREAEEmRT
SATREM R RR - FU AR E KA BE R %
SRRMEZEE - ARREENRA i
B REERTENR - BIAEREYENQSR
M{EERAAREEROKERIZBER

HRARBEZTRR/ZEERORAER
K BRAREEY R X FERERTET
WA -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZHEAN  GAAREIIR)

37 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Except for interests in an associate, the amounts due from/to related
parties and bank loans guaranteed by related parties as set out in
notes 20 and 22, the other material related party transactions are
disclosed as follows:

Key management personnel remuneration

Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group,
including amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in
note 7 and certain of the highest paid employees as disclosed in note
8, is as follows:

37 EXBABARS
BB A M sE20 TN 22 A B & D 3RS - EUR,
FEAST BB B 7 7k IE N e R B 7 R (R AV SR FIE 3R
AN BB KB A ZSWENT

FTEEEASHM
AEETREEABHMEENME7ARER
ARmEE NSRRI RERET
REFEENOEE  HIWMT

2023 2022

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR¥T AREFTT

Wages, salaries and other benefits in kind IT&  #FeRkEMmEYRER 9,106 13,698
Contribution to defined contribution TE R RGRIRETE

retirement plans 215 284

Equity settled share-based payment expenses g B RO 2N ER 848 2,477

10,169 16,459

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see note 5(b)).

FrEMEEEE N 8 TR J (B2 RIS (D)) °
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(BB BEHEBI - IUAARKTIR)

38 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 38 AFIREMNMBEIK IR
POSITION
2023 2022
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

B aE ARBFT ARETTT

Non-current assets EREBEE
Interests in subsidiaries KT RARAERE 1,011,107 1,006,409
Interests in an associate REEE D ERER 4,682 6,041
1,015,789 1,012,450
Current assets REEE
Other receivables E b U IR 3,042,997 3,151,776
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEED 602 582
3,043,599 3,152,358
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals AT K SRR 362,174 837,404
Senior notes BEEER 23 111,914 2,609,780
474,088 3,447,184
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE(ARE)EE 2,569,511 (294,826)
Total assets less current liabilities HWEERRBAE 3,585,300 717,624
Non-current liabilities kRBAE
Semiornotes ... BEEER 23 . ...31099%9 ... -
NET ASSETS EEFE 475,301 717,624
Capital and reserves RAR & 32(a)
Share capital i&N 36,598 36,598
Reserves (G 438,703 681,026
TOTAL EQUITY ERBEE 475,301 717,624
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 202453 A28 A EE S S HE RIETIE
March 2024.
Luo Jieping He Fei
ENF EIB
Chairman and Executive Director Executive Director
TERHNTESE HITEE
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

(5 HHEAI - HAARKETIR)

39 IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE CONTROLLING PARTY 39 EEMRE&EEHS
As at 31 December 2023, the directors consider the immediate HZ=2023F 128318 ' EFeRAZEEN
parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be China HESAR 7%[13*”? Hl75 AP R EE SR
Guangdong - Hong Kong Greater Bay Area Holdings Limited, which RAERA 2N R B A R B S AR
is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability. This ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁj c REBTMRHEAHARME
entity does not produce financial statements available for public use. AR HRE -

40 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW 40 REE2023F12A31HLFEEHR
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT B R EAOERT - HERIR R E
NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 R AT RE R
DECEMBER 2023
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the IASB has BEEZEWHBHRETEAR - BE &8
issued a number of new or amended standards, which are not yet BEEDMME TREZE2023F12A31H 1
effective for the year ended 31 December 2023 and which have not FEMAESATERRNTIEREREHOE
been adopted in these financial statements. These developments FIRGTAER] c AP BIENTAIgeEAREEE
include the following which may be relevant to the Group. B EIE

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RUTEES 2%
Bz HEEN
Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: Classification of liabilities as current or 1 January 2024
non-current (“2020 amendments”)
BR et R 1RNER] — XS B2 B R I 7 48 ([ 20205F 155 /) 720241 51H
Amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of financial statements: Non-current liabilities with covenants 1 January 2024
(2022 amendments ”)
BR et R RNER] —HBFHEX S H BRI R E R 18 ([ 2022 55T /) 720241 51H
Amendments to IFRS 16, Leases: Lease liability in a sale and leaseback 1 January 2024
BRI s ERIE 16 IER] —HE - ERLATHHERF 202451 H1R
Amendments to |IAS 7, Statement of cash flows and IFRS 7, Financial Instruments: Disclosures: Supplier 1 January 2024
finance arrangements
BRI TRNER] —HenExk - B HFIREERIE7IRR 2H T A ##E - 202451 H1R
HEBR L
Amendments to |AS 21, The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates: Lack of exchangeability 1 January 2025
BIRR &t R 219RENE ] —IMNELE EE Ly & - ThZ AJ A 20251 H1H°
The Group is in the process of making an assessment of what the AEBEA T HZEEE] M ER S & X E
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of ﬁHHﬁF‘EjT EEAMEZE - RBRI AL 0 B
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of them BRBZEERW KA REH 4R A BB H®mK
is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated financial Lﬁkiﬁ%&%ﬁ’j&. il
statements.
41 COMPARATIVES FIGURES 41 LERBF

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with
the current year’s presentation.

ETHBRBFEERNBUANAAFZET
B o
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP "EE B 2 IREY ¥

COMPLETED INVESTMENT PROPERTIES ERIRENEME

Percentage of

interest of

No.  Properties Type Term of land Floor area the Company

SN

Fi W= ki) TR BREERE Rz LB
sq.m.

1 Portion of Jewel Market and Convention Center Convention Medium 18,250 100%
of Wuzhou Trade Center, Center
Shundi Avenue,
Changzhou District,
Wuzhou,
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region,
PRC
HhE 2RPL H A
EfitkE R
BN
FMNE
L YN
EMNEEYRAOEAR KRG RP OO

2 Portion of Small Commodity Market of Zone B Commercial Medium 50,481 100%
of Jining Trade Center,
East State Road 105,
North Juyu Road,
Jining,
Shandong Province,
PRC
FE [EES H A
T
BEM
105E1:E R - E&/EIL
BEREYITTLUBE
NE@ERE S

3 Zone D of Jining Trade Center, Intersection Commercial Medium 64,852 100%
of State Road 105 and Taibai Road,
Jining,
Shandong Province,
PRC
i [SES R
IWERA
BEEH
105BE A AR X & R
BEEBEYRT LDE
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP BT B 2 IR EY %

No.

35

Properties

ES

Type

Term of land Floor area

T FR BHER
sq.m.

FIK

Percentage of
interest of
the Company
AN
Rzt 6

Portion of Comprehensive Exhibition Center,
Ganzhou Hydoo Trade Center,

Southwest side of Tan Dong Road Two,
Northwest Hexie Avenue,

Ganzhou,
Jiangxi Province,
PRC

e

ANGiES}

#EINT
BRIl
AEAEFEAE Al

BB EEEDRE
FEgRPLZED

Portion of Hall 5,

Hydoo International Trade Center,
1228 North Second Ring Road,

Yulin,

Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region,

PRC
HE
=i =pret
EAT
TIRIEEE 12285,
BRI E B
SSREEZE D

Commercial

[GES

Commercial

CES

Medium 15,907

A

Medium 28,233

T
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No.

35

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP "EEEE 2 IREW X

Properties

E/ES

Type

Term of land Floor area

T F R BEEE
sq.m.

ok

Percentage of
interest of
the Company
PN

Rzt 6

Red Star Macalline Global,

Household Shopping Mall in Heze Trade Center,
East of National Highway 220,

West of Kunming Road, North of Binhe Road,
Mudan District,

Heze,

Shandong Province,

PRC

e

IRE

SWET

HAYE

220B B LA

R AT

B IAL

ORI 1B
AEFYERRREEEES

Featured food street,

Ganzhou Hydoo Trade Center,
Southwest side of Tan Dong Road One,
Southeast side of Innovation Avenue,
Ganzhou,

Jiangxi Province,

PRC

e

ANiES)

BN m

BT R E R Al

ER

BB EHEYRE

FEERY

Commercial

CES

Commercial

[CES

Medium 54,213

T

Medium 45,323

ik
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP BT B 2 IR EY %

No.  Properties Type

iR W% Ekic)

Term of land Floor area

T FR BHER
sq.m.

FIK

Percentage of
interest of
the Company
AN

Rzt 6

8 No. 1 pavilion, Commercial
No. 2 exchange Square of Hydoo,
East side of Xingnan Avenue,
Xingning County,
Meizhou,
Guangdong Province,
PRC
H [EES
s
B 22 5%
B A B R
RER R FES
— R ER

9 Level 40-42, Block E, Commercial
China Resources Land Building,
No. 18 First Dachong Road,
Nanshan District,
Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province,
PRC
H [HES
EXRE
el
Ll
RA—ER1855%
EREMANEEE
40-42/E

Medium 26,538

T

Medium 5,798

T
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No.

P

Projects

RH

Location

it

MAJOR PROJECTS OF THE GROUP AEEB 2 X EI1EH

Percentage
interestin
the property
{1
nEER
Bl

Usage Site area

£ hiER
(sg.m.'0000)
(B¥IK)

Gross floor
area

BREEE
(sg.m.'0000)
(B¥HK)

Completed
BRINE

GFA

BREER
(5g.m.0000)
(BTHK)

Under development

i3 2ES

GFA

BREER
(50.m.'0000)
(BYHK)

Planned

for future

development

Ratk

ARERIE

Estimated

completion

date GFA

it
KIRH BREEE
(sq.m.'0000)

(B¥5x)

Ganzhou Project

ENER

Lanzhou Project

BER

Dongguan Humen
Project

RERFER

Hydoo Trade Centre,
Ganjiang Rongjiang
New District,
Tandong Town,
Ganzhou City,
Jiangxi Province
NGEEY )
ENALHE

EREREN

Hydoo Trade Centre,
Heping Town,
Yuzhong County,
Lanzhou City,

Gansu Province
HRERMT
BRENTE
RAREEES

Next to Fengtai Garden
Hotel,

Cuntou Community,
Humen Town,
Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province
BRERZM
REENELR
ERIEEES

100%

100%

52%

Commercial/ 1475
Residential

w5/

Commercial/ 1528
Residential

BE/fEE

Residential 30

3105

2180

83

110.1

498

181

174

83
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MAJOR PROJECTS OF THE GROUP " & B 2 FEIEH

Planned
for future
development
Completed Under development fE T
BRINE i3: 2E S ARBENZ
Percentage Estimated
interestin Gross floor completion
No.  Projects Location theproperty  Usage Site area area GFA GFA  date GFA
]
nEER st
F& %R it BA  XR HEER AREER AREER  AREER  KTIEH BREER
(5q.m/0000)  (sq.m./0000)  (sq.m.0000)  (sq.m.0000) (sq.m.'0000)
(BYhk)  (EBYK)  (BY5K)  (BYIK) (B
4 Dongguan Dajiang  Next to Yinghin Avenue, 56%  Residential 26 77 - 77 2024 -
Project Tangxia Community,
Tangxia Town,
Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province
REAILER EREREM iz
RERREEHR
DERER
5 DongguanDahu ~ Sicun Community, 51%  Commercial/ 19 47 47 - NA -
Project Tangxia Town, Residential TR
Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province
REAHER BREREM frz
REENHE
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